
 
O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d ,  L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
Ph: 847.883.8600 | Fax: 847.883.8608 | www. l i n co ln sh i re i l . gov  

 
 

AGENDA 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

Village Hall – Board Room 
Monday, January 14, 2019 

Following Regular Village Board Meeting 
 

Reasonable accommodations / auxiliary aids will be provided to enable persons with disabilities to effectively participate in any 
public meetings of the Board.  Please contact the Village Administrative Office (847.883.8600) 48 hours in advance if you need 

special accommodations to attend. The Committee of the Whole will not proceed past 10:30 p.m. unless there is a consensus of the 
majority of the Trustees to do so. Citizens wishing to address the Board on agenda items may speak when the agenda item is open, 

prior to Board discussion. 
 
CALL TO ORDER  
1.0 ROLL CALL  

    
2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

2.1 Acceptance of the December 10, 2018 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes 
 
3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS  

3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use  
 3.11  Consideration and Discussion of Recent Amendments to Title 12 (Signs) 

of the Lincolnshire Village Code Regarding Residential Real Estate Signs 
(Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 3.12 Preliminary Evaluation Regarding a Text Amendment to Eliminate Ground 

Floor Sales Tax Generating Use Restrictions in B1 and B2 Business 
Zoning Districts (Alexander and Julia Katsnelson) 

 
 3.13 Consideration of Amendments to Title 5 (Building Regulations and Title 7 

(Subdivision and Lane Development) of the Lincolnshire Village Code 
(Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
3.2 Finance and Administration 
 3.21 Consideration of an Extension to Tolling Agreement Related to the Illinois 

Municipal Investment Fund (IMET) (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 
 3.22 Consideration of a Resolution Approving Closed Session Meeting 

Minutes and Authorizing the Village Clerk to Make Certain Closed 
Session Meeting Minutes Available to the Public for Inspection Second 
Review – 2018 and Authorizing the Destruction of Certain Audio 
Recordings of Closed Session Minutes (Village of Lincolnshire) 

  
3.3 Public Works 

3.31 Consideration of a Waiver of Posting Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for 
Sanitary Sewer System Analysis and Engineering and Approval of Staff 
Negotiating a Contract Extension with RJN Group, Inc. for Design 
Engineering Services (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

3.32 Consideration of Qualifications-Based Selection Policy and Procedure for 
the Village of Lincolnshire (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 



Page 2 
AGENDA –Committee of the Whole Meeting 
January 14, 2019 

3.33 Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 15 of Title 1 
Comprehensive Fee Schedule of the Lincolnshire Village Code to Update 
Engineering Fees & Water Meter Fees (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

3.4 Public Safety 
 

3.5 Parks and Recreation 
3.51 Consideration of a Lincolnshire Parks Survey (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
3.6 Judiciary and Personnel 

   
4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
5.0 NEW BUSINESS 
6.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
7.0 ADJOURNMENT 



 
 
 
 

O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  
L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
w w w . l i n co l n s h i re i l . g o v  

 
2.1 

MINUTES 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

Monday, December 10, 2018   
Present: 
Mayor Brandt      Trustee Harms Muth 
Trustee Grujanac    Trustee Hancock 
Trustee McDonough     Trustee Servi  
Trustee Leider     Village Clerk Mastandrea 
Village Attorney Simon   Village Manager Burke 
Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson   Public Works Director Woodbury 
Chief of Police Leonas   Assistant Village Manager/Community & 
Planning & Development Manager Zozulya   Economic Development Director Gilbertson 

        
        

ROLL CALL 
Mayor Brandt called the meeting to order at 7:34 p.m. and Village Clerk Mastandrea called the 
Roll. 
 
Mayor Brandt provided a brief overview of the Regular Village Board Meeting and the Committee 
of the Whole Meeting for the benefit of the Boy Scout in attendance.  
 
2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

2.1 Acceptance of the November 26, 2018 Committee of the Whole Meeting 
Minutes 
 
The minutes of the November 26, 2018 Committee of the Whole Meeting were 
approved as submitted. 
 

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 
   

3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use 
3.2 Finance and Administration 
3.3 Public Works 
3.4 Public Safety 
3.5 Parks and Recreation 
 3.51 Consideration and Discussion of a Request for Chicago Rush 

North Shore Soccer to Obtain Field Usage Time as an Affiliate of 
the Lincolnshire Sports Association (Lincolnshire Sports 
Association) 

 
  Public Works Director Woodbury provided a summary of a request for 

Chicago Rush North Shore Soccer to Obtain Field Usage time as an 
affiliate of the Lincolnshire Sports Association which was recommended 
for approval by the Park Board.  

 



Page 2 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
December 10, 2018 
 
 

  Mr. Jeff Ralston, Director of Travel Soccer for Lincolnshire Sport 
Association (LSA) provided information regarding Lincolnshire Lightning 
operating under Chicago Rush to open opportunities and benefits to the 
children in the community.  

 
  Mayor Brandt asked for an update pertaining to the amount of teams 

and players they will have for the fall season. Mr. Ralston noted they 
have 21 teams for the 2018/2019 soccer season. Mr. Ralston provided 
statistics for seasons in the past noting there had been 275 participants 
in the current season. Trustee Harms Muth asked how many of the 275 
participants are from Lincolnshire. Mr. Ralston stated he did not break 
down participation by resident location but by school districts 103 and 
125, noting 141 participants are from school district 103 and 234 
participants from district 125. Mr. Ralston noted these numbers are 
approximations. Trustee Harms Muth asked about the ages of 
participants. Mr. Ralston noted the ages are from 6 to 19.  

 
  Trustee Grujanac asked if someone signs up through LSA to play 

soccer, are they actually signing up for Chicago Rush North Shore 
soccer. Mr. Ralston stated when participants register, they go through 
Rush North on the website, but all the money goes to LSA. LSA then 
pays the fees for the program. Mayor Brandt asked if this relationship 
between LSA and Chicago Rush is similar to LSA and Slammers for 
baseball. Mr. Ralston provided an explanation of the governance 
structure for LSA.  He noted there is the LSA Board, and under the LSA 
Board there is a travel soccer Board with community members which 
handles all the administration and approvals except for payment to the 
coaches. The curriculum and uniforms are Chicago Rush.  

 
  Trustee Leider noted his opinion is for the Lincolnshire residents to get 

the use of the facility, resident rates and preferred field times versus 
participants from other communities. Trustee Harms Muth stated she 
was in agreement with Trustee Leider and added she did not mind if 
other communities utilized the facility but at a different fee. Mayor 
Brandt asked about the fees charged. Mr. Ralston stated the fee is 
based on age; U8 and U9 is $1,200, U10 and above is $1,900.  

 
  Mayor Brandt stated the field usage fees will be reviewed at a future 

date, and one of the questions is if we should charge a separate amount 
for non-residents. Mr. Ralston asked if the resident fee would apply to 
residents or to school district 125. Mayor Brandt noted this is a 
discussion the Board will have to have and asked if it is something LSA 
could do. Mr. Ralston stated LSA would not have a different fee 
regardless.  

 
  Trustee Grujanac noticed there is per hour light fee and asked Mr. 

Ralston who pays this fee. Mr. Ralston stated LSA pays the per hour 
light field.  

 



Page 3 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
December 10, 2018 
 
 

  Trustee Leider asked if the fee structure has been competitive 
compared to the market. Public Works Director Woodbury noted the 
fees went from $35, to $15 several years ago.  He noted the fee was 
recently increased to $25.  Public Works Director Woodbury expressed 
his opinion the current fees trend a bit lower than other agencies in the 
area. Public Works Director Woodbury stated annual maintenance fees 
for North Park are approximately $45,000 - $50,000 for the soccer fields 
alone.  

 
  Trustee Harms Muth asked if an affiliate agreement has been signed 

and asked if the fees can be changed. Mr. Ralston noted the two-year 
agreement has been signed and if the fees go up, LSA will pay the 
increase.  

 
  A conversation regarding possible increase of fees, timing of increase, 

and how this would affect both the affiliate and participants followed.  
 
  It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting.  
 

3.52  Consideration and Discussion of the Use of Village Streets by 
District 103 Parent-Teacher Organization for a May 18, 2019 5K 
Walk/Run (District 103 Parent-Teacher Organization) 

 
 Public Works Director Woodbury provided a summary of the annual use 

of Village streets by District 103 Parent-Teacher Organization for a May 
18, 2019 5K Walk/Run. 

 
 Mayor Brandt asked if staff has checked to see if Prom was the same 

date. Public Works Director Woodbury stated this date has been 
checked with the school and is a different date then Prom.  

 
 Trustees Harms Muth and Grujanac asked about construction traffic at 

this time and suggested staff work with any contractors to make sure 
this is not in conflict with the time of the parade. 

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 

3.6 Judiciary and Personnel 
 
4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
5.0 NEW BUSINESS   
6.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
7.0 ADJOURNMENT 

Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Harms Muth seconded the motion to adjourn. 
Upon a voice vote, the motion was approved unanimously and Mayor Brandt declared 
the meeting adjourned at 8:10 p.m. 



Page 4 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
December 10, 2018 
 
 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
 
 
 

 
 Barbara Mastandrea 

 Village Clerk 



 

Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

 

 
V:\CED\Administration\Code_Revisions\SIGN 
ORDINANCE\2019PotentialAmend\2019_01_14_COW_Residential_Real_Estate_Signs.docx 

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Committee of the Whole  
January 14, 2019 

 
Subject:  Residential Real Estate Signs 

 
Action Requested: Consideration and Discussion of Recent Amendments to Title 12 

(Signs) of the Lincolnshire Village Code Regarding Residential Real 
Estate Signs 
  

Petitioner:  Village of Lincolnshire 
 

Originated By/Contact: Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/CED Director 
Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager 
 

Referred To:  Village Board 
 

 
Background: 
In September 2017, Village staff first presented to the Village Board (Board) potential 
amendments to Title 12 (Signs) of the Lincolnshire Village Code. The amendments were 
intended to cover a number of aspects to temporary signs across multiple sign districts. These 
amendments included changes to residential real estate signs. The intent of the new code was 
to be content neutral and treat all types of temporary signs in each sign district the same per a 
U.S. Supreme Court decision (2015 Reed v. Town of Gilbert). In November 2018, after a total of 
four presentations to the Board and four presentations to the Architectural Review Board (ARB), 
the Board approved these amendments on November 12, 2018. 
 
Shortly after approval of the amendments, staff sent notifications to local businesses, residents, 
and real estate brokers regarding the new requirements. Subsequent to mailing the notification 
to residents and residential brokers, staff received concerns from several Lincolnshire, Lake 
Forest, and Lake Bluff residential real estate brokers. Brokers indicated the new size 
requirements of 2 sq. ft. in area and 4’ in height for internal streets was too small; impairs sign 
legibility (especially when snow covered); and requires investment in new signs. The approved 
size requirements for these types of signs were modeled after Lake Forest and Lake Bluff codes 
as a result of Village Board direction.  
 
A second concern raised by real estate professionals is limitation on display duration of real 
estate signs. The new temporary sign regulations provide for a maximum display of 91-days. 
Realtors expressed concern the time limits are too short and limit the ability to have continuous 
signage during the length a home is marketed for sale.  Feedback received expressed concern 
about the short duration and non-continuous nature of the limitations add to costs of hiring a 
sign company to install and remove signs. The brokers indicated the average current market 
time in Lincolnshire is 268 days, which means a sign would need to be installed 3 times and 
taken down twice (based on the 91-day maximum timeframe for temporary signs). The 91-day 
display period was instituted to more easily measure the timeframe in terms of weeks (13) for 
code enforcement purposes for all temporary signage in the Residential Sign District. 
 



 

Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

 

 
V:\CED\Administration\Code_Revisions\SIGN 
ORDINANCE\2019PotentialAmend\2019_01_14_COW_Residential_Real_Estate_Signs.docx 

The Board and ARB discussed all aspects of residential real estate signs during the approval 
process. The Village Board referred the sign code amendments to the ARB with direction to 
consider smaller residential real estate signs and no more than 1 sign per lot (including corner 
lots). The Board felt the previously permitted dimensions were too large and having several 
larger real estate signs near one another was undesirable for neighborhood image. Given all 
temporary signs in the Residential Sign District must have the same regulations based on 
content neutrality principles, the real estate sign parameters influenced the ARB’s consideration 
of other temporary signs in that district (e.g., garage sale signs). Based on the Reed v. Town of 
Gilbert decision, real estate signs cannot have a different display time period than other 
temporary signs in the same sign district. After the public hearing and discussion over several 
meetings, the ARB recommended the current regulations, which the Village Board ultimately 
approved. 
 
After receiving feedback from several residential real estate brokers, Mayor Brandt requested 
the Village Board discuss residential real estate signs at the January 14th Committee of the 
Whole meeting.  Attached are emails from local realtors expressing their views on the Village’s 
recent sign code revisions.  Included in that document is survey of other community regulations 
for real estate signage provided by one of the realtors. Below is a summary of the Residential 
Sign District provisions, as well as a summary of the approval process.  
 
Residential Sign District Provisions 
Sign Size  

� New Code: interior streets (except Riverwoods Road and Half Day Road): up to 2 sq. ft. 
in area and 4’ in height (from grade to the top of the pole/panel), modeled after the Lake 
Forest and Lake Bluff model. 

� Riverwoods Road and Half Day Road: Up to 16 sq. ft. in area and 6’ in height due to 
higher speeds and non-residential (e.g., churches). 

� Previous Code: Up to 6 sq. ft. in area and 6’ in height (from grade to the top of the 
pole/panel).  

 
Sign Display Period 

� New Code: 91 days per display period; signs must be taken down for 14 days between 
display periods, with no limitation on the number of display periods until a property sells 
or is rented. The 91-day display period was instituted to more easily measure the 
timeframe in terms of weeks (13) for code enforcement purposes for all temporary 
signage in the Residential Sign District. 

� Previous Code (for residential real estate signs): no limit; uninterrupted display until 
property sale/rent. 

 
Number of Signs 

� New Code: 1 sign, including corner lots. 
� Previous Code: 1 sign for interior lots and 2 signs for corner lots. 

 
Recommendation:  
Pending further discussion, the Board may direct staff to investigate alternative amendments to 
Residential Sign District requirements, which would impact all temporary signs in that district, 
including real estate signs.  However, no action or direction is requested at this time. 
 
 



 

Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

 

 
V:\CED\Administration\Code_Revisions\SIGN 
ORDINANCE\2019PotentialAmend\2019_01_14_COW_Residential_Real_Estate_Signs.docx 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Document 1: Emails from local real estate brokers and community survey. 
� Document 2: Ordinance No. 18-3786-214 – An Ordinance Amending Chapter 3 

(Definitions), Chapter 8 (Sign Constructions & Design: General Standards), Chapter 
11 (Prohibited Signs), Chapter 12 (Exempt Signs) and Chapter 13 (Temporary 
Signs) of Title 12 (Signs) of the Village of Lincolnshire Municipal Code 

� Document 3: October 22, 2018 staff report excerpt and attachment regarding real 
estate signs.  

� Document 4: Copy of the PowerPoint presented to the Village Board on October 22, 
2018. 
 

Meeting History 
Committee of the Whole – Preliminary Evaluation (initial) September 11, 2017 

Committee of the Whole – Preliminary Evaluation (continued) November 13, 2017 
Architectural Review Board – Public Hearing January 16, 2018 

Architectural Review Board (continued) March 20, 2018 
Architectural Review Board (continued) May 31, 2018 
Architectural Review Board (continued) September 4, 2018 
Committee of the Whole – First Reading October 22, 2018 

Village Board – Second Reading / Adoption November 12, 2018 
Committee of the Whole (current) January 14, 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



From: Tonya Zozulya
To: Edie Love
Cc: Ben Gilbertson
Subject: RE: New Lincolnshire Residential Real Estate Sign Code
Date: Thursday, December 6, 2018 2:09:35 PM
Attachments: image003.png

image002.png

Hi Edie,
 
Thank you for reaching out to express your concerns about the recently approved Sign Code
changes. We recognize there are unavoidable challenges with the Sign Code transition, and
appreciate your cooperation and understanding working through this. The Village Board and
the Architectural Review Board (ARB) spent over a year looking at all temporary signs,
including real estate signs, and directed staff to research other villages. The ARB held a public
hearing on January 16, 2018, where the community had the opportunity to provide testimony.
All ARB and Village Board meetings are available for public comment as well, and meeting
agendas are posted at the Village Hall, on the Village website, and in the weekly E-News, prior
to scheduled meetings. Here’s the October 22, 2018 packet that was submitted to the Village
Board regarding the code changes for background information (see Item 3.11 on page 8+):
https://lincolnshireil.gov/government/about/agendas-minutes-packets-video?
format=raw&task=download&fid=2008.
 
Both Boards discussed all aspects of residential real estate signs, including their permitted size
and duration. Ultimately, both the Village Board and ARB wished to reduce the size to what
was adopted using Lake Forest and Lake Bluff as a model (the sign panel - up to 2 square feet
and the overall sign height- up to 4 feet for all streets, except Riverwoods Road and half Day
Road in the Residential Sign District, where signs can be larger due to higher speeds and non-
residential uses such as churches). The Boards felt the previously permitted dimensions were
too large and having several larger real estate signs close by was viewed as undesirable for the
neighborhood image. Another reason for this discussion was that many buyers and sellers no
longer rely on physical signs alone as real estate decisions have largely moved online.
 
As to the real estate sign display period, all signs are now treated the same way in each sign
district, and so the display period applies to all of them. We did discuss the fact that real
estate signs need a longer “uninterrupted” period that other temporary signs and would have
preferred to have them placed in a separate group for that reason. However, the Village
Attorney counseled us real estate signs cannot have a different time period that the rest of
temporary signs, per a 2015 Reed vs. Town of Gilbert Supreme Court case decision.
 
Thanks again for writing, and I hope this addresses your questions and concerns.
 
Tonya 

Document 1



Sincerely,

Tonya Zozulya | Planning & Development Manager

Direct: 847-913-2313 | Email: tzozulya@lincolnshireil.gov
Website: http://www.lincolnshireil.gov

From: Edie Love [mailto:elove@Koenigrubloff.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, December 05, 2018 1:34 PM
To: Tonya Zozulya
Subject: Re: New Lincolnshire Residential Real Estate Sign Code

Thanks for sharing the new information on signs.  I have two questions:  Has the size of the
sign panel changed? Many of us have personalized panels that we have had made and will
have to buy all new sign panels if so.  Also why make us take the sign down after 91 days?
 The current market time for Lincolnshire is 268 days.  We all pay a sign company to put up
and take down signs for us, that is going to get expensive if we have to keep having it removed
and re-installed.  I don't really understand that new policy.

Maybe conferring with a few of us agents who do a lot of business in town would help with
the new rules if it isn't too late.  Let me know, thanks.

EDIE LOVE
Broker
Berkshire Hathaway Homeservices
Koenig Rubloff Realty Group
Office: 847-234-2500
Cell: 847-226-5597
Fax: 847-735-6357
www.edielove.com

The contents of this email message, together with any attachments, are intended for the use of the individual or entity to
which they are addressed and may contain information that is legally privileged and confidential.  If you are not the intended
recipient you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution, or copying of this message, or any attachment is strictly
prohibited.  If you received this message in error, please notify the original sender immediately by telephone or by return
email and delete this message, along with any attachments, from your computer.  Thank you.

From: Tonya Zozulya <tzozulya@lincolnshireil.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, December 5, 2018 12:41 PM
To: Tonya Zozulya
Subject: New Lincolnshire Residential Real Estate Sign Code

Dear Local Brokerage Representative:



On November 12, 2018, the Lincolnshire Village Board adopted comprehensive changes to
the Sign Code to make sign regulations more streamlined and responsive to the needs of the
Lincolnshire community. The revisions affect all temporary signs in the community, including
residential real estate signs in the Residential Sign District (this sign district is depicted in
the light yellow color on the attached map). The main changes are a smaller size of signs for
internal streets; no more than 1 sign per property (including corner lots); and a new sign
display period (see below summary for details). Any existing signs may remain up until the
property is sold or leased. However, all new listings must have code-compliant signs should
you choose to use signage for marketing purposes. Click HERE to view the full Temporary
Sign Code. Please share this email with your colleagues and keep a copy in your office for
future reference. If you have questions or would like additional information, please contact me
at 847.913.2313 or at tzozulya@lincolnshireil.gov.

Below is a summary of the new requirements for the Residential Sign District real estate signs:
•        Signs along internal streets (i.e., all streets, except Riverwoods Road and Half Day

Road) can be up to 4’ in height (as measured from the adjacent grade to the highest
point of the sign structure/pole) and have a sign panel of up to 2 sq. ft. in area. The
panel area includes any optional riders attached to the sign.

•        Only one (1) freestanding real estate sign is permitted on any property, including
corner lots. For corner lots, the code-compliant real estate sign may be installed on
either frontage at the discretion of the homeowner and/or broker.

• Signs along the Riverwoods Road and Half Day Road arterial streets can be up to 6’ in
height (as measured from the adjacent grade to the highest point of the sign
structure/pole) and have a sign panel of up to 16 sq.ft. in area. This panel area includes
any optional riders attached to the sign.

• Signs may be installed on private property only, 5’ from the nearest lot line.
• The maximum sign display period is 91 days after which time the sign must be

removed for 14 days. It can be then reinstalled for another 91 days, removed for 14
days and so forth until the property is sold or leased. There is no limit on how many
times a sign can go back up.

• Signs must be removed within 5 business days of the property sale or lease.
• Signs may not be attached to fences, trees, and similar structures.
• Signs must remain in compliance with code and in good condition and may be subject

to immediate removal due to poor condition and disrepair, as determined by the
Village.

• No permit from the Village is required prior to sign installation.

Sincerely,

Tonya Zozulya | Planning & Development Manager



1

Ben Gilbertson

From: Brad Burke
Sent: Monday, December 17, 2018 8:48 AM
To: Ben Gilbertson
Subject: FW: Signage in Lincolnshire

 
 
Bradly J. Burke | Village Manager 
Direct: 847-913-2335 | Email: bburke@lincolnshireil.gov   
Website: http://www.lincolnshireil.gov  
 
From: Mayor Brandt  
Sent: Sunday, December 16, 2018 10:06 PM 
To: Brad Burke <bburke@lincolnshireil.gov> 
Subject: Fwd: Signage in Lincolnshire 
 

Can you please send this email to the Trustees. 

 

Thank You 

Sent from my iPhone 

 

Begin forwarded message: 

From: Marcia Vecchione <mcvrealtor@gmail.com> 

Date: December 10, 2018 at 5:51:00 PM CST 

To: <mayorbrandt@lincolnshireil.gov>, <trusteeharmsmuth@lincolnshire.gov> 

Subject: Signage in Lincolnshire 

Dear Liz: 

 

This is just to follow up with our conversation last Wednesday night about the new Lincolnshire 

sign restrictions. All of the agents that I have spoken with that do business in the community 

think that the new regulations are too restrictive and really don't make much sense. 

 

I spoke with my manager, Keri Falls of the Lake Forest office, I also spoke to a few of the top 

LF/LB agents, and they are not aware of any time restrictions put on the length of time that a 

sign can be displayed. Who came up with that information?  

 

It seems kind of silly to install a sign remove after 91 days (why 91 and not 90?), then reinstall it 

after 2 weeks. All I can say is that it is a bizarre rule. There are so many reasons that it doesn't 

make sense...I am not sure where to begin.  

 

As far as the size...most of us have never liked the LF/LB signs...you barely see them and the 

type is not really very legible when driving by. My office has been in LF for many years and 

I  have worked for both CB & @properties...for over 20 years, and I will have to say, the agents 

were never happy when the signs changed in  size. I do realize that buyers today find properties 



2

on websites and are not necessarily driving by looking for RE signs. I would have to say though, 

that in any given year, I do receive a high number of inquiries from our yard signs. Those turn 

into showings for my clients. 

 

Is this a done deal with the Village or is there any recourse?? 

 

Thanks for let me blabber on...it's just an annoying new community regulation that we Realtors 

are not happy with. 

 

 

--  

Marcia Vecchione  
 

@properties | broker associate    
600 Western Ave, Lake Forest, IL 60045 

  
d. 847.804.9432 o. 847.295.0700  
www.mikenmarciahomes.com  
www.atproperties.com/agents/2867/marcia-vecchione 

 
Right-click 
here to  
download 
pictures.  To  
help protect 
your privacy, 
Outlo ok 
prevented 
auto matic  
download of 
this pictu re  
from the  
In ternet.
Facebook 
icon

  

Right-click 
here to  
download 
pictures.  To  
help protect 
your privacy, 
Outlo ok 
prevented 
auto matic  
download of 
this pictu re  
from the  
In ternet.
LinkedIn icon
 

  

love where you  LIVE 



Town Sign size (residential) Duration
Riverwoods 6 sq ft Main, none.  Directional, day of open house

Buffalo Grove 8 sq ft Main, none.  Directional, day of open house

Lake Forest 6 sq ft Main, none.  Directional, day of open house

Bannockburn 2 sq ft (20 sq ft multi-unit)

Deerfield 10 sq ft removed 21 days after closing.

Vernon Hills 6 sq ft removed 7 days after closing. Directional, day of open house

Mettawa 6 sq ft Directional, day before until day after open house.



Document 2



























 

from the Code. All types of temporary signs would be treated the same in each sign district, 
with regulations varying depending on whether it is a freestanding, banner, window, or a light 
pole sign. For example, temporary garage sale signs are proposed to be treated the same 
way as temporary real estate signs in the Residential Sign District and temporary promotional 
signs would be treated the same as temporary commercial real estate signs in the 
Downtown, Corridor Commercial and Office/Industrial District.

ARB Recommendation: Support.

� Sign Size - Signs in the Corridor Commercial District are proposed to be larger than signs 
in the Downtown and Office/Industrial Sign Districts because of higher speeds and need for 
larger sign messages expected along major arterials in that sign district. The only exception
is temporary off-premise institutional signs advertising non-profit events (e.g., a church 
event). The rationale for this exception is these signs promote noncommercial speech and
are regulated differently for the permitted maximum number of signs and their placement.
Attached is a table comparing current and proposed sign regulations (note: as stated 
above, the revised Code would not contain any individual sign types mentioned by name to 
keep regulations content neutral). The proposed size is recommended to adequately
accommodate all types of signs. The maximum number of days for signs (except
banners) was slightly increased for the Residential and Office/Industrial Sign Districts
(from 90 to 91 to make the number divisible by 7 for easier tracking) and in the 
Downtown/Corridor Commercial District (from 90 to 245 to adequately accommodate all
types of signs). Banner signs are proposed to have a shorter display period (14 days in the 
Residential Sign District and 91 days in all other Sign Districts).

ARB Recommendation: Support but reduce the display period for temporary signs, 
except banners, in the Downtown/Corridor Commercial Sign District from the 
originally proposed 245 days at the time of preliminary evaluation to 120 days to 
maintain the temporary nature of these signs. The ARB also recommended language 
to prevent staggering of time periods for banner and non-banner temporary signs.

Given the Village Board’s request for smaller residential real estate signs, the ARB 
determined the appropriate size should be 2 square feet in area and 4’ in height 
for those residential signs that are not adjacent to an arterial road, such as
Riverwoods Road and Half Day Road (this size is modeled after Lake Forest and 
Lake Bluff real estate signs – see attached Document 5). Since the new code 
would treat all types of signs the same in each sign district, all non-banner signs 
in the Residential Sign District not adjacent to an arterial would be capped at 2
square feet in area and 4’ in height. The ARB recommended a maximum area of 16 
square feet and maximum height of 6’ for arterial signs in the Residential Sign 
District due to higher speed limits and need for enhanced visibility.

While the ARB did not request reducing the size of temporary banner signs not 
adjacent to arterial roads to match the proposed size of temporary non-banner signs 
in the Residential Sign District, staff recommends non-arterial banners in that 
district should be reduced from the proposed 16 square feet in area and 6’ in height 
to 2 square feet in area and 4’ in height. This will achieve consistency in sign 
dimensions within the Residential Sign District.

Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

October 22, 2018 COW Staff Memo ExcerptDocument 3



Lake Bluff Lake Bluff 

Examples of Residen�al Real Estate Signs -  Lake Bluff and Lake Forest  (Panel - Up to 2 sq.�.; Post  - Up to 4’ in height) 

Lake Forest  Lake Forest  



Sign Code (Title 12) 
Amendments:  

Permanent & Temporary Signs 
 
 

October 22, 2018  
Committee of the Whole   

 

Document 4



Overview 
 

• The Village Board reviewed/referred Code 
revisions in September and November 2017 

 
• The ARB reviewed the revisions in January, 

March and May 2018. They provided their 
recommendation at their September 2018 
meeting.  

 
• 5 chapters are presented for tonight’s 

discussion regarding temporary and 
permanent signs  
 

2 



 
• Chapter 13 - Temporary Signs 
 
• Chapter 8 - Sign Construction & Design: 

General Standards 
 

• Chapter 11 - Prohibited Signs 
 
• Chapter 12 - Exempt Signs 
 
• Chapter 3 - Definitions 
 
 

3 



Chapter 13 - Temporary Signs 
 

• Reed vs. Town of Gilbert Supreme Court case  
 

• Temporary signs must be “content neutral” 
regardless of their purpose or message  
 

• Village Attorney recommended the 
Temporary Sign Code be revised with new 
regulations based on sign construction type 
& sign district to make it “content neutral” 

 
 
 

4 



 
SIGN DISTRICT MAP 

 
 
 
 
 
 

5 

Sign District Map 

Residential, Downtown, Corridor Commercial & 
Office/Industrial Sign Districts - No changes 



Chapter 13 - Temporary Free-Standing Signs 
(Except Banners) 

 
 
 
 
 

6 

Table 1 

Sign District Area Height Duration 

Residential 2 sq.ft - non-arterial 
16 sq. ft.- arterial 

4 ft. - non-arterial  
6 ft. - arterial 

91 Days per display period; 
Minimum gap of 14 days 

Downtown 20 sq. ft. 6 ft. 

120 days per year in total; 
Not more than 6 separate 
times; Minimum gap of 7 
days 

Corridor 
Commercial 24 sq. ft. 6 ft. 

120 days per year in total; 
Not more than 6 separate 
times; Minimum gap of 7 
days 

Office/Industrial 20 sq. ft. 6 ft. 91 days per year  in total 



7 

Residential Real Estate  Sign Examples 

Rider 

Rider 

Current size - Sign panel up to 6 sq.ft. in area (inclusive 
of riders/attachments) & post up to 6’ in height 

6’ 

This sign panel 
is 4 sq.ft.  

5.5’ 

This sign panel is 7.5 sq.ft. 
with 2 riders 



Chapter 13 - Temporary Free-Standing 
Banner Signs 

 
 
 
 
 
 

8 Banner signs will have a shorter duration that other free-
standing signs  

Table 7 

Sign District Area Height Duration 

Residential 16 sq. ft. 6 ft. 
14 Days per display 
period; Minimum gap of 
14 days 

Downtown 20 sq. ft. 6 ft. 

91 days per year in total; 
Not more than 14 days 
for each display period; 
Minimum gap of 14 days 

Corridor 
Commercial 24 sq. ft. 6 ft. 

91 days per year in total; 
Not more than 14 days 
for each display period; 
Minimum gap of 14 days 

Office/Industrial 20 sq. ft. 6 ft. 91 days per year  in total 



Free-Standing Banner Sign Example 
 
 
 
 
 

9 

Staff will require, at building 
permit, the use of support 
posts, tension ropes and 
spikes to keep banners 
aesthetically pleasing 
(stretched and not sagging 
inward) 



Chapter 13 - Wall Banners & Feather Signs 
are Prohibited  

 
 
 
 
 
 

10 



 
Chapter 8 - Items of Information 

 
• Current limit for permanent & temporary 

signs- 2 items of information (e.g., business 
name, logo, message bite) 

 
• Promotional signs can also have either a 

website address or phone number over & 
above the limit 

 
• Proposal is to remove the limit for 

temporary signs only 
  

11 



Chapter 8 - Items of Information 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

Commercial Real Estate Sign Example 

#1 

#2 

#3 

Additional items of information typically found 
on real estate signs: property address, 
available square footage & broker’s name  



Chapter 13 – Items of Information 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13 

#1 

#2 

#3 

#4 
#5 

Websites/phone 
#s are not allowed 
on project 
announcement 
signs 

Project Announcement Sign Example 



Chapter 8 - Sign Construction & Design 
Current Sign Illumination Requirements 

 
• Any wall or ground sign adjacent to or across 

from a residential zoning district must be 
turned off at either 11 p.m. or 1 a.m.  

 
• Signs may not be turned back on until 7 a.m. 
  
• Electronic message board signs at gas 

stations are exempt (wall signs are not) 
 
• Maximum brightness level at the property 

line is 0.5 foot candles 

14 



 
Chapter 8 - Sign Construction & Design 

Proposed Sign Illumination Requirements  
 

• Signs within 120’ of residential dwellings will 
be turned off at business close but no later 
than 1 a.m. and will be turned back on at 
the earlier of business opening or 6a.m. 

  
• Signs beyond 120’ of residential dwellings 

will be allowed to stay on 
 
• All other current requirements will remain 
 
 

15 



 
Chapter 12 – Exempt Signs 

 
• Only one car sign will be allowed to be 

displayed inside a car on property owned or 
leased by car owner    

 
 
 

16 



 
Chapter 3 – Definitions 

 
• Replace the definition of “institutional sign”: 

“A sign erected by a not-for-profit entity, that has a 
principal place of business in Lincolnshire, which advertises 
a noncommercial event or activity being organized by such 
not-for-profit entity.” 

 
•  Replace the definition of “Off-Premise  

Institutional sign”: “A freestanding sign erected by a 
not-for-profit entity, that has a principal place of business in 
Lincolnshire, which advertises a noncommercial event or 
activity being organized by such not-for-profit entity and 
which is located on any property or right-of-way other than 
where the event or activity shall occur.”  

 
 

17 



 

Agenda Item 
3.12 COW 

 

V:\Property_File\OLDEH-RD\231\Planning\2019TextAmend\2019_01_14_COW_B1_B2_TextAmend_231OldeHalfDay.doc 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole  

January 14, 2019 
 

Subject:  B1 and B2 Business Zoning District Uses  
 

Action Requested: Preliminary Evaluation regarding a Text Amendment to Eliminate 
Ground Floor Sales Tax-Generating Use Restriction in B1 and B2 
Business Zoning Districts  
 

Petitioners:  Alexander and Julia Katsnelson 

Originated By/Contact: Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/Community & Economic 
Development Director 
 

Referred To:  Village Board  
 

 
Background: 
� Petitioners Alexander and Julia Katsnelson propose a text amendment to eliminate the 

existing 25% ground floor sales tax-generating use restriction in the B1 and B2 Business 
zoning districts. The text amendment is necessary for them, as physicians, to establish new 
dermatology and oral, maxillofacial, and surgery practices at 231 Olde Half Day Road in the 
B1 zoning district. The proposal is supported and has been approved by property owner Njb 
Real Estate LLC (the owner’s approval is required for the application process).   
 

� The 0.5-acre property at 231 Olde Half 
Day Road is located on the south side 
of Olde Half Day Road, west of 
Milwaukee Avenue, as marked with a 
red dot in Figure 1 (see attached 
Documents 1, 2, and 3). It is adjacent to 
the Oak Tree Corners Center and Half 
Day Elementary School.  

 
� The petitioners plan to acquire the 

property, demolish the existing two-
story, 4,572-square-foot vacant building 
and construct a new one-story 5,000-
square-foot medical office building (to 
be presented to the Village Board for 
preliminary evaluation in the future).  

 
� Built in 1963, the existing building most 

recently housed NJB Operations/Taco 
Bell Corporation offices and became 
vacant two years ago. 

 
 
 
 

Figure 1: Location Map 



 

Agenda Item 
3.12 COW 

 

V:\Property_File\OLDEH-RD\231\Planning\2019TextAmend\2019_01_14_COW_B1_B2_TextAmend_231OldeHalfDay.doc 

Request & Staff Comments:  
� The B1 Retail Business and B2 General Business Districts comprise over 20 mixed-use, 

office, and vacant properties along Milwaukee Avenue, Aptakisic Road, Olde Half Day Road 
and the Tollway. Village code prohibits more than 25% of the ground floor area of a principal 
structure on a B1 or B2 zoning lot to be used for non-sales tax-generating uses for buildings 
built after January 1, 1995 (see attached Document 4 and 5). The restriction was adopted in 
1995 by Ordinance #95-1406-36. Staff believes this was intended to maximize sales tax 
revenue generation in the Village along commercial corridors. The same restriction was 
applied to the Village Green Center in 1995 (zoned R5 Mixed-Use Residence) as part of a 
redevelopment agreement between the Village and the center property owner. This 
restriction remained in place until the agreement was terminated in 2010.  
 

� The petitioner’s cover letter outlines reasons for their desire to locate on this property and 
for the proposed text amendment. The petitioners indicated up to 20% of their medical 
practice will produce sales tax from the sale of medical products. Although the property was 
developed before January 1, 1995, its vacant status of more than 12 months triggers 
compliance with the sales tax use restriction, per Section 6-13-2(D)(2) of Village Code (Non-
Conforming Uses, Structures and Lots). As such, the petitioners are unable to establish their 
medical practices in the existing building because the property has been vacant for over one 
year.  
 

� Staff believes 231 Olde Half Day Road and other B1 and B2 properties would benefit from 
the text amendment. Such action would be similar to recent Village Board-approved 
changes to the O/I Office-Industrial zoning district to remove the 25% medical use and 
testing of materials restriction as well as increasing the assembly use square footage cap.  

 
� In recent years, the retail climate nationwide, as evidenced by numerous in-print and online 

publications, has shifted towards experiential retail and non-retail uses due to the 
proliferation of online shopping and the expansion of non-retail businesses in commercial 
zones (such as medical clinics, banks, financial institutions, gyms, fitness studios, and pet 
uses). For example, when Barnes & Noble closed its bookstore in the Lincolnshire 
Commons Center in 2015, the NorthShore University Healthcare medical clinic took over the 
building. The Village Board approved a Lincolnshire Commons Planned Unit Development 
amendment at the time to allow the building conversion from retail to non-retail uses and to 
allow the 25% sales tax requirement to be calculated based on the building area of the 
shopping center as a whole rather than based on the building area of each lot, as currently 
required by code.  

 
� The proposed amendment would provide B1 and B2 properties in the Village additional 

permissibility and leasing options to address long-term vacancies and to add new business 
offerings, including the CityPark Center, the former Walter E. Smithe furniture store building, 
the former Greenview Homes building, and other undeveloped B-zoned properties.  

 
� The text amendment would not prevent or discourage sales-tax generating uses from 

locating in the B districts but would allow a greater number of non-sales tax generating uses 
to consider Village locations. Businesses that do not produce sales tax provide a variety of 
benefits, including filling a business/service need, employment, and offering consumers 
more reasons to stay in or visit the Village to meet their needs and patronize other 
establishments.     

 
 



 

Agenda Item 
3.12 COW 

 

V:\Property_File\OLDEH-RD\231\Planning\2019TextAmend\2019_01_14_COW_B1_B2_TextAmend_231OldeHalfDay.doc 

Approval Process:  
� The proposed text amendment requires a Public Hearing at the Zoning Board. Following 

the Zoning Board recommendation, the Village Board will make the final determination 
regarding the request.  

 
Recommendation:  
Discussion and feedback to the petitioners and staff regarding the proposed B1 and B2 zoning 
district text amendment to eliminate the ground floor sales tax-generating use restriction. 

 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Document 1: Location Map.  
� Document 2: Cover letter prepared by Alexander and Julia Katsnelson dated January 3, 

2019.  
� Document 3: Zoning map, created by MGP GIS Consortium.  
� Document 4: Current B1 and B2 Business Zoning District regulations. 
� Document 5: Articles and publications detailing nationwide retail trends. 

  
Meeting History 

Committee of the Whole –  
Preliminary Evaluation (current): January 14, 2019 

 



Document 1



Document 2





"1

"4

"2

"3

Å1

Å4

Å3

Å2

Å5

Å6

!5

!4

!1

!2

!3 !6

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

PUD

OLDE HALF DAY RD

STONEGATE CI O
X

FO
R

D
DR

LI
N

CO
LN

SHIR

E DR

CU
M

B

ERLAND D R

O XFO RD DR

YORKSHIRE DR

CUMBERLAND D R

LIN CO LNS HIR
E

DR

E
LS I N

O
O

R
D

R

LONDONDERRY LN

VICTORIA LN

VICTORIA LN

SHEFFIELD CT

PLYMOUTH CT

BUCKINGHAM PL

PORTSHIRE DR

D
U

K
ES

C
IR

R
E

G
E

N
T

LN

K INGS CROSS DR

REGENT LN C
A

N
TE

R B
U

R
Y

R
D

ROYAL CT

WESTMINSTER
W

AY

MAYFAIR LN

COR NELL DR

B R I T
TA

N
Y

L
N

E
LM

W
O

O
D

LN

H
IC

K
O

R
Y

LN

CEDAR LN

O
A

K
W

O
O

D
LN

SUR REY LN

CARLIS LE LN

S
U

R
R

E
Y

CT

SURREY LN

DURH
A

M
C

T

BRIARWO OD LN

W HYTE GATE CT

WHITMORE LN

BRAM P T ON LN

ST
AF

FO
R

D CTBRAMPTO N LN

ANGLICAN LN

WESTMINSTER
W

A
Y

QUEENS WAY
BR

AM
PT

O
N

LN

COLD
S

TR
E

A
M

CIR

R
IV

E
R

W
O

O
D

S
R

D

WESTWOOD LN

EXMOOR LN

FAIRFAX LN

D
E

E
R

R
U

N

FOX TRAIL

FOX TRAIL

FOX TR L

M
I D

D
L

E
B

U
R

Y
LN

B E
D

F
O

R
D

C
T

P
LY

M
O

U
TH

CT

HALF DAY RD

MARRIOTT DR
MARRIOTT DR

R
IV

E
R

SHIRE C T

RIVERSHIRE LN

RIVERSIDE RD

G
.K

. L
N

RAABE CT

S
TE

VE
N

SO
N

D
R

W
O

O
D

C
R

EE
K

DR

RIVER OAKS DR

MAYLAN D VILLA RD

GREGG RD

US ROUTE 45

M
IL

W
A

U
K

E
E

A
V E

O
L S

E
N

C
T

V
E

R
N

O
N

TR
A

IL
M

A
P

LE
P

L

C
A

L V
IN

C
T

FARNER CT

S
TR

E
N

G
E

R
LN

R
IV

E
R

W
O

O
D

S
R

D

D
U

K
E

S LN

LEE LN

MENNA LN

K
IN

G
S

TO
N

 R
O

W

GSTON 
CT

PORT CLINTON RD

INDIAN CREEK RD

ABBEY R D

A
P

PL
E

 H
IL

L 
LN

R
IC

H
A

R
D

 C
T

HALF DAY RD

ROBINHOOD CT

F RIAR TUCK CT

SHERWOOD DR

B
ER

K
S

H
IR

E
LN

K
IN

G
S

CROSS DR

W
EL

L
IN

G
T O

N
CT

WINDSOR DR

TRI STATE INTERNATIONAL
NOTTINGHAM DR

IN
TER

STATE
94

PEMBROKE DR

NO
RT

HAMPTON LN

JAMESTOWN LN

COVENTRY LN

S
C

H
EL

TE
R

R
D

MARGATE DR

HEATHROW DR

BO
ND ST

PARKWAY DR

O
V

E
R

LO
O

K
P

T

MELROSE LN

D UKES LN
BRISTO L CT

DO VER C IR

WILTSHIRE DR

KINGSTON ROW

KNIGHTSBRIDG E PKW Y

TOWER PKWY

RIV
ER

S
H

IR
E

P
L

C
A

M BRIDGE LN

M
ILW

A
U

K
E

E A
VE

DUFFY LN

APTAKISIC RD

PR
A

IR
IE

 L
N

OLDE HALF DAY

RD

CEMETERY RD

OLD
MILL RD

P
E

M
B

R
O

K
E

D
R

R
E

LI
A

N
C

E
LN

GRENADIE R CT

W
H

ITB
Y

C
T

KE
NT

CT

WHITBY CIR

K
E

SW
IC

K
CT

BUXTO
N CT

FALLSTO
N

E
D

R

PARTONCT

ASTOR
CT

BRAMPTON CT

BRAMPTON CT

R
A

LI E
G

H
D

R

M
IL

LB
R

O
O

K
 D

R

R
O

S
E

TE
R

PHEASANT ROW

ES
SE

X
LN

D
EV

O
N

S
H

IR
E

LN

S
H

E
R

W
O

O
D

DR

B
R

U
N

S
W

IC
K

L N

D
U

K
E

S
C

T

D
A

RB
Y

L
N

LA
N

C
A

S
TE

R
 L

N

S URREY LN

LEEDS CT

K
E

N
S

IN
G

TO
N

 D
R

FARRINGTON CIR

FA
R

R
IN

G TO N DR

FARRINGTON DR FARRINGTON CT

B
AR

CLAY
B

LVD

IN
D

U
ST

R
IA

L 
D

R

CKMAN AVE

SU TTON CT

K
N

IG
H

T S
B

R
IDG

E
P

KW
Y

BEACONSFIELD CT

A
UD

U B O N WAY

VI
LL

A
G

E 
G

R
E

EN

C
H

A
R

LE
ST

O
W

N
E

C
T

B
E

R
W

IC
K

C
T

O
L

D
 M

IL
L 

R
D

E
LM

R
D

H
O

TZ
R

D

PRESTON CT

O
LD

M
IL

L
C

IR
C

LE

BROOKWOOD LN

APTAKISIC RD

HAMILTON CT

CHERRYWOOD LN

W
O

O
D

LA
N

D
LN

N

LY
N

G
Y

C
T

R
O

B
IN

W
O

O
D

LN

EVERETT RD

R
O

A
D

W
AY LN

SC
H

E
LT

ER
 R

D

TR
AFA

LG
AR S

Q

RIV
ERSHIR E LN

MAYLAND
VILLA CT

A
S

H
L

E
Y

 C
T

C
H

R
IS

T
IN

E
 C

T

R
O

L
L

IN
G

W
O

O
D

S
 L

N

S
A

R
A

H
 B

L
V

D

TOWN CENTER RD

TH
O

R
N

F
IE

LD
S 

LN

CAMBERLEY LN
BRAMLEY PL

HIGHCROFT WAY

BELMONT DR

B RIARW OOD LN

!(

!((/

!(
(/

!(

§̈¦

4566

4566
")

4566

4566 ")

4566

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

#
#

#

#

#

#

#

#

#

#
#

#

#

#

#

#

#

288

296

200

515355

6
8

405

425

450

420

234 23

234 61

234 44
185

195

333

505227 20

229 61

5 7 9 11
15

13

1 3 5 7 9 11 13 15 17

11 13 15 17 19 21 25

27 25 23 21 19 17 15 13 11 9 7 5 3
3537394143

29272523211917

1

21 25 27 29 31 33 35 37 39

13579

171921

2729

57911
131517192123252729313335

3

17 15 13 11 9 7 5 3

232729

1 3 5

3 5

21 23 25
27 44

15
1311975

1 3 5 7 9 15

78
76747270

500

2 4 6

195

3335

23 47

102 5

200 0

501

213

35

66

68

37

39
41

43
45

4749

29
31

33
35

21

23

45

43

17

11

21

13

15

19

23

19
17

15

1

45

47

37

35

36

48

309

375

224

226

228

230

233231
229

227

225

223

297

293

261251241
231221

289285
281

104

108

11 3

11 2

218

201

250

435

410

430

440

231

239

300
200

300

400

200400

455

495

299

300

4

220

100

500

600

300

400

200

2 4

3

6-8

405415425
435445

45

2

3

120 7

200202203

205

207
206

204

208
210

212
214

217211

209

137 0

434

436

438 437

435 433 431 429 427

420

422

424

426

428

415

417

421
419

418

4

7
6

5

1
2

3

2

408
414

410 412

400

406

404

402

403

405

407
409

401

213
211

203

201
209

205
207

215

216 214
212

210

204
202

208
206

302 310

318

324 330

336

342

301

317

325 333

341

349 355 363

350

358

364

372
380

381

373

359

370
380

390

160 1

2 4

12
8

6

10

14

11

3 5
7 9

1

237239

235

2
4

35

6 229 227 225
2

4

11
9

7

5

3

1

234

240 238
236

230

228

224

220

210

208

206

214

211

213

209

217

215

207

205

201

5
3

1
7

6

4 2

122
11 8

11 6
11 4

120

124 125

11 5

103

105

107

111

109

101

3

5

6
4 106

102

121
11 9

11 711 5
11 3

111

109

107 105

103

101
100102

104

108

106

1

315 311

305
309

301
303307

321 319 317
313

316 314 312
310

304
302

308 306

315 313 311 309 307 305 303 301

314 312 310 308 306 304 302

301303
305307309311313

315
1

2

3

4 5

308 306
304 302

310
314 312

314
312

316

318

310 308 306 304
302

301303305307

309
11 5

11 7

11 9

121

141

131

151

161

171

11 6

11 8

120

170

160

150

140

130

181

251241231
221

211201
191

271
261

180

200
160

190

180

170

200
210 276270260

250240230220 282

211

201

191

288

250

272

240230

260

275

283

201

145 88

96

4

5

3

7

9

10

11 12 1
2

10 12 14 16

52

54

90

88

80

78

74

70

66

62

58

94

54

91

87

83

79

75

71

67

63

95

50 40

49 45 41 37 33 29 25 21 17 13 9 5
53

62

66

70

74

78

82

86

88 91

83

75

67

63

87

71

30 20 10 6

78

74

70

66

62

82

86

90 91

87

83

79

75

71

67

63
62

64

66

72

74

76

5

7

9

3

8

2

2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20

18

16

242220

49

47

45

51

3

5

1

9
11 13 15 17 19 21

7

5

2422201816141210

9

7

5

3

1

11 10

8

14
26 24 22 20 18 16

12

1517212325 19

6

10

6

8

4

55

69

67

65

63

61

59

57

284 0

46

4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18

3 5 7 9 11 13 15 17 19

52

50

64

66

62

60 12108 1614

18

177 9 11 13
15

2 4 6 8 10

12

3 5 7 9

13

11

3 5

9

7

4

6

8

10

1

2

10

20

231

5048
44

46

42
40

43

45

47 49
51

53
39

37

35

31

33

29

27

25

23

417

9

3

5

1

11

1316

14

10

12

8

6

4

16

24

34

32

30

26 28

17

2
7

9
13

11

15

16

20

18

14

6

12
10

8

42

1 3 5 7 11

4 6
8

10 12

14

13

47

55

39

41

43

38

37

53

51

49

3 5

1 3 5

4 6 8
1210

14

11
7 9

33

31

3 51 7 119

108642

13579

68 4 210

12

11

13

11

15

8
9

12

21

23

25

27

29

39 41 43 45 49 51

46 48 50 524442
40

38

26 3218 2220 24 28 30163634323028

18

16

4 214

12

10 8

6

20
413937353331

26

24

22

20

24

5

3

2212
403432

3031
2826

2

10

8

6

4

33312925

4

6

8

10

12

37

35

33

39

41

27

40

38

36

34

32

292 0 291 0

29

3133

49

51
53

54

52

50 48 38
36

44 42

40
46

34

32 30

28

26

27

23

25

24 22

3

1

2
4

6 8 10

9

7

5

3

1

13

21

19

17

12

14

16

18

1 3 5 7 9 11

12108642

242 5

5

3

7

9

1 3

18

14

12

10

8

6

2

4

20

3

5

7

11 12
10

8

6

4

2

7072
74232119

1715139 1175

68

66

4 6 8 12 20 30

43
41 39

64
62

60

58

37

35

33

31

29 46

48

50

52

54

56

42

40

3836

34

30 3228
26

24

4
6 8 10

3

1

2
4

6 8 10 12 14
16

17

2 4 6
8

10 36

4

1 11
13

9753

2 4 6 8 10 12
14 16

18

20
30

191 5

1
11

24681012141618
9

10

8

39

37
35 33

31

43

41

45

47

22262830

3436
32 2

4

6

5

7

642 81

10

11
9

75
197 0

11

24681012

16
182022

142425

23

36 34

43

45

47

49

41

262834 32 30 24 22 20
18

16 12 10
14

37

40

42

44

46

52

50

48

2

10

8

6

4

1

5

3

1029

2

4

8

6

1

9

5

3

7

36

38

37

39
17 18

16

14

15

22

30

28

26

24

20

18

27
6 84 102

35
53

41

43
4546

44

42

30

32

34

36

38

40

35

33

31

15
17 13

11

25

23

18

22

14

12

7

9

5
29

3
8

10
12

6
4

10

2

28

26

24

22

20

18

16

21

13 11 9

14 12 10 8 6 4 2

7
1

4

6

8

3

5

7

9

11

13

15

17
19

7
51

32
34

30 28
2638

36

40

52

54

56

58

46

44

42

4850
53

55

57

59

61

63

65

67

69

62

60

64

66 61

59

57

55

47
49

51
53

46

48

50

45

43

41

39
37

44

40
42

38
36

272931

35
33

30
32

34

28 25
26

27

5456 52

42
44

46
48

50

32

30

28

26

31

18

20

22

24

27

25

29

24

262834 32 3036

34

36

38

40

67

69

71

77

75

73

79
81 83

85

41

39

73

75

77

81

79

83

85

87

89

93

95

72

74

76

78

80

82

84

86

88

90
92 94 96

43

45

47

8
12

14

16

10

18

15119

20

22

2429

31

34

26

28
3032

44

46

48

49

36

316

550

560

570

580

590

555

599

585

575

595

640 630 620

645 635 625

500

475

515

505

612616640650660 600

605675 645 625

4

2

1

3

305

577

100 0

250

255 -2 95

200

140 0

650

625

550

500
505

595

205
200

575

600

100

103 -111

336

303
305

311
313

319

301

302

304
308

307
309

315
317

312

310314

316

325

318

322

321
331

333

335 327

328
334

332

330

343

341

337345

338
340

349

351 -3 53

365
367363

324

306

320

323
329

326347

357 -3 61

510

525

533

502 504

506
501

505 509
508

512513517

514 516

518

524

526
528

522

520

521

541

529

537

572
574

561
557

549
545

553
565

570

566

564
562

556
554

544
542

536
534

532
530

558

568

560

552
546

538
540

548
550

725

7

2 10

225
325

350

350

250

200

111

101

103

105

106

107

111

11 5

121

125

109

6

8

10

2

3

420

225

236 11

97

215

450

490

122 2122 4

81

300

4

1

300

200

100

90

98

100

150 170

10

20

405

425

250
240

35 33

25

27

97 A

211

209

203

207

205

625

675

100

250

1

680

450

475

175

300

810

875

890

820

800

830

840

960

157 30

445450

400

5

95

97

6

1

22
9

41

3

2

1

600

304 A

170

180

160

150

225

970
960

950

940

930

920

910

900

400

402

404

406

408

414

410

412

416
418

420

422 380

370

407

409

411

424

423

425

405

403

401

350

360

427

421

415

7 3

4 2

1

610

300

235

25

75

70

68

86
144 10

101103
105

107

108

106
104

102

100

152 15

301
303 305 307

306304302
300

221

219

217

215

13

191715

21

27

25
23

39

33

35

37

29
31

41

43

45

237 11

236 83

236 69

237 37

236 41
44

28

02

80

58

164 45

164 65

60

235 32

23
5

56

23
5

82

236 17 235 82

20

236 38

236 08

237 20

236 96

235 59

236 68
236 55

236 31

236 07

235 83

235 47

235 25

162 36

162 08 161 60 161 44162 40 160 50 159 84 159 66161 00 159 14 158 72

162 63 161 39162 31

234 68 234 71

234 26

233 98

233 62

233 44

233 16

232 78

232 62

233 78

233 55

239 25

234 01

233 37

233 09

232 73

232 55

230 25

232 06

231 76

231 52

231 24

230 90

230 66

230 42

230 20

230 77

230 61

230 37

232 38

232 07

231 79

231 61

231 27

2311 5

232 41

164 50

164 71

164 76

164 68

164 53

232 03 16
3

26

16
2

99

231 50

231 84

16
3

38

16
3

54

16
3

72

232 03

231 97
231 87

231 50

231 74

231 86

231 75

231 51

163 88

232 04

231 85

231 71

230 37

230 51

16
3

45

16
3

59

231 36

2311 4

230 76

230 62

230 48

230 20

16
3

33

230 85

230 71

231 39

163 60

230 36

16
3

73

231 37

23111

230 87

230 71

230 84

230 70

230 62

231 26

231 38

231 27

231 43

50

1 38

22
9

82
22

9
64

22
9

40

22
9

91
22

9
59

234 76

234 22

233 80

233 06

233 89

233 47

233 44

232 01

232 74

232 60

232 23
232 48

231 53

232 73

23
2

50

23
2

32

23
2

20

232 21

232 73

232 99

231 99

232 03

231 85231 97

1

232 80

232 48

232 06

232 75

232 35

231 75

154 44

14
6

37

14
6

23

14
5

75

14
5

69

14
5

61

14
5

43

14
5

31

14
6

91
14

6
81

14
6

73

14
6

51

14
5

58

14
5

32

14
6

82

14
6

74

14
6

52

14
6

38

14
6

24

14
5

90

14
5

76

148 81 148 39 147 95 147 23

147 44
148 80 148 38 148 00149 26

148 91

237 06236 86 236 90

237 50

236 80

237 44

147 90
147 62148 54

145 22

236 36
236 66

145 70146 02

145 88

146 40147 38 147 02 146 74

148 26

147 39 147 05 146 87 146 63 146 25 145 87 145 63 235 48

235 26

148 25
149 75

148 88

147 15 146 67

234 10

234 90

234 36

234 40

234 66

100

147 48

233 56

146 50

233 46

147 36147 46

149 00

150 44

237 37 237 45

237 23 236 95 237 19

236 41 237 01

234 31 234 41

144 57
144 45

144 58

144 33

235 29

234 77

245 55

245 71

245 43

244 69

243 53

243 25

242 79

236 03

236 86

236 48

236 64

235 26 235 25

236 13

236 75

23
2

99

234 37

135 26

11 15

307 0 306 0

207 5

204 5

320 0

1 3 5 7 9

316 0 314 0 312 0 310 0319 0 318 0

226 19

305 0 300 0 297 0 296 0 295 0

299 0 136 06

28
8

0

28
7

0

289 0

188 5

318 5319 5

190 5

197 5

193 5

190 4

198 5

196 0

198 0

192 0

196 0

194 0

3115

191 6

196 5

194 5

223 60 3

190 5

196 3

194 5

192 5

191 5

306 5

304 0 303 6304 6

200 0

198 0

196 0

194 0

192 0

194 0

190 0

300 0

192 5

191 5

193 5

294 0

192 0

296 9 295 5

186 0

290 5

195 0

193 0

191 5

288 5

190 1

193 5

195 5

185 5

184 5

290 0

192 0

183 5

290 1304 5 304 3 303 5 303 1 300 1 294 5 292 9

146 00

145 92

146 01

146 25

219 55

146 46

26
1

45

217 11

26
1

57

264 0-
264 6

263 0-
263 6

264 5-
264 9

263 5-
263 9

220 -
226

212 -
216

202 -
208

203 -
209

215 -
219

225 -
231

230 -
234

238 -
244

248 -
254247 -

251

237 -
241

164 06

260 1

229 27

135 -1 45

11 3-13 3

101 -108

110-130

400

400

350

415

1

475

299

30

45

100

37

51

615

308

1

2

2

1

3

4

5

6

7

202

42

15

251 -2 57

402 -4 08

310 -3 16

21
2

-2
28

301 -3 17

262
-2

78

512 -5 22

232 -2 56

421 -4 25

282
-2

98

321 -3 35

411-41 7

20
2 -

20
8

342
-3

48

339
-3

43

216 15

215 79

215 69

216 15

215 79

215 69

150 1

303
301

305

302
304306

307

308

309

310312

311

314

31
5

313

405

444

446

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

SU

PUD

SU

SU

SU

SU

22

21
45

21

45

22

94

33

58

W 24

58

56 A 43

52

N
orth C

entral S
ervice

Village of
Buffalo
Grove

Village of
Vernon Hills

Village of
Bannockburn

Village of
Riverwoods

City of
Lake Forest

Village of
Buffalo
Grove

Village of
Buffalo
Grove

Prairie View

Stone

Lake
Quarry

Creek

W
est Fork

In d ian N
orth Branch

C
h ica go R ive r

Apta ki si c C re
e

k

D
e s

 P
la

in
es

 R
iv

er

College of Lake
County South
Lake Campus

Crane's
Landing

Golf Club

Riverside
Foundation

Lincolnshire
Marriott
Resort

Village Green
Retail Center

Vernon Township
Cemetery

Lincolnshire
Commons

Retail Center

Lincolnshire
Corporate

Center

City Park
Retail
Center

Lincolnshire
Business

Center

CDW Center

Lincolnshire
Swim
Club

Spring
Lake Park

Whytegate
Park

Lincolnshire
Memorial Park

Rivershire
Park

Bicentennial
Park

Balzer
Park

North Park
Lake County

Forest
Preserve

Florsheim
Nature

Preserve

Lake County Ryerson
Conservation Area

Lake County Captain
Daniel Wright

Forest Preserve

Olde
Mill Park

Lake County
Half Day Forest

Preserve

See Inset 1

See Inset 2

See Inset 2

See Inset 4

See Inset 3

Limitation of Liability: The user agrees that it will at all times indemnify and hold the Village
and its officers and employees harmless and free and clear of any liability arising from any act
of omission or commission. The Village makes no claim as to the accuracy of this article and its
associated data tables and assumes no responsibility for their position or content accuracy. In
providing such articles, the Village assumes no obligation to assist the user in the use,
development, or maintenance of any applications derived from this article. The Village
assumes no responsibility for the accuracy of any subsequent copies of this article.

Source Information

Property lines provided by Lake County GIS and modified by the Village. All other map layers
developed by the Village of Lincolnshire GIS.

Village corporate limits as of January 1, 2018. Map printed 8/16/2018.

0 1,600 3,200800

Feet

1 inch equals 1,689 feet

SU/PUD Special Use/Planned Unit Development Area

Zoning District Classification
Residential

R1 - Single Family

R2 - Single Family

R2A - Single Family

R3 - Single Family

R4 - Multiple Family

R5 - Mixed Use

Restricted Manufacturing
M1

Other
Open Spaces / Parks

Commercial
E

B1

B2

O/Ia

O/Ib

O/Ic

O/Id

OC

Property Line

Railroad

Water

Corporate Limits

°

2018 Zoning District Map

Place of Worship

School

Ascension of Our Lord Greek Orthodox Church

Lutheran Church of the Holy Spirit

Community Christian Church

Village Church of Lincolnshire

Holy Mountain Evangelical Church

Willow Creek Community Church

Daniel Wright Middle School 

Half Day Elementary School

Laura B. Sprague Elementary School

Adlai E. Stevenson High School

Public Facility
Lincolnshire-Riverwoods Fire Protection Dist. 

Post Office 

Village Public Works Facility 

Vernon Area Public Library 

Village Hall and Police Department

Rivershire Nature Center 

Å1
Å2
Å3
Å4
Å5
Å6

"1

"2

"3

"4

!1

!2

!3

!4

!5

!6

Document 3

Now zoned 
   B2



 
 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6A: B1 RETAIL BUSINESS 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 1 

 
TITLE: 6 
CHAPTER 6: Business Districts 
ARTICLE: A, B1 Retail Business District 
 
Sections: 
6-6A-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations  
6-6A-2: General Requirements  
6-6A-3: Uses  
6-6A-4: Lot Size Requirements  
6-6A-5: Building Setbacks  
6-6A-6: Building Height  
6-6A-7: Signs 
6-6A-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
6-6A-9: Landscaping 
 
6-6A-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations 
This District is intended to provide a location suitable to accommodate a combination of retail, 
service and office uses in an intensive commercial core area. Permitted and special uses can 
be placed on relatively small zoning lots reflecting the historic development pattern of Half Day 
Road and to encourage a pedestrian environment in retail shopping areas. 
 
As the village relies almost exclusively on retail sales generated from properties located in the 
village to fund its municipal services, this Article is also intended to regulate the conversion or 
elimination of retail sales establishments through the preservation and enhancement of sales 
tax generating uses, while also working with the property owners to maintain a viable tenant mix 
on various properties within this District. 
 
6-6A-2: General Requirements 
A. Outdoor Business and Storage: All business, service, storage, merchandise display and 

repair processing, where allowed, shall be conducted only within a completely enclosed 
building except for off-street parking, off-street loading, open sales lots, automobile service 
facilities, and drive-thru facilities where such uses are allowed. 
 

B. Production of Goods: The production of any goods on the premises shall be associated with 
a Permitted and/or Special Use and incidental to the principal use, unless otherwise 
specifically provided herein. 

 
C. Performance Criteria: The use of equipment and goods processed or produced in the 

premises shall not be objectionable by reason of odor, dust, smoke, cinders, gas, noise, 
vibration, refuse matter or water-carried waste. 

 
D. Restrictions on Ground Floor Uses: 
 

1. Non-sales tax-generating uses shall be unlimited in structures constructed prior to 
January 1, 1995, subject to Chapter 13, Non-Conforming Buildings & Uses, of this Title. 
 

2. Non-sales tax generating uses in structures constructed after January 1, 1995 shall be 

B1 
RETAIL BUSINESS 

Document 4



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6A 
  B1 RETAIL BUSINESS 
  

 
 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 2 

subject to the following restrictions:  
 

a. Gross Floor Area:  A maximum 25% of the gross ground floor area per principal 
structure on a zoning lot shall be utilized for non-sales tax generating uses. 
 

b. Variance:  Any request for an increase in the above restriction shall be subject to 
the Variance procedures of Section 6-14-9 of this Title. 

 
6-6A-3: Uses 
Uses permitted in the B1 Retail Business District are identified in the table below: 

Uses 
P = Permitted 
SU = Special Use 

Banks and financial institutions, with drive-through facilities SU 
Banks and financial institutions, without drive-thru facilities P 
Catering establishment SU 
Convenience store P 
Day care center SU 
Day Spa, with massage services  SU 
Day Spa, without massage services P 
Educational institution, private, business, trade school SU 
Food store, including candy/confectionery stores, dairy products and bakeries P 
Funeral home SU 
General retail and services uses P 
Government building (subject to the regulations of Section 6-6A-2(D)) SU 
Liquor sales, package only P 
Musical instrument sales and repair, including accessory instruction/lessons P 
Office, business and professional (subject to the regulations of Section 6-6A-2(D)) P 
Personal fitness/instruction studio (yoga, martial arts, dance), not including health 
club/athletic facilities P 

Pet shop, with limited boarding and/or sale of live animals SU 
Physician’s office P 
Planned Unit Development (PUD), as regulated in Section 6-14-12 of this Title SU 
Printing, publishing, blueprinting and photocopying establishments with retail sales only SU 
Repair or servicing of any article, the sale of which is from a permitted use in this District SU 
Restaurants with Live Entertainment SU 
Restaurants, excluding Live Entertainment  P 
Restaurants, Fast Food with drive-thru SU 
Restaurants, Fast Foot without drive-thru facility P 
Retail pharmacy/ drug store, without drive-thru facility P 
Vehicle Fueling Station, may include convenience store SU 
Any other similar use not specifically permitted in this Chapter, but which has substantially 
similar impacts on public services, traffic, parking and property values as the uses 
expressly permitted herein, is consistent with the trend in development within the District, 
and is complementary to the Village’s reliance on non-property taxes to finance municipal 
operations. 

P 

 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6A 
  B1 RETAIL BUSINESS 
  

 
 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 3 

6-6A-4: Lot Sizes  

 Uses 
Minimum 
Lot Area 

Minimum 
Lot Width 

Permitted Uses 15,000  sq. ft. 100 ft. 
Banks and financial institutions, with drive-through 40,000 sq. ft. 150 ft. 
Funeral home 30,000 sq. ft. 200 ft. 
Planned Unit Development By Village Board By Village Board 
Restaurant with Live Entertainment 15,000 sq. ft. 100 ft. 
Restaurant, Fast Food with drive-thru facility 45,000 sq. ft. 200 ft. 
Special Uses, all others 7,500 sq. ft. 100 ft. 
Vehicle Fueling Station, may include convenience 
store 45,000 sq. ft. 200 ft. 

 
6-6A-5: Building Setbacks   

Uses Front Side  
Corner 
Side Rear 

Permitted Uses 10 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 15 ft. 
Special Uses 10 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 15 ft. 
Planned Unit Developments (PUD) By Village Board 

 
Where a side and/or rear yard abuts any residential zoning district, excluding the R5 District, a 
transitional yard measuring twice the minimum yard requirement shall be required. Landscaping 
or fence screening a minimum of seventy-five percent (75%) opacity shall be provided along 
such transitional yards. Transitional yards shall not contain any off-street parking or other 
structures, except driveways, sidewalks, and landscaping. 
 
6-6A-6: Building Height  
In the B1 District no building shall exceed two and one-half (2-1/2) stories or thirty feet (30') in 
height including rooftop equipment. 
 
6-6A-7: Signs 
Signs shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 12 of this Code. 
 
6-6A-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
Off-street parking and loading facilities shall be provided as required in Chapter 11 of this Title. 
(Ord. 86-885-22) 

 
6-6A-9: Landscaping 
Landscaping shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 13 of this Code  
 



 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6B: B2 GENERAL BUSINESS 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 1 

 
TITLE: 6 
CHAPTER 6: Business Districts 
ARTICLE: B, B2 General Business District 
 
Sections: 
6-6B-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations 
6-6B-2: General Requirements 
6-6B-3: Uses 
6-6B-4: Lot Sizes  
6-6B-5: Building Setbacks 
6-6B-6: Building Height  
6-6B-7: Signs 
6-6B-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
6-6B-9: Landscaping 
 
6-6B-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations 
The intent of the B2 District is to accommodate those uses which require substantial land area, 
are major travel destinations, require substantial support parking and draw their clientele or 
employees from the regional market. Often times such uses require a high degree of access 
and roadside visibility or exposure from major thoroughfares. 
 
As the village relies almost exclusively on retail sales generated from properties located in the 
village to fund its municipal services, this Article is also intended to regulate the conversion or 
elimination of retail sales establishments through the preservation and enhancement of sales 
tax generating uses, while also working with the property owners to maintain a viable tenant mix 
on various properties within this District. 
 
6-6B-2: General Requirements 
A. Outdoor Business and Storage: All business, service, storage, merchandise display and 

repair processing, where allowed, shall be conducted only within a completely enclosed 
building except for off-street parking, off-street loading, open sales lots, automobile service 
facilities, and drive-thru facilities where such uses are allowed. 
 

B. Production of Goods: The production of any goods on the premises shall be associated with 
a Permitted and/or Special Use and shall be incidental to the principal use, unless otherwise 
specifically provided herein. 

 
C. Performance Criteria: The use of equipment and goods processed or produced on the 

premises shall not be objectionable by reason of odor, dust, smoke, cinders, gas, noise, 
vibration, refuse matter or water-carried waste. 

 
D. Restrictions on Ground Floor Uses: 
 

1. Non-sales tax-generating uses shall be unlimited in structures constructed prior to 
January 1, 1995, subject to Chapter 13, Non-Conforming Buildings & Uses, of this Title. 
 

2. Non-sales tax generating uses in structures constructed after January 1, 1995 shall be 
subject to the following restrictions: 

B2 
GENERAL BUSINESS 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6B 
  B2 GENERAL BUSINESS 
  

 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 2 

 
a. Gross Floor Area: A maximum 25% of the gross ground floor area per principal 

structure on a zoning lot shall be utilized for non-sales tax generating uses. 
 

b. Variance: Any request for an increase in the above restrictions shall be subject to 
the Variance procedures of Section 6-14-9 of this Title. 

 
6-6B-3: Uses 
Uses permitted in the B2 General Business District are identified in the table below: 

Uses 
P = Permitted 
SU = Special Use 

Any Permitted Use in the B1 Retail Business District P 
Any Special Use in the B1 Retail Business District SU 
Assembly Uses, as defined in Chapter 2 of this Title SU 
Automotive service facility SU 
Bowling alley establishment P 
Colleges, universities, or vocational schools  SU 
Convalescent, sheltered care facilities and group or nursing homes P 
Drinking establishments, including Live Entertainment SU 
Hotels SU 
Motor vehicle sales establishments SU 
Parks and playgrounds P 
Radio and television station, excluding transmission towers SU 
Recreation facility, public or private, as defined in Chapter 2 of this Title SU 
Retail shopping centers P 
Urgent medical care center/clinic SU 
Any other similar use not specifically permitted in this Chapter, but which has substantially 
similar impacts on public services, traffic, parking and property values as the uses 
expressly permitted herein, is consistent with the trend in development within the District, 
and is complementary to the Village’s reliance on non-property taxes to finance municipal 
operations. 

P 

 
6-6B-4: Lot Sizes  

Uses 
Minimum 
Lot Area 

Minimum 
Lot Width 

Permitted Uses 30,000  sq. ft. 200 ft. 
Automotive service/repair facility 30,000 sq. ft. 100 ft. 
Motor vehicle sales establishment 30,000 sq. ft. 300 ft. 
Planned Unit Developments(PUD) By Village Board By Village Board 
Special Uses, all other 30,000  sq. ft. 200 ft. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6B 
  B2 GENERAL BUSINESS 
  

 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 3 

6-6B-5: Building Setbacks 

Uses Front Side 
Corner 
Side  Rear 

Permitted Uses 50 ft. 20 ft. 50 ft. 25 ft. 
Special Uses, all others 50 ft. 20 ft. 50 ft. 25 ft. 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) By Village Board 
 
Where a side and/or rear yard abuts any residential zoning district, excluding the R5 District, a 
transitional yard measuring twice the minimum yard requirement shall be required. Landscaping 
or fence screening a minimum of seventy-five percent (75%) opacity shall be provided within 
such transitional yards. Transitional yards shall not contain any off-street parking or other 
structures, except driveways, sidewalks, and landscaping. 
 
6-6B-6: Building Height  
In the B2 District no building shall exceed three and one-half (3-1/2) stories or forty two feet 
(42') in height including rooftop equipment. 
 
6-6B-7: Signs 
Signs shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 12 of this Code. 
 
6-6B-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
Off-street parking and loading facilities shall be provided as required in Chapter 11 of this Title. 
(Ord. 86-885-22) 
 
6-6B-9: Landscaping 
Landscaping shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 13 of this Code 
 
 



CONSUMER SERIES,  Apr. 12, 2018                                                                                                                                               Page  1                                      

 

Shopping Centers Becoming Consumer Centers 
 Alongside Traditional Retailers, Non-Retail Tenants are Providing Convenience and Experiences 

   Shopping center landlords seeking to accommodate consumer 
preferences for more convenient and engaging environments are 
adding more non-retail or service-based tenants. By no means does 
this indicate that retail is losing its status as the primary driver to 
shopping centers. An ICSC consumer survey1 conducted earlier this 
year found the top reasons for visiting malls are still retail-related: 
“visiting department stores,” “browsing,” and “visiting specialty shops.” 
Services, like seeing movies and dining, ranked lower. 
   ICSC analysis of U.S. Census Bureau data shows that in 2017, 
services, including food and beverage (F&B), salons, 
laundromats, movie theaters, fitness/recreational sports centers 
and others generated roughly one-fifth of sales at retail real 
estate, while pure retail comprised the remaining share. Furthermore, 
data provided by CoStar Realty Information Inc., (www.costar.com), 
shows non-retail/non-restaurant space in shopping centers 
specifically increased by 3.9 percentage points between 2012 and 
2018 (from 19.2% to 23.1%) . Because non-retail tenants represent a 
growing share of the retail real estate landscape, ICSC surveyed2 
consumers about the various concepts and evaluate the impact those 
are having on their shopping behaviors.  
 
Non-Retail Tenants Popular, But Traditional Retail Paramount 
    Overall, in the first quarter of 2018, large shares of the U.S. adult 
population have visited shopping centers, both malls and open-air, and 
spent on F&B (79%), leisure/entertainment (64%), medical/health/
wellness (51%), and other services3 (69%). (See Chart 1.) Open-air 

centers—unsurprisingly, since there are more of them, with a typically 
more diverse service tenant mix—saw a greater percentage of 
consumers spending in those categories, as shown in Chart 2. Malls, 
however, experienced nearly as much activity at restaurants and 
drinking establishments and at leisure/entertainment venues.  

   During their mall visits, roughly one-quarter (26%) of adults visit 
non-retail tenants all or most of the time and slightly more (28%) 
do the same when visiting open-air centers. (See Chart 3.) At each 
of those properties, only 13% say they never visit them. Millennials are 
more likely to visit these establishments more often compared with 
Gen X and baby boomers. 

   Despite the above data indicating that large shares of adults are 
patronizing non-retail tenants in shopping centers, this trend has not 
come at the expense of retailers; the establishments still primarily 
driving visits to those destinations. Proof of this lies in consumer 
expenditures by type of purchase. Since January, mall shoppers have 
spent on average 1.5 times more on goods than services, and at open-
air centers, on average they spent 2.8 times more on goods. 
 
Casual Restaurants and Movie Theaters See Largest Numbers 
   Non-retail concepts across a broad spectrum are setting up shop in 
traditional retail centers. Table 1 lists the most popular of those that 
consumers visited in the past three months, segmented by category 
and shopping center format. Although some of them are already well-
established shopping center tenants, newer occupants, like food halls, 

 

April 12, 2018 

Key Takeaways 
�� Large shares of consumers have patronized food and beverage 

service establishments (79%), leisure/entertainment venues (64%), 
medical/health/wellness facilities (51%), and other services (69%) in 
shopping centers in the first quarter this year. 

�� Roughly one-quarter (26%) of adults visit non-retail tenants all or 
most of the time while at the mall and slightly more (28%) do the 
same when visiting an open-air center.  

�� Nearly half (45%) of consumers say the presence of non-retail 
tenants increases the amount of time spent at the center, while about 
two-fifths (38%) claim they encourage more frequent visits.  

Chart 1: 
Shares of Consumers Spending at Non-Retail Tenants in  

Shopping Centers by Category and Age in Q1 2018 

Chart 3: 
Frequency of Spending at Non-Retail Tenants  

During Trips to Shopping Centers 

1    Findings from the “ICSC 2018 Mall Survey” were highlighted in: “Consumers See a Bright Future in Malls,” Industry Insights: Consumer Series, March 2018.  
2  These results are based on a representative poll of 1,004 adults in the U.S., conducted between March 29 and April 1, 2018 by ORC International on behalf of ICSC. 
3  This category includes services such as dry cleaners, banks, salons, pet-care facilities, childcare, places of worship, schools/training facilities, repair shops, and community gathering spaces 

79%

64%

51%

69%

89%

78%

56%

76%
80%

68%

50%

65%

71%

50%
46%

66%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Food & Beverage Services Leisure/Entertainment Medical/Health/Wellness Other Services

Pe
rc

en
t o

f U
.S

. A
du

lts

Total Millennials (20-37 years old) Gen X (38-53 years old) Boomers (54-72 years old)

Chart 2: 
Shares of Consumers Spending at Non-Retail Tenants  

by Shopping-Center Type 

65%

49%

28%

42%

71%

54%

45%

61%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Food & Beverage Services Leisure/Entertainment Medical/Health/Wellness Other Services

Pe
rc

en
t o

f U
.S

. A
du

lts

Malls Open-Air Centers

Document 5



CONSUMER SERIES,  Apr. 12, 2018                                                                                                                                               Page  2                                      

 

family entertainment attractions, sports/recreation centers, cultural 
centers, gyms, urgent care and pet-care facilities, did rank among the 
top venues consumers visited so far this year at malls and open-air 
centers.  
   Separately, within retail stores themselves, non-retail uses and 
services are also being incorporated for added consumer 
convenience. Within the past three months, 61% of adults have used 
a service within a retail establishment that is not part of the 
company’s core business. The most popular of these include: F&B 
(31%), banking/financial services (21%), health/medical clinic (18%) 
and salons (16%). 
 
Longer Stays and More Frequent Visits 
   Consumers confirm changes to their behaviors as a result of the 
presence of non-retail or service tenants in shopping centers. Nearly 
half (45%) say that as a result of those tenants specifically, they 
generally spend more time at shopping centers, while about two-
fifths (38%) claim those establishments, encourage more frequent 
visits. (See Chart 4.) These findings do not imply that the remaining 

shares of consumers either spend less time or make fewer visits, as 
they are not reflective of overall shopping center behaviors. They 
solely provide insight on the direct impact of non-retail tenants. 
   Additionally, consumers say non-retail tenants make their visits 
more efficient and enjoyable (49%) and they prefer visiting centers 
that have a wide variety of those establishments compared with 
those that have few (44%). This year’s survey also showed that 
consumers value the entertainment component of shopping centers 
more than in the past. Only one-third (33%) of adults said 
entertainment was not something they looked forward to in shopping 
centers. When the same question was asked in the ICSC/Gallup 
Survey on Shopping Centers in 1990, two-thirds (66%) of adults said 
the same. The entertainment aspect of shopping centers has certainly 
become a mainstay over the 28-year period.    
 
Still Room for More Non-Retail Tenants in Shopping Centers 
   Despite consumers’ widespread use of non-retail and service 
tenants, they are interested in seeing more of them in the shopping 
centers they visit. Though already the most prevalent, the top non-
retail tenants consumers want to see more of are F&B services 
(34%). Those are closely followed by entertainment (33%) as well as 
personal care services (20%), medical/health clinics (19%) and gyms/
fitness centers (17%). There is a slight difference between the 
generational cohorts in terms of these preferences. While Gen Xers 
and boomers would like additional F&B services, millennials want to 
see more entertainment options.  
 
Conclusion 
   Adding more non-retail tenants to shopping centers is a direct 
response within the retail real estate industry to accommodate 
changing shopping behaviors and new preferences. As many 
consumers shift their preference from spending mainly on goods to 
spending more on entertainment and experiences, today’s successful 
retail destinations are diversifying their tenant mix, choosing more 
service-oriented concepts. By expanding the offering and allowing 
consumers to get whatever they want, wherever they want, 
shopping centers are becoming consumer centers. 

While every effort is made to ensure the accuracy and reliability of the information contained in this report, ICSC does not guarantee and is not responsible for the 
accuracy, completeness or reliability of the information contained in this report. Use of such information is voluntary, and reliance on it should only be undertaken after an 
independent review of its accuracy, completeness, efficiency, and timeliness. © 2018. This publication is included in ICSC’s Albert Sussman e-Library, which is part of 
Ebsco Publishing’s products.  

Table 1: 
Non-Retail Tenant Concepts Consumers Visited in the Past Three Months  

by Shopping Center Format  
Malls Open-Air Centers

Food & Beverage Services

1. Food courts (66%) Casual/fast-casual (60%)
2. Casual/fast-casual (48%) Fast-food/coffee/yogurt (55%)
3. Fast-food/coffee/yogurt (46%) Independent ("mom-and-pop") restaurants (46%)
4. Food halls (26%) Craft breweries/beer gardens (28%)
5. Independent ("mom-and-pop") restaurants (20%) Market halls/farmers markets (27%)

Leisure/Entertainment

1. Movie theaters (66%) Movie theaters (61%)
2. Bowling alley/billiards/arcade (28%) Performance/event gathering space (36%)
3. Aquarium/amusement parks (19%) Bowling alley/billiards/arcade (34%)
4. Museum/cultural center (19%) Aquarium/amusement parks (32%)
5. Sports/recreation center (18%) Museum/cultural center (27%)

Medical/Health/Wellness

1. Dentist/eye care/hearing center (40%) Primary/urgent care clinic (51%)
2. Gyms/fitness centers/yoga studio (34%) Dentist/eye care/hearing center (50%)
3. Massage parlor/spas (33%) Gyms/fitness centers/yoga studio (40%)
4. Primary/urgent care clinic (31%) Imaging centers/radiology (27%)
5. Imaging centers/radiology (25%) Physical therapy/chiropractor (26%)

Other Services

1. Hair/nail salon (43%) Banks (64%)
2. Banks (37%) Hair/nail salon (42%)
3. Copy/print centers, pack & ship (20%) Pet grooming/animal care (28%)
4. Dry cleaners/laundromat (19%) Repair/maintenance shops (27%)
5. Pet grooming/animal care (19%) Dry cleaners/laundromat (24%)

Chart 4: 
Shares of Consumers Spending More Time at Shopping Centers and 

Visiting More Often Due to Non-Retail Tenants 

29%

39%

42%

49%

45%

52%

38%

45%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

I visit shopping centers more often as a result of
non-retail tenants being there

Non-retail tenants increase the amount of time I
spend at shopping centers

Percent of U.S. Adults

Total Millennials (20-37 years old) Gen X (38-53 years old) Boomers (54-72 years old)



Page 1 of 9How Much Did Online Shopping Eat Into Retail in 2018? - CityLab

1/10/2019https://www.citylab.com/life/2018/12/2018-retail-apocalypse-online-shopping-charts-maps...



Page 2 of 9How Much Did Online Shopping Eat Into Retail in 2018? - CityLab

1/10/2019https://www.citylab.com/life/2018/12/2018-retail-apocalypse-online-shopping-charts-maps...



Page 3 of 9How Much Did Online Shopping Eat Into Retail in 2018? - CityLab

1/10/2019https://www.citylab.com/life/2018/12/2018-retail-apocalypse-online-shopping-charts-maps...



Page 4 of 9How Much Did Online Shopping Eat Into Retail in 2018? - CityLab

1/10/2019https://www.citylab.com/life/2018/12/2018-retail-apocalypse-online-shopping-charts-maps...



Page 5 of 9How Much Did Online Shopping Eat Into Retail in 2018? - CityLab

1/10/2019https://www.citylab.com/life/2018/12/2018-retail-apocalypse-online-shopping-charts-maps...



Page 6 of 9How Much Did Online Shopping Eat Into Retail in 2018? - CityLab

1/10/2019https://www.citylab.com/life/2018/12/2018-retail-apocalypse-online-shopping-charts-maps...



Page 7 of 9How Much Did Online Shopping Eat Into Retail in 2018? - CityLab

1/10/2019https://www.citylab.com/life/2018/12/2018-retail-apocalypse-online-shopping-charts-maps...



Page 1 of 3Printable

1/10/2019https://www.chicagobusiness.com/node/821221/printable/print



Page 2 of 3Printable

1/10/2019https://www.chicagobusiness.com/node/821221/printable/print





























































 

Agenda Item 
3.13 COW 

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Committee of the Whole 
January 14, 2019 

 
Subject:  Building (Title 5) and Subdivision (Title 7) Code Amendments 

 
Action Requested: Consideration and Discussion of Amendments to Title 5 (Building 

Regulations) and Title 7 (Subdivisions and Land Development) of 
the Lincolnshire Village Code 
 

Originated By/Contact: Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/Community & 
Economic Development Director 
Wally Dittrich, Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer 
 

Referred To: Village Board 
 

 
Background: 
The FY2018 budget included a goal within the Community & Economic Development 
Department to complete a comprehensive review of Title 7 – Subdivisions and Land 
Development (Subdivision Code) of the Lincolnshire Village Code. Due to staffing changes, this 
goal was not accomplished by year-end. On several occasions over the course of 2018, the 
Village Board (Board) discussed ways to ensure high-quality development occurred within the 
Village’s corporate limits and the 1.5-mile planning boundary within the Village’s subdivision 
jurisdiction. In light of several recently-approved incorporated and unincorporated subdivisions, 
and to provide the Board with the necessary tools to dictate development consistent with 
Lincolnshire standards (and as guided by the 2012 updates to the Comprehensive Plan), staff 
performed an initial review of the Subdivision Code with preliminary recommendations for 
priority amendments.  
 
Staff is in receipt of a Northwest Municipal Conference survey conducted for the Village of 
Arlington Heights that provides some information on neighboring communities’ subdivision 
processes and requirements. However, staff realizes additional research is needed to augment 
and make decisions regarding changes to the Village’s Subdivision Code and related sections 
of Village Code that are informed by the subdivision process (e.g., Title 5 – Building Regulations 
(Building Code). Staff seeks feedback from the Board for the areas of consideration and staff 
recommendations as outlined below. Staff plans to provide a “red-lined” version of all proposed 
amendments at a future Village Board meeting (and potentially future Zoning Board meetings. 
See the “Approval Process” section below for more details). 
 
Proposed Amendments – Subdivision Code: 
Preliminary Improvement Plans 
Where applicable, the Village regularly communicates with external review agencies (e.g., the 
Lake County Stormwater Management Commission, Lake County Division of Transportation, 
and the Illinois Department of Transportation) during all stages of the development review 
process for respective on- and off-site improvements. Before any Village permits are issued to a 
developer, all external review agencies must first issue their respective permits. However, the 
timing of when the Village receives the required permits from those agencies varies depending 
on the size and complexity of the project. The extent of certain improvements may not be 
entirely known until after the Village Board has approved the subdivision, despite the respective 
external agencies ultimately having jurisdiction over the location and degree of those 
improvements.  



 

Agenda Item 
3.13 COW 

 
� Recommendation – include language in Section 7-3-3(A) of the Subdivision Code 

to reinforce the Village’s commitment to securing off-site improvement 
information as early as practicable in the development review process.  
 

Development Donations and Application Fees 
The Subdivision Code allows the Village to assess park, school, and library fees for 
incorporated and unincorporated subdivisions within 1.5 miles of Village boundaries using code-
prescribed formulas. Donations are only assessed for net lot increases. Park fees are retained 
by the Village and used for park improvements, while school and library fees are forwarded to 
Districts 103 and 125, as well as the Vernon Area Public Library. Petitioners of unincorporated 
subdivisions within 1.5 miles of Lincolnshire’s corporate limits have the ability to enter into 
donation agreements with the library and school districts directly, rather than paying these 
donations through the Village. 
 
In terms of application fees for unincorporated subdivisions, the current Comprehensive Fee 
schedule permits the Village to charge only one subdivision fee in the amount of $1,000. An 
unincorporated subdivision requires review and approval by the Board. In response to two 
unincorporated subdivision requests considered by the Board in September 2018, and with 
confirmation by the Village Attorney, the Board directed staff to collect donation fees and the 
related $1,000 application fee for unincorporated subdivisions.  
 

� Recommendation – amend Village code to memorialize earlier policy decision by 
the Board to charge application fees and donations for unincorporated 
subdivisions in the same amounts as for incorporated subdivisions. 

 
Updated Construction and Landscaping Standards 
Several areas of the Subdivision Code reference either construction or landscaping standards 
specifically, or make reference to those standards found in other sections of Village Code (e.g., 
Section 7-5-7 Adoption of Open Space Landscaping Standards as approved by Ord. No. 88-
1031-63 and depicted in Appendix 3 of Section 13-2 of Village Code). Additionally, the 
dimensions of public infrastructure required to service subdivisions may be updated in tandem 
with the forthcoming updates to Title 7, Chapter 5 – Design Standards (e.g., minimum right-of-
way widths or shared trenches for public utilities).  
 

� Recommendation - update referenced sections where appropriate and remove 
specific standards in the Subdivision Code to eliminate the need to update 
multiple sections of Village Code.  

 
Areas for Additional Research/Consideration – Subdivision Code: 
Park Donations 
Section 7-7 of the Subdivision Code refers to the “ultimate population” as the number of persons 
“generated by a subdivision or planned unit development”. Projected population is a key 
component of the formula for determining the amount required for park donations in the form of 
land donations or cash equivalents. However, the code is silent with respect to the number of 
persons generated by a subdivision or planned unit development that is non-residential in 
nature or use. Lincolnshire’s daytime population is more than triple its residential population. 
These workers and visitors have equal access to the Village’s parks and trail system as do 
residents. Staff believes it is worthwhile to investigate options for park donations resulting from 
non-residential subdivisions and planned unit developments. 
 

� Recommendation – perform additional research. 
 



 

Agenda Item 
3.13 COW 

 
Proposed Amendments – Building Code: 
Connection Fees 
Section 5-3-4(G) of the Building Code provides non-residential building owners a time period 
(18-30 months after occupancy) to seek adjustments to Village water and sewer connection 
fees by submitting actual usage figures during occupancy (months 13-24). If the actual amount 
of water usage is less than the estimated usage used per the Village’s equivalent dwelling units 
(EDUs) formula at the time of building permit issuance, the Village is currently required to 
reimburse the building owner for the difference in water usage when the building is at least 90% 
occupied. The code does not prohibit adjustments when changes in ownership and usage occur 
during the eligible reimbursement time period. Additionally, the potential for large 
reimbursements may materially impact the Village’s Water & Sewer Improvement Fund. Staff is 
unaware of the rationale for this provision of the code, or if other communities have similar 
provisions. The Code does not permit adjustments to Lake County sewer connection fees based 
on the actual water usage.  
 

� Recommendation – remove Section 5-3-4(G) of the Subdivision Code to eliminate 
opportunity for Village water connection fee reimbursements. 

 
Areas for Additional Research/Consideration – Building Code: 
Storm Sewer Connection and Stormwater Utility Fees 
Connections to the Village’s water and sanitary sewer systems require fees which are based on 
EDUs and on the type/use of buildings. However, the Village does not have a storm sewer 
connection fee that, similar to water and sanitary sewer connection fees, would be allocated for 
the maintenance of the Village’s storm sewer systems. Development of all sizes and scales 
contribute to stormwater runoff depending on the amount of impervious surface (e.g., buildings, 
driveways) which impacts system capacity. Relatedly, the creation of a stormwater utility fee 
may help pay for stormwater infrastructure improvements on an ongoing basis rather than one-
time revenues from connection fees. Given Lincolnshire’s history of flooding, a storm sewer 
connection fee and stormwater utility fee could help mitigate future flooding through 
enhancement of stormwater infrastructure.  

� Recommendation – perform additional research regarding storm sewer 
connection and stormwater utility fee viability, as well as prevalence of said fees 
in neighboring communities. 

 
Approval Process: 
The Village Board holds the authority for complete review and approval of the Building and 
Subdivision Codes. No public hearing is required. For the Subdivision Code, the Village Board 
may refer the proposed amendments to the Zoning Board (though it is not required). For the 
Building Code, the Village must notify the Capital Development Board of the proposed 
amendments at least 30 days before adoption, per 20 ILCS 3105/10.18. 
 
Recommendation: 
Discussion and feedback to staff regarding proposed updates to the Building and Subdivision 
Codes before future Village Board discussion and ultimate approval. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

� Document 1: Title 5 (Building Regulations) of the Lincolnshire Village Code. 
� Document 2: Title 7 (Subdivisions and Land Development) of the Lincolnshire Village 

Code. 
 
 
 



 

Agenda Item 
3.13 COW 

 
Meeting History 

Committee of the Whole 
Preliminary Evaluation (current) January 14, 2019 

 



CHAPTER 1

ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT

SECTION:

5-1-1:  Title
5-1-2:  Purpose
5-1-3:  Interpretation; Responsibility for Compliance
5-1-4:  Separability
5-1-5:  Public Utilities
5-1-6:  Fire District and Protection Regulations
5-1-6-1: Fire District
5-1-6-2: Fire Protection Requirements
5-1-6-3  Special Fire Protection Area Limits and Requirements
5-1-7:  Curb Cut Restrictions (Rep. by Ord. 91-1206-19) Relocated to Title 8
5-1-8:  Violation and Enforcement of Regulations
5-1-8-1: Penalties for Violation
5-1-8-2: Procedure for Abatement of Violations
5-1-8-3: Continuation of Violation
5-1-8-4: Stop Work Orders
5-1-8-5: Revocation of Building Permit
5-1-8-6: Portable Toilets
5-1-8-7: Temporary Trailers, Dumpsters and Portable Storage Containers
5-1-8-8: Failure to Install or Construct According to Plan
5-1-9:  Conflict with Zoning Code
5-1-10:  Rooftop Equipment and Ground-Installed Mechanical Equipment
5-1-11:  Commercial Contractors
5-1-12:  Staging; Parking
5-1-13:  Site Construction Fencing

5-1-1: TITLE: This Title of the Village Code shall be known, cited, and referred to as
The Lincolnshire Building Code. 

5-1-2: PURPOSE: This Building Code is to provide the rules and regulations of the 
Village for all matters concerning the erection, construction, alteration, addition, 
repair, removal, demolition, use, location, occupancy and maintenance of 
buildings and structures and to provide for the payment of fees and the 
inspections of said buildings and structures. (Ord. 73-305-20)

Document 1



5-1-3: INTERPRETATION; RESPONSIBILITY FOR COMPLIANCE:

A. Building Official: Any officer or employee of the Village authorized to administer 
or enforce any provision of this chapter or any provision of this Code that is 
administered pursuant to this chapter. The term ABuilding Official@ shall include: 
the Village Manager; the Development Manager; the Planning Manager; the 

Code Enforcement Officer;  the Director of Public Works; the Village Engineer 
the Fire Chief, or their designate. It is expressly intended that those officials
shall be, and are empowered to enforce the provisions of the International 
Building Code and this Code including the initiating and signing of formal 
complaints alleging violations of such provisions.

B. Municipality: Any reference in the codes to the Amunicipality@ shall 
mean the Village of Lincolnshire.

C. Responsible Parties: The property owner, general contractor and 
developer, where applicable, shall be jointly and severally liable for any 
violations of this Section 5 and any consequences of or penalties for 
such a violation.  This joint and several liability shall apply irrespective 
of which party actually committed the violation and whether or not all of 
the parties were aware of the violation. (Ord. Amd. 99-1691-75, eff. 
12/13/99)

5-1-4: SEPARABILITY: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Mayor and 
Board of Trustees of the Village that the several provisions of this Code are 
separable, in accordance with the following:

A. If any court of competent jurisdiction shall adjudge any provision of this Code 
to be invalid, such judgment shall not affect any other provision of this Code 
not specifically included in said judgment.

B. If any court of competent jurisdiction shall invalidate the application of any 
provision of this Code to a particular property, building or other structure, such 
judgment shall not affect the application of said provision to any other property, 
building or structure not specifically included in said judgment.

5-1-5: PUBLIC UTILITIES:

A. All public utility distribution lines for telephone, gas and electric service shall be 
placed in rear lot line easements and entirely underground.  Installation of such 
facilities shall be made in compliance with the applicable orders, rules and 
regulations of the Illinois Commerce Commission now or hereafter effective 
and the owner and builder shall be responsible for compliance with rules and 
regulations, now and hereafter effective and filed with said Commission 
pursuant to the Illinois Public Utilities Act,1 of any public utility whose service 

1220 ILCS 5/1-101

Document 1



will be required for the building with respect to the provision of such facilities.

B. Underground telephone, electric and gas service facilities, including conduits 
and cables, shall be placed within easements or dedicated public ways in a 
manner which will not conflict with other underground services. Further, all 
transformer boxes shall be located so as not to be unsightly or hazardous to 
the public.

C. All utility lines and facilities for water and sewer service shall be placed in
appropriate easements and entirely underground. (Ord. 76-436-66)

D. In all residential zoning districts, subdividers and developers shall install all 
required utilities underground.  All existing overhead utilities in residential 
zoning districts are exempt from this requirement when any alterations are 
made to any single-family home with overhead utilities, except as to electrical 
services as required under the Building Code.

E. In all nonresidential zoning districts all existing overhead utilities must be
placed underground at the time of development of the property, or in the case 
of developed property, at the time the principal building is altered, restored or 
expanded and the cost of such alteration, restoration or expansion exceeds 
fifty percent (50%) of the original cost to construct said principal building. 
Provided, however, that where the size or configuration of the lot and nature 
and extent of the existing overhead utilities make it impractical to place existing 
utilities underground on a parcel by parcel basis, the developer will have the 
option of submitting a cash deposit to pay for the construction costs of placing 
the overhead utilities underground at a future time. The cash deposit must be 
in the amount of one hundred ten percent (110%) of a certified cost estimate 
for placing the existing overhead utilities underground. The cash deposit will be 
held in an escrow fund by the Village which will be used for placing utilities 
underground in a comprehensive manner as the properties in the area 
develop. The developer will be entitled to a refund of the deposit if the funds 
are not expended within seven (7) years of receipt.  (Ord. 90-1173-57)

F. It is expressly prohibited and shall be unlawful for any contractor, builder, 
developer, surveyor, engineer, and/or any other party to break, sever, damage, 
interrupt, or otherwise interfere with, or to cause a break, severance, and/or 
interruption of, damage to, and/or other interference with, whether by 
negligence or design, any utility line located anywhere within the Village.  

1. Any contractor, builder, developer, surveyor, engineer, and/or other party 
who breaks, severs, damages, interrupts, or otherwise interferes with, or 
who causes a break, severance, and/or interruption of, damage to, and/or 
other interference with, any utility line located anywhere within the Village 
shall be subject to the fine set forth in the Comprehensive Fine Schedule of 

Document 1



the Code described in 17-1 for each such break, severance, and/or on 
interruption of, damage to, and/or other interference with any utility line 
located anywhere within the Village.

2. With respect to Village owned utilities, the fine shall be in addition to any 
and all amounts necessary to repair and/or otherwise remedy the utility line 
breakage.

5-1-6: FIRE DISTRICT AND PROTECTION REGULATIONS:

5-1-6-1: FIRE DISTRICT: The Fire District includes that portion of the village in which 
there are located business, industrial or commercial uses, or in which such 
uses are developing, and also all future areas to be annexed and developed 
with business, industrial, multi-family or commercial uses.  All areas within any 
industrial or Business District under the Lincolnshire Zoning Ordinance are in 
the Fire District.

5-1-6-2: FIRE PROTECTION REQUIREMENTS:

A. The Village discourages any use of non-potable water systems for fighting fire 
because of the danger of water pollution.  If a non-potable water system is 
used, the same shall be designed so that it shall be impossible to have a 
cross-connection between the Village's potable water system and such non-
potable water system, including, but not limited to, such measures to preclude 
the possibility of a fire hose or solid cross-connection between the systems.

B. All commercial, industrial and multiple-family residential buildings, including 
condominiums and townhouses, over two (2) stories in height shall have 
Standpipe Systems, installed in accordance with NFPA 14.

1.   Sections 905.3 through 905.3.7 of the IBC and IFC are deleted.

C. Stand pipes and sprinkling areas shall have hydro pneumatic water storage 
facilities or other pressurized systems as approved by a Village Building 
Official.

5-1-6-3: SPECIAL FIRE PROTECTION AREA LIMITS AND REQUIREMENTS:

A. A Special Fire Protection Area is hereby established which shall consist of 
portions of the Village designated by the Village and lying south of State Route 
22 (Half Day Road) as realigned west of Milwaukee Avenue, north of Aptakisic 
Road, and east of the Soo Line Railroad tracks right of way, plus the Adlai E. 
Stevenson High School site and building, and such other areas as may be from 
time to time specifically annexed into the Special Fire Protection Area, 
excluding, therefrom, however, all existing industries served by the Village's 

Document 1



water system which are incapable of currently being served by a water flow of 
three thousand (3,000) gallons per minute (gam) for two (2) hours at a residual 
pressure at the Village hydrants of not less than twenty (20) pounds per square 
inch (psi).

B. The Village has caused the design of a reservoir and pumping stations so that 
a water supply for fire purposes of three thousand (3,000) gallons per minute 
(gam) for two (2) hours at a residual pressure at the Village hydrants of not 
less than twenty (20) pounds per square inch (psi) will be available throughout 
the Special Fire Protection Area (except where the existing water mains are 
incapable of providing such flow). All new or future water mains in the Special 
Fire Protection Area shall be a minimum of twelve inches (12") in diameter and 
shall be designed so as to be capable of meeting all fire flow requirements.

C. All other fire protection and water system requirements, including those set 
forth in Section 5-1-6--2, shall remain applicable to buildings and structures in 
the Special Fire Protection Area to the extent they are not inconsistent with or 
in conflict with the provisions of this Section 5-1-6-3; to which extent of any 
such inconsistency or conflict the provision which is more restrictive shall be 
deemed applicable. (OD. 81-648-A)

5-1-7: Relocated to Title 8

5-1-8: VIOLATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF REGULATIONS:

5-1-8-1: PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS: Any person who shall (1) violate any
provisions of this Code or the other technical codes which have been adopted 
by reference or otherwise; or (2) shall erect, construct, alter or repair a building 
or structure; or (3) perform any engineering, landscaping or earthwork  in 
violation of any approved plan or direction of the Building Official or of any 
permit or certificate issued under the provisions of this Code shall be subject to 
the fine set forth in the Comprehensive Fine Schedule of the Code described in 
17-1. Each day that a violation continues shall be deemed a separate offense.  
The property owner, general contractor and developer shall be jointly and 
severally liable for any penalties assessed pursuant to this Section.(Ord. Amd. 
99-1691-75, eff. 12/13/99) (Ord. Amd. 10-3131-08, eff. 3/22/10)

5-1-8-2: PROCEDURE FOR ABATEMENT OF VIOLATIONS: The procedure in all 
cases of unauthorized deviations from, or violations of, the provisions of the 
Building Code found on inspection by the Building Official or his authorized 
representative shall be as follows: A verbal notice shall be immediately served 
by the inspector at the site, and on the person or persons doing or in charge of 
the work being done, or responsible for or capable of correcting, or of causing 
to be corrected the deviation or violation observed.  If a verbal notice cannot be 
served on the site, or if served, is disregarded, or deemed inadequate by the 

Document 1



inspector for the purpose then a written notice, on forms prepared for the 
purpose and designating the deviation observed, shall be posted at the site, in 
as safe and conspicuous a place as practicable, and where, if unmolested, the 
same must certainly come to the notice of any person or persons either 
employed on the work, or frequenting or occupying the building, structure or 
premises; and a copy of the notice so posted shall be mailed to the last known 
address of the owner, agent or person in control of the building or structure 
involved.

5-1-8-3: CONTINUATION OF VIOLATION: In the event a written notice of a violation 
has been posted, and the violation or condition continues; or if the violation, of 
whatever nature, is not promptly corrected in a manner consistent with the 
provisions of the Building Code or order of the Village, the inspector shall 
promptly stop the work as set forth below and may close the building or 
structure to any further work.(Ord. Amd. 99-1691-75, eff. 12/13/99)

5-1-8-4: STOP WORK ORDERS:

A. The Building Official is authorized to stop work on any building, 
structure, or any portion of any building or structure if it is being 
done: (1) in violation of any law, rule, regulation or approved plan; 
or (2) in a reckless, unsafe or unsanitary manner; or (3) with the 
use of defective or improper materials; or (4) contemplating an 
unlawful result as regards to location, intended use or occupancy; 
or (5) in any other respect contrary to the provisions of this 
Building Code or to the requirements of any other laws of the 
Village.  This right to stop work shall exist and be performed 
irrespective of any permit that may or may not have been either 
required or issued for any portion of the work, building or 
structure.

The stop work order shall be in writing and shall be posted in a 
conspicuous place on the property.  This order shall state the 
conditions, if any, under which work may be resumed.  The 
Building Official shall give notice in writing setting forth the alleged 
violation(s) to the owner of the property involved, or to the 
owner=s agent, or to the person doing the work at least twenty 
four (24) hours in advance of the actual issuance of a stop work 
order except in the event that an emergency affecting health, 
safety and welfare is deemed to exist by the Building Official, in 
which case the stop work order shall be issued immediately.

B. The suspension of work shall be for such time as may be 
necessary to secure a correction of the violation or violations, or 
until a satisfactory arrangement for completion has been 

Document 1



submitted by the violator and approved by the Building Official, or 
until a court of competent jurisdiction renders a decision stating 
otherwise. (Amd. Ord. 99-1691-75, eff. 12/13/99) 

5-1-8-5: REVOCATION OF BUILDING PERMIT: Any person having charge of, 
directing, or in any way engaged in work that violates the Building Code, who 
shall refuse or fail to promptly desist from such work on written notice from any 
Building Official; or who having desisted on either verbal or written notice shall 
resume the work before the violation which occasioned the order is corrected 
or agreed to be corrected satisfactorily to the officer causing the work to be 
stopped and consistent with the purposes of the Building Code; or who before 
having been authorized by the officer causing the same to be stopped resumes 
work stopped by the Building Official shall be deemed guilty of violating the 
Building Code, and shall be subject to the general penalty provided herein. 
Permits for work being done in violation of the Building Code may be canceled 
or revoked on order of the Building Official. A permit once revoked cannot be 
restored and to resume further work shall require the obtaining of a permit for 
the original purpose.  (Ord. 73-305-20)

5-1-8-6: PORTABLE TOILETS:

A. General Requirements: The location of portable toilets must be indicated on a 
site plan which is approved by the Department of Community Development. 
Portable toilets must be located completely on private property. The portable 
toilets must be properly installed and maintained in working order and shall be 
kept free from leaks and defects. All portable toilets shall be maintained in a 
sale, sanitary and usable condition.

B. Special Events: Portable toilets for special events shall be permitted where 
existing plumbing facilities may be inadequate to accommodate the demand. A 
no-fee building permit must be obtained from the Department of Community 
Development prior to installing portable toilets for special events. The portable 
toilets may not be put in place more than forty eight (48) hours before the 
scheduled event and must be completely removed from the property within 
twenty four (24) hours of the conclusion of the special event.

C. Subdivision Improvements and Commercial Construction Sites: Portable toilets 
must be provided for construction workers in accordance with OSHA 
standards.  Portable toilets must be promptly removed after construction 
activity is completed and in all cases before a Certificate of Occupancy is 
issued.

D. Residential Construction Sites: Portable toilets in residential areas must be 
discretely located so they are not visible from the street.

Document 1



E. When Site Construction Fencing is required by Section 5-1-13, the owner and
commercial contractor shall be responsible for placing portable toilets inside 
site construction fencing and no closer than five feet (5') from any property line 
or the right-of-way. (Amd. Ord. 07-2974-02, eff. 2/26/07)

5-1-8-7: TEMPORARY TRAILERS:

A. General Requirements: A specific area designated for temporary trailers, as 
defined in this Section, must be indicated on a Site Plan and approved by the 
Department of Community Development prior to the placing of trailers on the 
site and prior to the issuance of any Building Permit or Public Improvement 
Permit. Temporary trailers must be located completely on private property.

B. Construction Office Trailers: Construction office trailers must be securely 
affixed to the ground and meet all applicable codes and regulations of the 
Village for light, ventilation, egress, and space for the occupancy of a structure.

C. Sales Office Trailers: Office trailers for the sales or marketing of real estate, 
which are designed for use by the general public must be securely affixed to 
the ground and meet all applicable codes and regulations of the Village for 
light, ventilation, egress, and space for the occupancy of a structure. The 
design, location, landscaping, and proposed signage for any such trailers must 
be reviewed by the Architectural Review Board and approved by the Village 
Board. Such trailers may not be put in place prior to the issuance of a public 
improvement permit and must be removed when the last lot or unit is placed 
under contract or within three (3) years, whichever is sooner.

D. Construction Material Trailers: Trailers for the temporary secure storage of 
building material and equipment may be stored on the construction site in an 
approved location. Construction material trailers will be allowed on site only 
while the building trade owning or using the trailers is actively engaged in 
construction activity. Construction trailers shall not be allowed in residential 
areas unless a contractor is working on two (2) or more homes in the area 
simultaneously. (Ord. 90-1175-59)

E. Dumpsters: Construction dumpsters require a permit. The fee to locate a 
construction dumpster is noted in Section 1-15-5, Comprehensive Fee 
Schedule. Dumpsters unrelated to a building permit are permitted for a 
minimum of 7 days and a maximum of 28 days. However, if a dumpster is 
approved in conjunction with a valid Building Permit for active construction, the 
Building Official may permit the dumpster to remain on-site for the duration of 
the construction project, or until such building permit has expired.  Such 
dumpsters are permitted only on surfaces approved by the Building Official. 
Construction dumpsters must be setback no greater than 10’ from the principal 
structure, unless they are located inside an approved construction fence. 

Document 1



Construction dumpsters are permitted only on private property. (Ord. 14-3337-
64 eff. 10/27/14).

F. Portable Storage Containers:  Portable storage containers and pods for short 
term storage are permitted without a Building Permit but must be removed 
within 28 days of placement. Portable storage containers are permitted only on 
driveways or similar hard surfaces. Placement of a storage container on an 
unpaved surface is prohibited. A portable storage container may not encroach 
upon the public right-of-way nor be located in such a way that it obstructs 
visibility of vehicle movements from the public right-of-way. (Ord. 14-3337-64
eff. 10/27/14).

5-1-8-8: FAILURE TO INSTALL OR CONSTRUCT ACCORDING TO PLANS:
Any public or private construction, engineering, landscaping, or installation of 
improvements or structures, including remodeling and tenant finishes shall be 
performed in strict accordance with approved plans.  The owner, developer 
and general contractor shall be jointly and severally liable for any failure to 
perform in strict accordance with the approved plans and shall be subject to 
the fines set forth in the Comprehensive Fine Schedule of the Code described 
in 17-1. (Amd. Ord. 10-3131-08, eff. 3/22/10). 

5-1-9: CONFLICT WITH ZONING CODE: In the event that any provisions of this 
Code or the other technical codes adopted herein by reference are in conflict 
with any provision of the Lincolnshire Zoning Code or any amendment thereto, 
the latter shall prevail and the conflicting provision of this Code shall be of no 
effect. (Ord. 73-305-20)

5-1-10: EXTERIOR MOUNTED EQUIPMENT: Regulations pertaining to the placement 
and installation of exterior equipment for single family residences only are 
exempt from the screening provisions of this Section, except as otherwise 
required by the Village Code. (Amd. Ord. 95-1413-43, eff. 12/11/95)

A. VILLAGE POLICY: It is the stated policy of the Village, by means of its 
ordinances and codes, to maintain, protect, preserve and perpetuate the 
existing rural character and aesthetic qualities of the Village by assuring its 
residents that future construction will always advance and enhance this policy. 
In addition, it is the intent of this Section to preserve, and protect and promote 
the enhancement of property and taxable values, as well as the general 
welfare of the residents of the Village.

One very important means by which this goal can be achieved is the 
installation of exterior equipment in a manner that is pleasing to the eye and in 
harmony with the predominantly residential character of the Village, and which 
will contribute to those qualities that bring lasting value to our community and 
raise the level of community expectations for the quality of its total 

Document 1



environment.

The method of equipment installation recommended by the Village is the 
location of such equipment within the building itself or as provided for in the 
following pertinent subsections of this Section.

Architects and mechanical engineers are urged to work in unison toward 
achieving a design for buildings, proposed for construction in the Village in 
which the equipment is totally encompassed as an integral part of the structure 
and will not be visible to public view.

B. DEFINITIONS: For the purpose of this Section the following definitions are 
hereby adopted. These definitions shall be mandatory in complying with the 
provisions of this Section.

CONCEALED Any point of utility service entrance connection to 
a building structure FITTING which is not readily 
accessible by an individual for means of 
installation, maintenance, service or repair.

EXTERIOR Equipment, devices, machinery and accessories, 
including but not EQUIPMENT limited to heating, 
ventilation, lighting, skylights, storage, refuse, 
recycling, surveillance, and communication 
installations; drainage, water, sewer, telephone, 
gas, electric, cable television and other utility 
services; and other similar purposes.  All 
equipment mounted to a roof, wall, pole, ground 
or other surface shall be subject to the 
regulations of this Section.

GROUND A structure of permanent construction material as 
defined herein, or a MOUNTED berm, or 
plantings, shrubbery, etc., that affords complete 
screening of SCREEN the equipment from public 
view.

PARAPET WALL That part of any wall that extends above or 
through the roof line.

PARAPET the WALL 
the HEIGHT

Parapet wall height shall be the vertical distance 
measured from surface of the finished roof to the 
top of the wall at the point where the roof line and 
exterior wall meet.

PENTHOUSE An enclosed structure on the roof of a building 
which houses rooftop equipment as defined herein.

PUBLIC UTILITY Any exterior equipment installed by a public utility 
company for the purpose of servicing more than 

Document 1



one business, company, association, 
EQUIPMENT user, entity, non-residential 
structure or residential unit.

ROOFTOP An enclosure constructed on the roof of a building 
to screen equipment.

SCREEN To screen from public view.  This shall include a 
parapet wall, or a separate screen used in 
conjunction with a parapet wall, or a penthouse
used in conjunction with a parapet wall.

SHALL The word "shall" is always mandatory and not 
permissive or discretionary.

TENSES Words in the present tense shall include the 
future.

VILLAGE The Village of Lincolnshire.
   

C. GENERAL REGULATIONS:

1. APPEARANCE
All exterior equipment shall be screened entirely from view as provided for in 

the Village Code.  Design of exterior equipment screens constructed of 
building materials shall be consistent with the general architecture of the 
principal structure.  Design of exterior equipment screens constructed of 
natural materials shall be approved by the Village Forester.

2. INSTALLATION
The construction and installation of all exterior equipment shall comply with 
all codes adopted by the Village, shall be structurally sound and shall follow 
the manufacturer's recommendations.  All installations must satisfy 
construction requirements for live, dead and wind loads, frost depth, and 
soil constraints, as applicable.

Structural Engineer Design Criteria Drawings and Calculations stamped by 
an Illinois Licensed Structural Engineer must be submitted if required by the 
Department of Community Development.

Installation of public utilities on private property shall be in appropriate 
easements benefitting the utility company.  Installation of public utilities on 
public property shall be in such easements or the public right-of-way.

3. MATERIAL

a. Permitted Materials: All exterior equipment screens constructed of the 
same building material used in the walls of the building, shall be 
continuous, and shall be the same basic design as the building.  The 
use of glass or wood shall be permitted as a screening material on 

Document 1



buildings having exterior walls constructed entirely of glass or wood.  
Opaque glass block or opaque glass panes shall be considered 
dependant upon color, thickness, size and incorporation into building 
design.  Screens using exterior insulation finish systems (EIFS) shall 
only be permitted when the primary building wall material is EIFS and 
provided the screens are constructed as a continuous wall, not 
panels.

All exterior equipment screens constructed of natural materials shall 
be approved by the Village Forester.

b. Prohibited Materials: Materials used in trim, moldings, jambs, window 
or door frames, or decorative features of a building shall not be 
permitted for equipment screens unless used as a primary material in 
the building facade.  Composition, plastic or fiberglass shingles or 
panels, and EIFS panels shall not be permitted.

c. Alternative Materials: The Architectural Review Board may 
recommend an alternative material or color be allowed when the 
standards for review in the Village Code are advanced and provided 
the proposed materials are equal to, or better than the primary 
material proposed for use in the building.

4. HEIGHT: The height of all required screening (including walls, parapets, 
and penthouses), shall exceed the highest point of all exterior equipment by 
a minimum of 6".

5. APPROVAL: The Architectural Review Board shall make a 
recommendation and the Village Board shall have final approval on the 
design, material, height, color, and location of all exterior equipment 
screens based on quality and durability.

Board Submission Requirements: In order to facilitate the administration of 
this Section, each petitioner at the time of filing building plans for review by 
the Architectural Review Board shall submit the following documents:

a. A plan which indicates the location of all exterior equipment to be 
mounted on any and all walls, roof, or ground area adjacent to a 
building including, but not limited to provisions for gas, electric, 
telephone, cable, communications, water, sewer, refuse, and 
recycling.

b. A section/elevation drawing which indicates the height of all exterior 
equipment in relation to the proposed screening.  A note must be 
included on the drawing that indicates all exterior equipment will be a 

Document 1



minimum of six inches (6") below the highest point of the associated 
screen structure, or two inches (2@) below the plant material at the 
time it is installed.

c. An equipment schedule which is keyed to both the plan and section 
drawings.  The schedule shall include the letter or number identifying 
the proposed type of equipment, the height of the equipment, and the 
distance between the highest point of the equipment and the 
associated screen.

6. SPECIAL CONSIDERATION: Combination Flat/Peak Roof and Unique 
Roof Designs Buildings which have a combination of a flat roof and peak or 
sloping roof, or a roof of any other unique design shall be required to 
screen the equipment on the flat portion of the roof in accordance with the 
regulations of this Section.

If rooftop equipment is to be installed on a roof or any portion of a roof 
which is not flat, the Architectural Review Board will give special 
consideration to the type, design, construction, height and color of the 
screen and equipment to be installed and may consider unscreened 
equipment which is designed to meet the provisions and advance the 
objectives of this Village Code Section.

7. MAINTENANCE: All exterior equipment, required screens, and premises 
adjacent thereto shall be kept in good repair and maintained in a state of 
preservation and appearance as originally approved.  Plants used for 
natural material screens shall be maintained in a live, thriving condition at 
all times.

D. SPECIFIC REGULATIONS:

1. ROOFTOP MOUNTED EXTERIOR EQUIPMENT: Regulations pertaining to 
rooftop equipment are applicable to all buildings, whether residential, 
commercial, industrial, or public within the Village except for single-family 
residences.

a. Parapet Wall
(1) Appearance: All portions of every flat roof building shall be 

contained by a continuous parapet wall.  The 
parapet wall shall be of solid construction and shall 
be a continuous vertical extension of each wall of 
the building.  (See Figures 1, 2, and 3)

(2) Materials: Parapet walls designed as a fascia or modified to 
create an overhang or vertical extension shall be 

Document 1



constructed of the same materials used in the 
building walls, or of aggregate pre-cast panels of a 
compatible or harmonious color.  

Parapet walls designed as a mansard roof or roof of 
similar style shall be clad with tile, slate, concrete 
shingles, copper or pre-finished metal panels in a 
thickness not less than recommended by the Sheet 
Metal and Air Conditioning Contractors National 
Association (SMACNA).

(3) Height: Parapet walls shall be a minimum 30" above the 
exterior horizontal roof surface and no less than 6" 
above the highest point of all equipment to be 
screened.

b. Screen Wall
(1) Appearance: Screen walls shall be of a solid, continuous 

construction, completely surrounding the rooftop 
equipment to be screened.  Entry into the screened 
area shall be provided by means of a hatch or blind 
entrance.  A concealed, flush door finished to match 
the screen wall shall also be permitted provided the 
door reverse handed (swings out from equipment 
area).  (See Figure 1)

Screen walls shall be constructed of the same 
materials used in the building walls or a material that 
visually appears to be similar and compatible as 
recommended by the Architectural Review Board.

An opening for required ventilation at the bottom of 
the screen shall be permitted provided the required 
parapet wall is of sufficient height to completely 
screen the opening between the flat surface of the 
roof and the bottom of the screen.  The bottom of 
the screen shall be a minimum of 6" below the top of 
the parapet wall.  (See Figure 2)  

(2) Quantity: One or more separate screen walls in conjunction 
with a parapet wall may be utilized provided 
construction is in compliance with the provisions of 
this Section.  (See Figure 4A)

(3) Location: The minimum distance between individual screens 

Document 1



shall be 100' if multiple screen walls are to be used 
on the same building. No portion of a screen wall 
shall be closer than its height to a parapet wall. (See 
Figure 4B)

c. Penthouse
(1) Appearance: A penthouse in conjunction with a parapet wall may 

be utilized.  The penthouse shall have the same 
number of walls and be of the same basic design as 
the building itself and have a roof over the entire 
structure except that the roof or a portion thereof 
may be omitted if an opening is required for 
ventilation. (See Figure 5)

Louvers, windows and doors shall be permitted in 
the penthouse provided the finish is a compatible or 
harmonious color with the penthouse walls.

No rooftop equipment shall be installed on the roof 
of the penthouse or extend above the roof line.

(2) Quantity: One or more separate penthouse in conjunction with 
a parapet wall may be utilized provided construction 
is in compliance with the provisions of this Section.

(3) Location: The minimum distance between individual 
penthouse screens shall be 100' if multiple 
penthouses are to be used on the same building.  
No portion of a screen wall shall be closer than its 
height to a parapet wall.

2. GROUND AND WALL MOUNTED EXTERIOR EQUIPMENT: 

a. Public Utility Equipment in a Public Right-of-Way:All equipment shall 
be screened in accordance with the Landscape Regulations of the 
Village Code pertaining to public right-of-ways. 

b. Exterior Equipment on Private Property: Single Family Detached 
Residential
(1) New Construction

(a) Equipment: All electric, water, gas, cable, data, 
communication and any other meter, line, and 
miscellaneous equipment shall be installed on that side 
facade of a structure which most closely parallels an interior 
side yard setback.  In no instance shall equipment be 

Document 1



installed in a required yard setback or on a front or rear 
facade of a structure.  (See Figure 6)

(b) Service Lines: To the extent that it is practical, all utility 
service lines shall be placed parallel to each other and at a 
distance as close to one another as safe practice will 
permit.  Above ground service lines shall not be permitted.

(c) Service Connections: Connections between outside meter 
fittings and inside service devices shall be installed without 
the use of concealed fittings.

(2) Existing Residences: Any new service lines or connections, up-
grades to existing lines or connections, or placement of existing lines 
underground must be in full compliance with the regulations for new 
construction.

c. Exterior Equipment on Private Property:  All Other Uses
All methods of screening shall be reviewed by the Architectural Review 
Board and applicable utility companies, and approved by the Corporate 
Authorities prior to the time a building permit is issued for installation of 
said equipment.

(1) New Construction
(a) Equipment:  

(i) Equipment which is intended primarily for use by one 
business, company, association, user, or entity shall 
be located on the least prominent side of a building 
and
!  completely underground, or 
!  within one recessed area per structure which is 

designed to be indistinguishable from the 
building facade, or 

!  within the limits of a screen wall attached to, and 
integrated into the principal structure on the lot, 
or 

!  screened in full compliance with the Landscape 
Regulations.

(ii)  Each piece of exterior equipment shall be screened in 
the same manner and in the closest possible proximity 
to all other pieces of equipment without causing safety 
concerns.

(iii)  All electric, water, gas, cable, data, communication 

Document 1



and any other meter, line, and miscellaneous 
equipment shall be installed on that side facade of a 
structure which most closely parallels an interior side 
yard setback.  In no instance shall equipment be 
installed in a required yard setback.

(b) Service Lines: To the extent that it is practical, all utility 
service lines shall be placed parallel to each other and at a 
distance as close to one another as safe practice will 
permit.  Above ground service lines shall not be permitted.

(c) Service Connections: Connections between outside meter 
fittings and inside service devices shall be installed without 
the use of concealed fittings.

(2) Existing Structures
Installation of exterior equipment on existing structures shall be in 
conformance with all of the regulations for new construction and shall 
be mounted at a height which does not exceed the first floor of the 
structure to which it is attached.

3. POLE MOUNTED EXTERIOR EQUIPMENT: Equipment mounted to poles 
shall not be permitted except by Special Use in accordance with the 
provisions of the Zoning Regulations, and only in the event extenuating 
circumstances exist and are substantiated by the owner and are approved 
by the Corporate Authorities.  The location of such pole(s) shall be 
restricted to that area beyond the principal plane of the rear or interior side 
building facade and shall not be located in any required yard setback.  
Provisions for screening shall be in accordance with the recommendations 
of the Department of Community Development and shall be reviewed as a 
part of the Special Use process.

E. EXISTING NON-CONFORMING EQUIPMENT: Buildings presently without any 
screening or with screening of exterior equipment which are not in full 
compliance with the requirements of Section 5-1-10 of this Code, shall be 
subject to the requirements of this subsection.

For the purpose of interpreting the provisions of this subsection, any repair, 
maintenance, modification, alteration, replacement or addition to a structure 
within a 36 month time period shall be used to determine if the improvements 
exceed 50% of the assessed value of the structure.

1. LAWFULLY EXISTING EXTERIOR EQUIPMENT AND STRUCTURES
Exterior Equipment which was installed in accordance with a legally issued 
permit on file in the Village, or the property owner can produce written 

Document 1



approval that the building and related equipment were legally permitted and 
erected prior to the introduction of screening regulations in 1987 shall not 
be required to install screens or parapet walls except as outlined below.  

Repair, maintenance, modification, alteration, replacement, and additions 
related to existing equipment or structures shall however, be only in 
accordance with the provisions below.  

a. Repair and Maintenance
Repairs to, and maintenance of existing equipment and screens shall 
be permitted.

b. Modification and Alteration to Equipment
(1) To Equipment: Any modification or alteration to existing equipment 
shall only be permitted when the change makes the equipment more 
conforming with the regulations of this Section.

(2) To Screen:  Any modification or alteration to an existing screen 
wall, parapet wall, or penthouse shall be constructed with the same 
materials and in the same manner as the original screen.

(3) To Building:  Existing buildings which are proposed to be modified 
or altered greater than, or equal to 50% of the assessed value of the 
building shall be required to conform to all of the regulations of this 
Section.

  
c. Replacement of Equipment

Replacement of existing equipment shall be permitted provided the 
size, height and location of the new equipment is the same as that 
previously approved and installed.  Proposed replacement equipment 
which is larger in size shall be permitted provided it is screen in full 
compliance with the provisions of this Section.

d. Addition
(1) Of Equipment:  Installation of additional equipment to an existing 
structure or a previously developed site shall be screened in the most 
applicable practical manner described by this Code.  The addition of 
new equipment shall be located in close proximity to existing 
equipment, and all proposed screens shall enclose the greatest 
amount of equipment feasible.

(2) Of Floor Area to the Building:  Installation of a new parapet around 
the perimeter of an existing flat roof building and other screening shall 
be required at the time proposed modifications or alterations to a 
building are greater than or equal to 50% of the assessed value of the 

Document 1



building.

2. ELIMINATION OF NON-CONFORMING EQUIPMENT AND 
SCREENS: A building presently without any screening or with 
screening which is not in full compliance with the requirements of this 
Section of the Village Code shall be made to fully comply with the 
requirements at the time proposed modifications or alterations to the 
building are greater than or equal to 50% of the assessed value of the 
building.

Buildings constructed with a 24" parapet wall (prior to the 1995 
Amendment), shall not be required to increase the height of the 
parapet wall to 30".  All existing and proposed equipment, however, 
shall be required to be 6" below the top of the parapet wall.  

5-1-11: COMMERCIAL CONTRACTORS:  

A. For the purposes of this Chapter, the following words and phrases shall be 
defined as follows:

  COMMERCIAL CONTRACTOR : Any person, firm or corporation who
engages in, for profit, the business of providing labor and/or labor and
materials for any construction, repair or remodeling work within the Village,
including, but not limited to the construction, repair or remodeling of any
building, structure, fence, driveway or sidewalk; and Any person, firm or
corporation who  engages in, for profit, the business of caring for or
maintaining landscaping and ornamental plantings including, but not limited  to, 
the care and maintenance of grass, trees and bushes.

COMMERCIAL CONTRACTORS/WASTEHAULERS: Any person, firm or
corporation collecting and/or disposing of waste or debris except the following:
  
1. Any landscaper who only hauls landscape waste generated from his

daily landscape services; or

2. Any plumber or contractor whose daily operations only generate 
minor amounts of clean construction or demolition waste/debris 
which can and are hauled away on a daily basis in a pick-up truck or 
similar sized vehicle.

B. No Commercial Contractor or Commercial Contractors Wastehaulers, as such 
terms are defined in Section 5-1-11 of this Code, shall perform any work, 
provide any service or deliver any materials to any construction site on any 
Sunday or federally-recognized holiday on which the Village administrative 
offices are closed, or before 7:00 a.m. or after 7:00 p.m., Monday to Friday, 

Document 1



and before 8:00 a.m. or after 6:00 p.m. on Saturday.

5-1-12: STAGING; PARKING:

A. No more than two (2) Second Division motor vehicles, as such are defined by 
Section 1-146 of the Illinois Vehicle Code, will be permitted on Village streets 
(defined as streets within the Village boundaries) at any one time while such 
vehicles are temporarily parked and/or staging awaiting access to any 
construction site.  Additional Second Division motor vehicles  must park and/or 
stage outside of the Village boundaries.  The foregoing limitation shall not 
apply to Second Division motor vehicles performing work on and within the 
subject construction site and which are located within the site construction 
fencing, if applicable.  When the two (2) Second Division motor vehicles 
permitted on Village streets are parked or staging opposite from the permitted 
side of the street, as described in paragraph C below, a traffic flagger must be 
provided to manage traffic control.  Second Division motor vehicles designed 
for carrying passengers and First Division motor vehicles may not be stored on 
a construction site for greater than twenty-four (24) hours.

B. Construction vehicles and passenger vehicles belonging to commercial 
contractors, their employees and subcontractors are prohibited from staging or 
parking in the bulb of any cul-de-sac.  A variance from this prohibition may be 
granted on a case-by-case basis following certification from the Police 
Department that a safe means of ingress and egress can be maintained for the 
benefit of public vehicles.

C. Commercial Contractors, their employees and subcontractors may only park 
on Village streets during the course of construction under a valid building 
permit.  Such parking is permitted only on the even-numbered side of the street 
on even-numbered days and on the odd-numbered side of the street on 
odd-numbered days.

D. Commercial contractors shall use their best efforts to avoid parking or staging 
immediately opposite from any driveway and in conflict with mailboxes erected 
adjacent to the right-of-way.

5-1-13: SITE CONSTRUCTION FENCING: Site construction fencing meeting The
following criteria shall be installed and affixed to the ground prior to the
commencement of any construction activity whenever (I) a building permit is 
issued for the construction of any principal structure on a parcel, or the 
remodeling or renovation of more than 25% of an existing principal structure as 
measured by floor area, and such parcel is located within two hundred and fifty 
feet (250') of existing improvements on separate parcels, or (ii) the Community 
Development Department finds extraordinary secondary impacts will arise from 
the specific construction activity proposed.  

Document 1



A. Whenever construction materials, vehicles or equipment are stored on-site in a 
location viewable from the right of way, site construction fencing must have an 
opaque wind screen, in forest green, black, or other opaque color that 
complements the existing conditions on the site.

B. When applicable, the wind screen must be securely fastened to and completely 
obscure the site construction fencing.

C. Site construction fencing shall completely enclose the work area described in 
the approved construction documents and be contained within the permitted 
building area on such parcel; provided that where construction is permitted in a 
required yard such fencing shall be erected as far away from the nearest 
boundary as possible.  Site construction fencing must not be erected in a 
manner which obstructs the visibility of vehicular traffic at an intersection. 

D. The erection of site construction fencing shall not relieve the Owner or 
Commercial Contractor from complying with Title 13 of the Village Code or 
from erecting storm water management control measures when 
applicable.(Amd. Ord. 07-2974-02, eff. 2/26/07) (Ord. Amd. 07-3000-28, eff. 
8/13/07)

Document 1



CHAPTER 2
BUILDING PERMITS AND INSPECTIONS

SECTION:

5-2-1:  Required Permits
5-2-2:  Building Permit Applications
5-2-2-1: Building Permit Expiration
5-2-3:  Certificates of Occupancy
5-2-3-1: Temporary Certificates of Occupancies
5-2-4:  Inspections
5-2-5:  Security Deposit Requirements

5-2-1:  REQUIRED PERMITS:

A. Building Permit: A building permit is required prior to starting any 
construction, alteration, addition, removal, demolition or restoration of any 
building or structure or its service equipment.

B. Certificate of Occupancy: A certificate of occupancy is required prior to 
occupying or using any building, space, or structure for which a building 
permit has been issued.

5-2-2: BUILDING  PERMIT  APPLICATIONS: The following procedure shall be    

A As required by the Building Official, three (3) to six (6) sets of construction 
documents and specifications shall be submitted to the Department of 
Community Development of the Village, along with two (4) current prints of 
the Plat of Survey showing the exact location of the building or structure on 
the lot. The Plat of Survey shall also show all easements, required building 
setbacks, lot dimensions, street name, north point, lot and block number 
and subdivision name.

A Site Grading plan shall also be submitted for approval by the 
Village. The Site Grading plan shall be in accordance with Chapter 8 
of Title 5 of this code.

A Construction Staging plan shall be submitted for approval by the Village.  
The Construction Staging plan shall depict the location of Site Construction 

Document 1



Fencing, construction dumpsters, portable toilets and other semi-permanent 
construction structures and equipment.  For new construction, all features
described on the Constructing Staging plan shall be depicted as they will be 
placed after the foundation is poured. (Amd. Ord. 07-2974-02, eff. 2/26/07)

B. The first review comments will be provided to the Building Permit  applicant, 
by the Building Official within three (3) weeks for residential plans or within 
six (6) weeks for multiple-family, commercial or industrial plans.

C. If plans are found not to conform to Village codes and ordinances, the 
Building Official will provide the applicant with the review comments setting 
forth the deficiencies. If the plans are in conformance, they will be approved 
and the applicant will be notified of the fees due the Village. Approval of the 
plans does not relieve the applicant from the obligation to comply with all
codes and ordinances of the Village.

D. Notice Required:

1. For all permits where site construction fencing shall be required 
as a condition on commencement of construction, the applicant 
shall provide written notice to all persons to whom the current real 
estate tax bills are sent, as shown on the records of the Vernon 
Township Assessor's office, for all lots any part of which lie within 
two hundred and fifty feet (250') of the property lines of the lot for 
which an application has been filed.    Such written notice shall 
give (I) the number, if any, assigned to the application, (ii) the 
common address of the parcel or parcels involved in the 
application, (iii) the name and daytime telephone number of the 
applicant, (iv) the name and daytime telephone number of the 
person responsible for supervising the work on a daily basis, and 
(v) a brief description of the proposed improvements.

All such notices must be sent no more than fifteen (15) days 
following the date the application has been filed.  Notices shall be 
sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. The 
applicant shall file one copy of the notice and a sworn affidavit 
containing a complete list of the names and last known addresses 
of all property owners entitled to notice and served, and attach 
thereto copies of all Asender=s receipts@ as documentation of 
compliance with this provision. Such affidavit shall be filed with 
the Lincolnshire Building and Zoning Department not more than 

Document 1



four (4) days following the date such notices were mailed.

2. Exemptions.
a. For any subdivision or planned unit development which has 

been granted final approval within the preceding six (6) 
months, the foregoing notice requirement shall apply only for 
the first building permit application.  In the event more than 
six months elapse between building permit applications in 
such subdivision the foregoing notice requirements must be 
repeated.

b. The foregoing notice requirements shall be waived in the 
event the subject parcel or parcels were subject to a public 
hearing under Title 6 of the Village Code for which a notice 
of hearing was sent within the 90 days preceding the date on 
which the application is filed.

E. After payment of the fees to the Village Collector; demonstration of 
compliance with the notice requirements in paragraph (D); submittals are 
approved by the Village; and a pre-construction meeting has taken place (if 
required), the Building Permit will be issued and must be posted in a 
conspicuous place on the premises.(Ord. Amd. 07-2974-02, eff. 02/26/07)

5-2-2-1: BUILDING PERMIT EXPIRATION:

A. Completion of Work:  Every permit issued shall remain valid unless (i) the 
work authorized by such permit is not commenced within 180 days after the 
permit is issued, (ii) the work authorized by such permit is suspended after 
the time when the work is commenced, or (iii) if the work is not completed 
within 12 months after permit issuance. A temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy, or a Village approved final inspection report if a Certificate of 
Occupancy is not required, shall be the document verifying the time of 
completion. The building official is authorized to grant, at his or her 
reasonable discretion, one or more extensions of time, for periods not more 
than 120 days each. The extension shall be requested in writing and 
justifiable cause demonstrated. Justifiable cause shall be demonstrated by 
providing the following information; (a) statement of progress to date,  (b) 
reasons for delay/extension, and (c) a projected completion date. Any 
subsequent extension request which delays completion of construction 
beyond the applicant=s projected completion date shall require evidence of 
new reasonable delays.  Justifiable cause shall not include solely economic 

Document 1



reasons.  Each extension shall be accompanied by a Permit Renewal fee as 
established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of 
Title 1 of this Code.  Building official shall retain the right to extend the initial 
term for building permits if it is determined that construction of the proposed 
building, progressing at a reasonable and consistent pace, is expected to 
extend beyond twelve months. A permit that expires without an approved 
extension shall also be subject to a permit expiration fee as established in 
the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this 
Code. Any construction taking place after the expiration date will require a 
new permit with accompanying new fees. In addition, all newly permitted 
work, and any permitted work legally continuing beyond 36 months from 
date of original permit issuance will be subject to the currently adopted 
codes.

For the purpose of this section, work shall be considered Asuspended@ if less 
than one sixth of the work authorized by the permit is completed during any 
consecutive 120 day period.  

B. Removal of Improvements: Within 30 days after the expiration of a permit, if 
work has not progressed to a point of 50% completion or greater as 
determined by the Building official, the contractor/owner/applicant shall be 
responsible for removing any improvements constructed pursuant to the 
permit and restore the site to its original condition or to a condition 
acceptable to the building official. (Ord. Amd. 09-3115-38, eff. 11/9/09)

5-2-3:  CERTIFICATES OF OCCUPANCY:

A Certificates Required:

1. Any new, remodeled or moved building, space, or structure, to be used 
for commercial or residential purposes, or any commercial space 
requiring tenant change, change of ownership, or occupancy change 
shall not be occupied until a Certificate of Occupancy has been issued 
by the Building Official as hereinafter provided.

2. Builders (contractors), developers, carpenters, or other tradesmen shall 
not deliver possession of a new, remodeled or moved building or 
structure to be used for residence purposes to the proposed residents of 
such building or structure until a certificate for such occupancy has been 
issued by the Building Official as hereinafter provided.

Document 1



3. Realtors, leasing agents or owners of a new, remodeled or moved 
building or structure to be used for residence purposes shall not deliver 
possession of the whole or any part of such building or structure to any 
tenant or lessee until a certificate for such occupancy has been issued 
by the Building Official as hereinafter provided;

B. Requirements for Occupancy: Certificates of occupancy for any new, 
remodeled or relocated building shall not be issued unless:

1. The building and site comply with all applicable provisions of the 
Building, Subdivision and Zoning Codes of the Village and/or applicable 
pre-annexation agreements.

2. All building fees, inspection fees and other fees shall have been paid to 
the Village.

3. Water meter and other connections to all utilities shall have been 
completed and approved unless waived by the express terms of a pre-
annexation agreement. (Ord. 85-860-44)

4. Driveways shall be constructed in compliance with Section 8-3-14, of the 
Village Code, Titled Driveway Requirements. (Amd. Ord. 09-3101-24, eff. 
06/22/09)

5. This Section shall apply to all buildings and structures in the Village, 
including but not limited to residential, commercial and office buildings or 
structures.

6. Certificates of Occupancy for nonresidential buildings will be issued for the 
basic building structure in accordance with the requirements of this Title 
and Section. Each tenant of a basic building structure which is allowed for 
office building use under the zoning regulations in Title 6 of this Code, must 
also be issued a Certificate of Occupancy in accordance with the 
requirements of this Title and Section.

C. Filing Application, Fee: When construction has been completed, the owner or 
his agent shall file with the Department of Community Development an 
application for a Certificate of Occupancy, which shall be accompanied by the 
payment of a fee, as established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth 
in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code. Upon such application being filed, an 
inspection of the building or structure will be made, and if the same is in 

Document 1



compliance with the provisions of this Section and all other applicable 
provisions of this Title, a Certificate of Occupancy will be issued. If such 
certificate is not issued in accordance with the provisions hereof, the 
Department of Community Development shall provide the applicant with written 
documentation stating the reasons for not issuing the certificate.

D. Site Grading Plan: At least ten (10) working days prior to submission of the 
application for a Certificate of Occupancy, the as constructed site grading 
plan must be submitted to the Department of Community Development, in 
accordance with Chapter 8 of this Title. (Ord. 90-1130-14)

E. Additional Requirements: When it has been determined by the Department of 
Community Development that each of the above conditions has been complied 
with, the following procedure must, as a condition to the issuance of a 
Certificate of Occupancy, also be completed:

1. Deleted.

2. Deleted

3. Deleted

4. The Village, upon the issuance of an executed certificate of occupancy to 
the property owner, shall file a certified copy of said certificate with the 
County Assessor of Lake County.  (Ord. 90-1167-51)

5-2-3-1: TEMPORARY CERTIFICATES OF OCCUPANCY: A Temporary Certificate
   of Occupancy may be applied for; 1) when all construction has been 

completed and all that remains to be finished is the final driveway surface, 
site grading and landscaping in accordance with Chapter 8 of this Title, 2) or 
the outstanding issues remaining are found, in the sole discretion of the 
Building Official, to be non-life safety related, or to be of a magnitude that, in 
the opinion of the Building Official, could be completed in no more than thirty 
(30) days for residential structures, or sixty (60) days for nonresidential 
structures. The time allotted and the work allowed to be postponed shall be 
determined by the Building Official.  Final inspections will be performed, by 
the Village, and a Temporary Certificate of Occupancy may be issued in 
accordance with the following requirements: 

A. A written application form requesting the issuance of a Temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy must be submitted to the Department of Community Development 

Document 1



together with a filing fee, as established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule 
set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code.

B. The applicant must submit a written estimate of cost to complete such 
unfinished work and said written estimate of cost must be in a form satisfactory 
to the Building Official.  The applicant must also post a cash deposit to the 
Village in an amount equivalent to the cost of completing or remedying all items
stipulated in the estimate of cost to complete and in the written statement 
required in subsection C of this Section.  The amount shall not be less than as 
established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 
1 of this Code per residential structure and as established in the 
Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code 
per nonresidential structure.  An irrevocable letter of credit may be accepted by
the Village , at the sole discretion of the Building Official or his designate.  
However, the irrevocable letter of credit must be from a sound and reputable 
banking or financial institution (selected by the applicant and approved in 
writing by the Village) authorized to issue such irrevocable letter of credit, 
which irrevocable letter of credit shall be substantially in the form contained in 
Appendix I of Chapter 7 of Title 3 of this Code.

C. Applicant must also submit a written statement detailing the unfinished work, 
which must be completed and be subject to the approval of the Building 
Official, in order to bring the structure/site in question into full compliance with 
the approved Building Permit construction documents. This written statement 
must include the date the structure is to be occupied and the name, address 
and telephone number of the prospective occupant, and the number of 
employees, if nonresidential. All statements must be signed by both the 
contractor/developer and the purchaser of the structure and it must be duly 
attested by a notary public.

D. A written agreement, signed by both the contractor/developer and purchaser of 
the structure, must also be filed with the Village, stating that all unfinished 
items, as listed in a document entitled  Conditions of Temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy as provided by the Building Official, will be completed on or before 
the date specified within the Conditions of Temporary Certificate of Occupancy.

E. The occupant of the structure for which any Temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy is issued, immediately upon issuance thereof, shall prominently 
display on a window or door so as to be visible from the street and legible to a 
person standing on the ground in front of the structure, the Temporary 

Document 1



Certificate of Occupancy . The applicant shall display said notice continuously 
until a Final Certificate of Occupancy is issued.

F. When the Temporary Certificate of Occupancy expires, it shall thereafter be 
unlawful to occupy the area governed by the Temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy until a Final Certificate of Occupancy has been issued.

G A Temporary Certificate of Occupancy shall not be renewed or reissued except 
by approval of the Building Official, if by his/her determination, there is a 
reasonable cause for the applicant's failure to complete the necessary work 
within the effective period of the Temporary Certificate of Occupancy.

H. In the event that the required unfinished items are not completed in full 
compliance with the approved documents, by the specified date, the Village 
may, at its option, cause the work to be completed and pay for the cost of said 
work out of the cash bond deposited with the Village Clerk. Any cost to the 
Village to complete said unfinished site grading and landscaping in excess of 
the cash bond shall become a lien upon the real estate affected, superior to all 
other liens and encumbrances, except tax liens; provided that within sixty (60) 
days after any such excess cost is incurred by the Village; the Village Clerk 
shall file a notice of such lien in the office of the Recorder of Deeds in Lake 
County, Illinois, and the Village Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to file 
such notices of such liens. Said notice of such lien shall consist of a sworn 
statement setting out a description of the real estate upon or for which the work 
was completed, the amounts of monies due for such work and the date or 
dates when such excess costs were incurred and became due. Upon payment 
of the costs by the owner of such property, or persons interested therein, after 
the notice of lien has been filed, the lien shall be released by the Village, as 
established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 
1 of this Code release fee has been paid in addition to the cost incurred by the 
Village including the cost of recording the notice of lien.

I. In the event that the unfinished items are not completed in full compliance with 
the approved documents, prior to expiration of the Temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy, the Village shall deduct as established in the Comprehensive Fee 
Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code from the cash bond on 
deposit with the Village Clerk to reimburse the Village for its additional 
administrative expenses caused by the failure to complete such work. This 
shall be in addition to any other fees, penalties, or remedies available to the 
Village.

Document 1



5-2-4:  INSPECTIONS

A. Required: All permit work and the premises on which the permit work is being 
performed shall be inspected by the Building Inspector or the appropriate 
Building Official from time to time during the course of the work until a Final 
Certificate of Occupancy is issued. The purpose of the inspection shall be to 
determine that the permit work is being performed and has been completed in 
conformity with the approved construction documents and this code.  No 
inspections shall be performed for any work or activity that is the subject of a 
permit that has lapsed per section 105.5 of the International Building Code, 
unless such permit has been revived pursuant to the provisions of said section 
105.5.

B. Responsibility of Contractor: The contractor shall notify the Department of 
Community Development at least twenty four (24) hours before one of the 
required inspections is needed. 

C. Concealed Work: The Building Official may require any work concealed prior to 
inspection and approval to be uncovered to the extent the Building Official 
deems it necessary to accommodate complete examination and approval of 
the work.

D. Correction of Work: The Building Official may require the removal or 
replacement of any work or equipment which has not been performed, 
constructed or installed in compliance with this code.

E. Foundation Inspections; Spot Survey: A spot survey certified by an Illinois 
Registered Land Surveyor showing the exact location on the lot and full 
dimensions of a structure=s foundation and the top of foundation elevations 
shall be required for all new primary structures upon completion of the 
structure=s foundation.

5-2-5:  SECURITY DEPOSIT REQUIREMENTS:

A. Deposit Required: Prior to the issuance of a building permit, where the 
construction done thereunder will require the use of heavy construction 
equipment, including, but not limited to, trucks, sod trailers, concrete trucks, 
bulldozers, backhoes, ditch diggers, etc., a security deposit in the form of a 
cash deposit or letter of credit, in an amount determined by the Village 
Engineer based upon the following criteria, shall be deposited with the Village 

Document 1



Clerk by the authorized agent whose signature appears on the application for 
the building permit.

The deposit will be based on the following criteria:

-Number and type of water connections
-Number and type of sanitary sewer connections
-Number and type of storm sewer connections
-Lineal feet of curb removed and replaced
-Number of roadway cuts
-Acres of property to be protected by erosion and sediment control

The amount of the deposit will be calculated using the security deposit 
worksheet prepared by the Public Works Department. The worksheet shall be 
reviewed annually at the beginning of each fiscal year by the Village Engineer.
(Amd. Ord. 06-2032-24, eff. 05/08/06)

B. Purpose of Deposit:

1. Such security deposit shall be for the purpose of insuring against damage 
to property for the Village by the general contractor or any subcontractor or 
employee that he may engage to perform work under the building permit.  
Damage to Village property shall include, but is not limited to, accumulation 
of dirt, gravel, sand, etc. on street pavement, damage to street surface 
(including, but not limited to, damage resulting from construction equipment 
and vehicles), curbs, water mains, fire hydrants, sewer lines, traffic signs, 
water courses, etc.

2. If and when such damage has occurred in the opinion of the Village 
Engineer, the authorized agent shall be notified in writing and shall be 
requested to make the necessary repairs.

3. If such repair has not been completed within the time period spelled out in 
the written notice, the Village shall make such repairs, and shall assess the 
cost of repairs against the owner of the property and the Village may offset 
all or part of the security deposit against said cost. The contractor, 
developer, and owner of the property shall be jointly and severally liable for 
any excess payments.  Such payments may be deducted from the security 
deposit.

C. Refunding of Deposit: Upon expiration of one year after completion of all work 
under each separate building permit and the issuance of a certificate of 

Document 1



occupancy therefor, the security deposit, either the full amount or the amount 
remaining, shall be released to the authorized agent; provided, that any and all 
damage has been corrected. (Ord. 92-1235-13)

Document 1



CHAPTER 3
BUILDING FEES AND CHARGES

SECTION:

5-3-1: Fees for Permits
5-3-2: Reimbursement of Professional Review Fees
5-3-2A: Not-For-Profit Fees
5-3-3: Additional Fees
5-3-4: Water and Sewer Connection Charges
5-3-4-1: Connection Charges Outside Corporate Limits

5-3-1 FEES FOR PERMITS: The fee for a building permit to construct, alter or repair 
any building or other structure or its service equipment in the Village shall be 
as established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of 
Title 1 of this Code.  (Ord. Amd. 96-1467-51 eff. 12/9/96)

A. Applicants for a building permit shall submit the estimated construction cost of 
the proposed improvements. The building official shall use the most recent 
copy of the International Building Code building valuation data report on file for 
verifying any estimates.  The building official may request a verified statement 
of actual costs upon completion of the work.  In the event the actual cost 
exceeds the estimate, an additional fee based upon such actual costs in 
accordance with this Section shall be paid.

5-3-2: REIMBURSEMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REVIEW FEES: Except as 
otherwise provided for in this Chapter, Applicants for a building permit shall be 
required to remain in compliance with Title 1, Chapter 8, Article D, as a 
condition of receiving a building permit.(Amd. Ord. 07-2981-09, eff. 4/23/07)

5-3-2A:  NOT FOR PROFIT FEES (Ord. 94-1345-29 eff. 7/11/94)

A. Any charitable organization may file an application with the Village for a waiver 
of fees imposed by the Village.  The application for waiver of fees shall be in 
writing and shall contain all the information necessary to determine the 
applicant=s eligibility under this Ordinance and identify the fees and amounts 
which the applicant is requesting to be waived.  The Board of Trustees shall 
review the application and satisfy itself of the sufficiency of the application and 
eligibility of the applicant at a Committee-of-the Whole meeting, and shall then 
formally approve or disapprove the application at scheduled regular meeting of 
the Village Board of Trustees.  The application shall be filed with the Village 

Document 1



Clerk at least five (5) days before the date of the Committee-of-the-Whole 
meeting at which the application is to be considered initially.

There shall be no waiver of fees in excess of $5,000 per development or 
project.

B. DEFINITIONS
CHARITABLE 
ORGANIZATION

Shall mean any not for profit corporation, association or 
foundation organized and operated exclusively for religious 
purposes, charitable purposes, or for the prevention of 
cruelty to children or animals.(Amd. Ord. 98-1543-05, eff. 
3/9/98)

FEES Shall mean those fees that would otherwise be required for, or 
incurred in connection with, planning, zoning and building 
permits in regard to construction, restoration, replacement, 
renovation, remodeling, addition or repair of a structure, but not 
including sewer and water connection fees and fees or charges 
recovering direct out-of-pocket Village expenses.

OUT-OF-POCKET 
VILLAGE 
EXPENSES

Shall mean any costs incurred by the Village for outside 
services of independent contractors related to the processing  
of any petitions or permits, including, but not limited to, 
postage, legal fees, costs of legal notices and the cost of any
inspections or analysis required by the Village from outside 
consultants.

5-3-3: ADDITIONAL FEES: 

A. Lake County Sanitary Sewer Fee:  Applicants for connection to, or modification 
of, the Village sanitary sewer system shall pay connection fees as required by 
the County of Lake.  The Building Official shall collect such fee on behalf of the 
County and transfer such funds to the County on a schedule in accordance 
with the requirements of the County.

B. Outside Agency & Consultant Fees:  Applicants for Building Permits shall 
reimburse the Village for all costs incurred by contracted or specialized 
reviewers necessary to ensure that the application, design, plans and 
specifications meet the requirements of the Village.  The Village reserves the 
right to request a specialized review for any project submitted.  In the event 
that such a review is required, the Village shall make every effort to inform the 
applicant of the need for a specialized review that might not typically be 
required, prior to securing the Consultant / Agency for said review.

C. Recapture Fees:  Applicants shall pay any and all recapture fees prior to 
issuance of a permit in accordance with the applicable Recapture Agreement. 
(Amd. Ord. 09-3090-13, eff. 03/23/09)

Document 1



5-3-4: WATER AND SEWER CONNECTION CHARGES:

A. Basis for Connection Charge: Water and sewer connection charges within 
the Village corporate limits shall be calculated on the basis of equivalent 
dwelling units (EDUs). Each  dwelling unit, as defined by the Zoning 
Definitions as set forth in Chapter 2 of Title 7 of this Code, is considered 
one EDU. EDUs for all nonresidential buildings are determined according to 
a schedule based upon the type/use of building. 

B. Formula for Determining Annual Water and Sewer Connection Charges: 
Annually, prior to the start of each fiscal year, the present value of the 
combined water and sewer system of the Village shall be reviewed and set 
for the upcoming fiscal year. The Village Engineer shall determine the total 
value of the combined water and sewer system at such time based upon 
the following:

Current replacement value of all accepted water and sanitary sewer 
improvements less accumulated depreciation and less outstanding 
indebtedness (hereinafter referred to as CRV).  For developments under 
construction, the value of the public improvements shall be prorated based 
upon the percentage of developed land.

The current replacement value of all improvements to the system shall be 
determined by the Village Engineer by estimating the current construction 
costs and shall include all ancillary costs such as engineering, land 
financing, legal, and all other costs of any kind.  Such current construction 
costs shall be estimated in accordance with the generally accepted 
standards in the engineering profession for estimating costs of proposed 
projects.  (Ord. 89-1116-83)

C. Water Connection Charge: The connection charge for connecting to the 
water system of the Village within its corporate limits shall be in accordance 
with the fees as established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth 
in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code. (Ord. 90-1134-18; Amd. Ord. 92-1245-
23; Amd. Ord. 93-1283-13 eff. 5/10/93)

The minimum fee shall be the cost for one equivalent dwelling unit. (Ord. 
90-1161-45)

D. Sewer Connection Charge: The connection charge for connecting to the 
water system of the Village within its corporate limits shall be in accordance 
with the fees as established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth 
in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code. (Ord. 90-1134-18; Amd. Ord. 92-1245-

Document 1



23; Amd. Ord. 93-1283-13, eff 5/10/93)

The minimum fee shall be the cost for one equivalent dwelling unit. (Ord. 
90-1161-45)

E. Equivalent Dwelling Units:

1. Basis for Mean Annual Expected Usage Coefficients: The number of 
equivalent dwelling units used to determine water and sewer connection 
charges for nonresidential buildings shall be based upon "A System of 
Computerized Models for Calculating and Evaluating Municipal Water 
Requirements and Forecasting Municipal Water Requirements" 
prepared by Hittman Associates, Inc. for the Office of Water Resources 
Research, United States Department of the Interior. The Commercial 
and Industrial Categories and Usage Coefficient Values for the Library 
of Water Usage Parameters, tables AIII.2 through AIII.6,  delineate  the  
expected usage coefficients for  the mean annual water usage expected 
in commercial and industrial categories. These values shall be used in 
the formula to determine EDUs. Due to the length of the documents 
referred to above, three (3) copies of said documents shall remain on 
file for public inspection in the office of the Village Clerk and the Village 
Engineer. These documents are hereby adopted by reference.

2. Average Daily Water Usage for Residential Users: Annually, prior to the 
start of each fiscal year, the average daily water usage for residential 
users for the previous five (5) calendar years shall be determined by the 
Village Engineer. This shall be accomplished by dividing the total 
volume of residential water metered for each of the previous five (5) 
calendar years by the total number of residential customers at each of 
the five (5) calendar years' end. The five (5) year average shall then be 
determined by adding the results of the five (5) individual calendar 
year's averages and dividing by five (5).

3. Equivalent Dwelling Unit Formula: The equivalent dwelling units for 
each nonresidential building shall be determined by using the following 
formula:

Category parameter multiplied by the planned annual expected 
usage divided by the average daily water use for residential users 
equals the equivalent dwelling units.

For the purpose of determining fees, calculated EDUs shall be 
rounded to the nearest whole EDU.

Document 1



For example, for a new one hundred thousand (100,000) square foot 
office building, the formula would be as follows assuming three 
hundred (300) gallons per day is the average daily water usage for a 
single-family dwelling unit:

100,000 square feet X 0.093 / 300 = 31 EDUs (Ord. 89-1116-83)

4. In the case where a proposed use is not shown in The Commercial and 
Industrial Categories and Usage Coefficient Values for the Library of 
Water Usage Parameters, tables AIII.2 through AIII.6,  the Village 
Manager may, at his or her sole discretion,  authorize the use of other 
empirical data to determine the usage parameter.  Such data may 
consist of engineering studies completed by an Illinois Professional 
Engineer, data from similar facilities, or other data as determined to be 
acceptable.  

The Village reserves the right to adjust the parameters within two and 
one-half full years of occupancy of any nonresidential building so that 
the computed equivalent dwelling units equals the actual equivalent 
dwelling units as determined from actual water usage.  The connection 
charges may then be adjusted based upon the revised computed 
equivalent dwelling units and the connection charge as set forth in the 
Code at the time the original connection charges were computed.(Ord. 
00-1730-38, effective 8/14/00)

F. Time of Payment: Water and sewer connection charges shall be due and 
payable at time of building permit for any building. If the category or 
parameter of any nonresidential building shall change, at any time, the 
number of equivalent dwelling units shall be recalculated. If said new 
category increases the number of EDUs, the difference between the 
original connection charges paid and the new charges owed will be charged 
to the new user.  (Ord. 92-1245-23)

G. Actual Water Usage: At the end of one and one-half (1-1/2) years (18 
months) but prior to the end of two and one-half (2 2) full years (30 
months) of occupancy of any nonresidential building, the owner of said 
building may apply to the Village for an adjustment of Village water and 
sewer connection charges paid at time of building permit based upon actual 
water usage of said building for months thirteen (13) through twenty four 
(24).  Occupancy shall be defined as the point in time when occupancy 
permits have been issued for a minimum of ninety percent (90%) of all 
habitable space in said building.  The owner shall apply on a form provided 
by the Village.  If the amount of water actually used for said time period is 
less than the amount of expected water usage based upon the EDU 

Document 1



formula, an adjustment in the amount of the connection charges paid will be 
made.  If said application is made when said building is between ninety 
percent (90%) and one hundred percent (100%) occupied, the Village will 
extrapolate the actual water usage data supplied by the applicant to 
determine a one hundred percent (100%) actual water usage figure. For 
example, if an office building is ninety two percent (92%) occupied at the 
time of application, the Village will utilize the actual usage data provided by 
the applicant and add eight percent (8%) to the actual water usage data for 
the square feet not presently occupied in order to estimate a water usage 
figure for one hundred percent (100%) occupancy.

No adjustment to the sanitary sewer connection charges collected by the 
Village for payment to the County of Lake will be made, except to the extent 
that the County may also issue such a refund.

No interest will be paid on any refunds issued by the Village.(Ord. 00-1730-
38, eff. 8/14/00)

H. The following information has been taken from the Commercial and
Industrial Categories and Usage Coefficient Values for the Library of Water 
Usage Parameters and shall be used in calculating connection fees:

Commercial Categories and Usage Coefficient Values for the Library of Water 
Usage Parameters

Date Identification 
Name

Commercial 
Category Parameters

Coefficients 
(gallons/day/unit of 

parameter)

Expected Usage 
Coefficients

Mean Annual

BARB Barber Shops Barber Chairs 54.6

BEUT Beauty Shops Station 269.0

DPOT Bus-Rail Depots Sq. Ft. 3.33

CARW Car Washes Inside Sq. Ft. 4.78

CHUR Churches Member 0.138

CLUB Golf-Swim Clubs Member 22.2

Document 1



Commercial Categories and Usage Coefficient Values for the Library of Water 
Usage Parameters

Date Identification 
Name

Commercial 
Category Parameters

Coefficients 
(gallons/day/unit of 

parameter)

Expected Usage 
Coefficients

Mean Annual
BOWL Bowling Alleys Alley 133

COLG Colleges Resid. Student 106

HOSP Hospitals Bed 346

HOTL Hotels Sq. Ft. 0.256

LNDM Laundromats Sq. Ft. 2.17

LNDY Laundry Sq. Ft. 0.253

MEDL Medical Offices Sq. Ft. 0.618

MOTL Motels Sq. Ft. 0.224

MOVI Drive-In Movies Car Stall 5.3

NURS Nursing Homes Sq. Ft. 133.0

OFFN New Office Bldg. Sq. Ft. 0.093

OFFO Old Office Bldg. Sq. Ft. 0.142

JAIL Jail and Prison Person 133.0

EATN Restaurants Seat 24.2

EATO Drive-In Rest. Car Stalls 109.0

NITE Night Clubs Person Served 1.33

SALE Retail Space Sale Sq. Ft. 0.106

SKLL School, Elem. Student 3.83

SKLH School, High Student 8.02

YMCA YMCA-YWCA Person 33.3

Document 1



Commercial Categories and Usage Coefficient Values for the Library of Water 
Usage Parameters

Date Identification 
Name

Commercial 
Category Parameters

Coefficients 
(gallons/day/unit of 

parameter)

Expected Usage 
Coefficients

Mean Annual

GASS Service Station Inside Sq. Ft. 0.251

THTR Theaters Seat 3.33

Warehouses Sq. Ft. 0.025

Source: AA System of Computerized Models for Calculating and Evaluating Municipal 
Water Requirements and Forecasting Municipal Water Requirements"

Document 1



AIII.4
Industrial Categories and Usage Coefficient Values

for the Library of Water Usage Parameters

Mean Annual Usage
S.l.C. Coefficients* 
Number Industrial Category (gal/day/employee)

201 Meat products 903.890
202 Dairies 791.350
203 Can, frozen food 784.739
204 Grain mills 488.249
205 Bakery Products 220.608
206 Sugar 1433.611
207 Candy 244.306
208 Beverages 1144.868
209 Miscellaneous foods 1077.360
211 Cigarettes 193.613
221 Weaving, cotton 171.434
222 Weaving, synthetics 344.259
223 Weaving, wool 464.439
225 Knitting mills 273.439
226 Textile finish 810.741
227 Floor covering 297.392
228 Yarn-thread mill 63.558
229 Miscellaneous textile 346.976
230 Whl. apparel industry 20.000
242 Saw-planning mill 223.822
243 Millwork 316.420
244 Wood containers 238.000
249 Miscellaneous wood 144.745
251 Home furniture 122.178
259 Furniture fixture 122.178
261 Pulp mills 13494.110
262 Paper mills 2433.856
263 Paperboard mills 2464.478
264 Paper products 435.790
265 Paperboard boxes 154.804
266 Building paper mills 583.355
270 Whl. print industry 15.000
281 Basic chemicals 2744.401
282 Fibers, plastics 864.892

Document 1



Mean Annual Usage
S.l.C. Coefficients* 
Number Industrial Category (gal/day/employee)
283 Drugs 457.356
284 Soap-toilet goods 672.043
285 Paint allied product 845.725
286 Gumwood chemical 332.895
287 Agriculture chem. 449.836
289 Miscellaneous chemicals 984.415
291 Petroleum refining 3141.100
295 Paving-roofing 829.592
301 Tires and tubes 375.211
302 Rubber footwear 82.592
303 Reclaimed rubber 1031.523
306 Rubber products 371.956
307 Plastic products 527.784
311 Leather tanning 899.500
321 Flat glass 590.140
322 Press-blown glass 340.753
323 Prod. purch. glass 872.246
324 Cement, hydraulic 279.469
325  Structural clay 698.197
326  Pottery products 326.975
327  Cement-plaster 353.787
328  Cut stone prod. 534.789
329  Nonmetallic mineral 439.561
331  Steel rolling 494.356
332  Iron-steel found. 411.052
333  Prime nonferrous 716.626
334  Sec. nonferrous 1016.596
335  Nonferrous rollg. 675.475
336  Nonferrous found. 969.586
339  Prime metal ind. 498.331
341  Metal cans 162.547
342  Cutlery, hardware 459.300
343  Plumbing, heating 411.576
344  Structure, metal 319.875
345  Screw machine 433.193
346  Metal stamping 463.209
347  Metal service 1806.611
348  Fabricated wire 343.367

Document 1



Mean Annual Usage
S.l.C. Coefficients* 
Number Industrial Category (gal/day/employee)
349 Fabricated metal 271.186
351 Engines, turbines 197.418
352 Farm machinery 320.704
353 Construction equipment 218.365
354 Metalwork, machinery 196.255
355 Special industry machinery 290.494
356 General ind. machinery 246.689
357 Office machines 138.025
358 Service ind. machine 334.203
359 Miscellaneous machine 238.839
361 Elect. distr. product 272.001
362 Elec. ind. appart. 336.016
363 Home appliances 411.914
364 Light-wiring fixtures 369.592
365 Radio TV receiving 235.763
366 Communication equipment 86.270
367 Electronic comp. 203.289
369 Electric product 393.272
371 Motor vehicles 318.233
372 Aircraft and parts 154.769
373 Ship and boat building 166.074
374 Railroad equipment 238.798
375 Motorcycle, bike 414.859
381 Scientific instruments 181.007
382 Mechanical measure 237.021
384 Medical instrument 506.325
386 Photo equipment 120.253
387 Watches, clocks 164.815
391 Jewelry, silver 306.491
394 Toys, sport goods 213.907
396 Costume jewelry 423.124
398 Miscellaneous manufacturing 258.270
399 Miscellaneous manufacturing 258.270

5-3-4-1: CONNECTION CHARGES OUTSIDE CORPORATE LIMITS: The charge 
for connection to either the Village's water or the sanitary sewer system for 
property outside of the corporate limits shall be an amount equal to one 
hundred seventy five percent (175%) of the charge or fee paid for a 
connection of like nature within the corporate limits; provided, however, 
public schools. public libraries, forest preserve districts and other public, 

Document 1



governmental agencies serving the Village shall be required to pay only that 
amount which would be charged to a public school or similar public body for 
a similar connection within the corporate limits of the Village.

Anyone desiring to connect either to the Village's water or to the sanitary 
sewer system outside the corporate limits shall file an application on a form 
provided by the Village. If the owner of record of said territory is a land 
trust, the applicant will comply with the Land Trust Disclosure Ordinance of 
the Village by filing concurrently with the application an appropriate land 
trust disclosure statement. No such application shall be accepted for filing 
unless accompanied by a filing fee as established in the Comprehensive 
Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code.  The Village 
will then review the application and all matters contained therein to 
determine the sufficiency and accuracy thereof, and if in proper form and 
containing all required information the Village will then cause to be 
prepared a contract providing for said sewer and water connection and the 
supplying of water and sewer service to said real estate. Said contract must 
then be approved by the Board of Trustees, by ordinance or resolution 
authorizing the execution of said contract. Such approval shall be at the 
discretion of the Board of Trustees based upon the best interests of the 
Village at the time of said application.  (Ord. 89-1116-83)

In order for the Village to collect a fair and reasonable charge for 
connection to the water and sanitary sewer systems of this Village, the 
parcels as set forth in Exhibit "A" shall pay to the Village, prior to connecting 
to the systems of the Village, the sums as set forth in Exhibit "B" for each 
such parcel.  Such sums shall be in addition to, and not as a credit against, 
all other connection or hook-on fees as may be imposed by other rule, 
regulation, resolution or ordinance of this Village, or shown by its fee 
schedule, the connection fee hereby imposed being directly related to the 
costs to the Village of constructing, expanding, and extending the existing 
systems to accommodate the parcels as set forth in Exhibit "A".  (amd. Ord. 
94-1369-53 12/12/94)

The allocation of connection fees as set forth in Exhibit "B" is based upon 
actually incurred as well as estimated future costs to the Village of 
constructing, expanding, and extending the water and sewer systems as 
determined as of the date of this ordinance.  In the event costs as actually 
incurred by the Village vary from those estimated, the Village reserves the 
right, for any parcel for which payment in full of connection fees has not 
been received, to modify, alter or amend the allocation of connection fees 
to such parcel to reflect the actual costs to the Village of constructing, 
expanding, and extending the waterworks and sewerage systems.  The 
Village further reserves the right to increase such connection fees to reflect 

Document 1



any financing and interest costs or other changes which the Village 
reasonably determines are to be allocated to the construction,  expansion, 
and extension of said water and sewer systems.(amd. Ord. 94-1369-53
12/12/94)

The allocation of connection fees (Exhibit "B") is further based upon the 
presently existing or anticipated future zoning of such parcels and the 
anticipated water and sewer requirements related thereto.  In the event any 
such parcel is zoned differently than anticipated at the time of request for 
connection to the Village water or sanitary sewer system, the Village 
reserves the right to alter or amend the connection fees for such parcel in 
order to reflect such change in zoning and water or sewer requirements.  
(amd. Ord. 94-1369-53 12/12/94)

This ordinance shall further serve as notice to affected property owners of 
the additional connection fees associated with connection of their parcels to 
the Village water and sewer systems.  Affected property owners must 
contact the Village in order to determine the adjustment, if any, to the 
connection fee figures as set for the herein which will be applicable to any 
specific parcel, and arising out of changes in costs, allocation of interest or 
other charges, changes in zoning, or other similar costs related to the 
construction, expansion and extension of the systems.(amd. Ord. 94-1369-
53 12/12/94)

THE REMAINDER OF THIS SHEET LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Document 1



ADD EXHIBIT A - INDIAN CREEK RECAPTURE MAP

THE REMAINDER OF THIS SHEET LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Document 1



EXHIBIT B 

INDIAN CREEK RECAPTURE CALCULATION

Indian Creek Watermain Loop
Actual Cost of Watermain Construction $262,603.04

Total lineal footage of project 6,064 lft

Portion attributed to School District 125 property:

1,801 lft $78,995.00

Remaining portion attributable to properties abutting the Indian Creek Road Watermain 
Loop:

4,263 lft $183,608.04*

*This amount will be divided among the remaining 33 single family residence properties

Cost per equivalent dwelling unit shall be $5,563.88.

THE REMAINDER OF THIS SHEET LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 1 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 

BUILDING CODES 

SECTION 5-4-1 

SECTION 5-4A - ELECTRICAL CODE 

SECTION 5-4B - PLUMBING CODE 

SECTION 5-4C - THE INTERNATIONAL RESIDENTIAL CODE 

SECTION 5-4D - FIRE CODE 

SECTION 5-4E - MECHANICAL CODE 

SECTION 5-4F – PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE 

SECTION 5-4G – ACCESSIBILITY CODE 

SECTION 5-4H – LIFE SAFETY CODE 

SECTION 5-4I – ENERGY CONSERVATION DOE 

SECTION 5-4J – FUEL GAS CODE 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 2 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 

BUILDING CODES 

SECTION:

5-4-1: Adoption of the Building Code 
5-4-2: Conflict with Zoning Ordinance 
5-4-3:  Amendments to Codes 
5-4-4: Additional Provisions 

5-4-1:  ADOPTION OF THE BUILDING CODE: Pursuant to the authority granted 
by the General Assembly of the State of Illinois to cities and villages,1 and 
further pursuant to the exercise of home rule powers of the Village, there is 
hereby adopted by reference, as the rules and regulations of the Village the 
2018 International Building Code, published by International Code Council, 
Inc. and it shall be henceforth known as the Building Code for the Village, 
except such portions thereof as are hereinafter expressly deleted, modified 
or amended. At least three (3) copies of the Code adopted by reference 
have been filed in the office of the Village Clerk and are there kept available 
for public use, inspection and examination. 

5-4-2:  CONFLICT WITH ZONING ORDINANCE: In the event that any provisions 
of this Code, or the codes adopted by reference in this Code, are in conflict 
with any provision of the Lincolnshire Zoning Code or any amendment 
thereto, the latter will prevail and the conflicting provisions of this Code shall 
be of no effect. All other ordinances or codes in conflict with this Code are 
hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. (Ord. 80-631-38) 

5-4-3:  AMENDMENTS TO CODES:  

A. Section 101.1 is changed to read: These regulations shall be known as the 
Building Code of the Village of Lincolnshire, hereinafter referred to as “this 
code”.

1 65 ILCS 5/1-3-1; 50 ILCS 220/1 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 3 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

B. Section 101.4.3 Plumbing. “International Plumbing Code” is removed and 
replaced with “current Illinois Plumbing Code” The last sentence referencing 
the International Private Sewage Disposal Code is deleted in its entirety. 

C. Section 105.2 Work exempt from permit. R-105.2 Work exempt from permit. 
Items 1-13 after “Building” are deleted and replaced by the following; 

1- Painting, papering, tiling, carpeting and similar finish work 

2- Nonfixed and movable fixtures, cases rack, counters and partitions not 
over 5 feet 9 inches in height 

D. Section 105.5 Expiration. This section is removed and superseded by Village 
Code 5-2-2-1, Building Permit Expiration. 

E. Chapter 29 Plumbing Systems shall be deleted in its entirety 

F. Section 1612.3 to follow the requirements prescribed by Chapter 7 of Title 5 of 
the Village Code. 

5-4-4:  ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS: The following provisions shall be required in 
addition to the adopted Building Codes: (Ord. 91-1216-29) 

A.        The minimum livable floor area per dwelling shall be one thousand two 
hundred fifty (1,250) square feet. If the building is more than one story, one 
thousand (1,000) square feet of livable area shall be on the ground floor. 

B.        Deleted – See 104.9.1 

C.        Deleted – Outdated exterior finish (Ord. 84-816-30) 

D. Deleted – See 716.2.6 

E. The provisions of Chapter 7 of this Title "Flood Damage Prevention" be and 
are hereby incorporated by reference as regulations governing all building 
under this Code, and such provisions shall apply to the full extent as if set 
forth at length herein. (Ord. 80-641-48) 

F. Prohibiting Roof Top Equipment: The installation of all roof top equipment 
and ground-installed mechanical equipment shall be in full compliance with 
the provisions of Section 5- 1-10 of Title 5 of this Code. (Ord. 82-743-50) 

G. Deleted – Outdated flue ordinance (Ord. 91-1216-29) 

H. Building foundations required to be protected from the frost shall extend a 
minimum of forty-two inches (42") below the final grade. 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 4 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

I. Substantially improved or remodeled shall refer to all structures that are 
remodeled, repaired, or altered, when more than fifty percent (50%) of the 
current assessed value, in total, has been expended for such a change or 
changes within a continuous ten year time frame. 

J. All new construction or structures substantially remodeled, where there is an 
occupiable level higher than twenty-five feet (25') or higher than two (2) 
stories above the lowest level of fire department vehicle access, whichever 
is less, shall comply with International Fire Code Section 604. 

K. The following requirements shall apply to all new construction or to 
structures substantially remodeled, repaired, or altered, except Detached 
One and Two Family Dwellings not more than three stories: 

1. A manual alarm system (pull stations), shall be installed. 

2. A fire department key box shall be installed. 

3. Smoke detectors shall be installed in each of the following rooms and/or 
spaces: mechanical equipment; electrical; transformer; telephone 
equipment or similar use. 

4. All smoke detectors and fire suppression systems shall have a 
monitoring system for alarm, trouble and supervisory conditions tied to 
the local fire dispatch center.  The same detection and suppression 
system shall have audio/visual alarms to warn occupants of a fire 
emergency. 

5. All required automatic fire alarm systems shall have alarm verification. 
Alarms activated by smoke detectors required by this Section, shall be 
activated by either two (2) cross zoned smoke detectors within a single 
protected area or a single smoke detector monitored by an alarm 
verification zone or an approved equivalent method. 

6. Portable fire extinguishers shall be provided and installed in compliance 
with NFPA 10. 

7. A fire hydrant, in compliance with the Lincolnshire Village Code 
subsection 7-6-4-31, shall be installed within one hundred feet (100') of 
any fire department supply connection for a fire suppression system. 

8. Sprinkler control valves and water flow devices shall be installed on each 
story of a sprinkled building and for all required or installed water 
supplies of a small hose station. 

9. All fire protection systems shall be maintained in an operative condition 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 5 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

at all times, except for required maintenance, repairs or alternations 
where approved by the Village of Lincolnshire. Such systems shall be 
periodically inspected and tested in accordance with the currently 
adopted International Building Code and International Fire Code. 

L. Except for building constructed under the International Residential Code, 
and are not more than three stories, all smoke detectors and fire 
suppression systems shall have a monitoring system for alarm, trouble and 
supervisory conditions tied to the local fire dispatch center. The same 
detection and suppression systems shall have audio/visual alarms to warn 
the occupants of a fire emergency. (Amd. Ord. 10-3135-13, eff. 4/12/10) 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 6 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 

BUILDING CODES 

ARTICLE A. ELECTRICAL CODE 

SECTION:

5-4A-1:  Adoption of the Electrical Code  
5-4A-2:  Additional Provisions 

5-4A-1:  ADOPTION OF THE ELECTRICAL CODE: Pursuant to the authority 
granted by the General Assembly of the State of Illinois to cities and 
villages,2 and further pursuant to the exercise of home rule powers of the 
Village, there is hereby adopted by reference, as the rules and regulations 
of the Village, the National Fire Protection Association Standard No. 70 
2017, National Electrical Code, published by the National Fire Protection 
Association and it shall be henceforth known as the Electrical Code for the 
Village, together with all appendices, except such portions thereof as are 
hereinafter expressly deleted, modified or amended. At least three (3) 
copies of the code adopted by reference have been filed in the office of the 
Village Clerk and are there kept available for public use, inspection and 
examination. 

5-4A-2:  ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS: The following provisions shall be required in 
addition to the provisions of the National Electrical Code: 

A. All new single-family residences must have two hundred (200) ampere 
service. 

B.        Additions or improvements requiring additional circuits beyond the capacity 
of existing panel must have a new two hundred (200) ampere panel and 
service. (Ord. 77-496-30) 

C.       2008 NEC 230.70(A)(1) is revised to read: 

Readily Accessible Location.  An exterior service disconnect shall be 
installed, unless interior disconnecting means are provided immediately 
inside of the service entrance location and approved by the Building Official. 

2 65 ILCS 5/1-3-1 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 7 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 
BUILDING CODES 

ARTICLE B. PLUMBING CODE 

SECTION:

5-4B-1: Adoption of Plumbing Code 
5-4B-2: Conflict with Zoning Ordinance 
5-4B-3: Additional Provisions 
5-4B-4: Abating a Nuisance 
5-4B-5: Material and Construction Requirements 
5-4B-6: Sanitary Sewers, Prohibited Connections and Flows 
5-4B-7: Unauthorized Use of System 
5-4B-8: Use of Potable Water Restricted 
5-4B-9: Fountains 
5-4B-10: Penalty 

5-4B-1:  ADOPTION OF PLUMBING CODE: Pursuant to the authority granted by 
the General Assembly of the State of Illinois to cities and villages,3 and 
further pursuant to exercise of home rule powers of the Village, there is 
hereby adopted by reference the current Illinois State Plumbing Code 
published by the State of Illinois Department of Public Health and shall be 
henceforth known as the Plumbing Code for the Village, together with all 
appendices, except such portions thereof as are hereinafter expressly 
deleted, modified or amended. At least three (3) copies of the Code adopted 
by reference have been filed in the office of the Village Clerk and are there 
kept available for public use, inspection and examination. 

5-4B-2:  CONFLICT WITH ZONING ORDINANCE: In the event that any provisions 
of this Article, or the current Illinois State Plumbing Code, as adopted by this 
Article, are in conflict with any of the provisions of the Lincolnshire Zoning 
Code, as heretofore or hereafter amended from time to time, the latter shall 
prevail and the conflicting provisions shall be of no effect to the extent of 
such conflict. All other ordinances or codes in conflict with this Article are 
hereby repealed. (Ord. 73-317- 32) 

3 65 ILCS 5/1-3-1; 50 ILCS 220/1 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 8 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

5-4B-3:  ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS: The following provisions shall be required in 
addition to the provisions of the aforesaid Illinois State Plumbing Code and 
any future or superseding provisions or amendments of that Code. 

A. All new plumbing fixtures and irrigation controllers installed after the 
effective date of this Ordinance shall bear the WaterSense label (as 
designated by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency WaterSense 
Program, or any designated successor), when such labeled fixtures are 
commercially available. (Ordinance 16-3406-133A; effective 06/27/2016)  

B. Storm Water: On all new construction, all systems designed to handle storm 
water must be tied directly into a Village approved storm sewer system. If an 
approved storm sewer system is not available, the storm water must be 
directed into the rear yard or a drainage easement. It may not be directed 
into the street or onto an adjacent property. Although existing properties can 
discharge water into the street, in compliance with this code, they may not 
discharge storm water directly onto an adjacent property. 

5-4B-4:  ABATING A NUISANCE: Whenever it shall come to the knowledge of the 
Building Official that the plumbing or drainage in any building has become a 
nuisance, or is of faulty construction and liable to endanger the health of the 
occupants, the owner, agent or occupant shall be notified of the changes 
which are necessary to bring such plumbing or drainage into compliance 
with the regulations of this Code. Said changes shall be made within the 
time fixed in such notification. Should the owner, agent or occupant fail to 
correct the defects called to his attention within such time as the Plumbing 
Inspector shall deem to be adequate, said Inspector shall institute 
proceedings in a court having jurisdiction over such matters, seeking to 
compel compliance with said regulations and to secure such fine or other 
punishment as the court may decree. (Ord. 73-317-32) 

5-4B-5:  MATERIAL AND CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS: 

A. Any copper service line shall be one continuous piece from the roundway 
stopcock to the structure it is serving. Joints in the water service line will 
only be allowed with the approval of the Village Engineer or designee. (Ord. 
73-317-32; amd. Ord. 90-1133-17) 

B. WATERMAINS AND CONNECTIONS: Only persons authorized by the 
Village shall be permitted to tap the street main, or alter the street main in 
any way. The location of all service taps shall be approved by the Village, 
prior to the tap occurring. No person shall uncover, make any connection(s) 
with, or opening into, use, alter, disturb, molest, injure or in any manner, 
whatsoever, interfere with any Village water main or appurtenance thereof 
without first obtaining a written permit from the Village. Written application 
for such permit shall be made to the Public Works Department of the Village 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 9 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

on forms prepared and kept on file in the office of said Department. (Ord. 
87-944-30) 

C. Curbstop Location: Each water service pipe shall have a T handle roundway 
curbstop installed within the Right of Way or the required easement. Each 
curbstop shall be protected with a one and one-fourth inch (1-1/4") or more 
cast iron service stop box with "water" cast on the cover. Stop box shall be a 
"Minneapolis Pattern", screwed plumb and square over the curbstop and 
level with the adjacent grade. 

D. Meter Spreads: A meter spread, of the same size as the meter to be 
installed, shall be placed on the water service pipe within one foot (1') inside 
of the front building wall unless permission is received from the Village to 
install it elsewhere. The meter spread shall be provided with two (2) shut off 
“ball-type” valves, one on the supply and one on the house side of the meter 
spread. The size of meters shall be prescribed by the Village. (Ord. 73-317- 
32) 

E. Based upon soil boring test results, to be furnished by the developer prior to 
final engineering approval, the Village Engineer may specify additional 
sump pump requirements. (Ord. 87- 952-38) 

F. Water Meters. All new building construction shall be required to use water 
meters purchased from the Village. All water meters shall be sized in 
accordance to the currently adopted Illinois State Plumbing Code and 
determined by the Village Engineer or designee. The charge for water 
meters shall be as established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set 
forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code. Commercial water meters shall be 
installed by a licensed plumber and approved by the Village Engineer or his 
designee. (Ord. 90-1133-17) 

The Village may make such tests and inspections of the Village 
infrastructure system as it deems necessary in order to ensure there are no 
violations of any applicable codes. The Village, at its option, may also 
invoke other legal powers vested in it or implied by the Statutes for the 
protection of the health and welfare of the public, or institute such legal 
action as it deems necessary to discover and order the correction of any 
violation that may exist. 

G. DELETED 

H. 5-4B-6:  SANITARY SEWERS, PROHIBITED CONNECTIONS AND 
FLOWS: Use of Sump Pumps:  All residences or other structures whose 
sump pumps presently discharge water into the Village streets either 
through buried hose or above ground hose shall, during the period 
commencing on November 1, and ending on April 1 of each year, 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 10 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

disconnect such hoses, and shall discharge such sump pump water into the 
rear or front yard of the property in such a manner that during these months, 
no water is discharged into the Village streets. The failure on the part of the 
property owner to comply with the provision requiring such discharge into 
the rear or front yard during said months shall be considered a violation 
which, upon conviction, shall be subject to the fine set forth in the 
Comprehensive Fine Schedule of the Code described in 17-1. Each day any 
such violation shall continue shall constitute a separate offense. (Ord. 76-
424-54) (Amd. Ord. 10-3131-08, eff.4/22/10) 

5-4B-7: UNAUTHORIZED USE OF SYSTEM: No one shall use the combined 
waterworks (including fire hydrants) and sewage system for any use, 
including but not limited to construction purposes, chlorination, testing, 
flushing, or sampling, except as is expressly permitted by the applicable 
regulations of the Village or unless special permission is obtained in 
advance and in writing from the Village. If anyone uses or interferes with the 
combined waterworks and sewage system in an unauthorized manner, the 
Village will be entitled to reimbursement of all its expenses in relation to said 
unauthorized use in addition to any penalty that may be assessed pursuant 
to the provisions of this Code. 

5-4B-8:  USE OF POTABLE WATER RESTRICTED: No person, whether municipal, 
private or not for profit, shall use or cause a potable water conduit, to be in 
direct contact, with any part of the sanitary system for the purpose of 
flushing and/or cleaning any portion of the sanitary sewers system within the 
Village of Lincolnshire. 

5-4B-9:  FOUNTAINS: 

A. No fountains are permitted in any pond within the Village. 

B. A single aeration device which meets the following specifications is not a 
fountain for purposes of this Chapter: 

1. The structure shall not extend more than six inches (6") above the 
normal water level established in the approved plans; and 

2. No part of any portion extending above the normal water line shall be 
more than twelve inches (12") from any other part extending above the 
water line; and 

3. The water spray shall not be higher than 12 inches (12") above the 
normal water line; 

4. Unless permitted through an annexation agreement, which has been 
approved by the Village Board.(Ord. 03-1858-35, eff.8/11/03) 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 11 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

5-4B-10: PENALTY: Whenever in this Article any act is prohibited or is made or 
declared to be unlawful or an offense, or whenever the doing of any act is 
required or the failure to do any act is declared to be unlawful, the violation 
of any such provision shall be punished by the fine set forth in the 
Comprehensive Fine Schedule of the Code described in 17-1. Each day any 
violation of any provision of this Article shall continue, it shall constitute a 
separate offense. (Ord. 73-317-32) (Amd. Ord. 10-3131-08, eff. 3/22/10) 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 12 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 

BUILDING CODES 

ARTICLE C. THE INTERNATIONAL RESIDENTIAL CODE 

SECTION:

5-4C-1: Adoption of the International Residential Code 
5-4C-2: Conflict with Zoning Ordinance 
5-4C-3: Additional Provisions 

5-4C-1:  ADOPTION OF ONE- AND TWO-FAMILY DWELLING CODE: Pursuant to 
the authority granted by the General Assembly of the State of Illinois to 
cities and villages,4 and further pursuant to the exercise of home rule 
powers of the Village, there is hereby adopted by reference, as the rules 
and regulations of the Village, the 2018 Edition of the International 
Residential Code, published by the International Code Council and it shall 
be henceforth known as the International Residential Code for one and two 
family dwellings for the Village, including Appendix Chapters “A” through 
“D”, “F”, and “M” , except such portions thereof as are hereinafter expressly 
deleted, modified or amended: 

C. R-101.1 is changed to read: “These provisions shall be known as the 
Residential Code of the Village of Lincolnshire, and shall be cited as such 
and will be referred to herein as “this code.”

D. R-105.2 Work exempt from permit. Items 1-10 after “Building” are deleted and 
replaced by the following; 

3- Painting, papering, tiling, carpeting and similar finish work 
4- Replacement of exterior cladding (siding, stucco, EIFS, etc.) 
5- Replacement of existing windows or doors, provided size of opening(s) 

is not changed 

E. R105.5 Expiration. This section is removed and superseded by Village Code 
5-2-2-1, Building Permit Expiration 

F. R112.1 General. This section is deleted and replaced by the following; Any 
person aggrieved by any decision of the Village staff in the enforcement of 
any terms or provisions of this Chapter may, within ten (10) days after the 

4 65 ILCS 5/1-3-1, 50 ILCS 220/1

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 13 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

date of the decision, appeal to the Mayor and Board of Trustees by filing a 
written notice of appeal with the Village Clerk.  The notice shall set forth 
concisely the decision and the reasons or grounds for the appeal. 
Reasonable notice of the hearing shall be provided by the Village Clerk to 
all affected parties. The Board may affirm, modify, or reverse the decision. 
The decision of the Board shall be final, and no petition for rehearing or 
reconsideration shall be available.  The rules of evidence shall not apply to 
an appeal hearing.  The hearing shall be conducted in a manner which 
affords reasonable due process. 

G. R112.3 Qualifications. Section is deleted in its entirety.  

H. Table R301.2 (1) is revised to read as follows; 

GROUND 
SNOW LOAD 

WIND DESIGN SUBJECT TO DAMAGE FROM 

Speed (mph) 

Topographic 
effects, Special wind 
region, Windborne 

debris 

Weathering Frost Line 
Depth Termite

30 115 NO Severe 42 Moderate to 
heavy 

SEISMIC 
DESIGN 

CATEGORY 

WINTER 
DESIGN 
TEMP.

ICE BARRIER 
UNDERLAYMENT 

REQUIRED

FLOOD 
HAZARDS 

AIR
FREEZING 

INDEX

MEAN 
ANNUAL 

TEMP.

A -4 YES NFIP#170378 1800 47.6 

I. R302.5.1 Opening protection. Dimension 1-3/8” shall be deleted and replaced 
by 1-3/4”

J. Table R302.6 Dwelling-Garage Separation. Separation from the residence 
and attics shall be not less than 5/8” gypsum board or equivalent applied to 
the garage side. 

K. R302.13 Fire Protection of floors. Section is deleted in its entirety 

L. Section R313.2, One and two family automatic fire sprinkler systems, is 
deleted in its entirety. 

M. Table N1102.1.2 (R402.1.2) is revised to read as follows, though at no time 
shall values differ from the Illinois Energy Conservation Code requirements. 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 14 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

Climate 
Zone 

Fenestration 
U factor 

Skylight 
U 
factor 

Glazed 
fenestration 
SHGC 

Ceiling 
R 
value 

Wood 
Frame 
wall R 
value 

Mass 
wall R 
value 

Floor 
R 
value 

Basement 
wall R 
value 

 Slab 
R 
value 
& 
depth 

Crawlspace 
wall R 
value 

5 and 
Marine 

4 0.32 0.55 NR 49 
20 or 
13+5 13/17 30 10/13 

10, 2 
ft 15/19 

N. N1102.4.1.2 (R402.4.1.2) shall be revised to match the Illinois Energy 
Conservation Code requirements, or not more than 5 Air Changes per Hour 
(5/ACH) 

O. Chapter 25 through 33 shall be deleted in their entirety, and replaced by the 
current Illinois Plumbing Code. 

At least three (3) copies of the Code adopted by reference have been filed in the office 
of the Village Clerk and are there kept available for public use, inspection and 
examination. (Ord. 92-1238-16) 

5-4C-2:  CONFLICT WITH ZONING ORDINANCE: In the event that any provisions 
of this Code, or the International Residential Code as adopted, are in 
conflict with any provision of the Lincolnshire Zoning Code or any 
amendment thereto, the latter shall prevail and the conflicting provision of 
this Code shall be of no effect. All other ordinances or codes in conflict with 
this Code are hereby repealed. 

5-4C-3:  ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS: 

A. Deleted 

B. Concrete and masonry foundation walls shall be constructed with not less 
than two(2) number five (5) reinforcement bars placed at the top and bottom 
of any concrete trench, belled, grade beam or formed foundation walls, 
“minimum.”

C. Deleted

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 15 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 

BUILDING CODES 

ARTICLE D. FIRE CODE 

SECTION:

5-4D-1:  Adoption of Fire Code  
5-4D-2:  Conflict with Other Codes 
5-4D-3:  Above Ground Fuel Storage Tanks 

5-4D-1:  ADOPTION OF FIRE CODE: Pursuant to the authority granted the General 
Assembly of the State of Illinois to cities and villages,5 and further pursuant 
to the exercise of home rule powers of the Village, there is hereby adopted 
by reference, as the rules and regulations of the Village, the 2018 Edition of 
the International Fire Code, published by the International Code Council, 
and it shall be henceforth known as the Fire Code for the Village, together 
with all appendices, except such portions thereof as are hereinafter 
expressly deleted, modified or amended: 

A. Section 101.1 is changed to read: "These regulations shall be known as the 
Fire Code of the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, hereinafter referred to as 
'this code'. 

B. Section 109.3 is change to read: “Persons who shall violate a provision of 
this code or shall fail to comply with any of the requirements thereof or who 
shall erect, install, alter, repair or do work in violation of the approved 
construction documents of directive of the code official, or of a permit 
certificate used under provisions of this code, shall be guilty of 
misdemeanor, punishable by the fine set forth in the Comprehensive Fine 
Schedule of the code described in 17-1. Each day that a violation continues 
after due notice has been served shall be deemed a separate offence. 
(Amd. Ord. 10-3131-08, eff. 4/22/10) 

C. Section 111.4 is changed to read: “Any person who shall continue any work 
after having been served with a stop work order, except such work as that 
person is directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe condition, shall 
be liable to the fine set forth in the Comprehensive Fine Schedule of the 
code described in 17-1. Each day that such work continues shall be deemed 

5 5 ILCS 5/1-3-1; 50 ILCS 220/1 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 16 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

a separate offense. (Amd. Ord. 10-3131-08, eff. 3/22/10) 

D. An automatic fire suppression system, installed in accordance with the 
International Building Code, International Fire Code and NFPA 13/13R/13D 
(as applicable), is required for all new construction and for structures 
substantially remodeled except: (i) detached single-family dwellings which 
have at least 3' of Yard space (not including storage structures) around 
exterior walls, and are not more than three stories; (ii) those portions of 
buildings that comply with Section 406.5 (2018 International Building Code) 
for open parking garage; and (iii) those structures which are completely 
open on all four sides or are designed such that one side is completely 
open, and the other sides have walls no greater in height than half the 
distance from the ground plane to the lowest point of the roof. (Amd. Ord. 
10-3135-13, eff. 4/12/10) 

1.  Deleted 

At least three (3) copies of the Code adopted by reference have been 
filed in the office of the Village Clerk and are there kept available for 
public use, inspection and examination. (Ord. 92- 1238-16) 

5-4D-2: CONFLICT WITH OTHER CODES: In the event that any provision of these 
Codes are in conflict with any other provision of other Village ordinances 
and/or codes, the more restrictive provision shall prevail. (Ord. 77-505-39) 

5-4D-3 ABOVE GROUND FUEL STORAGE TANKS:  Above ground fuel storage 
tanks (ASTs) shall be installed and maintained in accordance with the 
regulations of the Illinois Office of the State Fire Marshall (OSFM), Title 41 
Illinois Administrative Code Part 160.  When accessible to the public, ASTs 
shall be protected against tampering and trespassing. 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 17 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 

BUILDING CODES 

ARTICLE E, MECHANICAL CODE 

SECTION:

5-4E-1: Adoption of the Mechanical Code 

5-4E-1: ADOPTION OF THE MECHANICAL CODE: Pursuant to the authority 
granted by the General Assembly of the State of Illinois to cities and 
villages,6 and further pursuant to the exercise of home rule powers of the 
Village, there is hereby adopted by reference, as the rules and regulations 
of the Village, the 2018 edition of the International Mechanical Code, 
including APPENDIX “A”, published by the International Code Council, and 
it shall be henceforth known as the Mechanical Code for the Village, except 
such portions thereof as are hereinafter expressly deleted, modified or 
amended: 

A. Section 101.1 is changed to read: "These regulations shall be known as the 
Mechanical Code of the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, hereinafter referred 
to as 'this code'." 

B. Section 106.5.2 is changed to read: "The fees for mechanical work shall be 
as indicated as follows: As established by the Lincolnshire Village Code, 
Title 1-15" 

C. Section 106.5.3 is deleted. 

D. Section 108.4 is changed to read: "Persons who shall violate a provision of 
this code or shall fail to comply with any of the requirements thereof or who 
shall erect, install, alter or repair mechanical work in violation of an 
approved construction documents or directive of the Code official, or of a 
permit or certificate issued under the provisions of this Code, shall be guilty 
of a misdemeanor, subject to the fine set forth in the Comprehensive Fine 
Schedule of the Code described in 17-1 or by imprisonment not exceeding 
six (6) months, or both such fine and imprisonment. Each day that a 
violation continues after due notice has been served shall be deemed a 
separate offense. (Ord. Amd. 10-3131-08, eff. 3/22/10) 

6 65 ILCS 5/1-3-1; 50 ILCS 220/1 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 18 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

E. Section 108.5 is changed to read: "Upon notice from the code official that 
mechanical work is being done contrary to the provisions of this code or in a 
dangerous or unsafe manner, such work shall immediately cease. Such 
notice shall be in writing and shall be given to the owner of the property. or 
to the owner’s agent, or to the person doing the work. The notice shall state 
the conditions under which work is authorized to resume. Where an 
emergency exists, the code official shall not be required to give a written 
notice prior to stopping the work. Any person who shall continue any work 
on the system after having been served with a stop work order, except such 
work as that person is directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe 
condition, shall be liable to the fine set forth in the Comprehensive Fine 
Schedule of the Code described in 17-1. Each day that such work continues 
shall be deemed a separate offense. (Ord. Amd. 10-3131-08, 3/22/10) 

At least three (3) copies of the Code adopted by reference have been filed 
in the office of the Village Clerk and are there kept available for public use, 
inspection and examination. (Ord. 92-1238-16) 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 19 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 

BUILDING CODES 

ARTICLE F, PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE 

SECTION:

5-4F-1: Adoption of the Property Maintenance Code 
5-4F-2: Vacant Building and Property Regulations 

5-4F-1: ADOPTION OF THE PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE: Pursuant to the 
authority granted by the General Assembly of the State of Illinois cities and 
villages,7 and further pursuant to the exercise of home rule powers of the 
Village, there is hereby adopted by reference, as the rules and regulations 
of the Village, the 2018 International Property Maintenance Code, as 
published by the International Code Council and it shall be henceforth 
known as the Property Maintenance Code for the Village, together with all 
appendices, except such portions thereof as are hereinafter expressly 
deleted, modified or amended: 

A. Section 101.1 is changed to read: "These regulations shall be known as the 
Property Maintenance Code of the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, 
hereinafter referred to as 'this code'." 

B. Section 103.5 is changed to read: “The fees for activities and services 
performed by the department in carrying out its responsibilities under this 
code shall be as follows: As established by the Lincolnshire Village Code 
Title 1-15. 

C. Section 302.4 Weeds. Dimension of  “Six inches” added to end of first 
sentence 

D. Section 304.14 is changed to read: "During the period from April 1 to 
November  1 every door, window and other outside openings required for 
ventilation of habitable rooms, food preparation areas, food service areas, 
or any areas where products to be included or utilized in food for human 
consumption are processed, manufactured, packaged or stored, shall be 
supplied with approved tightly fitting screens of not less than 16 mesh per 
inch (16 mesh per 25 mm) and every swinging door used shall have a self-
closing device in good working condition." 

7 65 ILCS 5/1-3-1; 50 ILCS 220/1 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 20 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

D. Section 602.3 is changed to read: "Every owner and operator of any 
building who rents, leases or lets one or more dwelling unit, or sleeping unit, 
on terms, either express or implied, to furnish heat to the occupants thereof 
shall supply heat during the period from September 15 to June 1 to maintain 
a temperature of not less than 68 degrees F (18 degrees C) in all habitable 
rooms, bathrooms and toilet rooms. 

E. Section 602.4 is changed to read: “Indoor occupiable work space shall be 
supplied with heat during the period from September 1 to June 1 to maintain 
a temperature of not less than 65 degrees F (18 degrees C) during the 
period the spaces are occupied. 

Exceptions: 

1. Processing, storage and operation areas that require cooling or special 
temperature conditions. 

2. Areas in which persons are primarily engaged in vigorous physical 
activities, including indoor loading docks 

G. Deleted – See 404.4.1 

H. Deleted – See 404.5 

At least three (3) copies of the Code adopted by reference have been filed 
in the office of the Village Clerk and are there kept available for public use, 
inspection and examination. (Ord. 92-1238-16) 

5-4F-2: VACANT BUILDING AND PROPERTY REGULATIONS: 

A. Declaration of Policy: The purpose of this section 5-4F-2 is to protect the 
public health, safety, and welfare by enactment of this section which: 

1. Establishes a program for registration and regulation of buildings which 
are or become vacant on and after the effective date of this section 5-4F-
2. 

2. Determines the responsibilities of owners of vacant buildings. 

3. Provides for administration, enforcement, including abatement of public 
nuisances, and imposition of penalties. 

 This section 5-4F-2 shall be construed liberally to affect its purposes. 

B. Other Ordinances: This section 5-4F-2 shall not be construed to prevent the 
enforcement of other applicable ordinances, codes, legislation, and 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 21 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

regulations which prescribe standards other than are provided herein, and in 
the event of conflict, the most restrictive shall apply. 

C. Definitions: Unless otherwise expressly stated or clearly indicated by the 
context, the following terms shall, for the purpose of this section 5-4F-2, 
have the meanings indicated in this section: 

BUILDING Any structure occupied or intended for 
supporting or sheltering any occupancy. 

BUILDING OFFICIAL The Building Official, as defined in this Title 5, 
or his or her designee. 

OWNER Any person, agent, operator, firm, or 
corporation having a legal or equitable interest 
in the property; or recorded in the official 
records of the state, county, or municipality as 
holding title to the property; or otherwise 
having control of the property, including the 
guardian of the estate of any such person, and 
the executor or administrator of the estate of 
such person if ordered to take possession of 
real property by a court. 

PERSON Includes a corporation, a partnership, or other 
entity as well as an individual. 

PREMISES A lot, plot, or parcel of land including any 
structure thereon. 

PUBLIC NUISANCE Includes the following: 

1. The physical condition, or uses of any 
building regarded as a public nuisance 
at common law, under the Illinois 
Compiled Statutes, or under this Code; 
or 

2. Any physical condition, use or 
occupancy or any building or its 
appurtenances considered an attractive 
nuisance to children, including, but not 
limited to, abandoned wells, shafts, 
basements, excavations, and unsafe 
fences or structures; or 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 22 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

3. Any building which has unsanitary 
sewerage or plumbing facilities; or 

4. Any building designated by the Building 
Official as unsafe for human habitation 
or use; or 

5. Any building which is manifestly capable 
of being a fire hazard, or manifestly 
unsafe or insecure as to endanger life, 
limb or property; or 

6. Any building which is unsanitary, or 
which is littered with rubbish or garbage, 
or which has an uncontrolled growth of 
weeds; or 

7. Any building that is dangerous, in a 
state of dilapidation, deterioration or 
decay; faulty construction; open or 
vacant and the doors, windows, or other 
openings are boarded up or secured, by 
any means other than conventional 
methods used in the design of the 
building or permitted for new 
construction of similar type; damaged by 
fire to the extent as not to provide 
shelter, in danger of collapse or failure 
and dangerous to anyone on or near the 
premises. 

UNOCCUPIED BUILDING A building or portion thereof which lacks the 
habitual presence of human beings who have a 
legal right to be on the premises, including 
buildings ordered vacated by the Building 
Official pursuant to authority granted to him by 
this Code. 

 In determining whether a building is 
"unoccupied", the Building Official may 
consider these factors, among others: 

1. A building at which substantially all 
lawful residential or business activity 
has ceased. 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 23 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

2. The percentage of the overall square 
footage of occupied to unoccupied 
space or the overall number of occupied 
and unoccupied units shall be 
considered. 

3. The building is substantially devoid of 
contents. The condition and value of 
fixtures or personal property in the 
building are relevant to this 
determination. 

4. The building lacks utility services, i.e., 
water, sewer, electric or natural gas. 

5. The building is the subject of a 
foreclosure action. 

6. The building is not actively for sale as 
part of a contractual agreement to sell 
the building, the building lacks "for sale", 
"for rent" or similar signage. 

7. The presence or recurrence of 
uncorrected Code violations. 

VACANT BUILDING A building or portion of a building which is: 

1. Unoccupied and unsecured; or 

2. Unoccupied and secured by boarding or 
other similar means; or 

3. Unoccupied and a dangerous structure; 
or 

4. Unoccupied and condemned by the 
Building Official pursuant to applicable 
provisions of this Code; or 

5. Unoccupied and has multiple Code 
violations; or 

6. Unoccupied and the building or its 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 24 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

premises has been the site of unlawful 
activity within the previous six (6) 
months; or 

7. Condemned by the Building Official and 
unlawfully occupied; or 

8. Unoccupied for over one hundred eighty 
(180) days and during which time the 
Building Official has issued an order to 
correct public nuisance conditions and 
same have not been corrected in a 
Code compliant manner; or 

9. Unoccupied for over two (2) years. 

10. An “abandoned residential property,” as 
defined in 65 ILCS 5/11-20-15.1 is a 
residential dwelling unit that has been 
unoccupied by any lawful occupant or 
occupants for at least 90 days, and for 
which after such 90 day period the 
Village has made good faith efforts to 
contact the legal owner or owners of the 
property or, if known, the agent of the 
owner, and no contact has been made. 

 But not including: 

 Unoccupied buildings which are undergoing 
construction, renovation, or rehabilitation and 
which are in compliance with all applicable 
ordinances, codes, legislation, and regulations, 
and for which construction, renovation or 
rehabilitation is proceeding diligently to 
completion. 

D. Obligation To Register; Owner’s Obligations: The owner of a building who 
knows, or from all the facts and circumstances should know, that his or her 
building is or has become a "vacant building" within the meaning of this 
section 5-4F-2 after the effective date of this section 5-4F-2, shall take the 
actions provided for in this section within fifteen (15) days after the 
occurrence of the facts which would cause a reasonable person to believe 
that the building was a "vacant building". Registration does not exonerate 
the owner from compliance with all applicable Codes and ordinances, 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 25 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

including this section, nor does it preclude any of the actions the Village is 
authorized to take pursuant to this section 5-4F-2 or elsewhere in this Code. 

1. Registration Requirements: 

a. Register the building with the Building Official, on a form provided 
by the Building Official and pay the annual non-prorated vacant 
building registration fee as established in the Comprehensive Fee 
Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code. The form 
shall include, as a minimum, the name, street address, and 
telephone number of the owner; the case name and number of any 
litigation pending concerning or affecting the building, including 
bankruptcy cases; and the name, street address, and telephone 
number of all persons with any legal interest in the building or the 
premises. The form shall require the owner to identify a natural 
person twenty one (21) years of age or older who maintains a 
permanent address in Lake County, Illinois, to accept service on 
behalf of the owner with respect to any notices the Building Official 
sends pursuant to this section 5-4F-2 or service of process in any 
proceeding commenced to enforce any provision of this section 5-
4F-2, and file with the Building Official on the registration form, the 
name, address, telephone number, of said person. A street address 
is required. A post office box is not an acceptable address. 

b. File an amended registration within fifteen (15) days of any change 
in the information contained in the annual registration, including any 
change in the status of the property that would cause a reasonable 
person to believe that the building was no longer a "vacant 
building.” A new registration is required for any change in 
ownership whatsoever. There shall be no charge for an amended 
registration. 

c. Once a building is registered as a vacant building, there shall be a 
rebuttable presumption that it will remain a vacant building until an 
amended registration is filed with the Building Official or a certificate 
of occupancy is issued therefor. 

 2. Notice; Inspection: 

a. The form shall require the owner to indicate his or her "acceptance 
of notice by posting," consenting to service of notices sent or 
required to be sent, pursuant to this section 5-4F-2, by posting on 
the building. 

b. The owner of a vacant building shall allow for a Code compliance 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 26 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

inspection of the interior of the vacant building and shall pay the 
inspection fee therefore within thirty (30) days of the inspection as 
established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in 
Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code. Such inspection will determine 
the extent of compliance with Village property, building codes, 
health, fire, water and sewer codes. The Village shall send the 
inspection report to the owner within thirty (30) days. 

3. Security Guard Service: On written notice of the Building Official, provide 
bonded and insured security guard service at the building between the 
hours of three o'clock (3:00) p.m. and eight o'clock (8:00) a.m. Such 
service to remain in place until the Building Official gives written notice 
that the service is no longer required. Such service shall be required 
when the Building Official makes a written determination that the vacant 
building is involved in illegal or improper use or occupancy under such 
conditions that boarding and securing the building are insufficient to 
prevent the actual or threatened harm. 

E. Other Enforcement: The registration of a vacant building shall not preclude 
action by the Village to demolish or to take other action against the building 
pursuant to other provisions of this Code or other applicable legislation, 
including the activities authorized by Subsection F. 

F. Property Maintenance: 

1.  Nuisance Abatement. The Village is authorized to perform or provide for 
property maintenance activities to abate a nuisance caused by a vacant 
building, including the following: 

a. Cutting and removal of neglected weeds and grass, as authorized 
by Section 4-1A-2 of this Code and 65 ILCS 5/11-20-7; 

b. Removal of infected trees as authorized by Sections 13-1-15 and 
13-1-16 and 65 ILCS 5/11-20-12; 

c. Removal of garbage, debris, and graffiti as authorized by Title 4, 
Chapter 1 of this Code and 65 ILCS 5/11-20-13, and 

d. Removal, securing, and enclosing abandoned residential 
properties, as authorized by Sections 5-4F-1, 5-4F-2, and 4-1-5 of 
this Code and 65 ILCS 5/11-31-1.01. 

2.  Charges for Nuisance Abatement. The Village shall have the authority to 
collect from the property owner the costs incurred in performing the 
property maintenance activities to abate the nuisances described in this 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 27 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

subsection 5-4F-2.F. The Village shall send a bill for the cost to the 
property owner, his agent, legal representative, or occupant in legal 
possession or control of the premises. 

3. Traditional Lien Procedure. If a bill sent pursuant to paragraph 2 is not 
paid in full within 30 days of the date of the bill, the Village shall have the 
authority to file and record a lien against the property, pursuant to 
Section 11-20-15 of the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5/11-20-15. If, 
for any one property, the Village engaged in any nuisance abatement 
activity described in paragraph 1 on more than one occasion during the 
course of one year, then the Village may combine any or all of the costs 
of those activities into a single notice of lien, provided no costs may be 
set forth on more than one notice of lien. The lien must be filed in 
accordance with the lien procedure established by the specific Code 
provision of which the property is alleged to be in violation or, if no such 
procedure exists, then the following procedure shall apply: 

a.  Notice of Lien. The Village or the person performing the service by 
authority of the Village, in its, his or her own name, may file a notice 
of lien in the office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds. The 
notice of lien shall be filed within one year after the cost and 
expense is incurred. If, for any one property, the Village engaged in 
any nuisance abatement activity described in Paragraph 2 on more 
than one occasion during the course of one year, then the Village 
may combine any or all of the costs of those activities into a single 
notice of lien, provided no costs may be set forth on more than one 
notice of lien. The notice of lien shall consist of a sworn statement 
setting forth: 

i. A description of the real estate that sufficiently describes the 
parcel; 

ii. The amount of the cost and expense incurred or payable for 
the activities; and 

iii. The date or dates when such cost and expense was incurred 
by the Village or someone working on behalf of the Village. 

After recording, the notice of lien shall be sent by certified mail 
to the property owner, his agent or legal representative or 
occupant in legal possession or control of the premises and, if 
different, to the person who received the tax bill for the 
preceding year. 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 28 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

b.  Release of Lien. Upon payment of the cost after the notice of lien 
has been filed as provided herein, the lien shall be released by the 
Village or person in whose name the lien has been filed, and the 
release shall be recorded of record in the same manner as 
recording the notice of lien. 

c.  Foreclosure of Lien. Subsequent to the filing of the above-
described lien, the Village may cause to be filed a complaint for 
foreclosure of such lien, or upon becoming a defendant in a 
pending lawsuit affecting the premises or real estate, by answer to 
the complaint or in the nature of an intervening petition or cross-
complaint the Village may proceed in its corporate name to 
foreclose such lien. An action to foreclose a lien under this Section 
must be commenced within two years after the date of filing notice 
of lien. The property subject to a lien arising under this article shall 
be sold for nonpayment of the same, and the proceeds of such sale 
shall be applied to pay the monies owing the Village. 

4. Priority Lien Procedure. The priority lien procedure described in this 
Paragraph 4 shall apply only to costs incurred for activities performed on 
abandoned residential properties, as defined in the definition for Vacant 
Buildings under subsection 5-4F-2(C), and is an alternative to the 
traditional lien authorized by paragraph 3. If a bill sent pursuant to 
paragraph 2 is not paid in full within 60 days of the date of the bill, the 
Village shall have the authority to file and record a priority lien against 
the property, pursuant to Section 11-20-15.1 of the Illinois Municipal 
Code, 65 ILCS 5/11-20-15.1, in the following manner: 

a.  Notice of Lien. The Village or the person performing the service by 
authority of the Village, in its, his or her own name, may file a notice 
of a priority lien in the office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds. 
The notice of lien shall be filed within one year after the cost and 
expense is incurred. If, for any one property, the Village engaged in 
any nuisance abatement activity described in paragraph 2 on more 
than one occasion during the course of one year, then the Village 
may combine any or all of the costs of those activities into a single 
notice of lien, provided no costs may be set forth on more than one 
notice of lien. The notice of lien shall consist of a sworn statement 
setting forth: 

i. A description of the abandoned residential property that 
sufficiently describes the parcel; 

ii. The amount of the cost incurred or payable for the activities; 
and 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 29 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

iii. The date or dates when such cost was incurred by the Village 
or someone working on behalf of the Village; and 

iv. A statement that the lien has been filed pursuant to one or 
more of the property maintenance activities described in 
Paragraph 2 and authorized by 65 ILCS 5/11-20-7(D), 65 ILCS 
5/11-20-8(D), 65 ILCS 5/11-20-12(D), 65 ILCS 5/11- 20-13(E), 
or 65 ILCS 5/11-31-1.01, as applicable. 

After recording, the notice of lien shall be sent by certified mail 
to the property owner, his agent or legal representative or 
occupant in legal possession or control of the premises and, if 
different, to the person who received the tax bill for the 
preceding year. 

The Village may not file a lien if the lender has provided notice 
to the Village that the lender has performed, or will perform, 
remedial actions; provided, however, that the remedial actions 
must be performed or initiated in good faith within 30 days of 
the lender’s notice to the Village.

b.  Record keeping. To enforce a lien pursuant to this paragraph 4, the 
Village must maintain contemporaneous records that include, at a 
minimum: 

i. A dated statement of a finding by the Village that the property 
has  become abandoned residential property; 

ii. The date when the property was first observed to be 
unoccupied by any lawful occupant; 

iii. A description of the actions taken by the Village to contact the 
legal owner of the property, or if known, any agent of the 
owner; 

iv. A statement that no contacts were made with the legal owner 
or, if known, any agent of the owner; 

v. A dated certification by a Village official of the necessity and 
specific nature of the work performed; 

vi. A copy of the agreement with the person or company 
performing the work and the rates and estimated cost of the 
work, if applicable; 

vii. Detailed invoices and payment vouchers for the work; 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 30 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

viii. A statement whether the work was competitively bid, and if so, 
a copy of all proposals submitted by the bidders. 

c.  Release of Lien. Upon payment of the cost after the notice of lien 
has been filed as provided herein, the lien shall be released by the 
Village or person in whose name the lien has been filed, and the 
release shall be recorded of record in the same manner as 
recording the notice of lien. 

d.  Enforcement of Lien. A lien under this paragraph 4 is enforceable 
by the Village, or entity or person who performs work on behalf of 
the Village, at the hearing for confirmation of the foreclosure sale of 
the abandoned residential property and is limited to a claim of 
interest in the proceeds of the sale. The priority lien is superior to all 
other liens and encumbrances, except tax liens. 

G. Certification: A certificate of Code compliance for vacant buildings issued by 
the Village and payment in full of all fees imposed pursuant to this section 5-
4F-2 are required prior to any occupancy of a vacant building and the 
issuance of transfer stamps prior to the sale or transfer thereof, as required 
by Section 3-1-6 of the Village Code. 

H. Enforcement and Penalties: 

1. Any person found to have violated any provision of this section 5-4F-2 
shall be subject to the applicable range of fines set forth in the 
Comprehensive Fine/Penalty Schedule, Title 1, Chapter 17, in addition 
to any other legal or equitable remedies available to the Village. 

2. A separate and distinct offense shall be committed each day on which 
such person or persons shall violate the provisions of this section 5-4F-
2. 

3. Nothing herein contained shall prohibit the Village from immediately 
condemning as provided for in this Code a building or taking other 
immediate action upon a determination that the building is a public 
nuisance or poses an imminent danger to the occupants of the building, 
or the public, health, safety and welfare. 

(Amd. Ord. 10-3168-45, eff. 11/8/10) 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 31 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 

BUILDING CODE 

ARTICLE G. ACCESSIBILITY CODE 

SECTION:

5-4G-1: Adoption of the Accessibility Code 

5-4G-1: ADOPTION OF THE ACCESSIBILITY CODE: Pursuant to the authority 
granted by the General Assembly of the State of Illinois to cities and 
villages,8 and further pursuant to the exercise of home rule powers of the 
Village, there is hereby adopted by reference the Illinois Accessibility Code 
published by the State of Illinois Capital Development Board and it shall be 
henceforth known as the Accessibility Code of the Village, together with all 
appendices, except such portions thereof as are hereinafter expressly 
deleted, modified or amended. At least three (3) copies of the Code adopted 
by reference have been filed in the office of the Village Clerk and are there 
kept available for public use, inspection and examination. 

8 65 ILCS 5/1-3-1; 50 ILCS 220/1

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 32 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 

BUILDING CODES 

ARTICLE H. LIFE SAFETY CODE 

SECTION:

5-4H-1:  Adoption of the Life Safety Code 

5-4H-1: ADOPTION OF THE LIFE SAFETY CODE: Pursuant to the authority 
granted by the General Assembly of the State of Illinois to cities and 
villages,9 and further pursuant to the exercise of home rule powers of the 
Village, there is hereby adopted by reference, as the rules and regulations 
of the Village, the National Fire Protection Association Standard No. 101 - 
2006 Edition, Life Safety Code, published by the National Fire Protection 
Association and it shall be henceforth known as the Life Safety Code for the 
Village, together with all appendices, except such portions thereof as are 
hereinafter expressly deleted, modified or amended: Only those provisions 
of the Life Safety Code pertaining to existing structures are hereby adopted 
and those provisions shall apply only to structures in existence at the date of 
adoption of this Article and those structures for which an occupancy permit 
has been granted on or before that date. At least three (3) copies of the 
Code adopted by reference have been filed in the office of the Village Clerk 
and are there kept available for public use, inspection and examination. 

9 65 ILCS 5/1-3-1; 50 ILCS 220/1 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 33 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 

BUILDING CODES 

ARTICLE I. ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE 

SECTION:

5-4I-1: Adoption of the Energy Conservation Code 

5-4I-1: ADOPTION OF THE ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE: Pursuant to the 
authority granted by the General Assembly of the State of Illinois to cities 
and villages,10 and further pursuant to the exercise of home rule powers of 
the Village, there is hereby adopted by reference, as the rules and 
regulations of the Village, the most current edition of the Illinois Energy 
Conservation Code as required by State statute, shall be herein be known 
as the Energy Conservation Code for the Village, together with all 
appendices, except such portions thereof as hereinafter expressly deleted, 
modified or amended: 

A. Section 101.1 is changed to read: "This code shall be known as the 
International Energy Conservation Code of the Village of Lincolnshire, 
Illinois, and shall be cited as such. It is referred to as 'this code'." 

At least three (3) copies of the Code adopted by reference have been filed 
in the office of the Village Clerk and are there kept available for public use, 
inspection and examination. (Ord. 92-1238-16) 

10 65 ILCS 5/1-3-1; 50 ILCS 220/1 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 34 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

CHAPTER 4 

BUILDING CODES 

ARTICLE J. FUEL GAS CODE 

SECTION:

5-4J-1:  Adoption of Fuel Gas Code 
5-4J-2:  Conflict with Other Codes 

5-4J-1: ADOPTION OF FUEL GAS CODE: Pursuant to the authority granted the 
General Assembly of the State of Illinois to cities and villages,11 and further 
pursuant to the exercise of home rule powers of the Village, there is hereby 
adopted by reference, as the rules and regulations of the Village, the 2018 
Edition of the International Fuel Gas Code, published by the International 
Code Council, and it shall be henceforth known as the Fuel Gas Code for 
the Village, together with all appendices, except such portions thereof as 
are hereinafter expressly deleted, modified or amended: 

A. Section 101.1 is changed to read: “These regulations shall be known as the 
Fuel Gas Code of the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, hereinafter referred to 
as 'this code'.”

B. Section 106.6.2 is change to read: “The fees for work shall be as indicated 
as follows: As established by the Lincolnshire Village Code, Title 1-15.”

C. Section 106.6.3 Refunds, is deleted. 

D. Section 108.4 is changed to read: “Persons who shall violate a provision of 
this Code or shall fail to comply with any of the requirements thereof or who 
shall erect, install, alter, or repair work in violation of the approved 
construction documents or directive of the Code official, or of a permit 
certificate used under provisions of this Code, shall be guilty of 
misdemeanor, punishable by the fine set forth in the Comprehensive Fine 
Schedule of the Code described in 17-1 or by imprisonment not exceeding 
six (6) months, or both such fine and imprisonment. Each day that a 
violation continues after due notice has been served shall be deemed a 
separate offense. 

E. Section 108.5 is change to read: “Upon notice from the code official that 
work is being done contrary to the provisions of this code or in a dangerous 

11 65 ILCS 5/1-3-1; 50 ILCS 220/1 

Document 1



   
Village of Lincolnshire Page 35 Title 5-4 

Revised 07/30/2018 

or unsafe manner, such work shall immediately cease. Such notice shall be 
in writing and shall be given to the owner of the property, or to the owner’s 
agent, or to person doing the work. The notice shall state the conditions 
under which work is authorized to resume. Where an emergency exists, the 
code official shall not be required to give a written notice prior to stopping 
the work. Any person who shall continue any work on the system after 
having been served with stop work order, except such work as that person 
is directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe condition, shall be 
liable to the fine set forth in the Comprehensive Fine Schedule of the Code 
described in 17-1. Each day that such work continues shall be deemed a 
separate offense. (Ord. Amd. 10-3131-08, eff. 3/22/10) 

5-4J-2:  CONFLICT WITH OTHER CODES: In the event that any provision of these 
Codes are in conflict with any other provision of other Village ordinances 
and/or codes, the more restrictive provision shall prevail. 

At least three (3) copies of the Code adopted by reference have been filed 
in the office of the Village Clerk and are there kept available for public use, 
inspection and examination. (Ord. 92-1238-16) 

Document 1



CHAPTER 5
SWIMMING POOLS

SECTION:

5-5-1:  Compliance Required
5-5-2:  Definitions
5-5-3:  Permit Requirements
5-5-4:  Location Restrictions
5-5-5:  Construction Requirements
5-5-5-3: Steps or Ladders
5-5-5-7: Walk Areas
5-5-6:  Swimming Pool Barriers
5-5-8:  Electrical Requirements
5-5-9:  Safety Precautions
5-5-10: Inspection Requirements
5-5-11: Nonconforming Structures
5-5-12: Prohibited Pools
5-5-13: Spas and Hot Tubs

5-5-1:  COMPLIANCE REQUIRED: Every private residential or public swimming pool 
constructed, installed and maintained in the Village shall comply with all 
applicable provisions of this Chapter.

5-5-2: DEFINITIONS:
PRIVATE RESIDENTIAL 
SWIMMING POOL

A swimming pool maintained by an individual primarily for 
the sole use of his household and guests and not for the 
purpose of profit or in connection with any business 
operated for profit.

PUBLIC SWIMMING 
POOL

A swimming pool maintained by individuals for the use of 
more than one household, or maintained by a club for the use 
of its members, or maintained by a business for profit, or 
maintained by a school, park district, municipality or other 
public or not-for-profit organizations.

Document 1



SWIMMING POOL A receptacle for water, or an artificial pool of water having 
(POOL) a depth at any point of more than two feet (2'), 
intended for the purpose of immersion or partial immersion 
therein of human beings, and including all appurtenant 
equipment, constructed, installed and maintained in or above 
the ground inside or outside of a building.

SWIMMING POOL 
BARRIER

A non-climbable fence, an existing building wall, or a 
combination thereof, which completely surrounds the 
swimming pool and obstructs access to the swimming pool.
(Amd. Ord. 11-3204-26, eff. 5/9/11)

SPA AND HOT TUB A hydromassage pool, or tub for recreational or therapeutic 
use, not located in health care facilities, designed for 
immersion of users, and usually having a filter, heater, and 
motor-driven blower.  It may be installed indoors or outdoors, 
on the ground or supporting structure, or in the ground or 
supporting structure.  Generally, a spa or hot tub is not 
designed or intended to have its contents drained or 
discharged after each use.

5-5-3: PERMIT REQUIREMENTS:

A. Permits Required:

1. It shall be unlawful to proceed with the construction, installation, 
enlargement or alteration of any pool unless permits shall have first been 
obtained from the Village.

2. It shall be unlawful to proceed with the construction, installation, 
enlargement or alteration of any public swimming pool within the Village 
unless permits shall first have also been obtained from the State of Illinois. 
(Ord. 73-305-20)

B. Drawings and Plans and Permits:

1. Each application shall be accompanied by four (4) sets of site plans, 
grading plans, construction documents and specifications prepared by the 
licensed design professional and must have his/her signature and seal; in 
accordance with the Illinois Department of Professional Regulation.

2. All plans and drawings shall be drawn at a scale of not less than one eighth 
of an inch to the foot (1/8" = 1') on paper or cloth, in ink or by some process 
that will not fade or obliterate. All distances and dimensions shall be 
accurately figured and drawings made explicit and complete showing the lot 

Document 1



lines, distance from the residence(s) and including information pertaining to 
the pool, walk and fence construction, water supply system, drainage and 
water disposal systems, and all appurtenances pertaining to the pool. 
Detailed plans and vertical elevations shall also be provided.

C. All pools, appurtenances, water supply and drainage systems shall be 
constructed in conformity with the approved plans.

5-5-4:  LOCATION RESTRICTIONS:

A. Private residential swimming pools shall be permitted in single-family 
residential zones only. No portion of the pool shall be located less than fifteen 
feet (15') from a side or rear lot line. Pools and appurtenant equipment shall 
not be permitted in any front yard.

B.  Public swimming pools shall be permitted in residential and business zones 
except that any public swimming pool operated for the purpose of profit or 
operated in connection with a business operated for profit shall not be operated 
in a single-family residential zone. No portion of a public pool or its appurtenant 
equipment shall be located less than fifteen feet (15') from a side or rear lot 
line. Public pools shall not be located in a front yard. (Ord. 73-305-20)

5-5-5:  CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS:

5-5-5-1: All swimming pools and swimming pool barriers shall be designed and
constructed in conformance with the International Residential Code, Appendix 
AG@, published by the International Code Council, Inc. most recently adopted by 
the Village, as outlined in Section 5-4C-1, and the following sections: (Amd. 
Ord. 11-3204-26, eff. 5/9/11)

5-5-5-3: STEPS OR LADDERS: Two (2) or more means of egress shall be provided. 
The deep end shall be furnished with an anchored ladder equipped with hand 
rails while steps or stairway shall be furnished at the shallow end.

5-5-5-7: WALK AREAS: An unobstructed walk area constructed of impervious 
materials and smooth non-slip surfaces not less than thirty six inches (36") in 
width shall be provided to extend entirely around any swimming pool.  All pool 
walk areas shall slope away from the pool walls so as to prevent drainage from 
entering the pool or pool filter system. Walk areas shall not be located in an 
easement. (Amd. Ord. 11-3204-26, eff. 5/9/11)

5-5-6:  SWIMMING POOL BARRIERS: 

Document 1



A.  General Requirements: All swimming pools shall be completely enclosed by a 
swimming pool barrier, as defined in Section 5-5-2, which is located on the 
same property as the pool. Only one swimming pool barrier shall be permitted 
on a zoning lot. Berms or mounds are not permitted adjacent or near to the 
pool as a means of denying entry into the pool area. Swimming pool barriers 
shall be constructed so that a finished side faces outward. All posts shall be 
decay or corrosion resistant and shall be adequately braced below grade in 
either a stone or concrete base. In the event a swimming pool is completely 
removed and is no longer operational, the pool fence that is associated with 
such pool shall be removed in its entirety, unless said fence fully complies with 
all Yard Fence requirements as described in Chapter 15 of Title 6. 

Where the wall of an existing structure acts as one or more sides of the 
swimming pool barrier, it shall be subject to the Additional Requirements of 
Section 5-5-6(H). However, it shall be exempt from the height, material, opacity 
and color regulations contained herein. 

B.  Location: No swimming pool barriers shall be located in required front or 
corner side yard setback areas; within drainage easements or on top of berms 
or mounds. The barrier shall be no closer than five feet (5=) to the edge of the 
pool at any point.

C.  Height: A swimming pool barrier shall be a minimum of four feet (4=) and a 
maximum of five feet (5=) in height. Any swimming pool barriers that are located 
in a yard adjacent to Half Day Road and Riverwoods Road shall be permitted 
to be a maximum of six feet (6=) in height, as measured from the crown of the 
road, in accordance with Chapter 15 of Title 6, provided that such barriers are 
located only in a yard located along the frontage to such arterial roads. 
However, in no event shall a swimming pool barrier be permitted to be less 
than 4= in height, as measured from the existing grade along the fence line. 

Any swimming pool barriers that are located in a yard adjacent to incompatible 
land uses, in accordance with Chapter 15 of Title 6, shall be permitted to be a 
maximum of eight feet (8=) in height, as measured from the existing grade 
along the fence line. 

D. Materials:

1. Swimming pool barriers shall be constructed of wood or ornamental metal 
materials. Neither material shall be subject to the review of the Architectural 

Document 1



Review Board. 

2. Any swimming pool barriers that are located in a yard along the frontage of 
Half Day Road shall be constructed of wood and have a natural wood finish 
and be designed in the following: 

a. Traditional style solid wood fence with post end caps.

b. A Traditional Board and Batten style solid wood fence with post end 
caps.

c. A Traditional style solid wood fence with square lattice on top and post 
and caps. 

d. A Traditional style sold wood fence with diagonal lattice on top and 
post end caps.

E. Color: Swimming pool barriers shall be a pre-finished black, dark brown, dark 
green or white color. 

F. Opacity: Swimming pool barriers and gates shall contain no greater than 60% 
opaque materials, as measured horizontally along each foot of the length of the 
fence facing each yard. However, those swimming pool barriers that are 
located in a yard along the frontage of Half Day Road or Riverwoods Road as 
well as swimming pool barriers adjacent to non-residential or incompatible land 
uses, shall be permitted to be non-metal solid or having the opacity greater 
than 60%, as measured horizontally along each foot of the length of the fence 
facing each yard. 

G. Fence Permit: A fence permit must be applied for at the time of application for 
the swimming pool permit, or included for approval on pool plans. Without the 
fence permit, no swimming pool permit may be issued. All applications for a 
swimming pool or swimming pool barrier shall be accompanied by a plat of 
survey which indicates the placement of the pool, swimming pool barrier, pool 
walk, and all other accessories to be installed or constructed, in addition to 
other requirements set forth in Section 5-5-3B and C thereof. 

H. Additional Requirements:  Swimming pool barriers shall comply with 
Appendix G, Section AG105.2, of the International Residential Code, most 
recently adopted by the Village, as outlined in Section 5-4C-1, with the 
exception of Section AG105.2 (6) and Section AG105.2 (10).

Document 1



I. Variations and Exceptions: In the event the Village Board authorizes a 
variation for swimming pool barriers for a different pool barrier height, 
materials, color or opacity, in accordance with Chapter 14 of Title 6, such relief 
shall preempt any conflicting regulations contained in this Section. However, no 
variation shall be granted to permit swimming pool barriers to be less than 4= in 
height, as measured from the existing grade along the fence line; no variation 
shall be granted from the swimming pool barrier safety regulations as 
described in Section 5-5-6(H), and no variation shall be granted from the 
swimming pool barrier location requirements as described in Section 5-5-6(B). 

J. Conflicts:  Except to the extent provided in subsection (I), in the event of any 
conflicts, the regulations of this Section shall prevail. (Amd. Ord. 11-3204-26, 
eff. 5/9/11)

5-5-8:  ELECTRICAL REQUIREMENTS: Where conductors are adjacent to pool or 
moisture area they shall have proper insulation. No overhead electrical wires
shall be permitted within fifteen feet (15') of the pool.

5-5-9: SAFETY PRECAUTIONS: All pools shall be maintained in a clean, safe and
sanitary condition.

5-5-10: INSPECTION REQUIREMENTS: The Building Official may periodically inspect 
pools to determine whether or not the provisions of this Code regarding health, 
sanitation and safety applicable thereto are being complied with.

5-5-11: NONCONFORMING STRUCTURES: Pool erected prior to the effective date of 
this Code which do not meet the requirements of Sections 5-5-5-3, 5-5-5-7, 5-
5-6, 5-5-8 and 5-5-9, shall be made to conform to the provisions of said 
sections within sixty (60) days of the effective date of this Code with the 
following exceptions:

A. Deleted by Ordinance 11-3204-26, eff. 5/9/11.

B. Previously constructed fences and gates of a minimum height of forty-two 
inches (42") completely enclosing a pool area equipped with self-closing and 
self-latching devices placed as hereinbefore called for shall be allowed to 
remain for a period of six (6) months after which time they must be brought into 
compliance with the requirements of this Code.  (Amd. Ord. 11-3204-26, eff. 
5/9/11)

5-5-12: PROHIBITED POOLS: Inflatable pools and other portable or aboveground 

Document 1



pools holding water to a depth of over one foot (1') are prohibited. (Ord. 73-
305-20)

5-5-13: SPAS AND HOT TUBS: The installation of any spa or hot tub shall follow the 
same construction requirements as those which refer to pools, with the 
following exception:

A. An approved locking device may be permitted in lieu of the fence requirements 
for hot tubs or spas.

B. Hot tub and spa installations shall also be exempt from the requirements set 
forth in section 5-5-12 of this code.

Document 1



CHAPTER 6
WASTEWATER REGULATIONS

SECTION:

5-6-1:   Deleted in it==s entirety and relocated to Chapter 2 of Title 8
5-6-2:  Deleted in it=s entirety and relocated to Chapter 2 of Title 8
5-6-3:   Deleted in it=s entirety and relocated to Chapter 2 of Title 8
5-6-4:   Deleted in it=s entirety and relocated to Chapter 2 of Title 8
5-6-5:   Deleted in it=s entirety and relocated to Chapter 2 of Title 8
5-6-6:   Deleted in it=s entirety and relocated to Chapter 2 of Title 8
5-6-7:   Deleted in it=s entirety and relocated to Chapter 2 of Title 8

(Amd Ord. 07-3000-28, eff. 8/13/07)

Document 1



CHAPTER 7

FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION

SECTION:
5-7-1: Purpose
5-7-2: Interpretation, Conflicts
5-7-3: Compliance Required
5-7-4: Definitions
5-7-5: General Conditions
5-7-6: Maps and Profiles
5-7-7: Variances
5-7-8: Nonconforming Structures and Uses
5-7-9: Appeals of Administrative Decisions
5-7-10: Administration
5-7-11: Penalties for Violation

5-7-1: PURPOSE: The purpose of this Chapter is to diminish threats to public   health 
and safety caused by floodwaters; reduce economic losses to individuals and the 
community at large; protect, conserve, and promote the orderly development of land 
and water resources; and to comply with the guidelines for the National Flood Insurance
Program as published by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. The 
provisions of this Chapter further regulate, guide, and control:

A. The use, subdivision, layout, and improvement of lands located in floodplains.

B. The excavating, filling, and grading of lots and other land parcels or areas 
located in floodplains and the storing of certain materials thereon.

C. The location, construction, and elevation of buildings and other structures or 
parts and appurtenances thereof, and of sanitary and storm sewers and 
appurtenances, located in floodplains.  (Ord-80-623-30)

D.    Golf courses located within the Village. (Ord. 80-637-44)

5-7-2: INTERPRETATION, CONFLICTS: All ordinances and parts of ordinances in 
conflict herewith are repealed to the extent of such conflict herewith. The regulations 
contained in this Chapter 7 are hereby incorporated by reference into the Zoning, 
Building and Subdivision Codes1 of the Village as fully as if set forth at length therein.

5-7-3: COMPLIANCE REQUIRED:  Before starting any of the work regulated by this 

1 See Titles 5, 6 and 7 of this Village Code

Document 1



Chapter, an applicant shall comply with the requirements set forth in other applicable 
ordinances with respect to the submission and approval of preliminary and final 
subdivision pats, improvement plans, building and zoning permits, inspections, appeals 
and similar matters, along with those set forth in this Chapter and as may be required by 
Federal or State laws and the regulations of any department of the State of Illinois. 
Where provisions of this Chapter are more restrictive than other requirements, this 
Chapter shall apply.

5-7-4: DEFINITIONS: For the purposes of this Chapter, the following definitions are 
adopted:

AREA OF SPECIAL The land which is subject to a one percent (1%)         
FLOOD HAZARD chance of flooding annually.  This area may also be 

identified as that which is subject to the 100-year 
flood. The area is designated as Zone A, A1-99, AH, 
or AO on the maps provided by the Federal Insurance 
Administration.

BASE FLOOD  The flood having a one percent (1%) chance of being
equaled or exceeded in any given year. The base 
flood is also known as the 100-year flood. If the 100-
year flood information is not available, the base flood 
shall be the flood of record.

BASE FLOOD AREA The land area subject to inundation by waters of the 
base flood.

BASE FLOOD ELEVATION The highest water surface elevation of the base flood.

COMPENSATORY STORAGE An artificially excavated volume of storage within the 
base flood area used to balance the loss of natural 
flood storage capacity when artificial fill or structures 
are placed within the floodplain. The uncompensated 
loss of natural floodplain storage can increase off-site 
floodwater elevations and flows.

DEVELOPMENT Any manmade change to improved or unimproved 
real estate, including but not limited to construction of 
or substantial improvements to buildings or other 
structures, the placement of mobile homes, mining, 
dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or drilling 
operations.

FLOOD   The condition existing when the waters of any 

Document 1



watercourse, pond, or depression temporarily rise to a 
height above their normal levels and overflow the 
boundaries within which they are ordinarily contained. 
It also includes the unusual rapid accumulation or 
runoff of surface waters.

FLOOD FREQUENCY A period of years, based on a statistical analysis, 
during which a flood of a stated magnitude may be 
expected to be equaled or exceeded.

FLOOD FRINGE The higher portion of the floodplain, immediately 
adjacent to and on either side of the floodway, 
occupied by quiescent or slow-moving waters during 
floods.

FLOOD HAZARD BOUNDARY An official map of the Village, issued or approved by 
the MAP (FHBM) Administrator of the Federal 
Insurance Administration, on which the areas having 
special flood hazards have been drawn and 
designated as Zone A.

FLOOD INSURANCE STUDY An examination and evaluation of hydro- (FIS) logic 
and hydraulic data sponsored by the Federal 
Insurance Administration to determine base flood 
flows, elevations, areas and floodways. The FIS also 
determines flows, elevations and areas of floods 
having lesser and greater frequencies of occurrence.

FLOOD OF RECORD An actual historical flood event for which sufficient 
records are available to establish its extent. No 
uniform probability of occurrence is associated with 
floods of record. However, the probability of 
occurrence may be determined for the event at 
specific locations.

FLOOD PROFILE Graphical representations of the elevations of the 
water surface of the 100-year flood along the 
watercourses of the Village.

FLOOD PROTECTION The elevation to which uses regulated by this Chapter
ELEVATION are required to be elevated or floodproofed.

FLOOD RETURN PERIOD Same as Flood Frequency.

FLOODPLAlN  The special flood hazard lands adjoining 

Document 1



a water course, whose surface elevation is lower than 
the base flood elevation, that are subject to periodic 
inundation during floods.

FLOODPROOFING Modifications to structures made to reduce flood 
damages. These changes may be made to existing 
structures or incorporated in the design of new 
structures. In all instances, flood-proofing must be 
watertight and must be adequate without the need for 
human intervention.

FLOODWAY  The channel of a watercourse and those portions of 
the adjoining floodplains which are required to carry 
and discharge the 100-year flood with no significant 
increase in the base flood elevation.

FLOODWAY   The lateral boundaries of the floodway which
ENCROACHMENT LINES separate it from the flood fringes.

FREEB0ARD  An increment of elevation added to the base flood 
elevation to provide a factor of safety for uncertainties 
in calculations, unknown localized conditions, wave 
actions and unpredictable effects such as may be 
caused by ice or debris jams.

HYDROSTATlC PRESSURE The upward pressure exerted on floodslabs or an 
entire structure by standing water or groundwater, 
which tends to float a structure or crack the floor. It is 
based on the difference in elevation between the 
surface level of the water. Hydrostatic pressure may 
also be horizontal, imposing forces on walls causing
them to crack or fail.

MOBILE HOME   A structure transportable in one or more sections, 
which is built on a permanent chassis and designed to 
be used with or without a permanent foundation when 
connected to the required utilities. It does not include 
recreational vehicles or travel trailers.

MOBILE HOME PARK A parcel or contiguous parcels of land which has been 
so designated and improved that it contains two (2) or 
more mobile home lots available to the general public 
for sale or rent and the placement thereon of mobile 

Document 1



homes for occupancy.

ONE HUNDRED YEAR FLOOD A flood magnitude with a one percent (1%) statistical 
of being equaled or exceeded during any year. A flood
this large would be reached once during a 100-year 
period, on the average. However, the occurrence of 
such an event does not diminish the chance of its 
recurring again at any time.

RISK PREMIUM RATE ZONE Flood hazard areas designated according to the 
degree of flooding they would experience during the 
base flood. The symbols used to designate these 
zones are as follows:

A Area of special flood hazard without water 
surface elevations determined.

   Al-99 Area of special flood hazard with water surface 
elevations deter-mined.

   AH Area of special flood hazards having a level 
water surface (ponding) with water depths 
between 1 and 3 feet.

   AO Area of special flood hazards having a sloping 
water surface (sheet runoff) with water depths 
between 1 and 3 feet.

VO Area of special flood hazards having shallow 
water depths and/or unpredictable flow paths 
between 1 and 3 feet and with velocity.

B Area of moderate flood hazards.

C Area of minimal hazards.

RIVERINE  Relating to, formed by, or resembling a river 
(including tributaries), stream, creek or brook.

STRUCTURE  A walled and roofed building, including a gas or liquid 
storage tank,that is principally above ground, as well 
as a mobile home.

Document 1



SUBSTANTIAL   Any repair, reconstruction, or improvement of a
IMPROVEMENT structure, the cost of which equals or exceeds fifty 

percent (50%) of the market value of the structure 
either before the improvement or repair is started, or if 
the structure has been damaged, and is being 
restored, before the damage occurred. The term does 
not, however, include either:

A. Any project for improvement of a structure to 
comply with existing State or local health, 
sanitary, or safety code specifications which 
are solely necessary to assure safe living 
conditions, or

B. Any alteration of a structure or site
documented as deserving preservation by the 
Illinois Department of Conservation or listed on 
the National Register of Historic Places.

WATERCOURSE Any river, stream, creek, brook, branch or other 
drainageway in or into which stormwater runoff and 
floodwaters flow either regularly or intermittently.

5-7-5: GENERAL CONDITIONS: General conditions which shall apply in Articles A, B, 
and C of this Chapter include:

A. Floodways: In floodways which have been identified in Section 5-7-6 of this 
Chapter as elements of floodplains associated with the flood having a 100-year 
recurrence interval, fill, encroachments, and new construction and substantial 
improvements of existing structures, which would result in any one-tenth foot
(0.1') increase in flood heights, shall be prohibited. The location of any portion 
of a new mobile home park, of any expansion to an existing mobile home park, 
and of any mobile home not in a mobile home park shall be prohibited in the 
floodway (nothing herein shall be construed to permit mobile homes or mobile 
home parks within the Village of Lincolnshire).

B. Flood Fringes: In flood fringes which have been identified in Section 5-7-6 of 
this Chapter as elements of the floodplains associated with floods having a 100-
year recurrence interval, construction, filling or use of those low-lying lands may 
be permitted under the conditions specified in Articles A, B and C of this 
Chapter.

C. Compensatory Storage: Whenever any portion of a floodplain is authorized for 
use, the volume of space which will be occupied by the authorized fill or 

Document 1



structure below the base flood elevation shall be compensated for and balanced 
by at least an equal volume of excavation taken from below the base flood 
elevation.  All floodplain storage lost below the existing 10-year flood elevation 
shall be replaced below the 10-year flood elevation.  All floodplain storage lost 
above the existing 10-year flood elevation but below the base flood elevation 
must be replaced above the existing 10-year flood elevation and below the base 
flood elevation.  In the case of streams or watercourses, such excavation shall 
be made opposite or immediately adjacent to the areas so filled or occupied.  
All such excavations should be constructed to drain freely and openly to the 
watercourse.

D. Watercourse Alteration: The Village shall notify the Illinois Division of Water 
Resources and the Federal Insurance Administration prior to any alteration or 
relocation of a watercourse within the Municipality's jurisdiction by any person 
or agencies. The Village shall assure that the flood carrying capacity within the 
altered or relocated portion of any watercourse be maintained.

E. Freeboard: All structures located in base flood areas shall be required to be so 
sited on fill or be otherwise designed and constructed so as to include a 
freeboard of at least two feet (2') between the lowest floor and the base flood 
elevation, except as provided for in Section 5-7D-3 of this Chapter.(Ord. 03-
1834-11, eff. 4/14/03)

F. Base Flood: Wherever the areas expected to be inundated by the base flood 
have been specifically identified, it is the intention of this Chapter to provide 
protection in those areas against the high waters of that flood.

G. Historical Flood of Record: In the absence of specific information pertaining to 
the base flood, it is the intention of this Chapter to provide protection in the low-
lying areas of this community against the high waters of the historical flood of 
record.

H. Land Use Controls: This Chapter is not intended to reduce or eliminate existing 
flooding, nor is it intended to impose a complete prohibition of construction in 
base flood areas. On the contrary, these regulations are designed to guide and 
control development in such a manner as to lessen the damaging effects of 
floods on developments proposed for the low-lying areas of this community.

5-7-6: MAPS AND PROFILES:

A. Base Flood Elevations:
  

Des Plaines River Southern corp. limit 646*             
  Northern corp. limit 648*           

Document 1



Indian Creek Mouth at Des Plaines River     648*
  About 2,150 feet upstream from
  mouth (at corp. limits) 649*
  Upstream corp.  limits at State
  Route 22 653*

About 350 feet upstream of State 
  Route 22 (upstream limit of

flooding affecting community) 655*

B. Certified HUD Flood Insurance Studies (FIS).

C. Illinois Department of Transportation - Division of Water Resources Regulatory 
Floodplain Maps and Profiles.

D. HUD Flood Hazard Boundary Maps (FHBM) and Approximate FIS Data.

E. USGS Maps of Flood-prone Areas.

F. USGS - NIPC Hydrologic Investigation Atlases (Floods of Record).

G. Village of Lincolnshire, IL, Community Number 170378

Date of Current Effective 
Map (or Map Index)

Lake County DFIRM 
Panel Number

Effective FIS Study 
Date

September 18, 2013 17097C0254 K September 18, 2013

September 18, 2013 17097C0257K September 18, 2013

September 18, 2013 17097C0258 K September 18, 2013

September 18, 2013 17097C0259 K September 18, 2013

September 18, 2013 17097C0262 K September 18, 2013

September 18, 2013 17097C0266 K September 18, 2013

September 18, 2013 17097C0267K September 18, 2013

H. Flood Insurance Study, Village of Lincolnshire
a. Des Plaines River study dated September 18, 2013
b. North Branch Chicago River study dated September 18, 2013

I. Conflicts Between Maps and Profiles: In the event a conflict arises between the 
information depicted by the official Village floodplain maps and the official 

Document 1



Village profiles, and in the absence of any overriding information to the contrary, 
the data prescribed by the profiles will govern.

J. Source Documents: Information pertaining to the base flood incorporated in this 
Chapter, including maps and profiles, has been extracted from and is based on 
the studies and reports prepared by the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency.

K. Official Elevations: The system of official bench marks and elevations already 
established in the area by the U.S. Coast and Geodetic Survey (first order level 
network) or the U.S. Geological Survey shall hereafter be taken by engineers, 
surveyors, architects, and contractors when making topographical surveys and 
maps, and when setting grades and elevations of buildings, pavements, 
drainage facilities, and other structures or works publicly constructed or 
regulated by the Village.

L. Determination of Base Flood Area, Location and Elevations: The official maps 
described in this Section shall be used as an aid in determining whether a 
specific parcel of land lies within the base flood area. The final decision, 
however, shall be based on the relation of the surveyed ground elevation and 
the base flood elevation. For the purposes of this Chapter, the base flood 
elevation applicable to a specific parcel of land, if not otherwise depicted by the 
official maps and profiles described above, shall be that elevation established 
for the adjoining stream or channel measured at right angles to the general 
direction of flow in that stream or channel. In riverine situations where a bend in 
the stream exists and more than one line can be placed at right angles to the 
parcel of land, the highest base flood elevation determined shall prevail.

5-7-7: VARIANCES: The Village Board may grant variances from the regulatory 
standards of this Chapter in accordance with the following requirements:

A. All Variance Requests: No variance shall be granted unless the applicant for 
the variance can demonstrate that:

1. An exceptional economic hardship would result without the variance.

2. The relief granted is the minimum necessary.

3. There will be no additional threat to public safety or creation of nuisance.

4. No additional public expense will result.

Document 1



B. Variances to Lower Protection Levels: In addition to the requirements of 
subsection A above, a variance from the requirements of Section 5-7D -3 of 
this Chapter that would result in a structure not being protected to the elevation 
of the base flood shall also meet the following requirements:

1. The structure is to be located on a lot of one-half (1/2) acre or less in size 
contiguous to and surrounded by lots with existing structures constructed 
below the base flood level.

2. The Village Board notifies the applicant in writing that the variance will 
result in increased premium rates for flood insurance up to amounts as 
high as twenty five dollars ($25.00) for one hundred dollars ($100.00) of 
insurance coverage.

3. The Village Board notifies the applicant in writing that such construction 
below the base flood level will increase the risks to life and property and 
that the applicant proceeds with knowledge of these risks.

4. The Village Board notifies the applicant that if the variance is issued, it is 
contingent upon the applicant obtaining approval from other agencies, 
having jurisdiction, when the variance violates the requirements of such 
agencies.

C. Variances to Increase Flood Heights: In addition to the requirements of 
subsection A above, a variance from the requirements of Section 5-7A-1 or 5-
7A-2 of this Chapter that would significantly impede or increase the flow and 
passage of floodwaters shall also meet the following requirements, except that 
no variance will be granted that would result in an increased flood height 
greater than one-tenth foot (0.1') within the designated regulatory floodway:

1. The resulting increase in the base flood elevation will not affect any
existing structures or utilities.

2. The owners of the properties affected by the increased base flood elevation 
are compensated for the resulting effect on property values and give their 
written agreement to granting the variance.

3. The resulting increased flood elevations will not affect any flood protection 
structures.

D. Variances to Compensatory Storage Requirements: In addition to the 
requirements of subsection A above, no variance from the compensatory 

Document 1



floodplain storage provisions of this Chapter shall be granted which would 
reduce the required volume of compensatory excavation to less than the 
volume of space occupied by that portion of the authorized fill or structure 
below the base flood elevation.

E. Historical Structures: Variances requested in connection with the 
reconstruction, rehabilitation, or restoration of structures listed on the National 
Register of Historical Places or documented as worthy of preservation by the 
Illinois Department of Conservation may be granted using criteria more 
permissive than the requirements of subsections A or B above.

5-7-8: NONCONFORMING STRUCTURES AND USES:

A. Nonconforming Structures: Nonconforming structures may remain in use 
subject to the following regulations:

1. Alterations: A nonconforming structure shall not be enlarged, replaced or 
structurally altered. A nonconforming structure accidentally damaged may 
be restored unless the damage exceeds fifty percent (50%) of its 
replacement value in which case it must thereafter conform to this Chapter. 
The Building Commissioner shall determine the amount of damage.

2. Building Permit Issued Prior to Adoption or Amendment of the Zoning 
Code: Proposed structures for which building permits have been issued 
prior to their designation as nonconforming by adoption or amendment of 
the Zoning Code1 may be completed and used as originally intended 
subject to the nonconforming provisions of this Chapter. 

B. Nonconforming Uses: Nonconforming uses may be continued subject to the 
following regulations:

1. Extensions: A nonconforming use shall not be expanded or moved to 
occupy any portion of the premises, either land or structure, which was not 
originally occupied by the nonconforming use.

2. Discontinuance: Whenever a nonconforming use of any premises has been 
discontinued for a period of twelve (12) months, it may not be re-
established.

3. Changes: A nonconforming use shall not be changed to another or different 
nonconforming use.

  1See Title 6 of this Village Code.

Document 1



5-7-9: APPEALS OF ADMINISTRATIVE DECISIONS: Appeals to the to the    
decisions of any administrative body of this Village in the interpretation of this Chapter 
may be made to the Board of Trustees for approval or rejection by any aggrieved 
person or governmental unit within thirty (30) days of approval or rejection.

5-7-10: ADMINISTRATION:

A. Responsibility: The administration of this Chapter shall be the responsibility of 
the Village Manager; provided that:

1. Variances: No variance shall be issued without the prior concurrence of the 
Village Board.

2. Special Use Permit: No special use permit shall be issued without the prior 
concurrence of the Village Board.

3. Official Maps and Profiles: Responsibility for all changes to official maps 
and profiles remains with the Village Board.

B. Interpretation: In the interpretation and application of this Chapter, the 
provisions expressed herein shall be held to be the minimum requirements and 
shall be liberally construed in favor of the Village and shall not be deemed a 
limitation or repeal of any other powers granted by State Statutes or adopted 
pursuant to the home rule powers of the Village.

C. Abrogation and Greater Restrictions: It is not intended by this Chapter to 
repeal, abrogate or impair any existing easements, covenants or deed 
restrictions. However, where this Chapter imposes greater restrictions, the 
provisions of this Chapter shall prevail.

D. Disclaimer of Liability: The degree of flood protection required by this Chapter 
is considered reasonable for regulatory purposes and is based on historical 
records, engineering and scientific methods of study. Larger floods may occur 
or flood heights may be increased by manmade or natural causes. This 
Chapter does not imply that areas outside the prescribed floodplain boundaries 
or land uses permitted within such floodplains will be free from flooding or flood 
damages. This Chapter shall not create liability on the part of the Village or any 
officer or employee thereof for any flood damages which may result from 
reliance on this Chapter or on any administrative decision lawfully made 
thereunder.

E. Judicial Appeals: Any party shall have the right to appeal decisions of the 
Village of Lincolnshire before the Circuit Court of Lake County.

Document 1



5-7-11:  PENALTIES FOR VIOLATION:

A.  General: Violation of the provisions of this Chapter or failure to comply with 
any of its requirements, including conditions and safeguards established in 
connection with variances or special use permits shall be subject to penalty 
as herein provided. Any person who violates this Chapter or fails to comply 
with any of its requirements shall upon conviction, thereof, be subject to the 
fine set forth in the Comprehensive Fine Schedule of the Code described in 
17-1, and in addition, shall pay all costs and expenses involved in the case. 
Each day such violation continues shall be considered a separate offense. 
(Amd. Ord. 10-3131-08, eff. 3/22/10)

B.  Corrective Actions: Nothing herein contained shall prevent the Village from 
taking such other lawful action as is necessary to prevent or remedy any 
violation. All such costs connected therewith shall accrue to and be paid by 
the person or persons responsible. (Ord. 80-623-30)

Document 1



CHAPTER 7

FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION

ARTICLE A. ZONING REGULATIONS

SECTION:

5-7A-1:  Floodways Not Identified
5-7A-2:  Floodways Identified
5-7A-3:  Open Storage of Materials

5-7A-1: FLOODWAYS NOT IDENTIFIED: In base flood areas where the floodways are 
not identified, the following provisions shall prevail:

A. Encroachments: In the base flood area, no development shall be permitted 
unless the cumulative effect of the proposals, when combined with all other 
existing and anticipated uses and structures, shall not significantly impede or 
increase the flow and passage of the floodwaters nor significantly increase the 
base flood elevation.

B. Occupation and Use of Base Flood Area: Development in the use or filling of 
the base flood area will be permitted if protection is provided against the base 
flood by proper elevation, compensatory storage, and other provisions of this 
Chapter. No use will be permitted which will adversely affect the ability of a 
floodplain to convey the base flood, or the capacity of channels or drainage 
facilities or systems. All uses and structures shall meet applicable zoning 
requirements for the area.

5-7A-2: FLOODWAYS IDENTIFIED: In base flood areas where the floodways have 
been identified, the following provisions shall prevail:

A. Occupation and Use of Floodways: In floodways which have been identified in 
Section 5-7-6 of this Chapter as elements of the flood-plains of the base flood, 
only those uses and structures will be permitted which will not impede or 
increase the flow and passage of floodwaters. All such uses and structures 
shall meet applicable zoning requirements for the area.

B. Occupation and Use of Nonfloodway Areas: Development in the use or filling of 
nonfloodway areas including flood fringes will be permitted if protection is 
provided against the base flood by proper elevation, compensatory storage, 

Document 1



and other provisions of this Chapter. No use will be permitted which will 
adversely affect the capacity of channels, the floodway, or drainage facilities or 
systems. All uses and structures shall meet applicable zoning requirements for 
the area.

5-7A-3: OPEN STORAGE OF MATERIALS:

A. Floatable Materials: Logs, wastes, lumber, lumber products, and other floatable 
materials or containers shall not be placed, displayed, or stored in the floodway 
and may be stored in flood fringes only upon the issuance of special use 
permits.

B. Other Materials: The open storage or display on a flood fringe of inoperable 
motor vehicles and similar nonmovable machinery and other nonfloatable 
materials and products, where permitted by the regulations of the zoning district 
applicable to such land, shall be considered the same as the placement of fill 
on the floodplain and shall be subject to the regulations of this Chapter.

C. Hazardous Materials: The open storage of materials anywhere in the base 
flood area which are flammable, explosive, toxic, or which could be otherwise 
injurious to human, animal, or plant life is prohibited. (Ord. 80-623-30)

Document 1



CHAPTER 7

FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION

ARTICLE B. SUBDIVISION, DEVELOPMENT AND
IMPROVEMENT REGULATIONS

SECTION:

5-7B-1:  Required Information
5-7B-2:  Subdivision Design

5-7B -1: REQUIRED INFORMATION: Accompanying the preliminary plans of each 
proposed subdivision which involves any portion of a base flood area as described by 
the official maps of this Village, there shall be furnished the following information and 
data to the best knowledge of the applicant:

A. Contour Map: A topographic map with one foot (1') interval contours of the land to 
be subdivided and such adjoining land whose topography may affect the layout or 
drainage of the subdivision. On such a map, there shall be shown the following:

1. The location of streams and other floodwater runoff channels, their normal 
channels, the extent of their floodplains at the established highwater 
elevations, and the limits of the floodway, all properly identified.

2. The normal shoreline of lakes, ponds, swamps and detention basins, their 
floodplains and lines of inflow and outflow, if any.

3. The location of farm drains and their inlets and outlets.

4. Storm, sanitary, and combined sewers and any sewer outfalls.

5. Septic tank systems and outlets, if any.

6. Seeps, springs, and flowing and other wells.

7. Location of existing structures that will remain.

B. 100-year flood elevation and limits, including floodway data for that portion of a 
subdivision or development which is in the base flood area having greater than fifty 
(50) lots or five (5) acres whichever is the lesser.

Document 1



C. Channel Profiles: Profile drawings of each stream, channel, pond, and basin 
showing elevations of the following:

1. The streambed.

2. Channel banks, if any.

3. Waterway openings of existing culverts and bridges within six hundred sixty 
feet (660') of the tract.

4. Size and elevation of sewer and drain outlets into the stream channel or 
basin.

5. The base flood elevations established by this Chapter.

5-7B -2: SUBDIVISION DESIGN: The following rules shall govern the design of land 
improvements with respect to the floodplain fringe:

A. General: All proposed subdivision and other developments within the base flood 
area shall be reviewed to assure that the proposed developments are consistent 
with the need to minimize flood damage, that all public utilities and facilities (such as 
sewer, gas, electrical and water systems) are located and constructed to minimize 
or eliminate flood damage and that adequate drainage is provided.

B. Design: Streets, blocks, depths of lots, parks and other public grounds shall be 
located and laid out in such a manner whenever possible as to preserve and utilize 
natural streams, channels, and detention basins. Wherever possible, the larger 
streams and floodplains shall be included within parks or other public grounds.

C. Channel Straightening: Sharply meandering streams or channels may be partially 
straightened and minor changes made in other channels, subject to the approval of 
the Village Board, provided: (1) the Hydraulic capacity of the floodway is 
maintained, (2) provision is made to stabilize the banks of the modified channel to 
control erosion, and (3) any permits for this work that are required by the Illinois 
Department of Transportation and the Corps of Engineers are obtained.

D. Lots in Base Flood Area: Land lying wholly or partially in the base flood area may be 
laid out and platted as building lots or parcels, provided that a building site not lower 
than the base flood elevation (see Section 5-7D-2) plus one foot (1'): (1) exists on 
the high part of the lot or parcel, or (2) will be built up during execution of the 
subdivision improvement plan through general excavation or filling, or (3) can be 
provided with excavation taken from within the area of the lot or parcel.

E. Compensatory Storage: Such filling as may be required or permitted by this Chapter 

Document 1



for a building site, or as may otherwise be done in a floodplain shall be 
compensated for and balanced by at least an equal volume of excavation taken 
from below the highwater elevation. In the case of streams and channels, such 
excavation shall be made opposite or immediately adjacent to the areas so filled or 
occupied and shall be constructed to drain freely and openly to the watercourse.

F. Streets and Roads: When failure or interruption of service of streets or roads would 
endanger public health or safety, streets and roads shall be protected to one foot 
(1') above the base flood elevation. In other instances, protection shall be provided 
to the extent practical.

G. Drainageways: Whenever the plans call for the passage and/or storage of surface 
runoff or excess stormwater on lots, the grading of all such lots shall be prescribed 
and established as part of the subdivision plat, The areas so designated for the 
passage and/or storage of such waters shall not be obstructed. The horizontal limits 
of the high water levels resulting from the passage and/or storage of surface runoff 
or excess stormwater on lots shall be recorded on the plat of record and shall be 
covered by an easement.

H. Manholes: All sanitary sewer manholes constructed in a floodplain must have a rim 
elevation of a minimum of one foot (1') above the base flood elevation or be 
provided with a locking, watertight manhole cover. (Ord. 80-623-30)

Document 1



CHAPTER 7

FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION

ARTICLE C. WATER SUPPLY AND SANITARY
SEWER SYSTEMS

SECTION:

5-7C-1: Design

5-7C-1: DESIGN: The design of water supply and sanitary sewer systems to be 
located in   the floodplain shall minimize or eliminate the discharges from the system 
into the floodwaters and the infiltration of floodwaters into the system. On-site waste 
disposal systems shall be located so as to avoid impairment of them or contamination 
from them during or subsequent to flooding. (Ord. 80-623-30)

Document 1



CHAPTER 7

FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION

ARTICLE D. BUILDING REGULATIONS

SECTION:

5-7D-1:  Permits
5-7D-2:  Building Site
5-7D-3:  Design Criteria

5-7D-1: PERMITS: Building permits are required for all proposed construction, 
substantial   improvements, or other development, including the placement of 
mobile homes, within floodplain areas having special flood hazards. Such permits shall 
assure that all other necessary permits have been received from those governmental 
agencies from which approval is required by Federal or State law. The building permit 
applications will be reviewed to assure that any proposed construction is:

A. Designed and anchored to prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement of the 
structure.

B. Constructed with materials and utility equipment resistant to flood damage.

C. Constructed by methods and practices that minimize flood damage. At the time of 
issuing a building permit, the following information will be noted and recorded by the 
Village:

1. Elevation of the lowest floor (including basement).

2. Where the elevation of the lowest floor is below grade on one or more sides, 
the elevation of the floor immediately above.

3. Where a structure has been floodproofed, the elevation to which the structure 
was floodproofed.

5-7D-2: BUILDING SITE: Each main building or structure that is built on fill shall have 
or shall be provided with a site, area, or yard that is not lower than the established base 
flood elevation plus one foot (1') and which shall extend beyond the outside walls for a 
distance of at least five feet (5'). The finished grade or surface of this area beyond the 
aforesaid five foot (5') distance shall be graded or surfaced so as to drain away from the 
walls over a distance of not less than five (5) additional feet.

Document 1



5-7D-3: DESIGN CRITERIA: The following general design criteria shall apply to all
new construction and substantial improvements which may be authorized in floodplains:

A. Residential Structures: The lowest floor, including the basement, of residential
structures must be at an elevation not less than that of the  Flood Protection 
Elevation, unless they are adequately floodproofed and the Village has been 
granted an exception from the Federal Insurance Administration (FIA) for placing 
the lowest floor of the structures at a lower elevation. Within any A, AE, or AO 
Zone, all new construction and substantial improvements of residential structures 
shall have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated above the crown of the 
nearest street to or above the depth number specified on the Village's FIRM.

B. Nonresidential Structures: The lowest floor, including the basement, of 
nonresidential structures must be elevated or floodproofed to an elevation not less 
than that of the Flood Protection Elevation. Within any AO Zone, all new 
construction and substantial improvements of nonresidential structures shall: (1) 
have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated above the crown of the 
nearest street to or above the depth number specified on the FIRM, or (2) 
together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities shall be completely 
floodproofed to or above that level to Federal Insurance Administration (FIA) 
standards.

C. Walls: The walls, foundations, and other features which may be authorized for 
construction or installation at an elevation below that of the Flood Protection 
Elevation must be designed to resist appropriate hydrostatic pressures.

D. Anchoring: All authorized structures, including underground and aboveground 
tanks, shall be firmly anchored to prevent flotation. Anchoring materials should be 
rust resistant. 

E. Service Facilities: To the maximum extent feasible, all service facilities, such as 
electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, and air conditioning  equipment, shall be 
located at or above the Flood Protection Elevation. Water supply and wastewater 
collection and treatment systems shall be designed and constructed so as to 
prevent the entrance of floodwaters.

F. Floodproofing: Where the lowest floor elevation (including basement) is below the 
Flood Protection Elevation, the structure, with the attendant utility and sanitary 
facilities, shall be floodproofed to the Flood Protection Elevation. Where 
floodproofing is required, a registered professional engineer or structural engineer 
shall certify that the floodproofing methods employed are adequate to withstand 
the flood depths, pressures, velocities, impact and uplift forces and other factors 
associated with the base flood and a record of such certificates indicating the 
specific elevation to which such structures are floodproofed shall be maintained 
by the Village. (Ord. 03-1834-11, eff. 4/14/03)

Document 1



CHAPTER 8

SITE GRADING, DRAINAGE AND EROSION CONTROL

SECTION:

5-8-1:  General
5-8-2:  Required Permits
5-8-3:  Plan Requirements
5-8-4:  Waiver of Permit
5-8-5:  Grading Plan Waiver Conditions
5-8-6:  Fees
5-8-7:  Certification
5-8-8:  Violation and Enforcement of Regulations

5-8-1:  GENERAL:  

A. Objective: The objective of this Chapter is to prevent drainage problems to 
trees as a result of construction, site grading, landscaping, or other site 
improvements to real property.

B. Stormwater Management Regulations: The Lake County Watershed 
Development Ordinance, as most recently amended by the County of Lake 
on June 11, 2013, is hereby adopted by reference and is in full force and 
effect within the Village of Lincolnshire and is found in its own compilation.  

5-8-2: REQUIRED PERMITS:

A. Major Grading Permit: A major grading permit is required prior to starting any 
work which will change the existing grade, whether by addition, removal, or 
repositioning materials, soil or other, including landscaping, where the 
disturbed area is 5,000 square feet or greater.

B. Minor Grading Permit:  A minor grading permit is required prior to starting 
any work which will change the existing grade, whether by addition, removal, 
or repositioning materials, soil or other, including landscaping, where the 
disturbed area is greater than 1,000 square feet and less than 5,000 square 
feet; or where the disturbed area is less than 1,000 square feet but where the 
work will occur within the drip line of a tree.

C. Exemptions:

Document 1



1. Site grading or landscape work undertaken as part of the original 
conditions of improvement for a subdivision or planned unit development 
and done in accordance with plans approved by the Building Official,
shall not be subject to the provisions of this Chapter.

  
2. No permit will be required prior to starting any change to the existing 

grade, including landscaping, where the disturbed area is less than 
1,000 square feet, provided that the proposed work does not create a 
drainage problem and is not located within the drip line of a tree as 
defined elsewhere in the Code.

Building permits shall not be issued for the construction of any new structure or 
modification or addition to an existing structure until a finalized grading plan or revision 
to an existing grading plan is approved by the Building Official.

D.  Permit Extensions and Terminations:  

1. Work is authorized under a permit for a period of eighteen months from 
the date of issuance, or one year after the commencement of work, 
whichever is later, unless an extension has been granted in writing by the 
Building Official.  The permit holder must request an extension in writing 
no sooner than 30 days nor less than 14 days prior to the termination of 
the permit.

2. Any planned site grading or landscaping to a developed property that is 
designed to cause a material change in the existing topography of the 
land or, to drainage patterns must be discontinued until a grading plan or 
revision to an existing grading plan approved by the Building Official 
unless waived pursuant to the terms of this Chapter.

3. Failure to comply with any condition of the permit or  failure to fully 
disclose all relevant facts at any time shall be grounds for revocation of 
the permit or denial of a permit extension.

5-8-3 PLAN REQUIREMENTS: A grading plan will be required for a major or minor
grading permit. 

A. Minor Grading Permit: The applicant shall submit three paper copies of the 
grading plan.

B. Major Grading Permit: In addition to three paper copies of the grading plan, 
the applicant shall submit an electronic copy of the grading plan in 
accordance with the “Lincolnshire Drawing Data Delivery Specification.”

Document 1



C. All Grading Plans:  The required grading plan shall be prepared by either a 
registered engineer or a registered land surveyor licensed by the State, shall 
be presented in a form acceptable to the Building Official, and shall include 
the following minimum requirements:

1. The plan shall show the name, address, and telephone number of the 
plan preparer.

2. The plan shall show the address of the property where the work will 
occur.

3. The plan shall be drawn at a scale of no less than one inch equals twenty 
feet (1" = 2O'), except for properties exceeding two (2) acres where a 
smaller scale maintaining clarity may be accepted at the discretion of the 
Building Official.

4. The drawing size of the plan shall be no less than eight and one-half 
inches by eleven inches (8-1/2" x 11") and no larger than seventeen 
inches by twenty two inches (17" x 22"), except for properties exceeding 
ten (10) acres where drawing size can be increased to twenty four inches 
by thirty six inches (24" x 36").

5. The plan shall contain a north arrow.

6. The plan shall show all easements, building setbacks, and Conservancy 
Rights and Areas.

7. All elevations shall be on the USGS Datum and bench marks used shall 
be indicated.

8. The plan shall show spot elevations of all critical locations.

9. The plan shall show spot elevations at lot corners and at twenty five foot 
(25') intervals along the property lines or along the perimeter of the area 
to be regraded or landscaped.

10. The plan shall show the elevations and location where drainage courses
cross the property lines.

11. The plan shall show existing contours for the entire tract on one foot (1') 
contour intervals or one-half foot (0.5') contour intervals if the average 
slope of the tract is two percent (2%) or less.

12. The plan shall show proposed driveway location and gradients.

Document 1



13. The plan shall show the top of wall, bottom of wall, and construction 
details of a retaining wall, if applicable.  The plan shall also indicate the 
presence of a rail, if applicable.

14. Where driveway culverts are required, the plan shall show proposed 
location, size and type of culvert, and shall show gradients at twenty five 
foot (25') intervals, one hundred feet (100') upstream and downstream 
from the proposed culvert, including inverts of existing upstream and 
downstream culverts.  Calculations shall be provided to justify the size of 
the culvert.

15. The plan shall show proposed contours and spot elevations of critical 
points.

16. The plan shall show proposed building top of foundation, elevations of all
entries, and elevations of proposed finished ground grade at all 
significant points around the proposed building.

17. The plan shall indicate the Flood Zone Designation and the Flood 
Insurance Rate Map Panel Number for the subject property.

18. The plan shall show floodplain elevation, in conformance to the 
Lincolnshire floodplain regulations if said floodplain elevation is within 
three feet (3') of the elevation of the lowest floor of the existing or 
proposed structure.

19. The plan shall show conformance to the Lincolnshire floodplain 
regulations.

20. The plan shall show all proposed connections to public sewers and shall 
include invert elevations, size and location of said public sewers. (Ord. 
83-770-24)

21. The plan shall show conformance to all erosion and water management 
regulations. An erosion control plan shall be included with the site 
grading and utility plan for review by the Building Official.  Erosion control 
shall conform to the Lake County Watershed Development Ordinance, 
latest edition.

22. The plan shall include provisions and a time schedule for restoring grass 
and lawns or for other erosion control measures.

23. A minimum of three (3) copies of the plan shall be submitted. Additional 

Document 1



copies shall be supplied as requested by the Building Official.

24. The plan shall show location and disposition of downspout, footing drain 
and sump pump discharge.

25. The plan shall include information on adjacent properties to show 
contours, drainage courses, structure locations, and foundation 
elevations, within fifty feet (50') of the subject property.

D. Copy Maintained by Property Owners: A reproducible copy of the original 
plan shall remain in the possession of the property owners and shall be 
available at the site for inspection.

5-8-4: WAIVER OF PERMIT: A waiver of  a separate minor grading permit may be 
approved by the Building Official in conjunction with the issuance of a building permit
only on property previously improved with the principal use or structure, where the 

project consists only of minor additions to existing dwellings or structures, the 
construction of accessory buildings, tennis courts, swimming pools, or minor 
landscaping., and where said work is not contemplated within the drip line of a tree 
which is to remain.

The waiver request shall be made in writing and shall include a description and address 
of the property, a brief description and site plan of the work to be performed, and a 
statement signed by the property owner as follows:

“The applicant certifies that he is the owner of the property described above, 
and certifies upon investigation that the above described project will not 
disturb existing topography within three feet (3') of adjacent properties or will 
not create adverse drainage problems on adjacent property. The applicant 
further agrees to assume all responsibility for any drainage problems that 
may be caused directly or indirectly by any action involving the above 
described project, and further absolves the Village of Lincolnshire of any 
responsibility for problems or actions that may result from the granting of the 
waiver of the site grading permit requirements.

Date_____________                               
Signed_____________________________”

5-8-5: GRADING PLAN WAIVER CONDITIONS:

A. Conditions:  A minor grading permit may be  waived by the Building Official 
when the following conditions are present:

Document 1



1. No major watercourse crosses the buildable area of the property.

2. No portion of proposed building or site grading is within the floodplain.

3.  No filling, grading, paving or construction of auxiliary building or 
structures is located within ten feet (10') of side or rear lot lines.

4. The principal structure is located twenty feet (20') or more from any side 
or rear lot lines.

5. A contour map of the area or property at no more than two foot (2') 
intervals and of scale no less than one inch equal to two hundred feet 
(1"= 200') must be on file in the office of the Building Official, or one must 
be submitted.

6. No addition, removal, or repositioning of materials, soil or other, is within 
the drip line of a tree, unless suitable protection measures are to be 
taken as approved by the Village Forester.

B.  The request for grading plan waiver shall include the following:

1. Legal description of property.

2. Brief description of project.

3. Plot plan of project showing dimensions from lot lines, height of 
foundation, location of driveway, provisions for roof drainage and 
proposed grading limits. 

4. A notarized statement signed by the property owner as follows: 

“The applicant hereby certifies that he/she is the owner of the previously 
described property and certifies that the described project will conform to the 
conditions for plan waiver stated in this Section, and to the best of his/her 
knowledge will not create adverse drainage problems on adjacent property. 
The applicant further agrees to assume all responsibility for any drainage 
problems that may be caused directly or indirectly by any action involving the 
above described project, and takes full responsibility for problems or actions 
that may result.

5-8-6: FEES: The fee for a grading permit shall be as prescribed in the 
Comprehensive Fee Schedule as set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code. Where 
an existing grading plan is to be revised, a new grading permit shall be requested for a 

Document 1



fee as established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 
of this Code.

5-8-7: CERTIFICATION: 

A. Upon completion of the proposed site grading, construction and/or 
landscaping, the applicant shall certify that said site grading, construction, 
and/or landscaping has been completed according to the grading plan 
approved.  If no grading plan was required, the applicant shall make a 
certification that the waiver conditions continue to apply to the property after 
the work was completed.

When changes are made from the original plan, the applicant shall note and 
certify to compliance with the changed plan.

Certification shall be indicated by a note on one copy of the original plan or, if 
revised, on the revised plan, as follows:

"I, _____________________________________________________ do 
hereby certify that this plan is a reasonable depiction of the topography of the 
described property as existed on this date, and essentially conforms to this 
plan, filed with the Village of Lincolnshire Director of Public Works as Permit 
No. ___________________ dated ___________, 20__, or to revisions of 
said plan as noted and approved by the undersigned.

Date_____________  
Signed_____________________________”

B. Additional Requirements: Major Grading Permits
The applicant shall prepare and submit a record drawing of the construction.  
The record drawing shall be made upon a copy of the approved set of plans.  
If so required, the record drawing shall also be submitted in electronic format 
in accordance with the “Lincolnshire Drawing Data Delivery Specification.”

   

5-8-8: VIOLATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF REGULATIONS: Violations and 
enforcement of this Chapter shall be in accordance with the provisions set 
forth in

Article 5-1-8 of the Building Regulations.

(Amd. Ord. 02-1797–07, eff. 4/8/02)

Document 1



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 1 

CHAPTER 1

ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT

SECTION:

7-1-1: Title
7-1-2:  Purpose
7-1-3:   Jurisdiction
7-1-4:   Definitions
7-1-5:   Acreage Fees
7-1-5A: Conservancy Area Monuments
7-1-6: Subdivision Improvement Deposit
7-1-7: Insurance, Legal Responsibility and Public Safety
7-1-8:   Variations
7-1-9:   Penalties
7-1-10: Separability

7-1-1:  TITLE: 

This Title shall be known, cited and referred to as THE LINCOLNSHIRE 
SUBDIVISION CODE.1

7-1-2:  PURPOSE: 

This Code regulating the subdivision of land is hereby made a part of the 
Official Plan of Lincolnshire and contiguous area. It is to provide for the 
harmonious development of the Village and its environs; for the coordination of 
streets within new subdivisions with other existing or planned streets; to 
establish design and construction standards for the subdivision improvements; 
for the dedication and acceptance of land required for schools, parks, 
playgrounds, and other public uses; for the preparation of subdivision plans 
and the procedure for the submittal, approval, and recording of subdivision 
plats in and about the Village in accordance with the authority vested in the 
municipality under the provisions of the Illinois Municipal Code.1

1Ordinance 75-414-44 re-enacted and repassed the Lincolnshire Subdivision Code as amended.

165 ILCS 5/11-15-1 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 2 

7-1-3:  JURISDICTION: 

Wherever any subdivision of land shall hereafter be laid out within the 
incorporated limits of the Village or up to one and one-half (1-1/2) miles beyond 
the incorporated boundary of the Village, the subdivider thereof or his agent 
shall submit both a preliminary plan and a final subdivision plat to the Village. 
Said plans and plats, proposed improvements, and all procedure relating 
thereto, shall in all respects be in full compliance with the regulations hereafter 
contained in this Code.

All lands offered to the Village for use as streets, highways, alleys, parks and 
other public use, shall be referred to the Lincolnshire Plan Commission for 
review and recommendation before being accepted by the Village Board or by 
any other governing authority. (Ord. 66-142-4)

The provisions of this Code shall also apply to all planned unit developments 
whether residential, commercial, industrial or any combination thereof, and to 
any and all other developments whether a subdivision is required or not under 
the laws, statutes, ordinances or regulations of the governmental body or 
agency having jurisdiction or control, and regardless of whether the same is 
labeled a subdivision or not, it being the intent of this Code to apply to all types 
of development, both within the Village of Lincolnshire and to areas lying within 
one and one-half (1-1/2) miles of the corporate limits of the Village. (Ord. 83-
784-38)

7-1-4:  DEFINITIONS:

ACCEPTED PUBLIC STREET Any street duly accepted by the Board of Trustees of 
the Village for maintenance by said Village.

ALLEY    A right of way, with a width 
not exceeding twenty four feet (24') which affords a 
secondary means of access to abutting property.

APPROVED STREET Any street, whether public or private, meeting 
standards and specifications of the Village.

BUILDING L INE A line within a lot or other 
parcel of land, so designated on the plat of the 
proposed subdivision.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 3 

BUILDING SEWER The horizontal pipe extending from the sanitary sewer 
main to the building.

COLLECTOR STREET Those existing streets designated as such on the 
Official (Secondary Street) Plan of the Village and 
streets proposed as collector streets  in new 
subdivisions which are designed with a right of way of 
eighty feet (80'), for access of traffic from several minor 
streets to a major street.

CROSSWALKWAYS A strip of land dedicated to public use, which is 
reserved across a block to provide pedestrian access 
to adjacent areas.

CUL-DE-SAC  A street having one open end and being permanently 
terminated by a vehicle turnaround.

EASEMENT   A grant by a property owner for the use of a strip of 
land by the general public, a corporation, or a certain 
person or persons for a specific purpose or purposes.

FINAL PLAT  The drawings and documents described in Chapter 4 
of this Title.

FRONTAGE   All the property on one side of a street between two (2) 
intersecting streets (crossing or terminating) measured 
along the line of the street, or if the street is dead-
ended, then all the property abutting on one side 
between an inter-secting street and the dead-end of 
the street.

FRONTAGE ROAD A public or private marginal access roadway or paved 
parking lot containing the necessary driveways or 
trafficways which are located along the frontage 
property, with regulations for purposes of establishing 
minimum distances between points of access to the 
accepted street, and eliminating parking of motor 
vehicles on the accepted public street.

IMPROVEMENT Any improvement for which the Village or other 
municipal body may ultimately accept a dedication or 
bill of sale and assume the responsibility for 
maintenance and operation, including but not limited to 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 4 

the following; streets, sanitary sewers, water mains, 
storm sewers, street lighting, or which is constructed 
for general public use or benefit, including the 
landscaping required by Title 13, Chapter 2 (Ord. 15-
3370-97). 

INDUSTRIAL STREET Any street included in any subdivision or plot of ground 
to be used for industrial purposes as defined in the 
Zoning Code of the Village.1

1See Title 6 of this Village Code.

INTERSECTION, STREET The area embraced within the prolongation or con-
nection of the lateral curb lines, or, if none, then the 
lateral boundary lines of the roadways of two (2) 
highways which join one another at, or approximately 
at right angles, or the area within which vehicles 
traveling upon different highways joining at any other 
angle may come in conflict. Where a highway includes 
two (2) roadways thirty feet (30') or more apart, then 
every crossing of each roadway of such divided 
highway by an intersecting highway shall be regarded 
as a separate intersection. In the event such 
intersecting highway also includes two (2) roadways 
thirty feet (30') or more apart, then every crossing of 
two (2) roadways of such highways shall be regarded 
as a separate intersection.

LOT     A parcel of land in a subdivision separated from other 
parcels or portions by virtue of a plat of subdivision 
recorded with the appropriate county office and 
identifiable by reference to said plat of subdivision and 
not dependent for such identification by metes and 
bounds.

MAJOR STREET See "Primary Street".

MARGINAL ACCESS STREET A street which is parallel to and adjacent to primary 
streets and highways and which provides access to 
abutting properties and protection to local traffic from 
fast, through-moving traffic on the primary streets.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 5 

MINOR STREET A street intended primarily as access to abutting the 
properties.

NATURAL OUTLET Any outlet into a watercourse, pond, ditch, lake or other 
body of surface or ground water.

OWNER    The individuals, firms, associations, syndicates, co-
partnerships, corporations, trusts, or any other legal 
entities having sufficient proprietary interest of record in 
the land sought to be subdivided to commence and 
maintain proceedings to subdivide the same under the 
Statutes of the State of Illinois or under the codes and 
ordinances of the Village. (Ord. 79-581-28) 

PHASED DEVELOPMENT Generally a large comprehensive development wherein 
the developer has sought and obtained Village 
approval of the developer's project in two (2) or more 
separate and distinct phases or units with actual 
development of such separate phases or units taking 
place at different time intervals and where such 
separate phases or units have been designated and 
consecutively numbered on the approved development 
plans.  (Ord. 86-905-42)

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT A tract of land which is developed as a unit under 
single ownership or control, which includes two (2) or 
more principal buildings, and which is at least twenty 
(20) acres in area.

PLAT     A map, drawing, or chart on which the sub-divider's 
plans of the subdivision are presented and which he 
submits for approval and intends to record in final form.

PONDlNG    The creation of pockets or depressions which have no 
surface drainage provided and which, in the event of a 
failure on the part of inlets or storm sewers, will contain 
standing water. That portion of surface waters which 
are flowing will not be considered as ponding.

POTABLE WATER Water from a public or private water supply system 
which is approved and accepted by proper and

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 6 

qualified authority as suitable for human consumption.

PRELIMINARY PLAN The drawings and documents described in Chapter 3 
of this Title.

PRIMARY STREET (Major A street of considerable continuity which serves or is
Street)    intended to serve as a major traffic artery between the 

various sections of the Lincolnshire area, as shown on 
the General Development Plan, made a part of the 
Official Plan.

PUBLIC AGENCY Any public board created by authority of the Illinois 
Revised Statutes.

PUBLIC STREET All primary, secondary and minor streets which are 
shown on the subdivision plat and are to be dedicated 
for public use.

ROADWAY or ROAD Wherever the words "road" or "roadway" are used in 
this case, they shall be deemed the paved area 
existing on the street right of way and not the street 
right-of-way width.

SANITARY SEWER A pipe which carries sewage only, excluding storm, 
surface and ground water.

SEPTIC TANK  A watertight receptacle provided for the purpose of 
sewage disposal where no public sewage system is 
available.

SEWAGE    The water-carried wastes from residences, business 
buildings, institutions, and industrial establishments.

SEWAGE ANALYSIS A.  B.O.D. (Biochemical Oxygen Demand). The 
quantity of oxygen utilized in the biochemical oxidation 
of organic matter under standard laboratory procedure 
in five (5) days at twenty degrees Centigrade (20 C), 
expressed in parts per million by weight.

B.  pH. The logarithms of the reciprocal of the weight of 
hydrogen in grams per liter of solution.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 7 

STREET    A publicly dedicated right of way not less than fifty feet 
(50') in width or a permanently reserved easement of 
access approved by the Board of Trustees, which 
affords a primary means of access to abutting property.

SUBDIVIDER  Any individuals, firms, associations, syndicates, 
corporations, copartner-ships, trusts, or other legal 
entities commencing proceedings under this Code to 
effect a subdivision of land. (Ord. 66-142-4)

SUBDIVISION  The division of land into two (2) or more parts, for the 
purpose, whether immediate or future, of transfer of 
ownership or building development, including all public 
streets; alleys, ways for public service facilities, parks, 
playgrounds, school grounds or other public grounds 
and all the tracts, parcels or blocks, and numbering of 
all such lots, blocks or parcels by progressive numbers, 
giving their precise dimensions. The term includes 
resubdivision and, where appropriate to the context, 
shall relate to the process of subdividing or to the land 
subdivided. The following subparagraphs A through D, 
inclusive, shall not be considered a subdivision and 
shall be exempt from the requirements of this Title.

A.  The conveyance of parcels of land or interests 
therein for use as right of way for railroads or other 
public utility facilities which does not involve any new 
streets or easements of access.

B.  The conveyance of land owned by a railroad or 
other public utility which does not involve any new 
streets or easements of access.

C.  The conveyance of land for highway or other public 
purposes or grants or conveyances relating to the 
dedication of land for public use or instruments relating 
to the vacation of land impressed with a public use.

D.  Conveyances made to correct descriptions in prior 
conveyances.

All planned unit developments and any and all other 
developments granted under the provisions of the 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 8 

Lincolnshire Zoning Code shall also be considered and 
deemed to be subdivisions for all the purposes of this 
Subdivision Code and shall be under the jurisdiction of 
this Subdivision Code, except where the con-text 
clearly indicates otherwise, and all required public 
improvements provided for in this Code shall be 
required in said planned unit develop- ments except as 
may otherwise be provided for in the Village 
ordinances granting the special use for any such 
planned unit developments and any and all other 
developments.

All planned unit developments and any and all other 
developments in unincorporated Lake County shall 
also be considered and deemed to be subdivisions for 
all the purposes of this Subdivision Code and shall be 
under the jurisdiction of this Subdivision Code if any 
portion of any such planned unit development and any 
and all other developments are within one and one-half 
(1-1/2) miles of the Village's boundaries. (Ord. 91-
1191-04)

SUSPENDED SOLIDS Solids that either float on the surface of, or are in 
suspension in water, sewage, or other liquid, and which 
are removable by laboratory filtering.

WATERCOURSE A channel in which a flow of water occurs, either 
continuously or intermit-tently.

7-1-5:  ACREAGE FEES:

A. Prior to the final approval of a subdivision, the subdivider shall pay the fee as 
established in the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 
1 of this Code to the Village to provide for the eventual improvement and 
expansion of Village services because of the additional load placed on 
operations, maintenance and administration of police service, streets, parks 
maintenance, general Village service and water and sewer service. Such 
acreage/impact fees shall be deposited in and to the credit of the General 
Corporate Fund of the Village. (Ord. 80-601-08) (Amd. Ord. 96-1468-52 eff. 
12/9/96)

B. The acreage fees required by this Section shall be in addition to all other fees, 
licenses, permits or charges imposed by this or any other code or ordinance of 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 9 

the Village. (Ord. 75-396-25)

7-1-5A: CONSERVANCY AREA MONUMENTS: 

Each corner and point of tangency of the deed restricted area on each lot shall 
be identified by a registered land surveyor or registered professional engineer 
of the State of Illinois with a monument marked "CONSERVANCY AREA". 
Each monument shall be furnished by the Village at cost as established in the 
Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code. All 
markers for any subdivision or phase must be purchased prior to recording of 
the plat of subdivision.

The penalty for removing, tampering with in any way, damaging or destroying 
conservancy area monuments shall be subject to the fine set forth in the 
Comprehensive Fine Schedule of the Code described in 17-1 per monument 
plus the cost of re-establishing the conservancy area monuments. (Ord. 88-
1009-41) (Amd. Ord. 96-1468-52 eff. 12/9/96) (Amd. Ord. 10-3131-08, eff. 
3/22/10)

7-1-6:  SUBDIVISION IMPROVEMENT DEPOSIT:

A. Purpose of Deposit: The subdivision improvement deposit in an amount equal 
to one hundred twenty five percent (125%) of the estimated cost of 
improvements required under this Code1 and Title 13, Chapter 2 shall be 
placed in escrow in accordance with the terms of the escrow agreement 
contained in Appendix I (at the end of this Title) for the purpose of:

1. To pay the actual costs of construction of the subdivision improvements.

2. To pay the engineering and inspection fees of the Village relating to the 
public improvements and the subdivision.

3. To pay the cost of maintaining the subdivision improvements for a period 
of three (3) years after acceptance.

4. To pay and discharge all claims made by any third party arising out of the 
installation and construction of the public improvements; all such claims 
must be paid prior to the Village's acceptance of the public improvements; 

1See Chapter 6 of this Title. 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 10 

provided, however, that if the subdivider has insurance coverage in 
sufficient amounts to pay such claims and the subdivider files with the 
Village the insurance company's letter indicating that they acknowledge 
coverage and accept defense of the claim and that the limits of the policy 
are satisfactory to pay the claim if judgment: is entered in favor of said 
third party, the Village may, in its discretion, accept the public 
improvements and reduce the amount of the subdivision improvement 
deposit for the required three (3) year maintenance period.

5. Any other customary expenses of the developer in meeting any 
requirements of the Village pertaining to the subdivision, including but not 
limited to reasonable attorneys' fees incurred by the Village in drafting, 
administering and enforcing the subdivision improvement deposit 
agreement.

B. Alternative Action; Distribution of Funds: A subdivider may elect to deposit an 
amount equal to one hundred twenty five percent (125%) of the estimated cost 
of improvements directly with the Village. The Village, upon the certification of 
the Village Engineer that the improvements have been completed or partially 
completed, will pay to the contractor, in not more than three (3) payouts, the 
amount due under the contract. The Village will also make the distribution of 
funds from the deposit for the fees and cost of:

1. Engineering and inspection fees of the Village relating to the public 
improvements and the subdivision.

2. Maintaining the subdivision improvements for a period of three (3) years 
after acceptance.

3. To pay and discharge all claims made by any third party arising out of the 
installation and construction of the public improvements; all such claims 
must be paid prior to the Village's acceptance of the public improvements; 
provided, however, that if the subdivider has insurance coverage in 
sufficient amounts to pay such claims and the subdivider files with the 
Village the insurance company's letter indicating that they acknowledge 
coverage and accept defense of the claim and that the limits of the policy 
are satisfactory to pay the claim if Judgment is entered in favor of said 
third party, the Village may, in its discretion, accept the public 
improvements and reduce the amount of the subdivision improvement 
deposit for the required three (3) year maintenance period.

4. Any other costs or expenses in meeting the requirements of the Village, 
including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees incurred by the 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 11 

Village in drafting, administering and enforcing the subdivision 
improvement deposit agreement.  Nothing in this subsection 7-1-6B will 
relieve the subdivider of bearing the full cost for the subdivision 
improvements and expenses required by the Village. (Ord. 79-581-28)

C. Refunding Deposit: After completion and acceptance of the subdivision 
improvements, the Village will authorize the refund of any residue remaining 
except for ten percent (10%) of the original deposit or the amount stipulated in 
the escrow agreement. The retained amount shall be used for maintenance of 
the Improvements for a period of three (3) years after the date of acceptance 
and then any balance remaining will be refunded. (Ord. 66-142-4; amd. Ord. 
82-734-41)

D. Form of Deposit: The subdivision improvement deposit shall be posted by such 
owner or subdivider with the Village Clerk prior to approval of the final plat. 
Such deposit shall be in the form of an irrevocable straight commercial letter of 
credit from a bank approved by the Mayor and Board of Trustees and shall be 
in a penal sum in an amount equal to one hundred twenty five percent (125%) 
of the estimated cost of the subdivision improvements required under this 
Code or, in lieu of a letter of credit, a deposit of cash must be acceptable to the 
Mayor and Board of Trustees, including a completion bond, or its equivalent. 
The subdivision Improvement deposit shall be established for a period of not 
less than three (3) years and may be reduced from time to time by the Village 
Engineer as the subdivision improvements are accepted by the Village. Any 
such deposit in lieu of a letter of credit or cash, or other security or guarantee 
must; be acceptable to the Mayor and Board of Trustees in their sole 
discretion.  Any irrevocable letter of credit shall be substantially in the form 
contained in Appendix II (Chapter 7 of Title 7). In the event such deposit in lieu 
of a letter of credit or cash is accepted, the owner or subdivider shall reimburse 
the Village, prior to and as a condition of the Village Clerk's execution of the 
subdivision plat, for all of Village's expenses, legal and otherwise, directly or 
indirectly resulting from such deposit in lieu of a letter of credit, Including but 
not limited to, any agreements relating thereto. Such cost for the completion of 
the required subdivision improvements shall be in accordance with cost 
estimates prepared by the Village Engineer and approved by the Mayor and 
Board of Trustees. If a completion bond or other security or other guarantee is 
posted, there shall be good and sufficient surety thereon, as approved by the 
Mayor and Board of Trustees and be in such form as approved by the Village 
Attorney and conditioned upon the installation and acceptance of said 
improvements. The owner or subdivider is wholly responsible for ensuring that 
any irrevocable letter of credit or alternative funding mechanism used to secure 
or guarantee the project remains in full force.  The owner or subdivider shall 
renew said letter of credit or provide replacement funds a minimum of fifteen 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 12 

(15) days prior to the expiration of said letter of credit for the full value then in 
effect.   Should replacement funds not be received fifteen (15) days prior to the 
expiration of the instrument, the Village shall have the right, but not the 
obligation, to draw upon the letter of credit for the effective amount without 
further notice to the owner or developer. (Amd. Ord. 09-3110-33, eff. 9/14/09)

7-1-7: INSURANCE, LEGAL RESPONSIBILITY AND PUBLIC SAFETY:

A. Insurance Requirements: The subdivider or permit holder shall secure and 
maintain such insurance from an insurance company authorized to write 
casualty insurance in the State where the work is located and with a minimum 
"Best" Insurance rating of B+ as will protect himself, his subcontractors, the 
Village, its officers, employees and agents and the Engineer and his 
employees from claims for bodily injury, death or property damage which may
arise from subdividing the property.  The Village, its officers, employees and 
agents, shall be named as a primary, non-contributory additional insured.

The subdivider or permit holder shall not commence work until he has obtained 
all insurance required under this paragraph and shall have filed the certificate 
of insurance and the certified copy of the insurance policy with the Village. 
Each insurance policy shall contain a clause providing that it shall not be 
canceled by the insurance company without thirty (30) days' written notice to 
the Village of intention to cancel. Failure of the subdivider or permit holder to 
supply a valid certificate of insurance, or if a previously valid certificate of 
insurance has expired and is not replaced,  is grounds for issuance of stop 
work order until such time as a valid certificate of insurance is provided.

Failure of the Village to collect or demand a certificate of insurance shall not be 
deemed a waiver of the requirement to provide one.

The amount of such insurance shall be not less than the following:

1. Workmen's Compensation and Employer's Liability Insurance shall be 
secured and maintained as required by the State.

2. General liability Insurance including general aggregate coverage, 
products aggregate coverage, personal and advertising injury, and each 
occurrence; a minimum limit two million dollars ($2,000,000.00 ) for each 
item.

3. Automobile and truck public liability including bodily injury (per person), 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 13 

bodily injury (per accident) and property damage; a minimum combined 
single limit of two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) .

4. Excess liability umbrella coverage of two million dollars ($2,000,000.00 ) 
for each occurrence and two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) in aggregate. 
(Ord. 90-1118-02, Ord. Amd. 05-1958-22, eff. 03/14/05)(Amd. Ord. 05-
1958-22, eff. 3/14/05)

B. Fire insurance: in addition to such fire insurance as the subdivider elects to 
carry for his own protection, he shall secure and maintain in the name of the 
Village policies upon such structures and material and in such amounts as 
shall be designated. The policies shall be secured from a company which is 
satisfactory to the Village and delivered to the Village (Ord. 66-142-4)

C. Indemnity: The subdivider shall indemnify and save harmless the Village, its 
officers, employees and agents and the Engineer and his employees from and 
against all losses and all claims, demands, payments, suits, actions, recoveries 
and judgments of every nature and description brought or recovered against 
him by reason of any omission or act of the subdivider, his agents or 
employees, in the execution of the work or in the guarding of it. The subdivider 
shall obtain in the name of the Village and shall maintain and pay the 
premiums for such insurance in such amount and with such provisions as will 
protect the Village from contingent liability and a copy of such insurance policy 
or policies shall be delivered to the Village. Full compliance by the Village with 
the terms and provisions of such insurance policy or policies shall be a 
condition precedent to the Village's right to enforce against the subdivider any 
provisions of this Title. (Ord. 66-142-4; amd. Ord. 90-1118-02)

7-1-8:  VARIATIONS: 

The Plan Commission may recommend a variation of the application of the 
regulations of this Code in harmony with their general purpose and intent and 
in accordance with the rules therein contained in cases where there are 
particular difficulties or peculiar hardship in the way of carrying out the strict 
letter of any such regulations relating to the subdividing of land, and may 
recommend to the Village Board that said Village Board approve said plat of 
subdivision in spite of failure to strictly comply with the strict letter of any of the 
regulations, stating the reasons for said recommendations.  Such 
recommendations for variations shall be communicated in writing to the Village 
Board, giving full particulars for the allowance of the variation. (Ord. 66-142-4; 
amd. Ord. 87-950-36)

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 07-01: ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
Revised 06/22/15  Page 14 

7-1-9:  PENALTIES: 

All persons violating any of the provisions of this Code shall be deemed guilty 
of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to the fine set 
forth in the Comprehensive Fine Schedule of the Code described in 17-1.  
Each day such violation is continued or permitted to continue shall constitute a 
separate offense and shall be punishable as such hereunder. (Amd. Ord. 10-
3131-08, eff. 3/22/10)

7-1-10: SEPARABILITY: 

It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Mayor and Board of Trustees of 
the Village that the several provisions of this Code are separable, in 
accordance with the following:

A. If any court of competent jurisdiction shall adjudge any provision of this Code to 
be invalid, such judgment shall not affect any other provision of this Code not 
specifically included in said judgment.

B. If any court of competent jurisdiction shall invalidate the application of any 
provision of this Code to a particular property, building, or other structure, such 
judgment shall not affect the application of said provision to any other property, 
building, or structure not specifically included in said judgment. (Ord. 66-142-4)

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-2: GENERAL SUBDIVISION PROCEDURES 
Revised 07/25/2011 Page 1

CHAPTER 2

GENERAL SUBDIVISION PROCEDURES

SECTION:

7-2-1: Approval of Subdivisions
7-2-2: Subdivisions Outside Village Limits
7-2-3: Interpretations
7-2-4: Parcel Subdivisions and Lot Sizes
7-2-5: Exceptions
7-2-6: Flood Damage Prevention
7-2-7: Construction Standards

7-2-1: APPROVAL OF SUBDIVISIONS:

A. After the adoption of these regulations, no land shall be subdivided or filed for 
record nor any street laid out, nor any improvements made to the land, until 
the plan or plans of the subdivision or street improvements shall have been 
certified to and approved by action of the Village Board. This approval must 
be in writing and placed on the original tracing of the final plats according to 
the procedures outlined in Chapter 4 of this Title.

B. No lot, tract, or parcel of land within any such subdivision shall be offered for 
sale nor shall any sale, contract for sale or option be made or given until such 
subdivision plans have been properly reviewed by the Lincolnshire Zoning 
Board and officially approved by the Village Board.

C. No improvements such as water supply, storm water drainage, sewerage 
facilities, lighting, grading, paving or surfacing of streets, shall hereafter be 
made within any such subdivision by any owner or owners or his or their 
agent until the plats for the subdivision and also the plans for improvements 
thereto have been formally recommended by the Lincolnshire Zoning Board 
and approved by the Village Board.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-2: GENERAL SUBDIVISION PROCEDURES 
Revised 07/25/2011  Page 2

7-2-2:  SUBDIVISIONS OUTSIDE VILLAGE LIMITS:

A. Subdivisions of land lying outside the Village and within one and one-half (1-
1/2) miles of the Village limits shall also be required to conform with the 
requirements of this Code.

B. Where the proposed subdivision is located outside the Village boundaries, 
the subdivider shall meet all the requirements of this Code, including the 
installation of improvements.

7-2-3: INTERPRETATIONS: All interpretations of these rules and regulations are 
reserved to the administrative bodies referred to herein.

7-2-4:  PARCEL SUBDIVISIONS AND LOT SIZES:

A. Where a tract of land is proposed for subdivision that is part of a larger, 
logical subdivision unit, in relation to the Village as a whole, the Mayor and 
the Board of Trustees may cause to be prepared a plan of the entire area; 
such plan to be used by the Plan Commission and the Village Board as an 
aid in judging the proposed plat.

B. Whenever the area is divided into lots containing one to three (3) acres, 
inclusive, and there are indications that such lots will eventually be 
resubdivided into smaller building lots, consideration shall be given to the 
street and lot arrangement of the original subdivision so that additional minor 
streets can be opened which will permit a logical arrangement of smaller lots.

7-2-5: EXCEPTIONS: The Village Board, in accordance with Section 7-1-8, may 
vary and make exceptions as set forth herein in instances where there is 
sufficient evidence, in its opinion, of hardship caused by topographic 
conditions, or where any other reasonable deterrents prevail, provided the 
variations or exceptions are in substantial conformance with the standards of 
design of this Code. (Ord. 66-142-4)

7-2-6: FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION: The provisions of Title 5, Chapter 7 of the 
Village Code are hereby incorporated by reference as regulations governing 
all development under this Code, and such provisions shall apply to the full 
extent as if set forth at length herein. (Ord. 80-640-47)

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-2: GENERAL SUBDIVISION PROCEDURES 
Revised 07/25/2011  Page 3

7-2-7: CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS: The developer shall maintain all 
construction sites in approved subdivisions in a neat, clean and orderly 
manner at all times. In addition, the developer shall keep all public streets in 
the area of construction free and clear of all dirt, mud and debris resulting 
from any of his construction activities. (Ord. 82-725-32)

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-3: PRELIMINARY PLATS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 1

CHAPTER 3

PRELIMINARY PLATS

SECTION:

7-3-1:  Filing Requirements
7-3-2:  Plat Requirements
7-3-3:  Preliminary Improvement Plans
7-3-4:  Procedure for Approval

7-3-1: FILING REQUIREMENTS: Any person owning land within the limits of the 
Village or within one and one-half (1-1/2) miles of such wishing to:

A. Divide the land into lots for the purpose of sale; or

B Dedicate a part or parts thereof for streets, alleys, or other public use; or

C. Re-divide land previously subdivided; or

D. Change the boundaries of any lot or parcel thereof; shall file ten (10) copies 
of his preliminary plat of proposed subdivision with the Village Clerk for 
transmittal to the Village Plan Commission. In those instances where the 
preliminary plat specified residential development, thereby requiring a park 
donation, the developer shall also file an additional copy with the Village 
Clerk to be transmitted directly to the Park Board for its review and 
recommendations. (Ord. 66-142-4; amd. Ord. 82-732-39)

7-3-2: PLAT REQUIREMENTS: The preliminary pat shall be drawn to scale of not 
less than one hundred feet to the inch (1" = 100') and shall contain the 
following:

A. The proposed name of the subdivision.

B. Its location as forming a part of some larger tract or parcel of land referred to 
in the indexes of the records of the County Clerk.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-3: PRELIMINARY PLATS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 2

C. Sufficient information to accurately locate the plat.  Reference to existing 
streets, plats, etc. may be used. If there are none within a reasonable 
distance of the proposed subdivision, a vicinity plat on a small scale should 
accompany the preliminary plat.) (Ord. 66-142-4)

D. The description and location of all existing survey monuments erected in the 
subdivision shall be shown. (Ord. 72-260-4)

E. A certificate showing ownership of the property described in preliminary plat.

F. The boundary lines of the tract to be subdivided accurate in scale and 
bearing and the total approximate area encompassed thereby.

G. The location, widths and other dimensions of all existing platted streets and 
other important features, such as railroad lines, watercourses, existing 
easements, exceptional topography, etc., contiguous to the tract to be 
subdivided.

H. The location, widths and other dimensions of proposed streets, alleys, 
easements, parks and other open spaces, building lines and lots.

I. All parcels of land intended to be dedicated or reserved for public use.

J. North point and scale and date of preparation.

K. Layout, numbers and dimensions of lots.

L. Building setback lines, showing dimensions.

M. Easements for any and all public utilities. Proper continuity for the utilities 
from block to block shall be maintained.

N. Name of the subdivider.

O. Contours at an interval of two feet (2') and high water levels on all courses.

7-3-3: PRELIMINARY IMPROVEMENT PLANS:

A. At the time of submission of a preliminary plat, plans of public improvements 
shall also be submitted. These preliminary plans shall be submitted in 
triplicate and shall include at least the following items: (Ord. 66-142-4)

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-3: PRELIMINARY PLATS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 3

1. Preliminary layout of grading and drainage showing the approximate 
method of lot drainage and street drainage throughout the subdivision.  
Preliminary detention and drainage calculations, including inverts, must 
be included. (Ord. 88-1032-64)

2. Preliminary layout of sanitary sewerage facilities showing approximate 
sizes and lengths of sanitary sewers, location of treatment facilities, 
depths and gradients of sewers, and other pertinent information 
concerning the sanitary sewer system.

3. Preliminary layout of water mains, showing sizes and locations of mains, 
valves, fire hydrants and other appurtenances.

4. Preliminary layout of storm sewers, showing locations, sizes, gradients, 
and depths of all storm sewers.

5. Preliminary layout of streets, showing cross section and grades and 
gradients of all streets proposed within the subdivision.

6. A statement concerning the materials to be used in the construction of the 
above.

B. Upon receipt of the preliminary plans, the Plan Commission shall refer same 
to the Village Engineer for his review and comments. The Village Engineer 
shall review these plans for general compliance with the overall requirements 
of the Village and shall return them, together with his recommendation, to the 
Plan Commission within forty five (45) days from the time they were filed with 
the Plan Commission. One set of the reviewed plans shall be returned to the 
subdivider together with his preliminary plat. (Ord. 66-142-4)

C. Preferably, all preliminary plans shall be submitted on twenty four inch by 
thirty six inch (24" x 36") size drawings and shall bear the signature and seal 
of the Illinois registered professional engineer under whose direction they 
were prepared. (Ord. 88-1032-64)

D. The fee for filing the preliminary plat is as established in the Comprehensive 
Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code. (Ord. Amd. 96-
1468-52 eff. 12/9/96)

E. The Village Clerk shall notify the Village Board of the filing of each 
preliminary plat and its transmittal to the Plan Commission.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-3: PRELIMINARY PLATS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 4

7-3-4:  PROCEDURE FOR APPROVAL:

A. The Plan Commission shall determine whether the preliminary plat shall be 
approved, approved with modifications, or disapproved, and shall give notice 
to the subdivider of its determination. If approved, the Commission shall so 
note on the face of the plat, and shall thereupon forward said plat to the 
Village Board, notifying the subdivider of the action.  If approved with 
modifications, or if disapproved, the Commission shall attach to the original 
plat a statement of the reasons for such action and shall return the original of 
said plat to the subdivider, retaining one copy thereof for its records.

B. The approval of a preliminary plat by the Plan Commission is strictly 
tentative, involving merely the general acceptability of the layout submitted. 
This approval shall be effective for a maximum period of twelve (12) months, 
unless upon application of the developer the Village Board grants an 
extension. If the final plat has not been recorded within this time limit, the 
preliminary plat must again be submitted for approval.

C. The Village Board shall, upon receipt of the report from the Plan Commission 
and four (4) copies of the preliminary plat, upon motion and majority vote, 
approve or disapprove the preliminary plat, and, if approved, give permission 
to prepare detailed plans and specifications of the subdivision and public 
improvements in accordance with the preliminary plat, and within the 
requirements of this Code.

D. The approval of a preliminary plat by the Village Board is tentative only, 
involving merely the general acceptability of the layout as submitted and must
have designated thereon the words "This is a Preliminary Plat, of No Legal 
Effect, and Not to be Recorded".

E. The Plan Commission may recommend, or the Village Board may require 
during consideration of a preliminary plat, such changes or revisions as are 
deemed necessary in the interest and needs of the community.

F. No plat will be approved for the subdivision of land which is subject to 
periodic flooding or which contains extremely poor drainage facilities and 
which would make adequate drainage of the streets impossible. However, if 
the subdivider agrees to make improvements which will, in the opinion of the 
Village Engineer or upon the recommendation of the Department of Public 
Works and Buildings of the State of Illinois, make the area completely safe 
for residential occupancy and provide adequate street drainage, the 
preliminary plat of the subdivision may be approved.

G. One print of the approved preliminary plat, signed by the Mayor and the 
Village Clerk, shall be retained in the Village Clerk's office and two (2) copies 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-3: PRELIMINARY PLATS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 5

in the office of the Village Engineer, and one copy in the files of the Plan 
Commission. One signed copy is authorization for the subdivider to proceed 
with the preparation of plans and specifications for the minimum 
improvements required in these rules and regulations and with the 
preparation of the final plat.

H. The preliminary plat and documents in support thereof shall be filed at least 
ten (10) days before a regular Plan Commission meeting. The Plan 
Commission shall, not less than fifteen (15) days from the date of the second 
regular meeting following the submission of the pat, forward its 
recommendations for approval or disapproval to the Village Board.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 1

CHAPTER 4

FINAL PLATS

SECTION:

7-4-1:  Plat Requirements
7-4-2:  Required Documents
7-4-3:  Approval of Final Plat
7-4-4:  Required Certificates and Other Documents
7-4-5:  Building Permits

7-4-1: PLAT REQUIREMENTS: The final plat shall contain the following:

A. Name of subdivision.

B. Location by township, section and range, or by other legal description.

C. Scale one inch to one hundred feet (1" = 100') or larger (shown graphically).

D. Date and north point.

E. Boundary of plat, based on an accurate traverse, with angles and lineal 
dimensions.

F. Exact location, width and name of all streets within and adjoining the plat. 
Streets that are obviously in alignment with others already existing and 
named shall bear the names of the existing streets.

G. True angles and distances to the nearest established street lines or official 
monuments (not less than three), which shall be accurately described in the 
plat.

H. Municipal, township, county or section lines accurately tied to the lines of the 
subdivision by distances and angles.

I. Radii, internal angles, points and curvatures, tangent bearings and lengths of 
all arcs.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 2

J. All easements for right of way provided for public service and utilities. 
Easements approved by applicable public utility.

K. All lot numbers and lines, with accurate dimensions in feet and hundredths.

L. Permanent monument or bench marks shall be placed at all corners and at 
points of tangency of curve lines along the boundary of the subdivision.

M. Accurate outlines and legal descriptions of any areas to be dedicated or 
reserved for public use, with the purposes indicated thereon, and of any area 
to be reserved by deed covenant for common uses of all property owners.

N. Building setback lines accurately shown by dimension.

O. An endorsement on the final plat by the County Clerk, that he finds no 
delinquent general taxes, unpaid current general taxes, delinquent special 
assessments or unpaid current special assessments against the land shown
thereon.

P. A summary on its face of all restrictions applicable to any part of said 
subdivision relating to building restrictions, use restrictions, building lines or 
otherwise.

Q. A deed of dedication in the form set out in subsection 7-4-4B.

R. A blank certificate of approval as set out in Section 7-4-3.

S. Such final plat may be for a unit of a proposed subdivision provided that:

1. A preliminary plat had previously been approved as to the whole 
subdivision;

2. Such unit shall contain no less than ten (10) lots if a residential 
subdivision;

3. Approval by the Village Engineer as to the feasibility of such unit 
construction;

4. The public improvements for at least one unit shall be submitted and 
completed within each calendar year from the date of approval of the final 
plat for the unit;

5. The plat of each unit shall be submitted to the Plan Commission for its 
approval;

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 3

6.  Failure to comply with the terms of this subsection will require 
resubmission of the requirements of Chapter 3 of this Title.

7-4-2: REQUIRED DOCUMENTS: Accompanying documents shall consist of:

A. Approval of subdivider's preparations for improvements required by Chapter 
6 of this Title.

B. Approval by the Plan Commission of names of the proposed streets and of 
the proposed system of addresses along such streets.

C. Plans and specifications for the improvements which shall include at least the 
following:

1. A title sheet showing the name of the project, section, township, and 
range, an index of sheets, a tabulation of symbols, location of 
benchmarks, and a graphic location with respect to nearest traveled 
streets and roads. (Ord. 66-142-4)

2. A detailed grading plan indicating the vertical elevations of all houses, lot 
corners, and points of change in gradient. Directions of flow of surface 
waters will be delineated with arrows and the gradient of the land 
indicated above with arrows. Curb elevations will be indicated opposite 
each lot corner and at all changes in gradient. (Ord. 72-260-4)

3. A detailed plan of street improvements showing horizontal and vertical 
locations of all street improvements and including horizontal and vertical 
locations of all points of curvature, points of intersection, points of 
tangency, points of vertical curvature, points of vertical intersection, and 
points of vertical tangency. Radii of intersection of streets will be shown 
on this plan.

4. A detailed plan of storm improvements showing horizontal and vertical 
location of all manholes, catch basins, inlets, headwalls, and the like and 
indicating lengths, types, and grades and gradients of all storm sewers. 
Manholes, catch basins and inlets will be dimensioned from lot corners.

5. A detailed plan of sanitary sewer improvements showing horizontal and 
vertical locations of all manholes, and indicating lengths, types and 
grades and gradients of all sanitary sewers. Manholes will be 
dimensioned from lot corners. (Ord. 66-142-4)

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 4

6. A detailed plan of water system improvements indicating horizontal and 
vertical location of all fire hydrants and valve vaults and showing lengths, 
sizes, and locations of all water mains. Fire hydrants and valve vaults will 
be dimensioned from lot corners. (Ord. 72-260-4)

7.  Plans and profiles drawn to a scale not to exceed one inch equals one 
hundred feet (1" = 100') horizontally and one inch to ten feet (1" 10') 
vertically indicating additional horizontal and vertical location of streets, 
sewers, appurtenances and the existing grade.

8.  Such additional details are necessary to clarify the extent or manner of 
construction.

9.  Detailed material and construction specifications concerning the work to 
be performed including general conditions of the contract acceptable to 
the Village.

10. A detailed cost estimate of the work to be performed.  (Ord. 66-142-4)

11. A detailed erosion control plan showing clearing, stockpiling, construction 
sequences, configuration of erosion controls and areas to be landscaped 
or lawns established.  Proposed schedules for restoration must be 
submitted with the plan.  The plan shall be prepared in accordance with 
the "Procedures and Standards for Urban Soil Erosion and Sedimentation 
Control in Illinois", latest edition.

12.Existing and proposed cross sections at intervals not more than one 
hundred feet (100') of proposed roadways where roadway grading and 
alignments will impact on undisturbed ground must be provided.

Upon receipt of these final plans, the Village Board shall refer same to the 
Village Engineer for his comments and corrections.  The Village Engineer 
shall review these plans for compliance with the requirements of the 
Village and shall return them together with his recommendations, to the 
Village Board. One set of the reviewed plans with suggested changes 
shall be returned to the subdivider at time of final approval. The Village 
Engineer may, at his discretion, confer with the engineer for the developer 
concerning correction to the final plans prior to his final approval. All final 
plans shall be submitted on twenty four inch by thirty six inch (24" x 36") 
size drawings and shall bear the signature and seal of the Illinois 
registered professional engineer under whose directions they were 
prepared.  No substantial deviations from these plans and specifications 
will be allowed without the written permission of the Village Board. Field 
changes will be allowed by the Village Engineer. The Village Engineer 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 5

shall be empowered to require such field and laboratory tests as may be 
necessary to insure the quality of the work. The costs of such tests shall 
be borne by the subdivider. (Ord. 88-1032-64)

D. Certification by a registered surveyor to the effect that the plat represents a 
survey made by him and that monuments and markers shown thereon exist 
as located and that all dimensional and geodetic details are correct in the 
form set out in subsection 7-4-4A.

E. Notarized certification by owner or owners, and by mortgages or lien-holder 
of record, acknowledging the plat and the dedication of streets and other 
public areas.

F. Approved by signatures of Village, County and State officials concerned with 
the specifications of utility installation.

G. An agreement executed by the owner and subdivider to make and install the 
improvements provided for in Chapter 6 in accordance with the plans and 
specifications accompanying the final pat.

H. Posting of deposit with the Village as required under Section 7-1-6.

I. Payment to the Village of all review fees and acreage fees.1

J. One tracing and one copy of the final plat of the subdivision as executed by 
the Plan Commission, drawn in ink on tracing cloth. Following execution by 
the Mayor and the Village Clerk, the subdivider shall provide fifteen (15) 
copies of such final pat bearing the required signatures.

7-4-3: APPROVAL OF FINAL PLAT: 

Within a reasonable time, the Village Board shall, upon motion and majority 
vote, approve the final plat and authorize the Mayor and Village Clerk to sign 
the original tracing. The certificates on the final plat shall be in the following 
form with the signatures of the chairman of the Board of Supervisors, Lake 
County, and the County Clerk to be necessary only where the plat covers land 
in the unincorporated area or where the dedication of land for County or State 
highways is involved.

1See Section 7-1-5 of this Title.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 6

See next page

Under the authority provided by the Illinois Revised Statutes, enacted by the State 
Legislature and on motion adopted by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village, this 
plat was given approval by the Village of Llncolnshlre and MUST BE RECORDED WITHIN 
SIX (6) MONTHS OF THE DATE OF APPROVAL BY THE MAYOR AND BOARD OF 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 7

TRUSTEES OTHERWISE IT IS NULL AND VOID.

Approved by the Lincolnshire Plan Commission at a meeting held
_____________________________

  
Chairman                                                        

Secretary                                                    

Approved by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village of   Lincolnshire at a meeting 
held ________________________________ 

  
Mayor                           

Village Clerk

Approved by the County Board of Supervisors of Lake County, Illinois at a meeting held 
____________________________________

Chairman                        

County Clerk                    
(Ord. 66-142-4)

7-4-4:  REQUIRED CERTIFICATES AND OTHER DOCUMENTS:

A. Each final plat submitted to the Village for approval shall carry the following 
certificates:

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATES:

1. STATE OF ILLINOIS)

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 8

SS
COUNTY OF LAKE)

This is to certify that I, ___________________________, a Registered Illinois Land 
Surveyor, No. ________________, have surveyed and subdivided the property as 
described and as shown by the annexed plat, which is a correct representation of 
said survey and subdivision. All distances are shown in feet and decimals thereof.

I hereby designate the Village of Lincolnshire to record this document with the 
County of Lake, Recorder of Deeds.

Given under my hand and seal at ______________________________ ILLINOIS, 
this _________ day of ________________ A.D., 20_____

(SEAL)   ____________________________________
Registered Illinois Land Surveyor

(Ord. 66-142-4, amd. Ord. 92-1253-31 eff. 6/8/92, amd Ord. 97-1485-09 eff. 
4/14/97)

2. STATE OF ILLINOIS)
SS

COUNTY OF LAKE   )

I, __________________________________, an Illinois Registered Land Surveyor 
No. _____________, hereby certify that the land Included on this plat Is within the 
corporate limits of the Village of Lincolnshire, which has adopted a Village plan and 
Is exercising the special powers authorized by Division 12 of Article 11 of the 
Municipal Code of the Illinois State Statutes. I further certify that a part of the 
property covered by this subdivision is - is not situated within 500 feet of any surface 
drain or watercourse serving a tributary area of 640 acres or more.

  
____________________________________

Illinois Land Surveyor, 
No._______

Lincolnshire, Illinois ______________________,20___________

3. ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATE:
Approved this ___________ day of _______________, A.D. 20_____ by the Village 
Engineer of the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois.

   

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 9

  Village Engineer                  
(Ord. 66-142-4)

4. COUNTY CLERK'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS)
SS

COUNTY OF LAKE   )

I, ___________________________, County Clerk of Lake County, Illinois do hereby 
certify that there are no delinquent general taxes, unpaid current general taxes, 
delinquent special assessments or unpaid current special assessments against any 
of the land included in the described property.  I further certify that I have received 
all statutory fees in connection with the plat.
Given under my hand and seal of the County Clerk of Lake County, Illinois.
This _______ day of __________, AD. 20____.

Lake County Clerk   

(Ord. 89-1076-43, Amend Ord. 08-3033-16, eff. 4/28/08)(Amd. Ord. 11-3212-34, eff. 
9/12/11)

5. MUNICIPAL CERTIFICATE AS TO SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS:

STATE OF ILLINOIS)
SS

COUNTY OF LAKE   )

Collector for the Village of Lincolnshire, do hereby certify that there are no delinquent 
or unpaid current or forfeited special assessments or any deferred installments 
thereof that have not been apportioned against the tract of land included in the 
annexed plat.

Dated at,________________________ Illinois, this ______ day of 
____________AD., 20_____

Collector

6. This is to certify that I__________________________________as owner of the 
property described as the __________________________________Subdivision and 
legally described on the plat of the same name, have determined tot he best of my 
knowledge the school district in which each of the following lots lies.

LOT NUMBERS(S) SCHOOL DISTRICTS

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 10

Elementary High School

______________________________
Owner

State of Illinois)
SS

County of Lake)

I, _________________________________, a Notary Public, do hereby certify 
that______________________________, owner of the property commonly known 
as___________________________Subdivision, appeared before me this day in 
person and acknowledged the execution of this statement as his free and voluntary 
act.

Given under my hand and notarial seal this_____________day 
of__________________, 20__.

_________________________________
Notary Public

(Ord. 98-1540-02, eff. 02/09/98)

7. SURVEYOR=S CERTIFICATE

I further certify that the attached plat is a true and correct representation of said 
survey and subdivision.  All distances shown in feet and decimals parts thereof, that 
the property hereon shown and described is within the corporate limits of the Village 
of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, and that said property is designated as AZone - 
C@ defined as areas of minimal flooding as shown in the flood insurance rate map 
Community Panel  No. _____________, dated _______________ as published by 
the Federal Emergency Management Agency. (Ord. 98-1603-65, eff. 10/12/98)

B. Deed Requirements: Each final plat submitted to the Village for approval 
shall carry a deed of dedication in substantially the following form:

We the undersigned (Name), do hereby certify that we are the owners of the real 
estate shown and described herein and do hereby lay off, plat and subdivide said real 
estate in accordance with the within plat. This subdivision shall be known and 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 11

designated as (Name), an addition to the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, 
Illinois. All streets and alleys and public open spaces shown and not heretofore 
dedicated are hereby dedicated to the public. Front yard building setback lines are 
hereby established as shown on this plat, between which lines and the property lines 
of the streets there shall be erected or maintained no building or structure. There are 
strips of ground (Number) feet in width, as shown on this plat and marked 
"Easement" reserved for the use of utilities for the installation of water and sewer 
mains, surface and subsurface drainage, poles, ducts, lines and wires, subject at all 
times to the proper authorities and to the easement herein reserved. No permanent 
or other structures are to be erected or maintained upon said strips of land but 
owners of lots in this subdivision shall take their titles subject to the rights of the 
public utilities, and to the rights of the owners of other lots in this subdivision.

(Additional dedications and restrictions would be inserted here upon the subdivider's 
initiative or the recommendation of the Plan Commission or Village Board important 
provisions are those specifying the use to be made of the property and public 
grounds, minimum elevation and other restrictions imposed by the Village.)

WITNESS our Hands and Seals this _______ day of______________,20 ___

  

STATE OF ILLINOIS)
SS

COUNTY OF LAKE   )

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for the County and State, personally 
appeared (Name), (Name) and each separately and severally acknowledged the 
execution of the foregoing instrument as his or her voluntary act and deed for the 
purposes therein expressed.

WITNESS my hand and Notarial Seal this ___ day of _______ 20___

Notary Public

C. Such other certificates, affidavits, endorsements, or dedications, as may be 
required by the Lincolnshire Plan Commission or the Village Board in these 
enforcement regulations.

AGREEMENT AND NOTICE RE: CASH CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE VILLAGE OF 
LINCOLNSHIRE, ILLINOIS

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-4: FINAL PLATS 
Revised 09/12/2011  Page 12

As a condition of approval of this Plat of Subdivision, the undersigned owner agrees 
with the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, and all parties who shall hereafter acquire 
from the subdivider any land described in this Plat shall be held to agree with the 
Village of Lincolnshire, to comply with the terms and provisions contained in Chapter 
7 of the Subdivision Title of the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois Village Code relating to 
the payment of a cash contribution for school, park and library purposes.

Notice is hereby given to all persons, including corporations, who acquire any land 
from the subdivider hereof, that unless the aforesaid cash contribution has been 
previously paid to the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, in connection with this 
subdivision no permits will be issued by the Village for any development or 
construction on the subject property.

In witness whereof, the undersigned owner has here unto signed and sealed this 
instrument this ________ day of ___________________, 20_______

________________________________
OWNER

(Amend. Ord. 94-1366-50)

7-4-5: BUILDING PERMITS: 

No building permit shall be issued providing for the improvement of any lot in 
said subdivision until there has been filed with the Building Official a certified 
copy of said plat of subdivision as recorded or registered in the office of the 
Recorder of Deeds or Registrar of Titles; as the case may be. Nor shall a 
building permit be issued for the improvement of any lot until the plans and 
specifications for the public improvements have been approved by the Mayor 
and Board of Trustees and until cash, bond or security approved by the Village 
Board as provided by this Code are posted with the Village.

One building permit may be issued by the Building Official for a proposed lot 
shown on the preliminary plat of subdivision, but the building may not be sold 
(unless sold with the entire parcel), occupied, or used until the final plat is 
approved and recorded. (Ord. 66-142-4)

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-5: DESIGN STANDARDS 
Revised 07/25/2011 Page 1

CHAPTER 5 

DESIGN STANDARDS 

SECTION:

7-5-1: General Development Plan Conformance 
7-5-2: Street Widths and Design Standards 
7-5-3: Easements
7-5-4: Residential Block Standards 
7-5-5: Residential Lot Standards 
7-5-6: Park, School and Library Donations (Rep. By Ord. 94-1366-50) 
7-5-6-1: Criteria for Requiring School Site Dedication 
7-5-6-2: Criteria for Requiring Park and Recreation Land Dedication 
7-5-6-3: Criteria for Requiring Contribution in Lieu of

  Park and School Sites 
7-5-6-4: Criteria for Requiring Library Contributions 
7-5-6-5: Density Formula (Rep. by Ord. 88-1028-60) 
7-5-6-6: Land Conditions and Use 
7-5 6-7: Agreement and Notice of Ordinance to be Placed

  on all Plats 
7-5-6-8: Requirements for Application and Compliance 
7-5-6-9: Indemnification and Covenant Not to Sue 
7-5-7: Adoption of Open Space Landscaping Standards 
7-5-7-1: Landscaping Standards for Open Space 

7-5-1: GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN CONFORMANCE:

The subdivision of land, including the arrangement, character, extent, width, 
grade, and location of all streets, alleys, or other land to be dedicated for public 
use shall conform to the General Development Plan of the Village as and 
adopted by the Village Board, and shall be to topographic conditions, to public 
convenience and safety, and in their appropriate relation to the proposed uses 

Document 2



 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-5: DESIGN STANDARDS 
Revised 07/25/2011  Page 2

of the land to be served by such streets, and shall be curvilineal except primary 
streets. 

 
 
7-5-2: STREET WIDTHS AND DESIGN STANDARDS:

The minimum widths of right of ways for streets to be dedicated or established 
after the effective date of this Code within the Village or the environs under 
jurisdiction of this Code shall conform to the following standards: 

 
Primary Streets and Major Streets    100' 
(located in accordance with Master Street Plan) 

 
Secondary or Collector Street or Industrial Street   80' 

Minor Street      60' 

Cul-de-sac                                                         50' radius 
 

Cross-walkways      10' 
(Ord. 66-142-4) 

 
Utility Easements      15' 
(Ord. 72-260-4) 

 
A. The minimum widths of rights of way for minor streets in single-family 

developments shall be sixty feet (60'). 
 
B. When minor streets adjoin unsubdivided property, a street not less, however, 

than fifty feet (50') in width may be dedicated and whenever a later subdivision 
of property adjoins said street the remainder of the street shall be dedicated at 
the time of platting. 

 
C. Minor streets shall be so laid out that their use by through traffic will be 

discouraged. Where a marginal or access street is used as a minor street in a 
residential subdivision with the lot having frontage on both the minor street and 
a primary, major, secondary, or collector street, the installation of driveways 
along the property line of the lot which forms the line of a primary, major, 
secondary or collector street shall be prohibited. 

 
D. Street jogs with center line offsets of less than one hundred twenty five feet 

(125') shall be avoided. 
 

Document 2



 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-5: DESIGN STANDARDS 
Revised 07/25/2011  Page 3

Clear visibility, measured along the center line of the street shall be provided 
for at least three hundred feet (300') on all primary streets, two hundred feet 
(200') on secondary streets, and at least one hundred feet (100') on all other 
streets. 

 
E. It must be evidenced that all street intersections and confluences encourage 

safe traffic flow.  
 
F.     Alleys: 
 

1. Alleys may be required in commercial and industrial districts. The Zoning 
Board shall refer any variations to the Board of Trustees for waiving this 
requirement if provisions are made for service access such as off-street 
loading and parking, consistent with and adequate for the uses proposed. 

 
2. Alleys shall be prohibited in residential areas. 

 
3. The width of an alley shall not exceed twenty four feet (24'). 

 
G. The maximum length cul-de-sac shall be eight hundred feet (800') for 

subdivisions measured along the center line from the intersection at origin, 
through center of circle, to end of right of way. Each cul-de-sac shall have a 
terminus of nearly circular shape with a minimum diameter of one hundred feet 
(100'). 

 
H. Half-streets shall be prohibited, except where essential to the reasonable 

development of the subdivision in conformity with the other requirements of 
these regulations; and where the Mayor and Board of Trustees finds it will be 
practicable to require the dedication of the other half when the adjoining 
property is subdivided. Wherever a half-street is adjacent to a tract: to be 
subdivided, the other half of the street shall be placed within such tract. No 
strip or area shall be reserved along any portion of a street, half-street, or 
alley, which will prevent adjacent property owners access thereto, except by 
consent of the Village Board. 

 
I. No street names may be used which will duplicate or be confused with the 

names of existing streets in the Deerfield Postal District. Existing street names 
must be projected wherever possible. Street names in residential areas shall, 
following the established pattern, carry out the English theme. 

 
Where a subdivision borders on or contains an existing or proposed major 
street, the Mayor and Board of Trustees may require a marginal access street 
or reversed frontage with screen planting contained in a nonaccess 

Document 2



 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-5: DESIGN STANDARDS 
Revised 07/25/2011  Page 4

reservation, which shall have a minimum width of ten feet (10') along the rear 
property line; or other treatment as may be adequate for protection of 
residential properties and to afford separation of through and local traffic. 

 
K. If the tract of land proposed to be subdivided or any part thereof lies adjacent 

to a highway over which the Division of Highways of the State of Illinois has 
jurisdiction with respect to maintenance and upkeep thereof, and as entrance 
or entrances are desired from such highway to lots, streets, roadways, or 
alleys in such proposed subdivision, the subdivider shall submit to the Village 
Engineer a written permit from the said Division of Highways granting his 
permission to obtain and construct such an entrance or entrances. (Ord. 66-
142-4) 

 
 
7-5-3: EASEMENTS:

Easements across lots or centered on rear or side lot lines shall be provided 
for utilities and street lighting and drainage, where necessary, and shall be at 
least fifteen feet (15') wide. The easement shall be so laid out that a proper 
continuity may be had from lot to lot and from block to block in addition, due 
provisions for extension of easements to adjacent areas shall be made. 
Written approval of the utility easement layout by the public utility companies 
shall be required on the final pat. Where a subdivision is traversed by a 
watercourse, drainage way, channel or stream, there shall be provided a storm 
water easement or drainage right of way conforming substantially with the lines 
of such watercourse, and such further width or construction, or both, as will be 
adequate for the purpose and approved by the Village Engineer. (Ord. 66-142-
4; amd. Ord. 72-260-4) 
 

 
7-5-4:  RESIDENTIAL BLOCK STANDARDS:

A. The maximum lengths of blocks that may be permitted is eighteen hundred 
feet (1,800'). Blocks over eight hundred feet (800') may require crosswalk 
easements. Crosswalk easements not less than ten feet (10') in width shall be 
provided where deemed necessary by the Zoning Board at she approximate 
centers of the blocks. The use of additional cross walkways in any instance to 
provide safe and convenient access to schools, parks, or other similar 
destinations may be recommended by the Zoning Board. 

 
B. No specific rule concerning the shape of blocks is made, but blocks must fit 

easily into the overall plan of the Village and their design must evidence 
consideration of lot planning, traffic flow, and public areas. 

Document 2



 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-5: DESIGN STANDARDS 
Revised 07/25/2011  Page 5

7-5-5: RESIDENTIAL LOT STANDARDS:

A. All side lot lines shall be at right angles to the straight street lines, or radial to 
curved street lines unless other angles will give a better street and lot plan. 
Lots with double frontage shall be avoided. All residential lots shall abut on a 
street. 

 
B. Where corner lots back upon lots facing the side street, the corner lots shall 

have a front and side building line of thirty feet (30') on street sides of the lot. 
Extra widths should be provided on all corner lots irrespective of whether they 
rear upon lots facing the side streets. (Ord. 66-142-4) 

 

7-5-6: (Amend. Ord. 94-1366-50) 
 

7-5-7: ADOPTION OF OPEN SPACE LANDSCAPING STANDARDS:

It is hereby adopted by reference that a certain document known as the 
"Landscaping Standards for Open Space", containing the standards, 
specifications and procedures for the landscaping of open space, as set out in 
Exhibit A, attached to and made a part of Ordinance 88-1031-63, and as may 
be amended from time to time, are hereby incorporated by reference, three (3) 
copies of said document being kept on file in the Department of Community 
Development for public inspection. 

 

7-5-7-1: LANDSCAPING STANDARDS FOR OPEN SPACE:

All open space conveyed to the Village or open space guaranteed by a 
restrictive covenant running with the land established for the purpose of 
benefiting the owners, residents and adjacent property owners shall be 
improved in accordance with the Village's open space  landscaping standards. 
(Ord. 88-1031-63) 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 1 

CHAPTER 6 

REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 

SECTION:

7-6-1: Regulations for Public Improvements
7-6-2: Monuments
7-6-3: Street Construction 
7-6-4: Underground Improvements
7-6-4-1: General
7-6-4-2: Sanitary Sewers
7-6-4-3: Water Mains 
7-6-4-4: Storm Sewers
7-6-4-5: Street Lights 
7-6-5: Public Utilities 
7-6-6: Procedure for Approval and Acceptance of Improvements

7-6-1: REGULATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS:
 
A. All public improvements shall be constructed in accordance with the 

requirements of this Section, including special assessments, Municipal 
projects or subdivisions. 

 
All design of the improvements shall be in accordance with the following: 

 
1. Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction of the State 

of Illinois, Division of Highways, current edition. 
 

2. Rules and Regulations of the State of Illinois Environmental Protection 
Agency. 

 
3. Rules and Regulations of the State Department of Public Health, 

Circular No. 829. (Ord. 72-260-4) 
 

4. Procedures and Standards for Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control 
in Illinois, current edition. (Ord. 88-1032-64) 

 
B. The Village Engineer shall, from time to time, review the specifications for 

improvements required by this Section and prepare any additions or 
modifications of such specifications and submit such additional or modified 
specifications to the Mayor and the Board of Trustees for adoption. 

 
All specifications adopted by the Village for the improvements required by 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 2 

this Section are incorporated in the applicable subsections by reference, 
and all improvements shall comply with the specifications adopted by the 
Village. 

 
C. In case of re-subdivision or areas to be subdivided where any of such 

improvements are already installed which meet the requirements of this 
Section, no further provision to duplicate such installation shall be required; 
provided, however, that where such installations have become worn out, 
broken, defective, or do not meet Village standards, the subdivider shall be 
required to repair and correct such defects. 

 
D. If property for which an application to subdivide has been presented abuts 

on or contains an existing public street which has width or pavement less 
than required by Section 7-5-2, the subdivider shall be required to dedicate 
additional land, sufficient to provide additional pavement to bring roadway 
widths up to the minimum standards contained in Section 7-5-2 before the 
approval of the property for subdivision or resubdivision. 

 
The Village Engineer shall determine that proper adjustment is made where 
the widenings merge with the existing narrow widths of pavement at the 
boundary of the property and to require that the lanes are painted to 
designate driving and parking lanes. The widening of the paving shall not be 
required where there is less than seven hundred feet (700') of frontage. 
(Ord. 66-142-4) 

 
 
7-6-2: MONUMENTS:

A minimum of three (3) permanent monuments shall be placed at corners of 
the subdivision. Permanent monuments shall be of concrete with minimum 
dimensions of four inches by four inches (4" x 4") at top, six inches by six 
inches (6" x 6") at bottom, and thirty six inches (36") long, with a copper 
dowel three-eighths inch (3/8') in diameter, at least two and one-half inches 
(2-1/2") imbedded so that the top of the dowel shall be flush with the 
surface and at the center of the monument. 

 
All lot corners not marked by concrete monuments shall be marked by 
galvanized or wrought iron pipe or iron or steel bars at least eighteen inches 
(18") iIn length and not less than one-half inch (1/2") in diameter. The top of 
the pipe or bar is to be set level with the established grade of the ground. 
(Ord. 72-260-4). 

 

7-6-3: STREET CONSTRUCTION: 
 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 3 

A. All new streets within the corporate limits of the Village dedicated or platted 
after the effective date of this Code shall be improved with roadway paving 
and bordered by Portland Cement Concrete curbs, in accordance with the 
following dimensions: 

 
1.  Pavement Width: 

  Width to 
     R.O.W. Back of Curb       Crown 
 
 Arterial (Primary 100 2-24' road- 
 or (Streets  ways divided 
 Industrial   by a 3' median 
    strip 3" 
 
 (Secondary 
 (Streets  80 35 feet 5" 
 
 Non- (Minor Streets 60 27 feet           3" 
 Arterial (Cul-de-Sacs 60 27 feet           3" 
 

Paved cul-de-sac radii shall be 40" - 0" to back of curb. 
 

2.  Street Design: 
 

a.  Street gradients shall be connected with vertical parabolic curves if 
the algebraic difference in grade exceeds one percent (1.00%). 
Minimum length in feet of these curves for minor streets shall be 
fifty (50) times the algebraic difference in the percent of grade. For 
arterial streets the minimum length shall be one hundred (100) 
times the algebraic difference. (Ord. 66-142-4) 

 
b.  The minimum pavement grade shall be five-tenths percent (0.5%). 

(Ord. 88-1032-64) 
 

c.  The maximum grade for arterial streets shall be five per cent 
(0.5%) 

             
d.  A minimum radius of thirty feet (30') shall be used at the 

intersection with all arterial streets. The minimum radius for all 
nonarterial streets shall be twenty five feet (25'). (Ord. 66-142-4) 

 
e.  All streets shall have a minimum elevation of six hundred forty six 

feet (646'). 
 

B. Pavement improvements shall be in accordance with standards of the 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 4 

Village as follows: (Ord. 72-260-4) 
 
 
 
 

Arterial or Industrial Streets   Nonarterial or Residential 
            Streets 

    Base    Surface     Base    Surface 

4" aggregate sub-
base, type B, 
Section 301 

8" portland 
cement concrete, 
jointed reinforced 
with mesh, with 
integral curb, 
Section 408 
 
 

 7" portland cement 
concrete, jointed 
reinforced, with 
integral curb 
 
 
 
 

               OR               OR  

4" aggregate sub-
base, type B, 
Section 301, plus 8" 
bituminous base 
course, Section 308 

4" bituminous 
wearing course 
(Class I) Section 
406 

12" crushed 
aggregate base 
course, type A, 
Section 301 

3" bituminous 
wearing course 
(Class I, Section 
406 
 
 
 

               OR 

4" aggregate sub-
base, type B, 
Section 301, plus 
6" bituminous base 
course, Section 
308 

2" bituminous 
wearing course 
(Class I) Section 
406 

(1984 Code) 
 
The subgrade for all pavements shall have a soil bearing value of not less than CBR-4 
as determined by the California Bearing Ratio Test. Where, in the opinion of the Village 
Engineer the CBR may be less than four (4), he may require the developer to provide a 
laboratory report stating the CBR value of the subgrade in question. This work shall be 
done at no cost to the Village. Where the CBR of the subgrade is less than four (4), the 
developer shall submit a new pavement design to the Village Engineer for his approval. 
 

1. All streets shall be designed using a "positive drainage principle" 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 5 

where possible. No low points shall be allowed which would cause 
greater than eight inches (8") of ponding in event of a complete storm 
sewer failure. 

 
2. Sidewalks: No sidewalks shall be permitted within the single-family 

residential area of the Village except when approved by the Village 
Board. (Ord. 72-260-4) 

 
3. Street Signs: Shall be installed at all intersections within the 

development. The signs shall be bolted to a five inch by five inch (5" x 
5") western red cedar post. The post shall be set in concrete to a 
depth of at least three feet (3'). An eight inch (8") diameter concrete 
mow strip shall be installed around the base of the post. The street 
sign shall be at least seven feet (7') above grade. The signs shall be 
made of aluminum blade type, mounted to the post in brackets.   The 
type style for all street signs shall be "Zipatone" Benguiat Book 
Lettering and shall consist of capital and small lettering configuration. 
The size of the letters shall be two and one-eighth inches (2'/g"). The 
street signs and posts shall conform to the Village of Lincolnshire 
Signage Program, Design Guidelines, latest edition. (Ord. 89-1076-43) 

 
4. Street Gradients: Shall be designed with proper continuity for collector, 

secondary and major arteries without abrupt changes, and all 
intersections shall be properly platformed to prevent hazards. Said 
platform shall be subject to review by the Village Engineer. The 
adjustment of the grade of private driveways with the public roadways 
shall be subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer and 
shall avoid abrupt changes or drainage pockets. 

 
5. Parkways: Shall be graded in accordance with the grading plan and 

seeded upon completion of the underground and surface 
improvements. (Ord. 72-260-4) 

 
6. Regulatory Traffic-Control Devices: Shall be installed as per the 

requirements of the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices, Illinois 
Department of Transportation standards and at locations and as 
directed by the Village Engineer. The traffic-control devices may 
include, but are not limited to, speed limit, yield, right of way, stop, no 
parking, weight restrictions, pedestrian crossings, or other regulatory 
traffic signs and necessary traffic pavement markings. All signs and 
marking shall conform to the standards in the Manual on Uniform 
Traffic Control Devices and of the Illinois Department of 
Transportation. Sign post and fasteners shall be of a type equal to the 
current Village standard. The Village Engineer shall make the 
determination as to when such signs shall be erected.  All signs and 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 6 

pavement markings shall be maintained by the developer until the final 
surface course is accepted by the Village Board. (Ord. 89-1038-05) 

 
7. Curbs: All new streets in the Village shall be constructed with type 

B6.12 combination concrete curb and gutter conforming to article 616 
of the Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction in 
Illinois, latest edition, prepared by the Illinois Department of 
Transportation. A depressed curb shall be provided for each proposed 
or new driveway. 

 
8. Bike Paths: Bike path construction shall conform to applicable sections 

of the Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction in 
Illinois, latest edition, prepared by the Illinois Department of 
Transportation. The following bike path designs shall be considered for 
approval: 

 
a. Bituminous Path: Base course shall be constructed in 

accordance with article 301 and shall be six inch (6") type B 
aggregate base course. The surface course shall be 
constructed in accordance with article 406 and shall be three 
inch (3") class I type 2 bituminous concrete. 

 
b.  Concrete Path: Base course shall be constructed in 

accordance with article 301 and shall be four inch (4") type B 
aggregate base course. The surface course shall be 
constructed in accordance with article 624 and shall be four 
inch (4") class X concrete. 

 
c.  Stone Path: A stone path shall consist of a minimum thickness 

of eight inches (8") of compacted stone over compacted 
subgrade. A barrier shall be provided to delineate the stone 
path from the adjacent area and to maintain separation of the 
aggregate and the surrounding soil. 

 
The type of path construction and width shall be determined 
by the Village Board. 

 
9. Pavement Marking: Pavement marking shall be provided at locations 

determined by the Village Engineer. All pavement marking shall be 
thermoplastic conforming to the Illinois Department of Transportation 
Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction in Illinois, 
latest edition. (Ord. 89-1076-43) 

 
 
7-6-4: UNDERGROUND IMPROVEMENTS:

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 7 

No subdivision shall be approved without water supply and sanitary sewer 
and sewage treatment facilities in accordance with the following minimum 
standards or the posting of security approved by the Village Board 
guaranteeing said improvements in accordance with Section 7-1-6. 

7-6-4-1: GENERAL: 
 
A. The underground improvements shall be installed in the parkway whenever 

possible. (Ord. 66-142-4) 
 
B. The allowable loading on pipes shall be determined from the appropriate 

tables in the appropriate manufacturer's manual. The pipe shall be 
designed for a fifteen thousand (15,000) pound wheel load. (Ord. 72-260-4) 

 
C. All sewer and water main trenches shall be undercut three inches (3") and 

the pipe laid on a three inch (3") cushion of approved granular material. 
This requirement may be waived at the discretion of the Village Engineer. 

 
D. All underground improvements shall be completed prior to any surface 

improvements. (Ord. 66-142-4) 
 
E. All manhole covers shall be imprinted with the following legends: 
 

1. Village of Lincolnshire, and 
 

2. A description of the particular utility involved such as water, storm 
sewer or sanitary sewer. (Ord. 82-725-32) 

 
7-6-4-2:  SANITARY SEWERS:

A complete system of sanitary sewers shall be constructed throughout the 
development allowing for the extension of the Village sewer system to 
adjacent areas. 

 
A. Only sanitary sewage shall be connected to the sanitary sewer system. 
 
B. Sewage lift stations will not be permitted unless specifically authorized by 

the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village, upon recommendation of 
the Village Engineer. 

 
C. The minimum size public sanitary sewer shall be eight inches (8") in 

diameter. (Ord. 66-142-4) 
 
D. All sanitary sewers and services shall be constructed of extra strength 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 8 

vitrified clay pipe conforming to ASTM C700 with joints conforming to ASTM 
425-60 type 1 or 3, or PVC type PSM conforming to ASTM D-3034 and 
shall be SDR 35, or ABS, "Truss", conforming to ASTM D-2680, or ductile 
iron pipe conforming to ANSl A21.51 (AWWA C-151), Class 52 per ANSl 
A21 .50 (AWWA C-150) and tar (seal) coated and cement lined per ANSl 
A214 (AWWA C-104). (Ord. 88.1032-64) 

 
E. Minimum cover on any sanitary sewers shall be three feet zero inches 

(3'0"). Sewers in excess of twenty feet zero inches (20'0") cover shall 
require special bedding as approved by the Village Engineer. Risers, shall 
be required where sewers are over twelve feet zero inches (12'0") deep or 
more, and shall extend to within eight feet zero inches (8'0") grade. (Ord. 
66-142-4) 

 
F. All sanitary sewer manholes shall be a minimum of four feet zero inches 

(4'0") in diameter, of the precast concrete type, with an elastomeric ban'] 
seal and rubber boot, and spaced not more than four hundred feet (400') 
apart. (Ord. 88-1032-64) 

 
G. All sanitary sewers shall be located in the parkway, on the north or east side 

of the street, five feet zero inches (5'0") from the property line. (Ord. 72-
260-4) 

 
H. Maximum allowable infiltration shall be two hundred (200) 

gallons/day/inch/diameter/mile of sewer. (Ord. 88-1032-64) 
 
I. A sanitary building sewer shall be installed at the center of each residential 

lot at the time of the sanitary sewer installation, and shall extend to within 
one foot (1') of the property line. The building sewer shall be four inches (4") 
in diameter and shall be installed at a minimum grade of one-eighth inch 
(1/8") per foot and maximum grade of one inch (1") per foot. (Ord. 66-142-
4) 

 
J. Wye branches shall be factory manufactured permanently affixed to the 

main sewer. (Ord. 72-260-4) 
 
K. Curvilinear sanitary sewers shall not be allowed except upon approval by 

the Village Engineer. (Ord. 88-1032-64) 
 
7-6-4-3: WATER MAINS:

A complete system of water mains shall be constructed throughout the 
development sized to permit for future extension of the village water system 
to adjacent areas. 

 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 9 

A. The water system shall be designed so that it will be circulating whenever 
possible. 

 
B. Water mains shall not be less than eight inches (8") internal diameter, 

except where the main serves a cul-de-sac or is a minor branch main, the 
size can be reduced to six inches (6") upon the approval of the Village 
Engineer. (Ord. 66-142-4) 

 
C. Valves shall be located so that in the event of a single break not more than 

one thousand feet (1,000') of main will be out of service and require the 
closing of not more than three (3) valves. Valves shall conform to the 
following requirements: 

 
1. Valves up to and including ten inches (10") in diameter shall be either: 

 
a.  A disc type conforming to the latest standards of AWWA C500 

for gate valves, or 
 

b.  Conform to the latest standards of AWWA C509-80 for 
resilient seated gate valves. 

 
2. Valves twelve inches (12") in diameter and larger shall conform to the 

latest standards of AWWA C504, Class 150B for butterfly valves. 
 

All valves shall be installed in a forty eight inch (48") precast vault and 
shall not be located under streets, driveways or other pavements. 
(Ord. 88-1032-64) 

 
D. Fire hydrants shall be installed throughout the entire development, located 

at intervals not to exceed four hundred feet (400') and no house shall be 
greater than two hundred feet (200') from a hydrant. (Ord. 66-142-4) 

 
E. Water mains shall be constructed of ductile, iron pipe conforming to ANSl 

A21.51 (AWWA C-151), to thickness class 52 per ANSl A21.50 (AWWA C-
150) and tar (seal) coated and cement lined per ANSl A21.4 (AWWA 
C̊̊104). (1984 Code) 

 
F. The depth between the finished grade and the top of the water main shall 

be not less than five feet (5') or more than six feet (6'). Where conflicts arise 
with other underground improvements, greater depths will be allowed. (Ord. 
66-142-4) 

 
G. All water mains shall be located in the parkway, on the south and west side 

of the street, ten feet zero inches (10'0") from the property line. (Ord. 72-
260-4) 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 10 

 
H. Connections to the existing water system shall be made by pressure tap. 

(Ord. 66-142-4) 
 
I. Hydrants and valves shall be of a type conforming to that used in the 

Village. Hydrants to be Waterous Pacer Model WB-67 with breakaway 
flange or approved equal with two (2) two and one-half inch (2 1/2") and 
one four and one-half inch (4-1/2") fire hose connections with National 
Standard Threads. 

 
J. Building service connections from the b-box to the structure shall be made 

only at the time of building construction. All service taps shall be either with 
a manufactured tap coupling or double strap bronze saddle. (Ord. 88-1032-
64) 

 
K. All commercial water meters must have bypass valves which do not 

interfere with access to the water meter for purposes of removing the meter 
for testing and/or repair. Such valves must be installed and maintained so 
that they may be sealed in the closed position, and not opened without 
breaking the seal. 

 
 
7-6-4-4: STORM SEWERS:

A complete system of storm sewers shall be constructed to drain the 
development and any contiguous drainage areas. The developer shall 
submit to the Village Engineer two (2) copies of the storm drainage 
computations. In addition, the developer shall submit a drainage and storm 
water runoff impact analysis on a form to be provided by the Village 
Engineer. (Ord. 82-725-32) 

 
A. No increase in storm water runoff shall be directed to any existing 

watercourse, or drainage system, unless the Village Engineer shall have 
determined that the receiving watercourse, or drainage system, shall have 
adequate capacity to receive such increased flow. (Ord. 66-142-4) 

 
B. The rational method shall be employed when computing storm runoff. A ten 

(10) year storm shall be used for design purposes. The storm system shall 
be designed with "positive street and swale drainage" such that in the event 
of a complete storm system failure, storm water runoff will be provided 
overland to the storm water detention area and will cause no property 
damage due to flooding. (Ord. 85-847-31) 

 
C. Storm sewers shall be designed to flow full, using Manning's Formula, with 

a roughness coefficient of 0.013. When the storm sewer system discharge 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 11 

is determined to be submerged, the sewers shall be designed using the 
"hydraulic profile" and a maximum water level elevation in manholes of one 
foot zero inches (1 '-0") below the flow line of the gutter. (Ord. 88-1032-64) 

 
D. Storm sewers shall be designed, when flowing full, to have a minimum 

velocity of two and one-half feet (2-1/2') per second and a maximum 
velocity not to exceed the critical flow. (Ord. 66-142-4) 

 
E. All inlets shall be installed so that the distance between each inlet shall not 

exceed two hundred fifty feet (250') and each inlet shall drain a maximum 
street gutter length of two hundred fifty feet (250'). Where the inlet is 
located at a low point, additional inlets may be required by the Village 
Engineer. No more than two (2) inlets shall be interconnected. Inlets shall 
be so located that storm water runoff will not "pond". Depressed street 
crowns to facilitate drainage will not be allowed. ('3rd. 86-907-44) 

 
F. Rear yard catch basins shall be placed where required by the Village Board. 
 
G. The minimum size storm sewer shall be twelve inches (12") in diameter, 

and minimum size inlet connections shall be ten inches (10") in diameter. 
 
H. Minimum cover shall be three feet zero inches (3'0") for all. storm sewers 

unless special precautions are taken to protect the pipe, as approved by the 
Village Engineer (Ord. 66-142-4) 

 
I. Storm sewers shall be concrete sewer, storm drain and culvert pipe 

conforming to ASTM C 14 or C76 with mastic joints.  All inlet connections 
shall be reinforced concrete pipe, ASTM C76 Class Ill. (Ord. 88-1032-64) 

 
J. All storm sewers shall be located in the parkway, on the north and east side 

of the street, thirteen feet zero inches (13'0") from the property line. (Ord. 
72-260-4) 

 
K. All manholes, inlet manholes, inlets and catch basins, and headwalls shall 

be designed in accordance with the standard details of the Village. (Ord. 
66-142-4) 

 
L. Storm retention, if required, is subject to the review of the Village Engineer. 

In concept, the detention pond shall have a high-water level based on a 
100-year design storm and shall have an outlet which allows runoff with an 
intensity no greater than the land in its natural state prior to development. 
The detention area shall have a single emergency overflow to drain waters 
in excess of the volume provided in the detention area. (Ord. 88-1032-64) 

 
M. Storm sewers shall be available to each lot to connect to each lot's sump 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 12 

pump, and all sump pumps shall be so connected to storm sewers. Sump 
pumps shall not be connected to sanitary sewers. (Ord. 82-725-32 

 
N. All sites no longer in a natural undeveloped state, undergoing development 

resulting in a significant increase in the rate of storm water runoff and not 
providing storm water detention must provide detention meeting the 
requirements of subsection 7-6-4L above. Detention to be provided shall be 
for the entire site evaluated in its natural state. (Ord. 88-1032-64) 

7-6-4-5: STREET LIGHTS:

A complete system of street lights shall be constructed at those locations 
deemed necessary by the Village Board. The developer shall submit to the 
Village Engineer two (2) copies of street lighting calculations as well as 
copies of proposed equipment for installation. 

 
A. Street lighting shall be designed in accordance with the American National 

Standard Practice for Roadway Lighting published by the Illuminating 
Engineering Society of North America, latest edition. 

 
B. All material used in construction shall meet the requirements of the National 

Electrical Code, latest edition and be Underwriters Laboratory (U.L.) 
approved. 

 
C. Street lighting poles for corporate and business areas shall be of a hinged 

type to allow access to luminaries from the ground (as manufactured by QL 
Inc. or approved equal). 

 
D. Street lighting poles, luminaries and fixtures, if required for residential 

areas, shall be at locations and of a style approved by the Village Board. 
 
E. All street light wiring shall be underground and in unit duct. Direct cable 

burial will not be allowed. Conduit is required under all roadways, driveways 
and sidewalks. 

 
F. Unit duct shall meet the requirements of the National Electrical 

Manufacturers Association.  Electric cable shall meet the requirements of 
the National Electrical Code, rated for 600 volts, for underground service. 

 
G. Conduit shall be galvanized steel meeting the requirements of ANSl, C80.1, 

UL tested and labeled. 
 
H. All lighting shall be photocell controlled unless directed by the Village 

Engineer. (Ord. 89-1038-05) 
 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 13 

7-6-5: PUBLIC UTILITIES:

A. All public utility distribution lines for telephone, gas and electric service shall 
be placed entirely underground.  All above-ground appurtenances relating 
thereto, shall be placed in rear lot line easements, or in areas as designated 
by the Village Engineer. Consideration for placement of utilities in areas 
other than rear lot line easements shall be given only in instances of safety, 
floodplain infringement, preservation of existing wooded areas, and conflict 
with Village utilities.  Installation of such facilities shall be made in 
compliance with the applicable orders, rules and regulations of the Illinois 
Commerce Commission now or hereafter effective and the subdivider shall 
be responsible for compliance with rules and regulations, now and hereafter 
effective and filed with said Commission pursuant to the Illinois Public 
Utilities Act, of any public utility whose service will be required for the 
subdivision with respect to the provision of such facilities. 

 
B. Where a subdivider plans for the development of a subdivision within the 

corporate limits of the Village, the subdivider shall submit a utility plan 
showing the location of all public utility distribution lines and all above-
ground appurtenances relating thereto, for approval by the Village Engineer, 
before submitting his final plat for approval. In those instances where 
approval of a final plat is not necessary, the developer shall submit a utility 
plan for approval by the Village Engineer at the time a building permit is 
requested. 

 
C. All above-ground appurtenances including transformers, junction boxes, 

relief valves, and all structures associated with the installation and function 
of the utilities shall be fully screened from public view by walls, berming or 
landscaping to be approved by the Village Forester. 

 
D. Underground telephone, electric and gas service facilities, including 

conduits and cables, shall be placed within easements or dedicated public 
ways in a manner which will not conflict with other underground services. 
Further, all transformer boxes shall be located so as not to be unsightly or 
hazardous to the public. 

 
E. All utility lines and facilities for water and sewer service shall be placed in 

appropriate easements and entirely underground. 
 
F. As a condition precedent and in consideration of the Village's approval to 

place public utilities in other than rear lot line easements, the subdivider 
shall include a covenant on the face of his plat of subdivision that the 
owners of all lots within the subdivision shall be responsible for the 
perpetual maintenance of the walls, berming or landscaping approved by 
the Village Forester as provided for in subparagraph C above. The 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 14 

covenant shall read as follow: 
 

G.  
 

PERPETUAL MAINTENANCE COVENANT 

The owners of all lots within this subdivision are jointly and severally
responsible for the perpetual maintenance of the screening, as approved by
the Village Forester, of all above-ground public utility appurtenances
including transformers, junction boxes, relief valves, and all structures
associated with the installation and function of such utilities. This covenant
shall constitute a covenant running with the land and shall be binding upon
all successor owners of record and shall run to the benefit of the Village of
Lincolnshire. This covenant shall be enforceable by the Village of
Lincolnshire in any court of competent jurisdiction by an appropriate action
in law or in equity to secure the performance of the covenants herein
contained. (Ord. 87-929-15) 

 
7-6-6: PROCEDURE FOR APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE OF 

IMPROVEMENTS:

A. Where a subdivider plans for the development of a subdivision within the 
corporate limits of the Village, the subdivider shall, before submitting his 
final plat for approval: 

 
1. Make provision for the installation and construction of improvements 

required by this Chapter. 
 

2. Submit his provisions for installation and construction of improvements 
required by this Chapter to the Village Engineer for his 
recommendation. 

 
3.  Submit his provisions for installation and construction of improvements 

required by this Chapter, along with the recommendation of the Village 
Engineer to the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village for their 
approval. (Ord. 66-142-4) 

 
4.  Preliminary and Final Plan Review Fees: Prior to the review of any 

preliminary development or site plan, the potential developer shall 
deposit funds with the Village equal to the cost of the estimated 
engineering plan review expenses necessary to review the proposed 
plans. Prior to the final approval of any final subdivision plans, the 
developer shall pay the fee for review of plans to the Village equal to 
two and one-half percent (2-1/2%) of the estimated cost of 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 15 

construction, less the funds previously paid for engineering review of 
his preliminary plan. If this fee is insufficient to cover the costs of plan 
review, the applicant shall pay the difference. 

 
All costs connected with the inspection of subdivision improvements 
shall be paid by the subdivider. Such costs, include, but are not limited 
to, time of inspections, testing expense, televising of underground 
improvements, soil testing reports and analyses, concrete analyses 
and related tests as deemed to be reasonable and required by the 
Village Engineer. 

 
In addition, the Village will be furnished by the developer's engineer a 
reproducible sepia of all specifications and standards and details. 
(Ord. 78-548-38) 

 
B. The Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village shall not approve a 

subdivider's provisions for improvements unless the provisions for 
improvements required by this Chapter comply with the specifications for 
these improvements as outlined herein. All improvements required by this 
Chapter shall be inspected for compliance with this Code, and the contract 
specifications during construction by the Village Engineer. No such 
improvements shall be accepted by the Mayor and Board of Trustees 
unless the Village Engineer shall certify that the improvements comply with 
thin Code and the contract specifications, and unless the owner of the 
property has tendered to the Village a fully executed bill of sale covering all 
water mains, sanitary sewers, storm sewers and street lights constructed as 
public improvements. All costs connected with the inspection of subdivision 
improvements shall be paid by the subdivider. (Ord. 66-142-4; amd. Ord. 
87-945-31) 

 
C. The public improvements, including the water mains, sanitary sewers, the 

entire above and below ground storm drainage system including detention 
and retention areas, curb and gutter and binder roadway surface course, 
and any approved landscaping, if applicable, as required by this Subdivision 
Code, must be fully completed and accepted by the Village Board for each 
separate phase or unit of a development prior to the issuance of any 
occupancy permits for any buildings in any phase or unit. 

 
If building permits are requested for buildings in any phase or unit prior to 
the acceptance of the above listed public improvements, the building and/or 
developer must: 

    
1.  Secure a permit from the Public Works Department for a temporary 

road to serve the building or buildings under construction. The 
roadway must be a minimum of twenty feet (20') in width and 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 16 

constructed of crushed stone aggregate to a minimum compacted 
depth of eight inches (8"). The road must be kept in good repair during 
the entire period of construction of the building or buildings. If at any 
time the Director of Public Works is of the opinion that the roadway 
does not meet the requirements stated above, construction will be 
halted. 

 
2. No construction work of a combustible nature shall be commenced 

until water mains for the entire phase have been installed and the 
Public Works Department has certified that they are in proper working 
order and can be utilized for firefighting purposes. Prior to the 
completion of the water improvements and the certification by the 
Public Works Department, only foundation permits may be issued for 
any phase or unit in accordance with all the requirements in this Code. 

 
3. No service connections shall be made to any of the above listed public 

improvements until the improvements have been accepted by the 
Village Board. 

 
4. In a residential development the public improvements, including the 

water mains, sanitary sewers, the entire above and below ground 
storm drainage system including detention and retention areas, curb 
and gutter and binder roadway surface course, and any approved 
landscaping, must be fully completed and accepted by the Village 
Board of Trustees for each separate phase or unit of a phased 
development prior to the issuance of any building permits for buildings 
in any subsequent phase or unit. 

 
5. The final roadway surface course is to be added upon substantial 

completion of construction within a phase. The Director of Public 
Works will make the determination of when the final roadway surface 
is to be installed based upon the size and type of development under 
consideration and the availability of other construction traffic routes. 
The purpose of this requirement is to avoid undue stress upon any 
roadways as a result of construction traffic. 

 
6. Prior to the issuance of any foundation or building permits when the 

public improvements listed above have not been completed and 
accepted, the developer must provide the Public Works Department 
with an installation schedule for these public improvements. The 
developer will then be expected to adhere to this schedule unless 
unusual circumstances are encountered. If the developer fails to 
adhere to the schedule, the Village may be required to complete the 
public improvements utilizing the irrevocable letter of credit submitted 
by the developer in accordance with escrow agreement required by the 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 17 

subdivision regulations. (Ord. 86-905-42) 
 
D. Whenever a proposed subdivision coming within the jurisdiction of this 

Code has an area of more than ten (10) acres, the subdivider may be 
required to reserve up to ten percent (10%) of the area, exclusive of public 
streets and alleys, for public use. The location of the area shall be referred 
to the Zoning Board for approval and the area shall be appropriately 
marked on the plat prior to approval of the plat. (Ord. 66-142-4) 

 

Intentionally Left Blank

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 18 

 APPENDIX I 

 ESCROW AGREEMENT 

This Agreement, made and entered into this _____ day of _____________ 20
_____, by and between ____________________, a ________________ banking
association, as Trustee under Trust Agreement dated ________________ and known
as Trust Number ______, ____________________________, an Illinois Corporation,
Subdivider/Owner
as sole beneficiary of the aforesaid Trust Number ________ and as such corporation,
hereinafter sometimes referred to collectively as "Owner", and the Village of
Lincolnshire, a municipal corporation in Lake County, Illinois, hereinafter sometimes
referred to as "Village", and ________________________ a _______________
banking association, hereinafter referred to as "Escrowee";

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, Owner is the owner of a certain parcel of real property located in
the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, and legally described in Exhibit A attached hereto
and made a part hereof; 

WHEREAS, Owner has submitted, or caused to be submitted, for final approval
by Village a Plat of Subdivision entitled __________________________ approved by
the Village Engineer on ____________________, subdividing the property described in
Exhibit A; 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire Subdivision Code, as amended,
requires as a condition of such approval and recording of said plat, among other things,
the guaranteeing of installation of certain public improvements in accordance with plans
and specifi-cations approved by and on file with the Village Engineer or Village Clerk,
and in accordance with the ordinances of said Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Village has approved said Plat of Subdivision subject to the
deposit of security to guarantee the payment of various costs relating to installation of
certain public improve-ments in said subdivision in accordance with plans and specifi-
cations approved by and on file with the Village Engineer and the Village, said plans
and specifications entitled ________________________ prepared by
____________________ of ________________, dated ___________________ and
consisting of _______ sheets, hereinafter sometimes referred to as "plans and
specifications";

WHEREAS, the Village ordinance requires a completion bond or other security
in lieu of bond in the amount of _________, which amount is 125% of the Village
Engineer's estimate of the cost of installation of the public improvements to be provided
in accordance with the plans and specifications; 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 19 

WHEREAS, Owner has requested Village to waive the furnishing of the
completion bond required by Village ordinance to secure installation of the public
improvements and to accept in lieu thereof a letter of credit; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements
herein contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto do
covenant and agree with each other as follows:

Section 1: That in lieu of the completion bond required by Village ordinance,
Owner shall cause to be deposited with the Village Clerk as security for the public
improvements an irrevocable letter of credit (hereinafter referred to as the "security")
issued by the ______________________, in a form acceptable to Village, in the
amount of ________________. The security shall be drawn upon from time to time as
hereinafter provided for payment of the following, which shall hereinafter be referred to
as "subdivision costs":

(a) Installation of the public improvements described in the plans and
specifications;

(b) All engineering and inspection fees of the Village in relation to the
public improvements and the subdivision; 

(c) Maintenance and repair of the public improvements for a period of
three (3) years after the date of acceptance of the public improvements by
Village, sometimes hereinafter referred to as the "three-year maintenance
period";

(d) To pay and discharge all claims made by any third party arising out
of the installation and construction of the public improvements; all such claims
must be paid prior to the Village's acceptance of the public improvements;
provided, however, that if the Owner has insurance coverage in sufficient
amounts to pay such claims and the Owner files with the Village the insurance
company's letter indicating that they acknowledge coverage and accept
defense of the claim and that the limits of the policy are satisfactory to pay the
claim if judgment is entered in favor of said third party, the Village nay, in its
discretion, accept the public improvements and reduce the amount of the
subdivision improvement deposit for the required three-year maintenance
period;

(e) Any customary expense of the Owner in meeting any requirement
of the Village pertaining to the subdivision to the extent such expense has not
already been paid by Owner;

(f) Expenses of the Village, including but not limited to reasonable
attorneys fees in drafting, administering and enforcing this Agreement.

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 20 

Village or Escrowee shall not be required to investigate the propriety of any
payout orders other than they deem necessary in their own interest. However, for
accounting purposes, the Village Engineer shall send to Owner a copy of the
Engineer's estimates for payment. Each payout order shall be accompanied by all
appropriate sworn statements, affidavits and supporting waivers of lien required by
Escrowee for full compliance with the Illinois Mechanics' Lien Law.

Section 2: The security shall be drawn upon from time to time upon payout
orders issued in writing by the Village Engineer and presented to Escrowee. The payout 
orders shall be issued upon request of the Owner in writing to the Village Engineer,
provided that the portion of the public improvements for which the payout orders are
requested has been completed in conformance with the plans and specifications as
reasonably determined by the Village Engineer, and provided further that the amount of
the security remaining is sufficient to pay for the remaining subdivision costs as
reasonably determined by Village Engineer. Payout orders may also be issued in
writing by the Village Engineer in the circumstances hereinafter provided in Sections 3,
4 and 6 of this Agreement without the request or consent of Owner; provided, however,
that the Owner shall first be notified of any such payout order and the general purpose
thereof. The amount of the security deposited hereunder shall be reduced by the
amount of any payout order and may be reduced by the mutual agreement of Village
and Owner.

Section 3: Owner shall complete the public improvements in accordance with
the plans and specifications within two years from the date of Village's approval of the
subdivision plat. In the event Owner fails to o complete the public improvements within
c~ch time, Village shall have one (1) year from the close of the two-year period to
complete the public improvements in a manner acceptable to Village. At the close of
said one (1) year period, any portion of the security deposited hereunder remaining
undisbursed shall be disbursed to Owner, except such amount as is hereinafter
provided to be retained by the Escrowee up[n acceptance of the public improvements
by Village. Village may pay for such completion and all other subdivision costs out of
the security deposited hereunder with the Escrowee in the manner provided in Section
2 of this Agreement without the request or consent of Owner.

Section 4: Upon acceptance of the public improvements by the Village,
whether completed by Owner or by Village, the Escrowee shall disburse to Owner any
of the security
deposited hereunder remaining after payment in full of the subdivision costs provided
for in Subsections (a), (b), (d), (e) and (f) of Section 1 of this Agreement, except the
amount of _________ which shall be retained to pay the subdivision cost provided for in 
Subsection (c) of said Section 1 with respect to said three-year maintenance period and 
the subdivision costs provided for in Subsections (b), (d), (e) and (f) of said Section 1.
Any of such retained security not expended by Village and remaining at the expiration
of said three-year maintenance period shall be disbursed by Escrowee to Owner.

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 21 

Village may pay for such Subsections (b), (d), (e) and (f) subdivision costs out of the
security deposited hereunder with the Escrowee in the manner provided in Section 2 of
this Agreement without the request or consent of Owner.

Section 5: If at any time prior to the acceptance of the public improvements by
the Village the amount of the security deposited hereunder is deemed, in the sole
judgment of Village, insufficient to cover the subdivision costs, or if for any reason the
security deposited hereunder shall be withheld or otherwise become unpayable or
unavailable to Village, Owner shall, upon notice from Village, cause to be deposited
with the Escrowee such additional security in a form and an amount reasonably
deemed by Village to be sufficient to pay the subdivision costs. Such additional security
shall be deposited within ten (10) days of said notice. 

Section 6: If at any time during the installation by Owner of the public
improvements the Village determines, in its sole judgment, that Owner has failed to
install the public improvements in accordance with the plans and specifications, or if, in
the sole judgment of Village, Owner fails to properly maintain or repair said
improvements, Village may take such action as it deems necessary to correct such
failure; provided that Village shall first notify Owner of such failure and the general
nature thereof and permit Owner sixty (60) days to correct such failure, provided further
that Owner's right to 60 days to correct any such failure shall terminate, with respect to
completion of the public improvements, three years after approval of the subdivision
plat by the Village and, with respect to the maintenance and repair period, 60 days prior 
to expiration thereof. Provided further, however, that in the event any such failure
occurs within sixty (60) days of the expiration of the security, Village shall only be
required to give notice of such failure before Village may take corrective action. Village
may pay for any corrective action out of the security deposited hereunder with the
Escrowee in the manner provided in Section 2 of this Agreement without the request or
consent of Owner.

Section 7: The Village shall execute the Plat of Subdivision when, but not
before, Owner has executed this Agreement, deposited with the Escrowee the security
provided for hereunder, and satisfied all other requirements of the Village pertaining to
the subdivision. 

Section 8: Any notice required to be given in this Agreement shall be in writing
and given or served personally, or deposited in the United States mail, addressed to the 
party to be notified, postage prepaid, registered or certified, with return receipt
requested. Notice deposited in the mail in the manner hereinabove provided shall be
deemed given or served upon deposit in the mail. For the purposes of this notice, the
addresses of the parties shall, until changed by appropriate notice hereunder, be as
follows:

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 22 

If to Owner:

If to Village:

If to Escrowee:

Section 9: This Agreement shall terminate at the close of three (3) years after
acceptance of the public improvements as provided in Section 4 of this Agreement;
otherwise, if the public improvements have not been accepted by the Village, this
Agreement shall terminate at the close of the one (1) year period provided for in Section 
3 of this Agreement. If Owner is required by Village to deposit additional security
pursuant to Section 5 of this Agreement, notwithstanding the applicability of either of
the foregoing termination dates, this Agreement shall terminate no earlier than five (5)
days after the date of deposit of such additional security. 

Section 10: This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit 
of each of the respective parties hereto and their respective successors, assigns, heirs
and executors. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement the day
and year first above written.

OWNER:

────────────────────────────
a ____________ banking association, as
Trustee under Trust Agreement dated _______ 
and known as Trust Number ________ 

By: ______________________________ 
          President 

ATTEST:

_____________________________
      Secretary 

________________________________ an
Illinois Corporation, as sole beneficiary of the
aforesaid Trust Number _________ and as
such corporation 

By:________________________________
President

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 23 

ATTEST:

____________________________
      Secretary 

VILLAGE:

Village of Lincolnshire, a municipal corporation
in Lake County, Illinois 

By: ________________________________ 
          Village Mayor 

ATTEST:

____________________________
      Village Clerk 

ESCROWEE:

___________________________________ a
_______________ banking association 

By: _______________________________ 
          President 

ATTEST:

_____________________________
      Secretary 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 24 

STATE OF ILLINOIS) 
                SS 
COUNTY OF        ) 

I,__________________, a Notary Public in and for said County, in the State
aforesaid, do hereby certify that _________________ ____________ President of the
___________________, as Trustee under Trust Agreement dated _____________ and
known as Trust Number ________, and ____________________' __________
Secretary of said Bank, personally known to me to be the same persons whose names
are subscribed t, the foregoing instrument as such _____________ President and
________ Secretary respectively, appeared before me this day in person and
acknowledged that they signed and delivered the said instrument as their free and
voluntary act, and as the free and voluntary act of said Bank, for the uses and purposes 
therein set forth; and the said _________ Secretary did also then and there
acknowledge that he, as custodian of the corporate seal of said Bank, did affix the said
corporate seal of said Bank to said instrument as his own free and voluntary act and as
the free and voluntary act of said Bank, for the uses and purposes therein set forth. 

Given under my hand and notarial seal this ______ day of ___________, 20____ 

� ────────────────────────────────�
My commission expires: Notary Public 

--------------------------------------
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
                 SS 
COUNTY OF         ) 

I, ______________________, a Notary Public in and for said County, in the State 
aforesaid, do hereby certify that ___________________, President of 
________________________ and _____________________, Secretary of said 
corporation, personally known to me to be the sane persons whose names are 
subscribed to the foregoing instrument as such President and Secretary respectively, 
appeared before me this day in person and acknowledged that they signed and 
delivered the said instrument as their free and voluntary act, and as the free and 
voluntary act of said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein set forth; and the 
said Secretary did also them and there acknowledge that he, as custodian of the 
corporate seal of said corporation, did affix the said corporate seal of said corporation 
to said instrument as his own free and voluntary act and as the free and voluntary act of 
said corporation, for the uses and purposes therein set forth. 

Given under my hand and notarial seal this _______ day of _________, 20___ 

� ────────────────────────────────�

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 25 

My commission expires: Notary Public

STATE OF ILLINOIS) 
                SS
COUNTY OF        ) 

I, _________________, a Notary Public in and for said County, in the State 
aforesaid, do hereby certify that ______________, Mayor of the Village of Lincolnshire, 
Lake County, Illinois, and ___________, Clerk of said Village, personally known to me
to be the same persons whose names are subscribed to the foregoing instrument as 
such Mayor and Clerk respectively, appeared before me this day in person and 
acknowledged that they signed and delivered the same instrument as their free and 
voluntary act, and as the free and voluntary act of said Village, pursuant to authority 
given by the Board of Trustees of said Village, for the uses and purposes therein set 
forth, and the said Clerk did also then and there causa the corporate seal of said Village 
to be affix- thereto, pursuant to authority given by the Board of Trustees of said Village 
as her free and voluntary act, and as the free and voluntary act of said Village, for the 
uses anti purposes therein set forth. 

Given under my hand and notarial seal this ____ day of __________, 20_____ 

� ────────────────────────────────�
My commission expires: Notary Public 

-------------------------------

STATE OF ILLINOIS) 
                SS
COUNTY OF        ) 

I, __________________________, a Notary Public in and for said County, in the 
State aforesaid, do hereby certify that ________________ ___________ President of 
the __________________, and _____________________ __________ Secretary of 
said Bank, personally known to me to be the same persons whose names are 
subscribed to the foregoing instrument as such ________ President and ________ 
Secretary respectively, appeared before me this day in person and acknowledged that 
they signed and delivered the said instrument as their free and voluntary act, and as the 
free and voluntary act of said Bank, for the uses and purposes therein set forth; and the 
said _________ Secretary did also then and there acknowledge that he, as custodian 
of the corporate seal of said Bank, did affix the said corporate seal of said Bank to said 
instrument as his own free and voluntary act and as the free and voluntary act of said 
Bank, for the uses and purposes therein set forth. 

Given under my hard and notarial seal this _____ day of ____________, 20____ 

� ────────────────────────────────�

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 26 

My commission expires: Notary Public 

APPENDIX II 
IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT 

No. ________ 

ISSUER: DATE OF ISSUANCE: 

BENEFICIARY: DATE OF EXPIRATION: 

Village of Lincolnshire 
One Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, Illinois 60069 

Re: (Name of Project) 
(Purpose)

Gentlemen:

At the request of (client’s name and address), we hereby establish in your favor our 
IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT NO. _________, in the amount of $______________, 
which is available for negotiation of your drafts at sight, signed by the Engineer of the Village of 
Lincolnshire, drawn on (bank), bearing the clause 

"Drawn under (bank), Letter of Credit No. _________ in accordance with the 
(Annexation/Improvement/Escrow) Agreement made and entered into on the 
________ day of ____________ 20_____, between ____________________ 
and the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, in regard to the above-captioned 
improvement.”

The undersigned shall notify the Engineer for the Village, by certified mall, return receipt 
requested , or by overnight courier, dispatched at least thirty five (35) days prior to said 
expiration date that said Letter of Credit is about to expire. 

In no event shall this Irrevocable Letter of Credit or the obligations contained herein expire 
except upon said prior written notice, it being expressly agreed by the undersigned that the 
above expiration date shall be automatically extended as shall be required to comply with this 
notice provision. 

The undersigned further agrees that this Irrevocable Letter of Credit shall remain in full force 
and effect and pertain to any and all amendments or modifications which may be made from 
time to time to the plans, specifications, and agreements for the improvement, without prior 
notice from the Village of such amendments or modifications. 

All acts, requirements and other preconditions for the issuance of this Irrevocable Letter of 
Credit have been completed. 

Document 2



  
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 07-06: REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS 
Revised 07/08/12  Page 27 

The (bank) hereby undertakes and engages that all demands made in conformity with this 
Irrevocable Letter of Credit will be duly honored upon presentation. If within ten (10) days of the 
date any demand is presented we fail to honor the same, we agree to pay all attorney fees, 
court costs and other expenses incurred by the Village in enforcing the terms of this Letter of 
Credit.

This Letter of Credit shall be reduced from time to time by an amount equal to the payments 
made by (bank) in accordance herein. This Letter of Credit may be reduced to such amount 
specified in writing from time to time by the Engineer of the Village of Lincolnshire, if signed 
notice on the Village of Lincolnshire letterhead is supplied to (the bank),  pursuant to the terms 
of said (Annexation/Improvement/Escrow) Agreement. 

All drafts and documents should be presented in one lot by courier to our offices at: (enter bank 
name and address). 

Except insofar as otherwise expressly stated herein, this letter of credit is subject to the Uniform 
Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits, 2007 Revision, International Chamber of 
Commerce Publication No. 600. 

Very truly yours, 
(bank)

Attest: __________________ By:______________________________
(Authorized Officer) 

(Amd. Ord. 09-3110-33, eff. 9/14/09) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 1

CHAPTER 7

DONATIONS  

7-7 Donations
7-7A School Donations
7-7B Park Donations
7-7C Library Donations

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010 Page 2

CHAPTER 7

DONATIONS

SECTION:

7-7-1: General Information
7-7-2: Requirements for Compliance
7-7-3: Indemnification and Covenant Not to Sue
7-7-4: Appeals

7-7-1: GENERAL INFORMATION:

As a condition of approval of a final plat of subdivision, final plat or final site 
plan for a planned unit development each subdivider or developer shall be 
required to:

! Dedicate land for park and school sites, make a cash contribution in lieu 
of actual land dedication, or provide a combination of both, and

!  Make a cash contribution for library purposes to serve the immediate and 
future need of the residents of the development in accordance with the 
criteria and formula in this Chapter.  All donations required hereunder 
shall be made prior to, and as a condition of, approval of the subdivision 
plat by the Village unless otherwise provided for in this Chapter.

All land dedications and cash contributions shall be made by the subdivider or 
developer upon approval of a final plat or plan by the Corporate Authorities 
unless otherwise provided for in this Chapter.  No plat or plan shall be recorded 
with the Lake County Recorder of Deeds until said donations have been made 
in accordance with the provisions of the Chapter.

It is recognized that local conditions change over the years and the variables 
used in calculating the land dedication and cash contributions may require 
periodic review and amendment if necessary.

7-7-2: REQUIREMENTS FOR COMPLIANCE:

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 3

A. REFERRAL:  Upon referral of a subdivision or planned unit development by the 
Corporate Authorities to the applicable Boards, Commission and Districts for 
review, the subdivider or developer shall consider one of the following methods 
for compliance with the terms of this Chapter.

1. Donation Requirements:  The subdivider or developer shall agree to make 
all land dedications and pay all cash contributions as required in this 
Chapter of the Village Code.

2. Written Agreement:  The subdivider or developer shall negotiate the 
donation and present a written agreement to the Corporate Authorities for 
consideration.

If the development is determined by the Administrative Staff to be a 
substantial size and it will be completed in logical phases, the subdivider 
or developer may petition the Corporate Authorities to allow payment of 
the cash contribution by phases of development.  Said Agreement shall 
contain the dates and amounts of subsequent payments.  The Corporate 
Authorities may require that sufficient security be deposited with the 
Village for any such delayed contribution to insure that actual payment is 
made in sufficient time to meet the impact of the subdivision or planned 
unit development.  

The negotiation of donations may occur between the:

a. Village of Lincolnshire and Subdivider/Developer:  The 
subdivider or developer shall enter into an Agreement with the 
Village after a negotiated donation has been presented for 
consideration whereby the amount of the park, schools, and/or 
library donations and the date of payment shall be established 
based on the following:

1) An independent consultant will be selected and retained by 
the Village at the developer's expense to study the actual 
impact the proposed development will have on each 
applicable taxing district and shall include at a minimum:

a) A review of each taxing district's capital budget.

b) The ability of each taxing district to provide 
services to new residents at the same level of 
service provided to the existing households.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 4

c) The Capital Improvement Plan for the taxing 
district.

d) Any other information the Village may require to 
make an informed decision.

If the independent study indicates a higher 
contribution per residential unit than established by 
the provisions of this Chapter the subdivider  or 
developer may negotiate a settlement with each 
taxing district provided however, that the 
negotiated donations are no less than what the 
requirements of this Chapter.

b. Taxing District and Subdivider/Developer:  The subdivider or 
developer may negotiate a land dedication, cash contribution or 
combination of both, with one or more of the taxing districts and 
present the written agreement to the Corporate Authorities for 
consideration at the time of final plat/plan approval.  The 
subdivider or developer shall be responsible for obtaining and 
providing the Village with a separate written confirmation of the 
agreed final contribution signed by a representative of the 
individual taxing district.

B. CONSIDERATION:  During consideration of the development proposal the 
developer or subdivider shall submit written verification that indicates the 
predominant (50% or more) residence size by bedroom anticipated for the 
subdivision or planned unit development.  This information will be used by the 
Village to calculate the amount of donations.  

The subdivider or developer shall be responsible for making additional cash 
contributions when the residence size for the number of dwelling units actually 
constructed in the subdivision or planned unit development is greater than the 
donations made upon approval of the development.  The subdivider or 
developer may file a written appeal for a partial refund of donations when the 
residence size for the number of dwelling units actually constructed is less than 
that used to calculate the donations.

C. APPROVAL:  Prior to consideration of a final plat of subdivision or planned unit 
development by the Corporate Authorities, the Plan Commission, Park Board, 
Site Plan Review Board and School Districts  shall make a recommendation 
regarding whether the donation should be land, cash in-lieu of land, or a 
combination of both.  The recommending Boards, Commission and Districts 
shall base their recommendation on the criteria established in the specific

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 5

regulations of this Chapter.

7-7-3:  INDEMNIFICATION AND COVENANT NOT TO SUE: 

The Village is not obligated to cause the payment of money or the transference 
of land to School Districts, or other Districts that could benefit from donations 
made by developers  and subdividers.  Therefore any School District, Library 
District and any other District for which donation is collected by the Village for 
said District's use recognizes that the Village may, at its sole discretion, amend 
its ordinances or annexation agreements or its practices so as to discontinue 
the payment of donations to the said District(s), and, as a condition of receiving 
donations hereunder, agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Village from 
any loss, claims, debts, causes of actions or liabilities of every kind  incurred by 
the Village as either a direct or indirect result of the passage of this Chapter, 
the administration or enforcement thereof, or the failure to administer or 
enforce the same including any incurred as a result of a lawsuit brought or 
threatened by any such District.  The Village shall undertake the defense 
against any suit or claim, subject to indemnification and reimbursement of fees 
and costs from the Districts whose donations are involved or gave rise to the 
claim or suit.  The costs of said defense shall be borne proportionately by all 
Districts whose donations are involved, concerned or gave rise to the suit or 
claim, and shall be paid promptly upon billing.

In the event that a final determination is made by a court of competent 
jurisdiction that contributions of land or money received by the District(s) 
receiving the donation(s) are, in whole or in part, excessive, the receiving 
District(s) shall promptly repay to the person who procures such a judgement 
against the Village or the District(s), together with such other amounts judged 
by the court to be owing from the Village and/or District(s).

Lincolnshire-Prairie View Elementary District No. 103, Aptakisic-Tripp 
Elementary School District No. 102, Adlai E. Stevenson High School District 
No. 125, and the Vernon Area Public Library District further covenant and 
agree, in addition to the indemnification and reimbursement undertaken herein, 
not to sue the Village of Lincolnshire for any claim arising directly or indirectly 
out of the passage of this Chapter or the administration or enforcement thereof, 
or the failure to administer or enforce the same in return for the Village 
considering the requirement that developers and subdividers make donations 
to them.

7-7-4:  APPEALS:

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 6

Within ten days from the receipt of the determination of the amount in 
donations due under this Chapter from the Village, a subdivider or developer 
may appeal the amount of the donation(s) in a writing filed with the Village 
Clerk.  The Notice of Appeal must include evidence falling into substantial 
question the amount(s) determined by the Village to be due.  Upon the Notice 
of Appeal, containing the required showing, and the deposit as established in 
the Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code 
on account for fees and costs, the Village will retain an independent consultant 
at the subdividers' or developers' expense, to review the estimated population 
to be generated from the subdivision or planned unit development, and impact 
that the proposed development or subdivision will have on the applicable taxing 
district.  The Corporate Authorities retain the authority to make the final 
determination on the proper amount of donation(s) based on the information 
supplied with the Notice of Appeal, by the Districts to be benefitted, in the 
Village records, and by the independent consultants.

A subdivider, developer, and/or taxing district shall have the right to appeal the 
established Fair Market Value of Land on file with the Village of Lincolnshire.  
Said appeal shall be determined in the same manner as donations, but the 
independent consultant shall be qualified as an M.A.I. appraiser.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 7

CHAPTER 7

DONATIONS

ARTICLE A.  SCHOOL DONATIONS

SECTION:

7-7A-1: General Information
7-7A-2: Variables For Calculation
7-7A-3: Land Dedication Criteria
7-7A-4: Cash Contribution Criteria
7-7A-5: Combination Land Dedication and Cash Contribution Criteria

7-7A-1: GENERAL INFORMATION:

The ultimate number of students to be generated by a subdivision or planned 
unit development shall bear directly upon the amount of land dedication, cash 
contribution, or combination of both required for the school donation.  

The school district shall be notified that the Village is considering a residential 
subdivision or planned unit development by means of an elected school board 
member representing the district as an ex-officio member of the Lincolnshire 
Plan Commission, or through correspondence by the Department of 
Community Development in accordance with the State of Illinois law.

7-7A-2: VARIABLES FOR CALCULATION:

The land dedication, cash contribution, or combination of both for school 
donations shall be calculated independently for each school classification 
identified in this Section:  Elementary, Junior High, and High School utilizing 
the following variables:

A. TABLE OF SCHOOL SIZE SITES BY GRADE CLASSIFICATION:  School 
classifications and size of school sites within the Village shall be determined in 
accordance with the established criteria in the following table:

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 8

Table of School Size Sites by Grade Classification

School Classification
by Grade

Maximum Number of
Students for Each

Such School
Classification

Minimum Number of
Acres of Land for 

Each School Site of
Such Classification

Elementary Schools,
Grades - Kindergarten
through 5th (K-5)

600 students 11 acres

Junior High Schools
Grades 6th through
8th (6-8)

900 students 29 acres

High Schools, Grades
9th through 12th 
(9-12)

2,500 students 50 acres

B. TABLE OF ULTIMATE SCHOOL POPULATION PER DWELLING UNIT:  The 
following table of estimated ultimate school populations per dwelling unit is 
generally indicative of current and short-range projected trends in school 
population per dwelling unit and shall be used in calculating the amount of 
required dedication of acres of land or cash contributions.  This data shall be 
used unless a written appeal is filed thereto by the subdivider or developer in 
accordance with the provisions of this Chapter, or if a Written Agreement  
otherwise establishes an acceptable dedication or contribution.

In applying the following table of population density to a subdivision for which 
the types of units and number of bedrooms cannot reasonably be determined 
from the data on file with the Village at the time of approval of the subdivision 
plat, the following types of units and bedroom data shall be used.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 9

Table of Estimated Ultimate School Population Per Dwelling Unit1

Elementary
Grades K-5 
5-10 Years

Junior High
Grades 6-8 
11-13 Years

High
Grades 9-12
14-17 Years

Detached Single Family

2 Bedroom .122 .041 .020

3 Bedroom .346 .138 .142

4 Bedroom .470 .303 .303

5 Bedroom .314 .231 .212

Attached Single Family

1 Bedroom 0 0 0 

2 Bedroom .095 .077 .037

3 Bedroom .237 .064 .066

4 Bedroom .345 .155 .168

Apartments

Efficiency 0 0 0 

1 Bedroom .002 .001 .001

2 Bedroom .082 .041 .042

3 Bedroom .230 .123 .116

1Source: Illinois School Consulting Service/Associated Municipal Consultants, Inc.; 
Naperville, IL, 1993

C. FAIR MARKET VALUE OF LAND:  The present fair market value of improved 
land in and surrounding the Village for one (1) acre of land based on an 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 10

appraisal completed by an M.A.I. appraiser shall be maintained on file  in the 
Department of Community Development and as established in the 
Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code.   
Said figure shall be used in making any calculation herein.  

7-7A-3: LAND DEDICATION CRITERIA (SCHOOLS):

A. FORMULA:  The required school land dedication shall be determined in 
accordance with the formula below based on the established criteria in the 
"Table of School Size Sites by Grade Classification" and the "Table of 
Estimated School Population per Dwelling Unit".  The end product shall be the 
acres of land deemed needed to have sufficient land for school sites to serve 
the estimated increase in the number of children for each school classification.

Estimated Ultimate School 
Population per Dwelling Unit  X Minimum # Acres of Land
Maximum # Students for  Needed for School Classification
School Classification

B. LAND CONDITIONS:  Land Dedications for school sites shall at a minimum 
meet the following criteria.

1. Topography and Grading: The slope, topography and geology of the 
dedicated site as well as its surroundings must be suitable for its intended 
purposes.

2. Improved Sites:  All sites must be dedicated in a condition ready for full 
service of electrical, water, sewer and streets (including enclosed 
drainage and curb and gutter) as applicable to the location of the site, or 
acceptable provision made therefor.

3. Reservation of Additional Land: Where the Village of Lincolnshire 
Comprehensive Plan or adopted plan of an applicable school district 
indicates a larger amount of land for a school site in a particular 
subdivision or planned unit development than the developer is required to 
dedicate, the land needed beyond the developer's contribution shall be 
reserved for subsequent purchase by the affected school district(s) 
designated by the Village.  Such acquisition shall be made by the school 
district within one year from the date of approval of the final plat or plan.

4. Combining with Adjoining Developments: Where the subdivision or 
planned unit development is less than forty (40) acres, a school site which 
is to be dedicated should be combined with dedications from adjoining 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 11

developments if possible in order to produce usable school site without 
causing a hardship on a particular developer.

C. CRITERIA FOR LOCATION AND DESIGN STANDARDS:  The 
Comprehensive Plan of the Village or the standards adopted by the affected 
school district shall be used as a guideline in locating sites.

D. SUBDIVIDER OR DEVELOPER RESPONSIBILITY:  The subdivider or 
developer shall be responsible for providing the following information to the 
Village prior to consideration of final approval of a plat or plan.

1. Dedication of land on the Plat of Subdivision or Plat of Dedication.

2. Title or Warranty Deed transferring the land from the subdivider or 
developer to the applicable taxing district.  Titles shall be shown to be free 
of all liens, encumbrances, easements, covenants and restrictions or 
other matters as may impair the ability of the appropriate governmental 
unit to use the property for its intended purpose as determined by the 
Corporate Authorities. A commitment for title insurance issued by a 
company authorized to do business in Illinois may be required as 
evidence of clear title.

3. Legal description in an 8-1/2" x 11" format.

E. SCHOOL DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY:  Written acceptance from the school 
district shall be submitted to the Village of Lincolnshire (Department of 
Community Development) within 15 days of receipt of title for the dedicated 
land.

7-7A-4: CASH CONTRIBUTION CRITERIA (SCHOOLS):

The Village shall require the subdivider or developer to pay a cash contribution 
as provided herein in lieu of the land dedication requirement when:

!  The subdivision or development is small and the resulting land dedication 
for school purposes would not meet the criteria set forth in this Chapter, 
or

!  The available land is of a nature and/or location inappropriate for a school 
site as determined by reference to adopted plans of the Village and 
school district and based on such factors as topography, shape of site, 
accessibility, proximity to other parks, schools and Municipal services, 
safety and other environmental and use factors.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 12

The cash contributions in lieu of land shall be based on the fair market value of 
the acres of land in the area improved as specified herein that otherwise would 
have been dedicated as a school site. 

A. METHOD OF CALCULATION:  The cash contribution in lieu of school land 
dedication shall be determined by multiplying the minimum number of acres of 
land needed for the school classification times the fair market value of one acre 
of improved land as determined by an M.A.I. appraiser.

B. SUBDIVIDER OR DEVELOPER RESPONSIBILITY:  In those cases where a 
cash contribution is required to be paid to the Village an Agreement and Notice 
as specified in this Title shall be placed on all final plats of subdivision.

The cash contribution and all development review fees shall be paid to the 
Village prior to the recording of the final plat of subdivision or plan at the office 
of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds and before any development occurs on 
the subject property.  Cash contributions shall be deemed made upon deposit 
with the Village of cash, a certified or cashier's check, or security approved by 
the Corporate Authorities.

C. SCHOOL DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY:

1. Conditions of Acceptance:

a. The school district agrees that the contribution shall be solely for 
the purposes set forth in Title 7:  Subdivisions and Land 
Development, of the Lincolnshire Village Code.  Specifically, the 
school district agrees that the contribution shall be for the use in 
the acquisition of land to serve the immediate or future needs of 
residents from that subdivision or development; for the capital 
improvement of any existing school facility which already 
services such needs; or for the construction of any buildings or 
additions thereto necessary to serve such needs.

In the event a school district refuses to accept the cash 
contribution under the established terms and conditions, the 
cash contribution shall be immediately returned to the 
subdivider/developer.

b. The cash contribution shall be held by the affected school district 
in a special trust fund.  Any interest which accrues on said 
special trust fund shall also be used solely for the purposes set 
forth in this Chapter.  

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 13

c. The school district agrees that if any portion of a cash 
contribution is not expended for the purposes set forth herein 
within ten (10) years from the date of receipt it shall be refunded 
to the subdivider or developer who made such contribution.  The 
developer shall file a written request with the Village within one 
year after expiration of the ten (10) year period specifying the 
portion not so expended.

2. Obligations after Acceptance:

a. Immediate:  Written acceptance from the school district shall be 
submitted to the Village of Lincolnshire (Department of 
Community Development) within 15 days of receipt of the cash 
contribution.

b. Annual:  The school district shall annually account to the Director 
of Financial Systems of the Village for all expenditures made and 
interest earned from said cash contributions.  The annual 
accounting shall be made within sixty (60) days of the end of the 
districts fiscal year.  Cash contributions will be withheld until said 
report is received by the Village.

7-7A-5: COMBINATION LAND DEDICATION AND CASH CONTRIBUTION 
CRITERIA (SCHOOLS):  

In the event an identified school site is:

!  Located on more than one development parcel or property, or 

!  Only a portion of the development property is needed to complete a 
designated school site

A combination of land dedication and cash contribution for a subdivision or 
planned unit development may be necessary and shall be in accordance with 
all regulations of this Title, and the following:

Land Dedication:  That area designated for a school site on the development 
parcel shall be dedicated.  

Cash Contribution:  The cash contribution shall be based on the difference 
between the acres of land which will be dedicated for the school site and the 
total acres required for school site land dedication in the development.  

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 14

CHAPTER 7

DONATIONS

ARTICLE B.  PARK DONATIONS

SECTION:

7-7B-1: General Information
7-7B-2: Variables For Calculation
7-7B-3: Land Dedication Criteria
7-7B-4: Cash Contribution Criteria
7-7B-5: Combination Land Dedication and Cash Contribution Criteria

7-7B-1: GENERAL INFORMATION:

The ultimate population to be generated by a subdivision or planned unit 
development shall bear directly upon the amount of land dedication, cash 
contribution, or combination of both required for the park donation.  

The Village of Lincolnshire Park Board and Plan Commission shall make a 
recommendation to the Corporate Authorities based on the criteria set forth in 
this Chapter as to the preferred park donation.  Said recommendation shall be 
made after full consideration of all adopted plans have been reviewed in the 
context of accepted site planning, zoning, environmental, maintenance and 
other issues of concern which will effect the Village in the future.

7-7B-2: VARIABLES FOR CALCULATION:

The land dedication, cash contribution, or combination of both for the park 
donation shall be calculated utilizing the following variables:

A. POPULATION RATIO: The ultimate density of a proposed development shall 
bear directly upon the amount of land required for dedication. The total 
requirement shall be ten (10) acres of land per one thousand (1,000) of 
ultimate population.(Ord. Amd. 08-3012-40, eff 12/10/07)

B. ULTIMATE POPULATION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT:  The ultimate 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 15

population will be determined by multiplying the number of residential units 
times the mean number of persons per occupied housing unit average in the 
Village as determined by the latest United States Census Bureau or Special 
Census statistics on file in the Department of Community Development.

    # Dwelling Units  X  Mean # of Persons per=Ultimate Population of
Occupied Housing Unit    Proposed Development

C. FAIR MARKET VALUE OF LAND:  The present fair market value of improved 
land in and surrounding the Village for one (1) acre of land based on an 
appraisal completed by an M.A.I. appraiser shall be maintained on file  in the 
Department of Community Development and as established in the 
Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code.  
Said figure shall be used in making any calculation herein.  

7-7B-3: LAND DEDICATION CRITERIA (PARKS):

A. FORMULA:  The required park land dedication shall be determined in 
accordance with the formula below based on the population ratio and ultimate 
proposed population of the proposed development.  The product  shall be the 
acres of land deemed needed to have sufficient land for park sites to serve the 
estimated increase of residents from the new development.

Ultimate Population of
Proposed Development X    10 acres    =   # Acres of Park Land
1,000 Ultimate Population    to be dedicated

B. LAND CONDITIONS:

1. Topography: The slope, topography and geology of the dedicated site as 
well as its surroundings must be suitable for its intended purposes.

a. Grading: The park site shall be rough graded in accordance with 
the present Village requirements for final grading and in 
accordance with grading plans approved by the Village Engineer.

b. Drainage:  Positive drainage must be insured as indicated on a 
master drainage plan. The storage of overburden on a park site 
is prohibited though temporary storage may be granted in some 
cases provide the terms of such temporary storage have been 
determined by the Village Engineer.

2. Improved Sites:

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 16

Utilities:  At the time of installation of public improvements in the 
subdivision or planned unit development, the subdivider or developer 
shall install all required public utilities throughout the park site in 
accordance with the Village approved engineering plans. This work shall 
be completed prior to acceptance by the Village of the public utilities in 
the subdivision or planned unit development which includes said park site. 

3. Reservation of Additional Land: Where the Comprehensive Plan or the 
standards of the Village call for a larger amount of park site in a particular 
subdivision or planned unit development than the developer is required to 
dedicate, the land needed beyond the developer's contribution shall be 
reserved for subsequent purchase by the Village, provided that such 
acquisition is made within one year from the date of approval of the final 
plat. 

4. Combining with Adjoining Developments: Where the subdivision or 
planned unit development is less than forty (40) acres, a park which is to 
be dedicated should, where possible, be combined with dedications from 
adjoining developments in order to produce usable park site without 
hardship on a particular developer.

C. CRITERIA FOR LOCATION AND DESIGN STANDARDS:  The following plans 
shall be adhered to in determining the location(s) of park sites:

The Village of Lincolnshire Comprehensive Plan
The Village of Lincolnshire Parks and Open Space Master Plan
Lake County Open Space Plan
Northeastern Illinois Open Space Plan
Lake County Framework Plan
Des Plaines River Trail Master Plan

Additional guidelines which shall be considered in locating park sites include, 
but are not limited to, the size of the subdivision, proximity of the site to other 
parks, schools and Municipal services, topography of the site, shape of the 
site, accessibility of the site, safety and other environmental and use 
conditions.

The extent to which the design standards are adhered to will be the basis by 
which the amount of park site credit will be determined. A reduced amount of 
park site credit will be granted by the Corporate Authorities should a proposed 
park site be deficient in one or more of the following park site design 
standards.

1. Size: The size of a park shall be appropriate to the leisure and 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 17

recreational needs of the service population as defined by the Village of 
Lincolnshire Comprehensive Plan and Parks and Open Space Master 
Plan and shall be consistent with the required donations as set forth in 
this Chapter.

2. Shape: Park sites should be rectangular or nearly rectangular in shape.  
An irregular limit of a park may be allowed if defined by a river, lake, 
pond, rock outcropping, forest, meadow, wetland or other natural feature.

3. Location: Whenever possible park sites shall be located at the geographic 
center of the service areas. In areas where park sites and/or school sites 
already exist or have been previously planned, the proposed park 
donation shall, if possible be located adjacent to or provide appropriate 
linkage with the existing sites.

4. Access: Access to the park site shall be provided for convenience of 
pedestrian and vehicular ingress and egress, as well as for visual identity. 
The minimum required frontage of the park shall be equal to or greater 
than the longest edge of the park.  Any accessway shall be improved with 
a hard surface walkway eight feet (8') in width constructed to Village 
specifications. The number of accesses shall vary with the location and 
type of park site and its relationship to surrounding land uses.

5. Linkage: The linkage of proposed parks with existing parks or with other 
desirable land uses such as schools, libraries, convenience commercial 
areas, cultural or institutional centers shall be encouraged. The method of 
linkage shall include but not be limited to, bike paths and walkways. Land 
used for linkage purposes shall be included in the calculations of total 
donation.

6. Grading: Any proposed grading of the park site shall not differ greatly 
from surrounding land uses. Grades less than two percent (2%) or more 
than seven percent (7%) will not be acceptable. Exceptions to this may be 
granted if the developer can show an acceptable secondary use for the 
grading. Examples are earth berming for visual buffer or aesthetic 
interest, a sled hill or toboggan run, backstop for special activities and the 
like.  Drainage on the proposed park site shall be such that the site can 
be used for its intended purpose.

7. Vegetation: The donation of park land shall be planned and designed to 
minimize impact on vegetation of ecological or aesthetic value. Existing 
vegetation of value shall be identified by the Village Forester and 
protected from damage during the construction process. 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 18

Any areas disturbed as a result of construction activity shall be restored to 
its original condition or in accordance with the Open Space Landscape 
Standards  as determined by the Village.  The subdivider or developer 
shall be responsible for removing invasive and dangerous plant species 
as required by the Village.  The Village shall be given the right to 
remove/salvage from an area proposed for clearing any desirable plant 
materials for which the developer has no intended use. The Village will 
notify the developer of the plant material desired for removal prior to any 
work commencing on the site and shall remove the plant material within 
thirty (30) days following the final plan approval.

8. Erosion Control: The developer will be responsible for controlling erosion 
on the park site until the park site is dedicated to the Village.

9. Water Retention/Detention: Land that is designated for water 
retention/detention purposes within the area of the proposed development 
shall not be considered appropriate as a park donation site. However, if 
suitable recreational uses are shown for land otherwise designated for 
retention/detention purposes and have been recommended for approval 
by the Park Board and the Village Engineer as acceptable, then credit 
may be extended as a park donation site, subject to final approval by the 
Board of Trustees.

10. Debris:  Any accumulated debris on the park site to be dedicated shall be 
removed by the developer, at developer's expense, prior to acceptance of 
the land by the Village.

D. SUBDIVIDER OR DEVELOPER RESPONSIBILITY: The subdivider or 
developer shall be responsible for providing the following information to the 
Village prior to consideration of final approval of a plat or plan.

1. Dedication of land on the Plat of Subdivision or Plat of Dedication.

2. Title or Warranty Deed transferring the land from the subdivider or 
developer to the applicable taxing district.  Titles shall be shown to be free 
of all liens, encumbrances, easements, covenants and restrictions or 
other matters as may impair the ability of the appropriate governmental 
unit to use the property for its intended purpose as determined by the 
Corporate Authorities. A commitment for title insurance issued by a 
company authorized to do business in Illinois may be required as 
evidence of clear title.

3. Legal description in an 8-1/2" x 11" format.

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 19

7-7B-4: CASH CONTRIBUTION CRITERIA (PARKS):

The Village shall require the subdivider or developer to pay a cash contribution 
as provided herein in lieu of the land dedication requirement when:

!  The subdivision or development is small and the resulting land dedication 
for  park purposes would not meet the criteria set forth in this Chapter, or

!  The available land is of a nature and/or location inappropriate for a park 
site as determined by reference to adopted plans of the Village and based 
on such factors as topography, shape of site, accessibility, proximity to 
other parks, schools and Municipal services, safety and other 
environmental and use factors.

The cash contributions in lieu of land shall be based on the fair market 
value of the acres of land in the area improved as specified herein that 
otherwise would have been dedicated as a park site. 

A. METHOD OF CALCULATION:  The cash contribution in lieu of park land 
dedication shall be determined by multiplying the required number of acres of 
park land to be dedicated times the fair market value  of one acre of improved 
land as determined by an M.A.I. appraiser.

B. SUBDIVIDER OR DEVELOPER RESPONSIBILITY:  In those cases where a 
cash contribution is required to be paid to the Village an Agreement and Notice 
as specified in this Title shall be placed on all final plats of subdivision.

The cash contribution and all development review fees shall be paid to the 
Village prior to the recording of the final plat of subdivision or plan at the office 
of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds and before any development occurs on 
the subject property.  Cash contributions shall be deemed made upon deposit 
with the Village of cash, a certified or cashier's check, or security approved by 
the Corporate Authorities.

C. VILLAGE RESPONSIBILITY:

1. Conditions of Acceptance:

a. The Village of Lincolnshire agrees that the contribution shall be   
solely for the purposes set forth in Title 7:  Subdivisions and 
Land Development, of the Lincolnshire Village Code.  
Specifically, the Village agrees that the contribution shall be for 
the use in the acquisition of land to serve the immediate or future 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 20

needs of residents from that subdivision or development; for the 
capital improvement of any existing park facility which already 
services such needs; or for the construction of any buildings or 
additions thereto necessary to serve such needs.

In the event the Village refuses to accept the cash contribution 
upon said condition, the cash contribution shall be immediately 
returned to the subdivider/developer.

b. The cash contribution shall be held by the Village in a special 
trust fund.  Any interest which accrues on said special trust fund 
shall also be used solely for the purposes set forth in this 
Chapter.  

c. The Village agrees that if any portion of a cash contribution is not 
expended for the purposes set forth herein within ten (10) years 
from the date of receipt it shall be refunded to the developer who 
made such contribution.  The developer shall file a written 
request with the Village within one year after expiration of the ten 
(10) year period specifying the portion not so expended.

7-7B-5: COMBINATION LAND DEDICATION AND CASH CONTRIBUTION 
CRITERIA (PARKS):  

In the event an identified park site is:  

!  Located on more than one development parcel or property, or
  
!  Only a portion of the development property is needed to complete a 

designated park, or 

!  The proposed park site donation is deficient in one or more of the park 
site design standards resulting in a reduction in the amount of park site 
credit granted (as determined by the Corporate Authorities)

A combination of land dedication and cash contribution for a subdivision 
or planned unit development may be necessary and shall be in 
accordance with all regulations of this Title, and the following:

Land Dedication: That area designated for a park site on the development 
parcel shall be dedicated.  

Cash Contribution:  The cash contribution shall be based on the 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 21

difference between the acres of land which will be dedicated for the park 
site and the total acres required for park land dedication in the 
development.  

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 22

CHAPTER 7

DONATIONS

ARTICLE C.  LIBRARY DONATIONS

SECTION:

7-7C-1: General Information
7-7C-2: Variables For Calculation
7-7C-3: Cash Contribution Criteria

7-7C-1: GENERAL INFORMATION:

The Corporate Authorities have found that the public interest, convenience, 
health, welfare and safety requires the continued support of and financial 
assistance to the Vernon Area Public Library.  The ultimate number of families 
to be generated by a subdivision or planned unit development shall therefore, 
bear directly on the amount of the library donation.  

7-7C-2: VARIABLES FOR CALCULATION:

The Vernon Area Public Library shall provide the Village of Lincolnshire 
(Department of Community Development) with a basic level of contribution 
established by projected capital expenditures directly resulting from new 
residential construction in the Village, including but not limited to, facility 
construction, expansion and upgrades; bookmobiles; and additional volumes 
and equipment added to the collection per year.

7-7C-3: CASH CONTRIBUTION CRITERIA (LIBRARY):

The Village shall require the subdivider or developer to make a cash 
contribution for library purposes as provided herein.  

A. METHOD OF CALCULATION:  The amount of the contribution for each 
dwelling unit shall be equal to the basic contribution established by the Vernon 
Area Public Library District and approved by the Corporate Authorities for the 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 23

first bedroom, plus 1/2 the basic contribution for each additional bedroom.  The 
basic contribution approved by the Corporate Authorities shall be maintained 
on file in the Department of Community Development and as established in the 
Comprehensive Fee Schedule set forth in Chapter 15 of Title 1 of this Code. 

B. SUBDIVIDER OR DEVELOPER RESPONSIBILITY:  In those cases where a 
cash contribution is required to be paid to the Village an Agreement and Notice 
as specified in this Title shall be placed on all final plats of subdivision.

The cash contribution and all development review fees shall be paid to the 
Village prior to the recording of the final plat of subdivision or plan at the office 
of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds and before any development occurs on 
the subject property.  Cash contributions shall be deemed made upon deposit 
with the Village of cash, a certified or cashier's check, or security approved by 
the Corporate Authorities.

C. LIBRARY DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY:

1. Conditions of Acceptance:

a. The library district agrees that the contribution shall be solely for 
the purposes set forth in Title 7:  Subdivisions and Land 
Development, of the Lincolnshire Village Code.  Specifically, the 
library district agrees that the contribution shall be for the use in 
the acquisition of land to serve the immediate or future needs of 
residents from that subdivision or development; for the capital 
improvement of any existing library facility which already services 
such needs; for the acquisition of additional volumes and 
equipment; or for the construction of any buildings or additions 
thereto necessary to serve such needs.

In the event the library district refuses to accept the cash 
contribution upon said condition, the cash contribution shall be 
immediately returned to the subdivider/developer.

b. The cash contribution shall be held by the library district in a 
special trust fund.  Any interest which accrues on said special 
trust fund shall also be used solely for the purposes set forth in 
this Chapter.  

c. The library district agrees that if any portion of a cash 
contribution is not expended for the purposes set forth herein 
within ten (10) years from the date of receipt it shall be refunded 
to the developer who made such contribution.  The developer 

Document 2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 7-7: DONATIONS 
Revised 12/13/2010  Page 24

shall file a written request with the Village within one year after 
expiration of the ten (10) year period specifying the portion not 
so expended.

2. Obligations after Acceptance:

a. Immediate:  Written acceptance from the library district shall be 
submitted to the Village of Lincolnshire (Department of 
Community Development) within 15 days of receipt of the cash 
contribution.

b. Annual:  The Library District shall annually account to the 
Director of Financial Systems of the Village for all expenditures 
made and interest earned from said cash contributions.  The 
annual accounting shall be made within sixty (60) days of the 
end of the districts fiscal year.  Cash contributions will be 
withheld until said report is received by the Village.(Amend. Ord. 
94-1366-50)

Document 2



 

Agenda Item 
3.21 COW 

 
 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Regular Village Board Meeting 

January 14, 2019 
 

Subject: Tolling Agreement Related to IMET Losses Arising from First Farmers 
Financial 

 
Action Requested: 

 
Consideration of an Extension to Tolling Agreement Related to the 
Illinois Municipal Investment Fund (IMET) (Village of Lincolnshire)  

Originated 
By/Contact: 

 
Brad Burke, Village Manager 

 
Referred To:  

 
Mayor Brandt and Board of Trustees 

 
Summary/ Background: 
The Village of Lincolnshire has invested idle funds with the Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund 
(IMET) for many years. On October 9, 2014, IMET withdrew $141,186.19 from Lincolnshire’s 
Convenience Fund account and placed the funds in a “restricted” account pending the recovery 
of dollars related to a case of securities fraud. In light of this securities fraud, a number of public 
entities negotiated a Tolling Agreement between IMET and those entities who participated in the 
Convenience Fund. The Village of Lincolnshire approved the original tolling agreement related 
to IMET losses on March 9, 2015. The original Tolling Agreement included a termination date of 
June 30, 2016. Subsequently the Village Board took the following actions: 
 

 June 13, 2016 unanimously approved extending the original tolling agreement to 
January 31, 2017. 

 January 9, 2017 unanimously approved a second extension to the tolling agreement to 
January 31, 2018.  

 January 22, 2018 unanimously voted to approve a third extension to the tolling 
agreement to January 31, 2019 

 
Due to the ongoing nature of this matter and the lack of settlement, IMET has provided the 
attached extension agreement to original Tolling Agreement extending the termination date to 
January 31, 2020. Both staff and Village Attorney Adam Simon believe it is in the Village’s 
interest to hold the Tolling Agreement open – both IMET and their investment counsel have 
professional liability insurance with whom the IMET participants may settle once the total 
distribution from the Receiver is known. Maintaining the tolling agreement ensures that IMET’s 
counsel keeps Village Attorney Simon apprised of current events and seeks the Village’s 
opinion (and those of other local counsel) from time to time. Since the result of the ongoing 
court process will not be known before the end of January, Attorney Simon worked with IMET to 
prepare new extensions to the Tolling Agreement for 12 additional months to January 31, 2020.  

 
A copy of the proposed Tolling Agreement extension is also attached for Village Board review. 
Village Attorney Simon and staff will be available at Monday night’s Village Board meeting to 
answer any questions regarding the recommendation regarding the proposed Tolling 
Agreement. 
 
Recommendation: 
Approval of extension of Tolling Agreement related to IMET. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 



 

Agenda Item 
3.21 COW 

 
 

 Proposed Extension to Tolling Agreement to January 31, 2019 
 Approved Tolling Agreement 

 
 

Meeting History 
Committee of the Whole Meeting: January 14, 2019 
Regular Village Board Meeting: January 28, 2019 
 
 



   
CHICAGO/#3230222.1  

EXTENSION TO TOLLING AGREEMENT 

This Extension to Tolling Agreement is made and entered into as of January 31, 
2019, by and between Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund (“IMET”), on the one hand, 
and the Village of Lincolnshire on the other hand (collectively “the Parties”).   

The Parties agree that Paragraph 7 of the tolling agreement by and between the 
Parties dated March 13, 2015 (the “Tolling Agreement”) shall be amended to read as 
follows:  “If not terminated earlier as provided in the 30 Day Notice provision of Paragraph 
6, the Tolling Agreement shall terminate on January 31, 2020.”      

All of the other provisions of the Tolling Agreement remain unchanged.  

Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund 
 
 
       
By: Randall M. Lending 
 One of its Attorneys 
 
Dated:        
 
 
Village of Lincolnshire 
 
 
       
By:  
 
 
Dated:       



 

AGENDA ITEM 
3.22 COW  

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

SPECIAL COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 
January 14, 2019 

 
 
Subject:  

Consideration of a Resolution Approving Closed Session Meeting Minutes 
and Authorizing the Village Clerk to Make Certain Closed Session Meeting 
Minutes Available to the Public for Inspection Second Review – 2018 and 
Authorizing the Destruction of Certain Audio Recordings of Closed Session 
Minutes  

 
Action Requested: 

 
Consideration of Certain Executive Session Minutes and Direct Placement 
on the January 28, 2019 Regular Village Board Meeting Agenda for 
Approval 

 
Originated By/Contact: 

 
Village Manager 

 
Referred To:  

 
Village Board 

 
Summary / Background: 
The Illinois Open Meetings Act requires minutes be kept of all meetings of public bodies, whether open or 
closed (Executive Session). Minutes of closed meetings are required to be made available to the public 
only after the public body determines it is no longer necessary to keep such minutes confidential. In 
accordance with the Open Meetings Act, public bodies are required to review withheld minutes of closed 
meetings on a semi-annual basis. A determination is to be made in open session on the question of 
whether a need for confidentiality still exists with respect to all or part of the Executive Session Minutes 
reviewed.   
 
The last time Executive Session Minutes were reviewed by the Village Board was August 2018. In order 
to address Executive Session Minutes, the Village Board is requested to consider various minutes as 
reflected in the Exhibits to the attached Resolution.   
 
The process of approving and determining the releasability of closed session minutes ensures the Village 
meets the intent of the Illinois Open Meetings Act. Village Staff and legal counsel will be available to 
respond to questions.   
 
Budget Impact: None.  
 
Service Delivery Impact:  None. 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of Draft Executive Session Minutes 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

 Draft Resolution Approving Certain Executive Session Minutes and Authorizing Destruction of 
Certain Audio Recordings 
 

 Executive Session Minutes for Review: September 10, 2018 and September 24, 2018 
 
 

Meeting History 
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): 01/14/2019 
Regular Village Board Meeting: 01/28/2019 

 



RESOLUTION NO. ____ 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING CERTAIN CLOSED SESSION MEETING MINUTES AND 
AUTHORIZING THE VILLAGE CLERK TO MAKE CERTAIN CLOSED SESSION 
MEETING MINUTES AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION SECOND REVIEW - 2018 
AND AUTHORIZING THE DESTRUCTION OF CERTAIN AUDIO RECORDINGS  

OF CLOSED SESSION MINUTES 
 

WHEREAS,  the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire have met from time 
to time in Executive Session for purposes authorized by the Illinois Open Meetings Act (the 
"Act"); and 

 
WHEREAS, as required by the Act, the Village Clerk has kept written minutes of all 

such executive sessions; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/2.06 (d), the Board of Trustees have reviewed 

closed session minutes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees have determined that the attached list of minutes 
identified in Exhibit A are complete, accurate and shall be approved; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees have determined that the attached list of minutes 

identified as Exhibit B no longer require confidential treatment and should be made 
available for public inspection; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Open Meetings Act requires governmental bodies to audio or video 
record their closed meetings; and 
 

WHEREAS, this governmental body has complied with that requirement; and 
 

WHEREAS, for the verbatim record by audio tape of the closed session portion of 
the meetings set forth in Section 2 of this Resolution, at least eighteen (18) months have 
passed since the completion of those meetings, and this governmental body has approved 
written minutes for each of the closed session portions of the meetings set forth in Section 
2;    

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF LINCOLNSHIRE, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
Section 1:  Based upon the statements made in the preamble to this Resolution: (a) 

the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire hereby approve the minutes of the 
closed meetings listed on Exhibit A, and (b) the Board of Trustees of the Village of 
Lincolnshire hereby finds that the minutes of the closed meetings listed on Exhibit B are no 
longer necessary to keep confidential and order their release for public review, inspection 
and copying. 
 

Section 2:  Based upon the statements made in the preamble to this Resolution, the 



Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire hereby order the destruction of the verbatim 
record, such being an audio tape, of the closed session portions of all meetings which took 
place prior to June 2017. 
 

Section 3:  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its 
adoption as provided by law. 
 

ADOPTED this _______ day of _______, 2019 pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 
 

AYES:  
NAYS:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

 
 
 

_________________________________ 
Mayor Elizabeth J. Brandt 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Village Clerk Barbara Mastandrea 

 



Exhibit A 
 
 
The following meeting minutes are approved: 
 
September 10, 2018 
 
September 24, 2018 



Exhibit B 
 
 
The Following Meeting Minutes for Release: 
  
None 
 



 

Agenda Item 
3.31 COW  

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
January 14, 2019 

 
Subject: Waiver of Posting a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for Sanitary 

Sewer System Analysis and Engineering  (Village of Lincolnshire)  
 
Action Requested: 

 
Approval of Negotiating a Contract Extension with RJN Group, Inc. for 
Design Engineering Services  

 
Originated By/Contact: 

 
Terry Hawkins, Utilities Superintendent/Wally Dittrich, Assistant Public 
Works Director/Village Engineer 

 
Referred To:  

 
Village Board 

 
Summary / Background:   
In 2016 staff selected RJN Group, Inc. after going through a request for qualifications (RFQ) 
process to re-evaluate the Village sanitary sewer flow monitoring study.  The RFQ indicated that 
the intent of the Village was to enter into a multi-year agreement for three years subject to 
satisfactory performance and Village Board approval.  This study identified several areas of the 
Village which require further investigation. RJN Group, Inc. performs the smoke testing and 
manhole inspections necessary to identify the Inflow conditions discovered from this report. 
Over the last 3 years, RJN has designed and overseen the repairs of 20 point locations that 
required the use of a contractor to repair sanitary sewer lines and manholes.  RJN has also 
inspected over 630 manhole structures and smoke tested and inspected 17 miles of sanitary 
sewer.  This represents approximately 35% of the Village’s sanitary sewer infrastructure.    
Staff recommends the continued use of RJN Group Inc. to complete design; field services 
(including inspections and smoke testing) and bid preparation for the 2019, 2020, and 2021 
sanitary sewer rehabilitation projects. This would allow the Village to continue the multi-year 
systematic program for locating and reducing infiltration and inflow sources of water in the 
Village sanitary system that has been prioritized in the Village’s 10 year Capital Improvement 
Program.  
 
Budget Impact: The 2019 Budget includes engineering services in the amount of $100,000 in 
the Water and Sewer Improvement fund.   
  
Recommendation:  Staff recommends approval for continuing the relationship with RJN Group, 
Inc. and waiving the Village’s requirement to post a RFQ for these services given the firms 
excellent work for the village and in order to maintain the maximum level of efficiency gained over 
the last three years with RJN Group, Inc. staff who is very familiar with the Village’s sanitary sewer 
system, its condition, and requirements for maintenance. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached:  

� None 
 

Meeting History 
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): January 14, 2019 
COW Meeting: January 28, 2019 

 



 

Agenda Item 
3.32 COW  

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
January 14, 2019 

 
Subject: Qualifications-Based Selection Written Policy and Procedure for 

Federally Funded Projects  (Village of Lincolnshire)  
 
Action Requested: 

 
Approval of a Qualifications-Based Selection Policy and Procedure for 
the Village of Lincolnshire 

 
Originated By/Contact: 

 
Wally Dittrich, Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer 

 
Referred To:  

 
Village Board 

  
Summary / Background:   
In order to utilize federal funds on projects, the Illinois Department of Transportation requires 
local agencies follow certain policies and procedures.  The attached policy was provided by 
IDOT and meets all federal requirements for utilizing federal funds on engineering and design 
consulting services. This policy will only be used on federally funded projects as required by the 
terms of the grant dollars (this could also include grants for the Police department if required).  
The Village will still continue to use its consultant selection policy as detailed in the Procurement 
Policy for all Village funded projects.  
 
Budget Impact: N/A   
  
Recommendation:  Staff recommends approval of the Qualification Based Selection Policy and 
Procedure for federally funded projects that the Village participates in. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached:  

� Village of Lincolnshire Qualifications Based Selection Written Policy and Procedure 
 

Meeting History 
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): January 14, 2019 
Regular Village Board Meeting: January 28, 2019 

 



Village of Lincolnshire 

Qualifications-Based Selection (QBS) Written Policy and Procedure 

 

The Village of Lincolnshire receives federal funds, which may be used to fund the 
engineering and design related consultant services.  Our written policies and 
procedures as describe herein for QBS will meet the requirements of 23 CFR 172 and 
the Brooks Act. 

 

1. Initial Administration – The Village of Lincolnshire QBS policy and procedures 
assigns responsibilities to the Public Works Department within The Village of 
Lincolnshire organization for the procurement, management, and 
administration for consultant services. 

2. Written Policies and Procedures – The Village of Lincolnshire believes their 
adopted QBS written policies and procedures substantially follows Section 5-5 
of the IDOT Bureau of Local Roads and Streets (BLRS) Manual and 
specifically Section 5-5.06(e), therefore; approval from IDOT is not required. 

3. Project Description – The Village of Lincolnshire will use the following five 
items when developing the project description and may include additional 
items when unique circumstances exist. 

� Describe in general terms the need, purpose, and objective of the 
project; 

� Identify the various project components; 

� Establish the desired timetable for the effort; 

� Identify any expected problems 

� Determine the total project budget. 

 

4. Public Notice – The Village of Lincolnshire will post an announcement on our 
website at www.Lincolnshireil.gov  and/or publish an ad in a newspaper with 
appropriate circulation. The item will be advertised for at least 14 days prior to 
the acceptance of proposals, and at least twice in the newspaper and/or on 
continuous display on our website. 

5. Conflict of Interest – The Village of Lincolnshire require consultants to submit 
a disclosure statement with their procedures. The Village of Lincolnshire 
requires the use of the IDOT Bureau of Design and Environment (BDE) DISC 
2 Template as their conflict of interest form. 



6. Suspension and Debarment – The Village of Lincolnshire will use IDOT’s 
System for Award Management (SAM) Exclusions, IDOT’s Chief Procurement 
Office’s (CPO’s) website and the three other state Chief Procurement Office’s 
(CPO’s) websites to verify suspensions and debarments actions to ensure the 
eligibility of firms short listed and selected for projects. 

7. Evaluation Factors – The Village of Lincolnshire allows the Public Works 
Director or Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer or designee to set 
the evaluation factors for each project, but must include a minimum of four 
criterion and stay within the established weighting range. The maximum of 
Disadvantaged Business Entrepreneur (DBE) and local presence combined 
will not be more that 10% on projects where federal funds are used. Project 
specific evaluation factors will be included at a minimum in the Request for 
Proposals.   

 
Criteria and weighting per the Village of Lincolnshire QBS procedures: 
 
Technical Approach (10 - 30%)  
Firm Experience (10 - 30%)  
Specialized Expertise (10 - 30%)  
Staff Capabilities (Prime/Sub) (10 - 30%)  
Work Load Capacity (10 - 30%)  
Past Performance (10 - 30%)  
Local Presence*  
Participation of Qualified and Certified Disadvantaged Business 
Entrepreneur (DBE) Sub-consultants*  
(* The combined total of these two items cannot exceed 10%) 
 
Price and cost related items, including cost proposals, direct salaries/wage 
rates; indirect costs (overhead), and other direct costs shall not be used 
as a factor in the evaluation, ranking and selection. Any sealed cost 
proposals submitted in response to the announcement will be returned to 
sender unopened. 

 

8. Selection – The Village of Lincolnshire require a three person selection 
committee. Typically the selection committee members include the Public 
Works Director, Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer or designee, 
Public Works Management Analyst, and or appropriate Foreman/ 
Superintendents/staff who oversee the type of project being constructed.  The 
selection committee members must certify that they do not have a conflict of 
interest. Selection committee members are chosen by the Public Works 
Director or Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer or designee for 
each project. The Village of Lincolnshire requires each member of the 



selection committee to provide an independent score for each proposal using 
the form below prior to the selection committee meeting. 

 

Criteria Weighting Points Firm 1 Firm 2… Firm X 
Criterion 1      
Criterion 2…      
Criterion X      

Total 100%     
 

The selection committee members’ scores are averaged for a committee score which is 
used to establish a short list of three firms. The committee score is adjusted by the 
committee based on group discussion and information gained from presentations and 
interviews to develop a final ranking. If there are other  firms within 5% of  the minimum 
score, the Public Works Director or Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer 
may choose to expand the short list to include more than three firms. 

9. Independent Estimate – The Village of Lincolnshire will prepare an 
independent in-house estimate for the project prior to contract negotiation. The 
estimate is used in the negotiation. 

10. Contract Negotiation – The Village of Lincolnshire requires a two person team 
to negotiate with firms. The team consists of Public Works Director and 
Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer or designee. Members of the 
negotiation team may delegate this responsibility to staff members. If a 
contract cannot be negotiated with the selected consultant, the team shall 
attempt to negotiate a contract with the second-ranked consultant. If this 
negotiation also fails, the Village of Lincolnshire shall recommence the 
Qualifications Selection Based (QBS) process. 

11. Acceptable Costs – The Village of Lincolnshire requires the Village Engineer 
or designee to review the contract costs and the indirect cost rates to assure 
they are compliant with Federal cost principles prior to submission to IDOT. 

12. Invoice Processing – The Village of Lincolnshire requires the Public Works 
Director or Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer or designee 
assigned to any project using federal funds to review and approve all invoices 
prior to payment and submission to IDOT for reimbursement. 

13. Project Administration – The Village of Lincolnshire requires the assigned 
project manager to monitor work on the project in accordance with the contract 
and to file reports with the Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer or 
designee. The Village of Lincolnshire procedures require an evaluation of the 
consultant’s work at the end of each project. These reports are maintained in 
The Village of Lincolnshire consultant information database. The Village of 



Lincolnshire follows IDOT’s requirements and the required submission of 
Illinois Department of Transportation Bureau of Local Road and Streets 
(BLRS) Form 05613 to the IDOT district at contract close-out along with the 
final invoice. 

 



 

Agenda Item 
3.33 COW 

 

V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2019\2019_01_14_Comprehensive_Meter_Fee_Increase.doc 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole 

January 14, 2019  
 

Subject: Revisions to the Comprehensive Fee Schedule of the Lincolnshire 
Village Code to Update Engineering Fees & Water Meter Fees (Village 
of Lincolnshire) 

 
Action Requested: 

Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 15 of Title 1 
Comprehensive Fee Schedule of the Lincolnshire Village Code to 
Update Engineering Fees & Water Meter Fees (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
Originated By/Contact: 

 
Wally Dittrich, P.E., Assistant Public Works Direction/Village Engineer 
Terry Hawkins, Utilities Superintendent 

 
Referred To:  

 
Village Board 

Summary / Background:   
Staff requests amendment of the Comprehensive Fee schedule to reflect the revised cost of 
water meters.  As a reminder, these fees are paid at the time a structure is constructed and the 
new meter is installed.   
 
The increase in fees are due only to the price increases the Village receives from the vendor of 
the water meters that the Village purchases.  Residential meters are installed by Water 
Department personnel.  Meter fees includes purchase of the meter, inspection, all accessories, 
administrative costs and installation. 
 
Commercial meter installation is performed by a contractor.  Meter fee includes purchase of the 
meter, all accessories, freight, administrative costs, and inspection. 
 
Also, staff is recommending the removal of the Engineering Fee of $50.00 associated with a 
Residential Water or Sanitary Emergency Repair.  This permit category has not been utilized 
since 2011 as the departments procedures have changed which results in the same level of 
effort for water and sanitary sewer work regardless if the work is being performed on an 
emergency basis or not. 
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends approving the proposed revision to the Code.    
 
Reports and Documents Attached:  

� Proposed Ordinance 
 

Meeting History 
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): January 14, 2019 
 
 
 
 



Page 1

ORDINANCE NO.  ____________                                          

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 15 OF TITLE 1 – COMPREHENSIVE 
FEE SCHEDULE OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE VILLAGE CODE RELATED TO 
THE ESTABLISHMENT OF FEES AND CHARGES FOR SERVICE

(Engineering Fees & Water and Sewer Rates)

WHEREAS, from time to time the Village reviews its codes and 
regulations of public ways and facilities to ensure that they are up to date and 
that they regulate matters as intended by the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Village Staff recently undertook a review of the 
Lincolnshire Municipal Code for those purposes, and the Village Staff has 
recommended to the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire 
that it adopt revised regulations governing Engineering Fees and Water & Sewer 
Rates; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Board of Trustees have reviewed and 
considered the recommendations of the Village Staff and have considered all the 
facts and circumstances related to the proposed Municipal Code amendments; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE, LAKE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS, ACTING IN THE EXERCISE OF THEIR HOME RULE POWERS:

SECTION ONE:    The foregoing recitals are incorporated into this 
Ordinance as findings of the Mayor and Board of Trustees.

SECTION TWO: Section 1-15 of the Village Code of the Village of 
Lincolnshire, under the title “Comprehensive Fee Schedule”, shall be revised as 
follows [added text bolded; deleted text struck through]:

1-15-5: BUILDING REGULATIONS (TITLE 5)

ENGINEERING FEES AMOUNT OF FEE CODE SECTION

Utility Permit – Repairs, Disconnections, 
or work that does not require connection 
fees plus $40.00 per required inspection. 
- Residential Storm 

- Residential Water or Sanitary 

- Residential Water or Sanitary 
Emergency Repair 
- Commercial Storm 

- Commercial Water or Sanitary 

$50.00 (Incl. 2 
Inspections) 

$100.00 (Incl. 3 
Inspections) 

$50.00 (Incl. 2 
Inspections) 

$50.00 (Incl. 2 
Inspections) 

$150.00 (Incl. 3 
Inspections) 

5-3-1



Page 2

1-15-8:  PUBLIC WAYS AND PROPERTY (TITLE 8)

WATER AND SEWER RATES AMOUNT OF FEE CODE SECTION

3/4" M-25 meter with ORION ME encoder 
and brass connection set

$355.00 8-2A-2(E)

3/4" M-35 meter (short) with ORION ME 
encoder and brass connection set

$385.00 8-2A-2(E)

1" M-55 meter with ORION ME encoder and 
brass connection set

$455.00 8-2A-2(E)

1" M-70 meter with ORION ME encoder and 
brass connection set

$490.00 8-2A-2(E)

1-1/2" M-120 elliptical long meter, ORION 
ME encoder , with cast iron connection set

$715.00
$790.00

8-2A-2(E)

2" Recordall compound meter, ORION ME 
encoder, with cast iron round connection set

$2,480.00
$2,640.00

8-2A-2(E)

3" Recordall compound meter, ORION ME 
encoder, with cast iron round connection set

$2,835.00
$3,045.00

8-2A-2(E)

4" Recordall compound meter, ORION ME 
encoder , with cast iron round connection 
set

$4,245.00
$4,535.00

8-2A-2(E)

6" Recordall compound meter, ORION ME 
encoder , with cast iron round connection 
set

$5,915.00
$6,300.00

8-2A-2(E)

Residential meters are installed by Water Department personnel.  Meter fee 
includes purchase of the meter, inspection, all accessories, administrative costs 
and installation.

Commercial meter installation is performed by the contractor.  Meter fee includes 
purchase of the meter, all accessories, freight, administrative costs, and 
inspection.



Page 3

SECTION THREE: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 
after its adoption, approval and publication in pamphlet form.

PASSED this ____________of__________by the Corporate Authorities 
of the Village of Lincolnshire on a roll call vote as follows:

AYES:

NAYS:

ABSENT:

APPROVED this ____________0f____________.

_________________________________
Elizabeth Brandt
Mayor

ATTEST:

____________________________
Barbara Mastandrea
Village Clerk



 
 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole 

January 14, 2019 
 

Subject: Consideration and Discussion of a Lincolnshire Parks Survey 
 
Action Requested: 

 
Consideration and Discussion  

 
Originated By: 

 
Marc Facchini, Public Works Management Analyst 

 
Referred To:  

 
Committee of the Whole 

 
Summary / Background: Staff is in the process of reviewing and amending the Village’s Parks, 
Paths and Open Space Master Plan. As part of the review, staff plans to seek feedback and 
direction from the public in the form of a comprehensive online survey. The survey questions 
are designed to assess current park facilities, amenities, playground equipment and gather 
public feedback to diversify and better serve the needs and desires of the community. 
 
The survey will take approximately 5-10 minutes to complete and will be available exclusively 
online hosted through the service provider Survey Monkey. Staff will make the survey available 
on the Village Website and use all communication channels available to draw participation. 
 
The survey consists of multiple choice questions asking respondents to rank conditions of the 
park and to explain the reason for below average responses. The survey also individually 
identifies Village Parks and asks respondents to rate quality and diversity of playground 
equipment. Using the guidance of the Park Board and community, staff will continue making 
strides to optimize park services. 
 
The Lincolnshire Park Board considered the proposed survey at two previous meetings on 
November 28, 2018 and on December 17, 2018. The Park Board voted unanimously to 
recommend the attached survey to be administered pending review and acceptance from 
Village Trustees.  
 
Budget Impact: There is very minimal budget impact as the only cost to the Village would be 
approximately 5-10 hours of staff time. The staff time will consist of the time spent identifying 
questions and creating the questions in the survey website. 
 
Recommendation: Consideration, discussion and approval of a Parks, and Paths survey. 
 
Attachments: 

� Village of Lincolnshire Parks & Paths Survey 
 

Meeting History 
Park Board November 28, 2018 
Park Board December 17, 2018 

Committee of the Whole January 14, 2019 
 

 

Agenda Item 
          3.51 COW 

 



 
Parks and Paths Survey 
 

1. Are you a Lincolnshire Resident 
a. Yes 
b. No 

2. Do you or your family members use the Village parks? 
a. Every day 
b. 2-3 times a week 
c. Once a week 
d. 1-2 times a month 
e. Never 
f. Other __________ 

3. How often do you or your family members use a path in Lincolnshire 
a. Every day 
b. 2-3 times a week 
c. Once a week 
d. 1-2 times a month 
e. Never 
f. Other __________ 

4. How often do you or your family members visit Village parks? 
a. Every day 
b. 2-3 times a week 
c. Once a week 
d. 1-2 times a month 
e. Never 
f. Other__________ 

5. Do you or your family members visit the parks as part of your exercise or health 
routine? 

a. Yes 
b. No 

6. How often do you or family members use the Village mixed recreation path 
systems (Half Day road, Riverwoods rd. trail) as part of your exercise or health 
routine? 

a. Every day 
b. 2-3 times a week 
c. Once a week 
d. 1-2 times a month 
e. Never 
f. Other___________ 

 
 
 



 
Parks and Paths Survey 
 

7. How often do you or family members use playgrounds equipment and basketball 
and/or tennis courts? 

a. Every day 
b. 2-3 times a week 
c. Once a week 
d. 1-2 times a month 
e. Never 
f. Other___________ 

8. Why do you or your family members visit the parks? 
a. Playgrounds 
b. Relaxation 
c. Exercise 
d. Athletics/sports 
e. Other 

9. Do you use the parks for Lincolnshire Sports Association (LSA) athletics? Please 
select all that apply. 

a. House leagues 
b. Travel leagues 
c. Unorganized informal sports 

10. Please rate the quality of playground equipment at the following Village Parks: 
 
Balzer Park – 30 Windsor Drive:   

 
Bicentennial Park – 45 Fox Trail: 

 

          Old Mill Park – 100 Fallstone Drive: 

 

   Poor                                            Average                                     Excellent 

1 2 3 4 5 

   Poor                                            Average                                     Excellent 

1 2 3 4 5 

   Poor                                            Average                                     Excellent 

1 2 3 4 5 



 
Parks and Paths Survey 
 

North Park – 1025 Riverwoods Road:  

 
Spring Lake Park – 49 Oxford Drive:  

 
Whytegate Park – 299 Whytegate Court:  

 

11. Please rate the overall conditions of athletic fields at North Park in dry conditions: 
a. Excellent 
b. Average 
c. Below average, please explain _________________________________ 

12. Please rate the overall conditions of athletic fields at North Park after a rain 
event: 

a. Excellent 
b. Average 
c. Below average, please explain  _________________________________ 

13. What are your thoughts on artificial turf athletic fields at North Park in the Village? 
a. Supportive 
b. Neutral  
c. Not supportive, please explain___________________________________ 

14. Have you experienced difficulty using facilities such as tennis or basketball courts 
at any parks? 

a. Yes please explain __________________ 
b. No 

15. Are there any desirable locations in the Village not accessible by bikes due to a 
lack of trail access? 

a. Yes, please explain 
b. No 

 

   Poor                                            Average                                     Excellent 

1 2 3 4 5 

   Poor                                            Average                                     Excellent 

1 2 3 4 5 

   Poor                                            Average                                     Excellent 

1 2 3 4 5 



 
Parks and Paths Survey 
 

16. How would you rank the current conditions of the Village’s parks and paths? 
a. Excellent 
b. Average 
c. Below average, please explain _________________________________ 

17. How would you rank the overall condition/quality of the Village’s parks? 
a. Excellent 
b. Average 
c. Below average, please explain _________________________________ 

18. How would you rank restroom cleanliness at the Village’s parks? 
a. Excellent 
b. Average 
c. Below average, please explain _________________________________ 

19. How would you rank your overall satisfaction with Village parks? 
a. Excellent 
b. Average 
c. Below average, please explain _________________________________ 

20. What amenity or feature would you like to see added to a Village park that is not 
currently offered? 

a. Please list, if any _____________________________________________ 


	1.0 Agenda
	2.1 12-10-2018 COW Minutes
	3.11_COW_2019_01_14_COW_Residential_Real_Estate_Signs
	3.12_COW_2019_01_14_COW_B1_B2_TextAmend_231OldeHalfDay
	3.13_COW_2019_01_14_COW_Subdivision_Code_Amendments
	3.21_Extension_IMET_Tolling_Agmt
	3.22_Executive_Session_Minutes_Consideration
	3.31_COW_Waiver_RFQ_Sanitary_Rehabilitation_Engineering_Services
	3.32_COW_QBS_Policy
	3.33_COW_Comprehensive_Meter_Fee_Increase
	3.51_COW_Consideration of a Lincolnshire Parks Survey

	Return to Agenda: 


